
 

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Thursday, October 8, 2020 
SCRD Boardroom, 1975 Field Road, Sechelt, B.C. 

 AGENDA 
 

CALL TO ORDER 9:30 a.m. 
  

AGENDA  

1.  Adoption of Agenda  

PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

2.  Gerry Pageau, Sunshine Coast Community Solar Association 
Regarding Gibsons and Area Community Centre: Proposed Energy & Emergency 
Power Upgrade 

ANNEX A 
pp 1 - 4 

 

3.  Matt Thomson, Urban Matters  
Regarding Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment 2020 Report 
 

Verbal 

REPORTS 

4.  Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment 2020 
Planner/Senior Planner 
Regional Planning (Voting - All) 
 

ANNEX B 
pp 5 - 323 

 

5.  Development Variance Permit Application DVP00067  
(8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road) 
Senior Planner 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

ANNEX C 
pp 324 - 334 

 

6.  Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan 
Property (ALC Application 60840) 
Senior Planner 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

ANNEX D 
pp 335 - 341 

 

7.  Monthly Provincial Referral Review 
Planner/Senior Planner 
Regional Planning (Voting - All) 
 

ANNEX E 
pp 342 - 347 

 

8.  Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site (Secret Cove Falls Trail, Rec 0383) 
Partnership Agreement and Stewardship Memorandum of Understanding – 
Request to Authorize Delegated Signatories 
Parks Superintendent 
Community Parks (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

ANNEX F 
pp 348 - 349 

 

9.  My Sea to Sky Pilot Community Invitation - Building Capacity for Community 
Energy and Emissions Inventory and Evidence-Based Climate Action Planning  
Water Sustainability Coordinator 
Regional Sustainability Services (Voting – All) 
 
 

ANNEX G 
pp 350 - 353 



Planning and Community Development Committee Agenda – October 8, 2020 Page 2 

 
10.  Invitation to Tender (ITT) 2037005 Contract Award Langdale Well and Pump 

Station Improvements 
Manager, Capital Projects 
Regional Water (Voting – A, B, D, E, F, Sechelt) 
 

ANNEX H 
pp 354 - 356 

11.  Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 Contract Award for Metal Container Hauling 
and Recycling Services  
Manager, Solid Waste Services and Superintendent, Solid Waste Services 
Regional Solid Waste (Voting - All) 
 

ANNEX I 
pp 357 - 360 

12.  Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 Contract Award for Gypsum Container and 
Transportation Services  
Manager, Solid Waste Services and Superintendent, Solid Waste Services 
Regional Solid Waste (Voting - All) 
 

ANNEX J 
pp 361 - 364 

13.  Planning and Community Development Department 2020 Q3 Report 
Manager, Planning and Community Development 
Planning and Community Development Services (Voting - All)  
 

ANNEX K 
pp 365 - 382 

14.  Agricultural Advisory Committee Minutes of September 22, 2020 
Rural Planning (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

ANNEX L 
pp 383 - 384 

15.  Electoral Area A (Egmont/Pender Harbour) APC Minutes of September 30, 2020 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

ANNEX M 
pp 385 - 387 

COMMUNICATIONS 

16.  Board of Directors, Sunshine Coast Skating Club and Board of Directors, Sunshine 
Coast Minor Hockey Association dated September 10, 2020 
Regarding follow up from September 10, 2020 Delegation 
 

ANNEX N 
pp 388 - 389 

17.  Bill Beamish, Mayor, Town of Gibsons, dated September 16, 2020 
Regarding Gibsons Pool Closure 

ANNEX O 
pp 390 

18.  Community Petition, dated September 17, 2020 
Regarding Telus Telecommunications Facility Proposal request for Local 
Government Concurrence at 10591 Mercer Road, Halfmoon Bay 
 

ANNEX P 
pp 391 - 392 

19.  Danny Tryon, President, Gambier Island Community Association, dated 
September 25, 2020 
Regarding New Brighton dock 

ANNEX Q 
pp 393 - 395 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

IN CAMERA 

ADJOURNMENT 

 



Gibsons and Area Community Centre: Proposed 
Energy & Emergency Power Upgrade 

GACC Energy Upgrade Proposal Page 1 of 3 September 29, 2020 

Submitted By: SCCSA working 
group for GACC: Gerry Pageau, 
Donovan Whistler, Gordon Bishop 
& Dennis Olson. 

The 85.8 kw Solar Garden installed at the Lower 
Nicola Indian Band recreation facility near Merritt 

A Phased Project Proposal 
It is proposed that the SCRD upgrade the 
Gibsons and Area Community Centre (GACC) 
to increase energy efficiency, reduce GHG 
emissions and lower operating cost.  There are 
seven modules that can be done individually if 
desired.  Phase one is to install a grid-tied 100 
kW array of photovoltaic (PV) solar collectors 
on the roof.  The PV array will produce 143 
MWh/year reducing the BC Hydro bill by 
about $13,000/year. Phase two includes a 
battery backup system which serves a double 
role of providing emergency power for the 
building during times the BC Hydro grid is 
down and reducing building peak energy 
demand during normal operation.  Phases 3 to 
7 still need to be estimated.  They take 
advantage of the first phase and will result in a 
dramatic reduction in GHG emissions. 

Project Motivation 
In July 2020, SCRD board member Donna 
McMahon approached us after seeing the James 
Pawley Legacy solar array at the Sechelt Senior 
Activity Center. This was a project championed 
by the SCCSA.  She asked us to provide a 
proposal to the Planning and Community 
Development Committee estimating cost and 
benefits of an integrated solar system for the 
GACC that would both reduce operating costs 
and cut GHG emissions. 

SCRD Clean Energy Initiatives 
The Sunshine Coast Community Energy and 
Emissions Plan was issued in 2010/2011.  
Included in the plan was installing renewable 
energy systems. In March 2016, the SCRD 
issued an update to their Strategic Energy 
Management Plan which recommended 
installing a 150 kW solar array on the GACC 
roof in 2019. Solar projects have already been 
completed at the SCRD administration building, 
Sechelt Aquatic Centre, and Sechelt Landfill. 

The 80 kWh integrated solar PV lithium battery 
backup system at Pender Harbour School.  

PHASES 1 & 2 key numbers 
Project type: Grid tied solar PV array 
with battery backup.  
Project Lifespan: 40 years (25 year 
warrantee) 
Phase 1 Installed Cost: $210,000 
Phase 2 Installed cost: $130,000 
Phase 1 savings: $13,200/year 

ANNEX A

1



 

GACC Energy Upgrade Proposal Page 2 of 3 September 29, 2020 
 

Overcoming Barriers 
The cost of solar PV has dropped 82% since 
2010. Not only has the capital cost dropped, the 
payback has improved dramatically due to the 
annual inflation of purchased electricity cost.  
The GACC is a key emergency shelter so having 
a sustainable power system that could operate 
maintenance-free for weeks in the event of a 
major BC Hydro disruption caused by wildfire, 
earthquake, or other disaster is a huge benefit.  
That is why the project includes an integrated 
battery system.  It is sized to provide higher 
capacity than the aging fossil-fuelled generator 
that currently provides backup power. 

 

 

The system shown above (from NRC "Planning 
& Decision Guide for Solar PV Systems", 
released August 2020) is recommended for the 
GACC and it is accomplished by phases 1 and 2. 
Surplus solar energy flows out to the grid during 
normal operation. Should the grid go down, the 
PV system automatically disconnects from the 
utility and operates in stand-alone (off-grid) 
mode to supply essential AC loads; usually from 
a sub-panel designated for this purpose.  The 
aerial photo below shows proposed location of 
phase 1 solar panels on south half of roof. There 
is room for duplicate array (phase 7) in the 
future. 

The proposed 100 kW array on GACC roof. 

Building Community Support 
for Projects 
The electricity bill savings from the PV array 
can be shared through newsletters and recreation 
guides.  Screens that display the real time energy 
and GHG savings will provide an effective and 
engaging way to communicate the project's 
benefits. 

Project Phases 
The project can proceed in seven phases: 
1) The first phase consists of 341 panels, 

related inverters, racking and cables which 
will produce a peak of 100 kW renewable 
electricity.  The system is designed for BC 
Hydro net metering and battery backup. 

2) Add a 140 kWh battery bank with related 
charging and switchover electronics to 
isolate the building electrical system from 
grid when backup power is needed.  With 
proper design, batteries could also reduce 
peak electrical demand on the grid which 
would further reduce the BC Hydro bill. 

3) Replace the rooftop natural gas HVAC 
units with electric heat pumps.  This will 
provide dramatic GHG reduction and 
additional operating cost savings. 

4) Install vacuum heat pipe style solar 
thermal hot water heaters to reduce energy 
cost of rec centre hot water.  This will 
have both GHG and cost savings. A great 
example is at the Whistler Aquatic Centre. 

5) Upgrade old fluorescent lighting to LED 
with pre-approved BC Hydro PowerSmart 
funding to cut lighting operational costs, 
reduce demand on the battery backup and 
improve light quality. 

6) Install additional EV chargers. 
7) Install a second 100 kW array under BC 

Hydro virtual net metering as soon as that 
option is available. 

 

2



 

GACC Energy Upgrade Proposal Page 3 of 3 September 29, 2020 
 

Funding Options 
The carbon tax may allow the SCRD to integrate 
carbon costs into the capital and operating 
budgets for the project. The carbon neutral 
requirements in the Climate Action Charter 
provide a financial signal that this low-carbon 
solution will save money in the long run. The 
Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program 
(CARIP) may help finance this project since it 
will reduce emissions. The project may also 
qualify for recently announced infrastructure and 
COVID recovery grants.  

SD46 is funding their next project at 
Kinnikinnik elementary school through a 
provincial Carbon Neutral Capital Program grant 
because in addition to the PV array, electric heat 
pumps will replace gas fired heating.  GACC 
may be eligible for similar grants in phases 3&4.  

Because GACC is a designated emergency 
centre, grants are available to support the battery 
backup portion of this project.  BCIT report 
BCUS7401 submitted to SCRD in 2018 had an 
extensive list of grants to fund a PV emergency 
backup power project at GACC; some of those 
grants are still available. 

Comparable Projects 
School district 46 has already installed similar 
sized arrays on four local schools.  The 
following data was gathered from news sources 
and has yet to be confirmed with SD46 staff. 
1) Langdale Elementary 66 kW, 75 MWh/year 

installed 2017 cost $170,000 saving 
$7,500/year. 

2) Davis Bay Elementary: 195 x 325W panels, 
64 kW, 72 MWh/year cost $127,000 and 
saves $7,200/year. 

3) Pender Harbour Elementary/Secondary 324 
x 325W panels 105 kW, 112 MWh/year 
installed 2018 cost $199,000 saving 
$11,200/year. An 80 kW integrated battery 
backup was also installed at additional cost. 

4) In 2020, Gibsons Elementary installed 350 
panels generating 100 kW at cost of 
$250,000 and saving $17,200/year. 

Next Steps 
When the SCRD Planning and Community 
Development Committee and board of directors 
decide this project is worth pursuing, here are 

key steps which will help lead to successful 
implementation:  
1) Assemble an integrated design team.  

Include team member who will find and 
apply for grants that will offset capital cost. 

2) Confirm the connection requirements and 
constraints at the GACC building. 

3) Confirm overall project scope. 
4) Confirm PV energy production target and 

array location. 
5) Confirm required battery backup capacity, 

location, and functionality. 
6) Design electrical connection methods. 
7) Determine structural impacts and select PV 

attachment methods. 
8) Choose preferred solar module technology. 
9) Select preferred inverter technology. 
10) Select battery type and charging technology. 
11) Choose energy monitoring approach. 
12) Hand off specifications and requirements to 

the construction team who will handle RFQ, 
bid selection and all construction activities.  

The SCCSA is willing to volunteer our services 
to assist the design team. We can quickly supply 
details such as: 
1) Typical technical details and product 

information sheets of PV system 
components. 

2) Existing reports, plans, and research related 
to the GACC or relevant to it. 

3) Preliminary cost and benefit calculation 
details for various project options. 

4) Many examples of existing energy projects 
at SCRD, SD46, and other BC jurisdictions. 

Summary 
The proposed PV array at GACC is one of 
many climate action projects the SCRD could 
implement and is one of the few that have a 
significant long-term financial payback. It is in a 
very visible location, will demonstrate SCRD 
leadership on climate action, and set an example 
for others in the community.  

By making use of BC Hydro’s net metering 
program, the PV array will directly reduce the 
electricity bill. That creates a domino effect for 
savings, since utility savings translate to reduced 
operating costs overall, ultimately freeing up 
money for other uses at the SCRD. 

3



Appendix 1: Some background about the SCCSA 

 

 

 

 

SCCSA funded research report on community 
solar prospects for the Sunshine Coast 

Electricians from Clear Energy Solutions and 
Streamline Electrical install solar PV panels from a 
bulk buy purchase at the home of SCCSA member. 

The Sunshine Coast Community Solar Association 
grew out of recognizing the need to reduce 
reliance on fossil fuels and the realization that 
solar energy has been under-utilized. Conserving 
energy is the first and most important step, but 
investing in clean, environmentally sound 
renewable energy is critical, with the risks of 
climate change increasing daily. Meeting as a small 
group beginning in 2014, the SCCSA quickly 
reached a wider community audience and has 
conducted studies, and surveys, hosted 
community events and promoted educational 
opportunities including mentoring post-secondary 
students interested in solar. We initiated two 
popular bulk buys of solar panels, have connected 
with many other organizations including the 
school district, and have promoted solar at many 
events. With over 450 people signed up for our 
newsletter and over 50 paid members, we know 
the Sunshine Coast community is interested in 
solar. Our public meetings and solar courses are 
well-attended. Our diverse board includes people 
with technical and organizing expertise. For more 
information, go to our website or Facebook page: 
https://suncoastcommsolar.weebly.com/  
https://www.facebook.com/SCcommunitysolar/  
 

4



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 

AUTHOR: Julie Clark, Planner 1/ Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: SUNSHINE COAST HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2020 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment 2020 be received; 

AND THAT the Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment Report contained in 
Attachment A of this report be received in accordance with section 585.31 of the Local 
Government Act;  

AND THAT the Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment Report be published to the 
Sunshine Coast Regional District website which is publicly and freely accessible; 

AND THAT a report on next steps, best practices and policy recommendations brought to 
a future Committee; 

AND FURTHER THAT this recommendation be forwarded to the October 8, 2020 Regular 
Board meeting in order to meet the grant deadline. 

BACKGROUND 

Homes for BC, The Province of BC’s Housing Plan contains the origins of new Provincial 
legislation in the Local Government Act Part 14, Division 22 that requires all local governments 
to conduct a Housing Needs Assessment by April 2022 according to the Housing Needs Report 
Regulation, and subsequently update the assessment every five years.  

The results of the assessment are intended to be used to inform a range of policy and planning 
initiatives such as the development and / or update of Official Community Plans, Zoning Bylaws, 
development projects, economic development initiatives, other policy development, and 
Regional Growth Strategy.  

Initiated and led by the Town of Gibsons, the Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment was 
developed by a consultant team at Urban Matters, funded by a grant from the Union of BC 
Municipalities (UBCM) and overseen by a collaborative regional steering committee of industry 
professionals and a smaller working team of planning staff from SCRD, District of Sechelt and 
Town of Gibsons. The project was launched in January 2020. Community engagement was 
conducted from April through July with a robust (adapted) set of methods, despite the arrival of 
COVID restrictions. 

The purpose of this report is to have the Housing Needs Assessment officially received to meet 
the requirements of the Local Government Act. Receipt by resolution before October 15th 2020 
meets the funding requirements of UBCM.  

ANNEX B

5

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2018/homesbc/2018_homes_for_bc.pdf
https://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/r15001_14#division_d1e58247
https://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/oic/oic_cur/0205_2019
https://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/oic/oic_cur/0205_2019


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment 2020  Page 2 of 3 
 

2020 Oct 8 PCD Housing Needs Assessment Cover Report 

DISCUSSION 

The geography of the Sunshine Coast, as a mainland peninsula, near to Vancouver, accessed 
only by ferries results in a unique set of housing trends in the Province. Urban Matters 
consultants’ commented that communities of the Sunshine Coast Regional District are more 
consistent in their experience of housing trends and needs than other regional districts in the 
Province. While communities of the Coast have unique qualities, each are experiencing similar 
pressures and trends when it comes to demographics and corresponding housing needs. 
Evidence provided by the assessment illustrates a clear picture of growth trends and housing 
needs on the Sunshine Coast and the need for stronger regional collaboration to implement 
effective and meaningful strategies.  

The Housing Needs Assessment 2020 builds on four similar housing assessments on the Coast 
between from 2006-2016.  

The Housing Needs Assessment data and reports are designed to identify the “who” and the 
“what” – allowing the community, planners, decision makers and service providers to 
understand: 

• housing need of specific groups, notably seniors, families, etc. 
• housing supply and demand 
• affordability pressures by developing affordability “gaps” 
• possible future needs, including quantity and form 

Once officially received, Local Governments will be obligated to use the housing needs results 
data. Future development or updates to policies such as OCPs or Zoning Bylaws will be 
informed by Housing Needs Assessment data. 

Analysis of the assessment results identifies the strengths and gaps in each electoral area and 
allows local governments to plan for what is needed.  Policy recommendations will follow as a 
next step, tailored to each community, based on the Housing Needs Assessment.  

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date 

The “how” or “next steps” is to follow, overseen by the same collaborative steering committee 
and consultant. The development of next steps is expected to take place from October to 
December 2020 which will include a literature review on best practices and policy tools. The 
policy work will build on work completed to date and result in a priority list of recommendations 
that provide tailored strategic direction in working toward affordable housing. Staff will bring a 
report to a future committee with results for possible Board decision/direction.  

Communications Strategy 

Please see the attached Engagement Summary for a summary of communications and 
engagement methods and results during the project. Communications next steps include 
hosting a stakeholder forum to share results.  The Local Government Act also requires that the 
HNA report be posted on local government websites. Further public communications are 
planned once the policy next steps are completed. 

6

https://www.affordablesc.org/


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment 2020  Page 3 of 3 
 

2020 Oct 8 PCD Housing Needs Assessment Cover Report 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

In receiving the Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessments, local governments are taking 
one of the pre steps required to inform and implement Strategy 3.2 of SCRD’s Strategic Plan: 

3.2 DEVELOP GROWTH MANAGEMENT PLAN  
Pursue regional planning framework for local governments and First Nations to address 
regional growth with consideration to economic, social, and environmental values and 
impacts 2020  

The collaborative approach to developing the HNA and its corresponding policy work (next step) 
is an example of SCRD strategy 3.3 in action: 

3.3 INCREASE INTERGOVERNMENTAL COLLABORATION 
Identify and implement opportunities for joint initiatives, collaboration and information 
sharing between local governments 

CONCLUSION 

Planning staff participated in the regional collaboration to produce Sunshine Coast Housing 
Needs Assessment Report, project-managed by the Town of Gibsons, supported by SCRD and 
District of Sechelt and developed by Urban Matters consultants. Staff recommend receiving the 
Housing Needs Assessment report to achieve the requirements of the Local Government Act 
and the (grant) funding deadline for UBCM.   

Attachments 

Attachment A – Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Assessment Report 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X- D. Pady Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative X – S. Reid 
CAO X – D. McKinley Other  

 

7



Sunshine Coast
Housing Needs Report

September 2020

Attachment A

8



Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

1.0 

2.0 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
 
The partners in this project are located within the traditional 
territory of the shíshálh and Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Úxwumixw First 
Nations.

The development of this report would not have been 
possible without the guidance and hard work of local 
government staff: Lesley-Anne Staats, Director of Planning 
for the Town of Gibsons, Andrew Allen, Director of Planning 
and Development for the District of Sechelt, and Julie Clark, 
Senior Planner for the Sunshine Coast Regional District, and 
Dave Pady, Manager of Planning and Development for the 
Sunshine Coast Regional District. We would also like to thank 
the members of our Steering Committee: Janice Iverson 
(Community Futures / Coastal Workforce Housing Society), 
Les Falk (Pender Harbour Seniors / Health Centre), Colin 
Stansfield (Sunshine Coast Regional Economic Development 
Organization / Coastal Workforce Housing Society), Nicholas 
Weswick (School District 46), Krista Dempster (Sunshine 
Coast Affordable Housing Society / Real Estate Agent), 
Catherine Leach (Sunshine Coast Community Services Society 
/ District of Sechelt Housing Committee), Geoff McKee 
(Vancouver Coastal Health), and Lianne Carley  
(Vancouver Coastal Health).

This report is prepared for the sole use of the Town of Gibsons, the Sunshine Coast Regional District and the 
District of Sechelt. No representations of any kind are made by Urban Matters CCC or its employees to any 
party with whom Urban Matters CCC does not have a contract. © URBAN MATTERS CCC 2020

Contents
Executive Summary .............................................................i

Introduction ......................................................................... 1
1.1 Background and Context  .......................................................2
1.2 Data and Limitations ................................................................4
1.3 Study Process .............................................................................6
1.4 Report Structure ........................................................................6

Demographic and Economic Profile .........................10
2.1 Demographic Trends ............................................................. 10
2.2 Income and Economy .......................................................... 22
2.3 Summary .................................................................................. 30

9



3.0 

4.0 

5.0 

6.0 

7.0 

Appendices
A: Glossary
B: Required Data
C: Full Engagement Summary
D: Housing Needs Report Summary Forms

Housing Profile ....................................................................32
3.1 Dwelling Units .............................................................................32
3.2 Homeownership Market .........................................................38
3.3 Rental Housing Market ............................................................52
3.4 Housing Indicators and Core Housing Need ...................65
3.5 Homelessness .............................................................................68
3.6 Summary ......................................................................................68

Community Growth ............................................................71
4.1 Population, Age, and Household Projections ...................72
4.2 Required Housing Unit Projections .....................................80
4.3 Summary .....................................................................................84

Community Engagement Findings ...............................86
5.1 Challenges and Needs .............................................................86
5.2 Barriers ..........................................................................................88
5.3 Opportunities .............................................................................88

COVID-19 Implications .....................................................89
6.1 Housing Impacts on the Coast  .............................................90

Summary and Next Steps ................................................91
7.1 Key Areas of Local Need ..........................................................94
7.2 Next Steps .................................................................................. 109

10



i Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Executive Summary

Over the last fifteen years and particularly since 2014, the Sunshine Coast has 
experienced increases in the cost of housing, as the escalation of housing and 
land costs in Metro Vancouver increasingly impacts the region. Across the 
Coast, many median-earning households are priced out of homeownership 
and many renter households struggle to find affordable and available long-
term rentals. Homelessness appears to be on the increase, with the Gibsons 
and Sechelt shelters at capacity and waitlists for supportive housing that 
stretch longer than the current spaces provided. 

Community Growth and Demographics 
The Sunshine Coast is growing. The regional population grew by 8% between 
2006 and 2016, with most growth concentrated in Gibsons and Sechelt, 
followed by nearby electoral areas (Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, and Halfmoon 
Bay). At the same time, the population is aging and smaller households are 
becoming more common, as children move out and seniors are living with 
their partner or on their own. In 2016, all communities had a median age 
higher than 50 years, indicating that at least half the population was over 50 
years old, with the median ages projected to continue rising over the near-
term. This is consistent with trends experienced across the country, although 
the median age in all electoral areas and municipalities was already much 
higher compared to the provincial average in 2016 (43.0). 

At the same time, projections show a moderate increase in the number of 
adults aged 25 to 44 and children aged 0 to 14. Anecdotal evidence suggests 
the Coast is experiencing increasing migration of young families from Metro 
Vancouver and other areas of the province due to the relative affordability of 
the Coast compared to Metro Vancouver. 

Across the Coast, there were higher proportions of people who reported 
working from home in 2016 (13% - 22%) compared to the provincial average 
(9%). With requirements for physical distancing and the transition to working 
from home for most office workers as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
community engagement indicates working from home on the Coast has 
become even more common and could affect demand for housing as more 
adults are able to work remotely and look for more affordable places to raise 
their families. 

Homelessness appears 
to be on the increase, 
with the Gibsons and 
Sechelt shelters at 
capacity and waitlists 
for supportive housing.

11



ii

Housing Stock 
The single-detached home is the most common type of housing across 
the Coast and is unaffordable for median earning households in almost all 
communities. There is a limited supply of smaller, affordable units such as 
apartments or townhouses. In 2016, one-bedrooms and studios comprised 
9% to 14% of housing stock on the Coast, while 66% to 87% of households 
were one or two people. These households may be living in larger units than 
they need as per NOS requirements. Studio and one-bedroom units can be 
an important supply of affordable housing for seniors looking to downsize 
and work force housing. Looking ahead, projections indicate that more than 
half the future population could be suitably accommodated in studio or one-
bedroom units.  

Based on past trends, projections suggest approximately 523 new households 
may have formed between 2016 and 2020, while there were 1,135 building 
permits issued over this timeframe. Most building permits were for single-
family dwellings. The large number of building permits compared to 
households could indicate the construction of dwellings that are not occupied 
on a permanent basis (i.e., secondary homes) and/or that more people are 
moving to the Coast than have in the past. Recent influxes of residents 
moving from elsewhere to the Coast may not be fully accounted for in 
historical trends on which the projections are based. 

Affordability   
Like most communities across the province, the growth in household incomes 
has been increasingly outstripped by the increase in housing prices. Data 
from the Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board indicates that the Coast 
has seen a rapid increase in prices since 2014, a trend seen in many BC 
communities. If household incomes continued to grow at the same pace as 
they grew between the 2006 and 2016 censuses, between 2016 and 2019 they 
increased by approximately 11%. Over this same period, the average sales 
price for a detached dwelling increased by approximately 53%. Estimates of 
2019 household incomes compared to 2019 sales prices show that the single-
detached home is unaffordable for median incomes in nearly all Sunshine 
Coast communities, despite this being the most common type of home. 
Single-income households like lone-parent families and individuals living 
alone (non-census families) are likely priced out of all ownership options. 
Household types with the highest median incomes may be able to afford to 
purchase a home in Sechelt or Gibsons, but are likely priced out of single-
detached homes in the electoral areas. 

Affordability of rentals has also worsened in recent years. In most 
communities, rents are affected by housing prices, as owners look to support 
their mortgage payments through renting. Between 2016 and 2019, cost of 
rent nearly doubled in the electoral areas, while it increased by close to 40% 
in the municipalities. In 2016, 40% or more of all renter households were 
living in unaffordable housing across the Coast. 

Estimates of 2019 
household incomes 
compared to 2019 
sales prices show that 
the single-detached 
home is unaffordable 
for median incomes in 
nearly all Sunshine Coast 
communities.

12



iii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

In 2016, there were approximately 1,175 renter and 860 owner households in 
Core Housing Need across the Coast. These households are currently living 
in unacceptable conditions (i.e., overcrowded housing, housing in need of 
repairs) and cannot afford an acceptable alternative housing unit in their 
community based on median rents. As affordability has likely worsened since 
2016, it is likely the number of households living in Core Housing Need has 
increased, as the cost of rent increased approximately 40%.

As the municipal hubs of the Coast, Sechelt and Gibsons have the highest 
proportion of houses occupied by their usual residents and more diverse 
housing options, with townhouses and apartments that are more affordable 
than single-detached dwellings. As the population across the Coast continues 
to grow and age, it will be important for more diverse and affordable housing 
options, that are suited to the more rural character of these communities, to 
be developed in adjacent electoral areas like Roberts Creek and Elphinstone, 
to meet the needs of seniors who wish to age in place, young families, and 
workers. Additionally, sustainability concerns, such as water and energy 
efficiency, will need to be a strong component of any new development going 
forward in municipal or rural areas of the Sunshine Coast; however, this could 
have cost implications on the affordability of new housing.   

Housing Supports
Across the Coast, the population is aging. Community engagement indicated 
that there is need for more supports for seniors who wish to age in place or 
downsize from single-detached dwellings, which they are concerned about 
maintaining.

In 2018, there were 57 individuals counted as experiencing homelessness 
in Sechelt and Gibsons. Residents believe there is a need for more supports 
and transitional living options for individuals experiencing homelessness. 
Stakeholders recognized that while it is challenging to assess homelessness 
due to shifting seasonal patterns and hidden forms of homelessness like 
couchsurfing and living in unsafe conditions, it is clear that homelessness on 
the Coast has been increasing and becoming more visible in recent years. 
Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate that homelessness tends to 
be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, while hidden 
homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch 
surfing, camping, etc.) is more common in the electoral areas. 

Stakeholders indicated the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health 
challenges such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that 
many require housing support.

Sustainability concerns, 
such as water and 
energy efficiency, will 
need to be a strong 
component of any new 
development going 
forward.

13



iv

Housing-at-a-Glance 
Community Summaries 
Sunshine Coast (“the Coast”) communities are located within the territories of the 
shíshálh and Skwxwú7mesh Nations. The Coast has been experiencing increasing 
housing pressures in recent years as the population grows, demographics shift, and 
market conditions change. In response, the Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, and 
Sunshine Coast Regional District (SCRD) partnered to undertake a regional housing needs 
assessment and prepare this Housing Needs Report. This report builds on previous work 
and supports ongoing work by local governments and other stakeholders to be part of 
the housing solution across the Coast. A region-wide approach improves understanding 
of connections between communities and provides for efficiencies in data collection, 
to better assess current and anticipate future housing needs. In 2018, the Provincial 
Government also introduced Housing Needs Reports legislation, requiring all local 
governments to collect and analyze data to identify current and future housing needs. 
This Report fulfills the provincial requirements and provides valuable information that can 
be used to inform future actions on housing and community planning.  

The objectives were to:  

 � Build an understanding of current and future needs throughout the Housing 
Wheelhouse based on demographics, economic indicators, market conditions, and 
community engagement 

 � Assess and document the availability, affordability, suitability, and adequacy of 
existing housing stock 

 � Develop projections for household types and population growth to estimate the 
demand for future housing types  

 � Identify key issues and trends to inform future housing-related policies and 
initiatives 

This report views housing on the Coast through the lens of the Housing 
Wheelhouse. The Wheelhouse, developed by the City of Kelowna in 2017, is a 
new way to think about different housing types and tenures. While traditionally 
housing in Canada has been considered a continuum, the Wheelhouse aims to 
re-imagine movement through the housing system as something non-linear, 
where residents may access different appropriate forms of housing at different 
stages of their life. 

14



v Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Data Summary | Pender Harbour / 
Egmont

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing 
needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the 
Coast, including but not limited to population growth, number of households and household 
characteristics, income, and employment.

The population of Pender 
Harbour/Egmont remained 
constant between 2006 and 
2016. Projections suggest 
that the rate of growth will 
be relatively slow in the 
coming years. 

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 2,647.

Pender Harbour/Egmont is 
experiencing the aging trend 
seen in most communities across 
Canada, as the proportion of 
seniors in the population increased 
between 2006 and 2016, a trend 
that is expected to continue. Over 
this time period Pender Harbour/
Egmont experienced a 6% 
decrease in the population aged 
0 to 19, the largest decrease for 
this age group in all communities 
across the Coast. At the same time 
there was a 5% decrease in the 
population aged 25 to 64 and an 
11% increase in those aged 65 
to 84. In 2016, Pender Harbour 
had the highest proportion of 
individuals aged 65 to 84, at 34%.

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

2,374
2,624 2,670

Pender Harbour/
Egmont

Official Census Count

Estimate

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

2,374
2,624 2,670

Pender Harbour/
Egmont

Official Census Count

Estimate

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%
6% 3% 2%

51%

34%

3%

BC

Pender 
Harbour /Egmont

15



vi

Households
In 2016, there were 1,385 households in 
Pender Harbour/Egmont. Between 2006 
and 2016, the number of households 
increased by 145 households. In 2016, 
Pender Harbour/Egmont had the highest 
proportion of two-person households of 
communities across the Coast, with the 
highest proportions of couples without 
children, at 44%.

Housing Stock
In 2016, 69% of housing units in Pender 
Harbour/Egmont had two or three 
bedrooms. Only 12% of units were one-
bedroom or studio units, while 38% of 
households were one-person households. 
This suggests some residents may have 
more space than they need (based on the 
National Occupancy Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, PENDER 
HARBOUR / EGMONT, 2016

44%

9%
4
%

41%

3
 %

couples without
children

couples
with

children
Lone-parent families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCPender Harbour / Egmont

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

38%
29%

49%
35%

8%

14%
4%

13% 8%
5+

12% 36% 33% 19%

5+4
2%

16



vii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Income
The median household income 
in Pender Harbour/Egmont 
in 2016 was $53,934, the 
lowest median income of all 
communities on the Coast. 
Typically, median income 
of renter households is 
substantially lower than that of 
owner households. In Pender 
Harbour/Egmont, median 
income for renters was 42% the 
median income of owners.

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – affordability, 
suitability, and adequacy – are 
important when identifying areas 
of housing need in a community. In 
Pender Harbour/Egmont, affordability 
is the greatest challenge. In 2016, 
42% of renter households and 
16% of owner households had 
unaffordable shelter costs. Core 
Housing Need identifies households 
whose housing does not meet the 
minimum requirements of at least 
one of the adequacy, affordability, or 
suitability indicators and would have 
to spend 30% or more of their total 
before-tax income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local housing 
that is acceptable (meets all three 
housing standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to be 
an underrepresentation of actual 
housing need. Some households are 
more likely to be in Core Housing 
Need than others. 51% of renter 
households were in Core Housing 
Need, compared to 13% of owner 
households, this is the highest 
proportion of owner households 
in Core Housing Need across all 
communities on the Coast.

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, 
housing must be reported by residents as not 
requiring any major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, 
housing costs must be less than 30% of total 
before-tax household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, 
housing must have enough bedrooms for 
the size and composition of the household, 
according to National Occupancy Standard 
requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$53,934

$65,767

$26,990

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE 
HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

17



viii

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 88% of the housing in that community. 
Couples with children making the median income would need to spend approximately 39% of their 
monthly income on shelter costs; other census families would need to spend 40%. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would need 
to spend 47% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning 
single-income households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 71% and 
117% of their monthly income, respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of 
more than $2,000. In 2016, 41% of households in Pender Harbour / Egmont were non-census families 
and 4% were lone-parent households, meaning nearly half of the population is likely priced out of 
ownership.

 � AVERAGE SALES PRICES BY STRUCTURE TYPE, PENDER HARBOUR / EGMONT, 2009 TO 2019

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN PENDER HARBOUR / EGMONT

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter  
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($832,898)

Couples without children $100,728 $2,518 -$1,455

Couples with children $122,235 $3,056 -$918

Lone-parent families $67,211 $1,680 -$2,293

Non-census families $41,895 $1,047 -$2,926

Other census families $117,934 $2,948 -$1,025

2005 2011 2013 2015 2017 20192007 2009

$387,325

$738,909

Pender Harbour and Egmont

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need

18



ix Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Rentership
A scan of rental postings conducted 
between March and May of 2020 found 
that the average posted monthly rental 
cost for Pender Harbour/Egmont was 
$1,367. 

There are considerable gaps for all 
household types in affording the average 
rental in Pender Harbour / Egmont. Single 
income households, like lone-parent 
families and non-census families face the 
greatest affordability gaps. Lone-parent households earning the median income would likely need to 
spend 59% of their income on monthly shelter costs, resulting in a gap of $735. Non-census families 
would likely need to spend 95% of their monthly income on shelter costs, resulting in a gap of nearly 
$1,000. Couples without children face moderate gaps and median-income earners would need to 
spend approximately 40% of their monthly income on rental costs. Median-earning couples with 
children and other census families are closer to the affordability threshold and would need to spend 
33% and 43% of their monthly income on shelter costs, respectively. In 2016, 41% of households in 
Pender Harbour / Egmont were non-census families and 4% were lone-parent households, meaning 
nearly half of the population may be struggling to find affordable housing.

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN PENDER HARBOUR / EGMONT

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,367 rent)

Couples without children $41,337 $1,033 -$1,455 

Couples with children $50,164 $1,254 -$918 

Lone-parent families $27,583 $690 -$2,293 

Non-census families $17,193 $430 -$2,926 

Other census families $48,399 $1,210 -$1,025 

$1,367

$806

2016 2020

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

19



x

Key Areas of Local Need  
 Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has 
been and continues to be the most significant 
issue, with 16% of owner, or 175 households, 
and 42% of renter, or 80 households living in 
unaffordable housing in 2016. Increases in the 
cost of home ownership continue to outpace 
growth in median incomes. Households earning 
the median income are likely unable to afford a 
single-detached home at recent average sales 
prices, while this form of home comprises the 
majority of housing in the community. 

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there 
is high demand for rental housing, which is 
not being met by the current supply of rental 
options across the Coast. In 2016, 41% of homes 
in Pender Harbour / Egmont were not occupied 
by their usual resident; these homes are either 
vacant or rented out on a temporary or short-
term basis. Renter households have much lower 
median incomes than owners and are more 
likely to be in Core Housing Need, with 51%, or 
100 in Core Housing Need in 2016. Cost of rent 
has risen substantially in recent years reaching 
approximately $1,367 in 2020; renter households 
making the median income are likely unable to 
afford average rent. This is especially a challenge 
for single income households, like lone-parents 
and individuals living alone. 

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across 
all groups, including individuals with physical 
and mental health challenges. There are limited 
housing options for these individuals, who 
often face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to the 
limited primary rental market for secure housing. 
There are no primary rental market units in 
Pender Harbour / Egmont and stakeholders 
indicated there is a need for more supportive 
housing in Pender Harbour. 

Housing for Seniors 
At 60.5 years old, Pender Harbour / Egmont had 
the highest median age of all electoral areas 
and municipalities on the Coast in 2016. For 
comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years 
old. The population has been aging over the past 
three census counts and projections suggest this 
trend is likely to continue. While adults over 65 
comprised 37% of Pender Harbour / Egmont’s 
population in 2016, projections suggest they 
could comprise more than 38% by 2025. As 
the population continues to age, there will be 
increased need for affordable smaller units 
in accessible housing forms and supports to 
meet the needs of seniors living alone, or older 
couples whose children have left home who are 
looking for affordable options. These households 
are likely to face large affordability gaps in both 
the rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). Median-earning households 
with children are likely unable to afford 
ownership or rental housing in Pender Harbour / 
Egmont.  

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness  
and Housing Insecurity 
Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated 
that homelessness is on the rise. Hidden 
homelessness was specifically identified as a 
challenge in Pender Harbour / Egmont, with 
need for some form of local emergency shelter 
or support. Seniors and at-risk youth were 
identified as vulnerable groups more commonly 
experiencing homelessness in Pender Harbour.   

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional 
housing across the Coast, to meet the needs 
of women and their children fleeing abuse and 
unsafe situations, stating that existing second 
stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. 

20



xi Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Data Summary | Halfmoon Bay

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing 
needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the 
Coast, including but not limited to population growth, number of households and household 
characteristics, income, and employment.

The population of Halfmoon 
Bay grew by 6% between 2006 
and 2016, compared to 8% 
growth across the Coast as a 
whole. Projections suggest this 
rate of growth will level off in 
the coming years. 

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 2,756.

Halfmoon Bay is experiencing 
the aging trend seen in most 
communities across Canada, as 
the proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that 
is expected to continue. Over 
this time period Halfmoon Bay 
experienced a 5% decrease in 
the population aged 0 to 19 
and an 8% increase in those 
aged 65 to 84.

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

2,353

2,726 2,786

Halfmoon 
Bay

Official Census Count

Estimate

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

2,353

2,726 2,786

Halfmoon 
Bay

Official Census Count

Estimate

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

12%
5% 3%

54%

25%

2%

BC

Halfmoon Bay

21



xii

Households
In 2016, there were 1,250 households in 
the Halfmoon Bay. Between 2006 and 
2016, the number of households increased 
by 125 households. In 2016, Halfmoon 
Bay had a high proportion of one and 
two-person households, with 41% of 
households being made up of couples 
without children and 30% non-census-
family households. 

Housing Stock
In 2016, 69% of housing units in Halfmoon 
Bay had two or three bedrooms. Only 
10% of units were one-bedroom or studio 
units, while 28% of households were one-
person households. This suggests some 
residents may have more space than they 
need (based on the National Occupancy 
Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, 
HALFMOON BAY, 2016

41%

19%5%

30%

4
 %

couples without
children

couples
with childrenLone-parent

families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCHalfmoon Bay

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

28%
29%

48%
35%

11%
14%

9%
13% 8%

5+

10% 26% 43% 21%

5+

4%

22



xiii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Income
The median household income 
in Halfmoon Bay in 2016 was 
$65,939. Typically, median 
income of renter households 
is substantially lower than 
that of owner households. In 
Halfmoon Bay, median income 
for renters was 45% the median 
income of owners. 

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – 
affordability, suitability, and 
adequacy – are important 
when identifying areas of 
housing need in a community. 
In Halfmoon Bay, affordability 
is the greatest challenge. In 
2016, 50% of renter households 
and 18% of owner households 
had unaffordable shelter costs. 
Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing 
does not meet the minimum 
requirements of at least one 
of the adequacy, affordability, 
or suitability indicators and 
would have to spend 30% or 
more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local 
housing that is acceptable 
(meets all three housing 
standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to 
be an underrepresentation of 
actual housing need. Some 
households are more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need 
than others. 40% of renter 
households were in Core 
Housing Need, compared to 
6% of owner households. 

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, housing 
must be reported by residents as not requiring any 
major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, housing 
costs must be less than 30% of total before-tax 
household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, housing must 
have enough bedrooms for the size and composition 
of the household, according to National Occupancy 
Standard requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$65,939

$73,148

$32,288

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

23



xiv

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in Halfmoon 
Bay. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 96% of the housing in that community. 

Other census families, who may have multiple incomes due to multi-generational or other living 
arrangements, face the lowest gaps in affording the average single-detached home at 2019 prices. 
This household type would have to spend 35% of their monthly income on shelter costs. Couples 
with children making the median income face the second-lowest gap; these households would need 
to spend approximately 37% of their monthly income on shelter costs. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would 
need to spend 48% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-
earning single-income households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 
approximately all of their monthly income to be able to afford a single-detached home, facing gaps 
of close to $3,000. In 2016, 30% of households in Halfmoon Bay were non-census families and 5% 
were lone-parent households who are likely priced out of ownership. This community had the third 
highest proportion of couples with children (19%), who still face significant affordability gaps when 
looking to buy a home.

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN HALFMOON BAY

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter  
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($801,765)

Couples without 
children $95,979 $2,399 -$1,462

Couples with 
children $125,554 $3,139 -$723

Lone-parent 
families $47,595 $1,190 -$2,672

Non-census 
families $44,286 $1,107 -$2,755

Other census 
families $130,808 $3,270 -$592

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need

24



xv Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Rentership
A scan of rental postings conducted 
between March and May of 2020 found 
that the average posted monthly rental 
cost for Halfmoon Bay was $1,788. 

There are considerable gaps for all 
household types in affording the average 
rental in Halfmoon Bay. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and 
non-census families face the greatest 
affordability gaps. Both of these household types earning the median income would need to spend 
more than 100% of their income on monthly shelter costs, resulting in gaps of more than $1,300 
per month. 

Couples without children also face significant gaps in Halfmoon Bay; median income earners would 
need to spend 51% of their monthly income to afford the average rental. Median-earning couples 
with children and other census families are closer to the affordability threshold but would still need 
to spend 39% and 37% of their monthly income on shelter costs, respectively.

In 2016, 30% of households in Halfmoon Bay were non-census families, 5% were lone-parent 
households, and 41% were couples without children. This means that more than three-quarters of 
the population is likely struggling to find affordable rental options.

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN HALFMOON BAY

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,788 rent)

Couples without children $42,366 $1,059 -$787

Couples with children $55,421 $1,386 -$460

Lone-parent families $21,009 $525 -$1,321

Non-census families $19,548 $489 -$1,357

Other census families $57,740 $1,443 -$403

$1,788

$1,093

2016 2020

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

25



xvi

Key Areas of Local Need 
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has 
been and continues to be the most significant 
issue, with 18% of owner, or 180 households, 
and 50% of renter, or 100 households living in 
unaffordable housing in 2016. Increases in the 
cost of home ownership continue to outpace 
growth in median incomes. Households earning 
the median income are likely unable to afford a 
single-detached home at recent average sales 
prices, while this form of home comprises the 
majority of housing in the community. 

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there is 
high demand for rental housing, which is not 
being met by the current supply of rental options 
across the Coast. In 2016, 29% of homes in 
Halfmoon Bay were not occupied by their usual 
resident; these homes are either vacant or rented 
out on a temporary or short-term basis. Renter 
households have much lower median incomes 
than owners and are more likely to be in Core 
Housing Need, with 40%, or 80 in Core Housing 
Need in 2016. Cost of rent has risen substantially 
in recent years, reaching approximately $1,788 
in 2020; renter households making the median 
income are likely unable to afford average rent. 
This is especially a challenge for single income 
households, like lone-parents and individuals 
living alone. 

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across 
all groups, including individuals with physical 
and mental health challenges. There are limited 
housing options for these individuals, who 
often face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to the 
limited primary rental market for secure housing. 
There are no primary rental market units in 
Halfmoon Bay.  

Housing for Seniors 
The median age in Halfmoon Bay was 55.0 
in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC 
was 43.0 years old. The population has been 
aging over the past three census counts and 
projections suggest this trend is likely to 
continue. While adults over 65 comprised 27% of 
Halfmoon Bay’s population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise 28% by 2025. 
As the population continues to age, there will 
be increased need for affordable smaller units 
in accessible housing forms and supports to 
meet the needs of seniors living alone, or older 
couples whose children have left home who are 
looking for affordable options. These households 
are likely to face large affordability gaps in both 
the rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). Median-earning households 
with children are likely unable to afford 
ownership or rental housing in Halfmoon Bay.  

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness and 
Housing Insecurity 

 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated 
that homelessness is on the rise. In 
Halfmoon Bay, homelessness is more likely 
to be in hidden forms, such as people living 
in substandard housing, boats, camping, 
couching, etc.). 

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for 
transitional housing across the Coast, 
to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, 
stating that existing second stage housing 
and transitional housing units are full. 

26



xvii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Data Summary | Roberts Creek

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing 
needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the 
Coast, including but not limited to population growth, number of households and household 
characteristics, income, and employment.

The population of Roberts 
Creek grew by 3% between 
2006 and 2016, compared to 
8% growth across the Coast as 
a whole. Projections suggest 
this rate of growth will level off 
in the coming years. 

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 3,443.

Roberts Creek is experiencing 
the aging trend seen in most 
communities across Canada, as 
the proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that is 
expected to continue. However, 
Roberts Creek has the second 
highest proportion of youth 
aged 0 to 19. Still between 
2006 and 2016, Roberts Creek 
experienced a 6% decrease 
in the population aged 0 
to 19 and an 12% increase 
in those aged 65 to 84, the 
highest proportional increase 
in this age group across all 
communities on the Coast.

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

3,090
3,421 3,466

Roberts
Creek

Official Census Count

Estimate2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

3,090
3,421 3,466

Roberts
Creek

Official Census Count

Estimate

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

14%
6% 4%

53%

22%

1%

BC

Roberts Creek

27



xviii

Households
In 2016, there were 1,505 households in 
Roberts Creek. Between 2006 and 2016, 
the number of households increased by 
150 households. In 2016, Roberts Creek, 
along with Elphinstone, had the largest 
average household size at 2.3 persons. 
Related to the larger household size and 
higher proportion of youth, Roberts Creek 
had larger proportions of households with 
more than two people compared to other 
communities.

Housing Stock
In 2016, 64% of housing units in Roberts 
Creek had two or three bedrooms.  
Only 9% of units were one-bedroom or 
studio units, while 26% of households were  
one-person households. This suggests 
some residents may have more space 
than they need (based on the National 
Occupancy Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, 
ROBERTS CREEK, 2016

34%

21%9%

29%

7
 %

couples without
children

couples
with children

Lone-parent
families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCRoberts Creek

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

26%
29%

42%
35%

16%
14%

11%
13% 8%

5+

9% 29% 35% 25%

5+

5%

28



xix Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Income
The median household income 
in Roberts Creek in 2016 was 
$60,172. Typically, median 
income of renter households 
is substantially lower than 
that of owner households. In 
Roberts Creek, median income 
for renters was 56% the median 
income of owners. 

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – 
affordability, suitability, and 
adequacy – are important 
when identifying areas of 
housing need in a community. 
In Roberts Creek, affordability 
is the greatest challenge. In 
2016, 44% of renter households 
and 17% of owner households 
had unaffordable shelter costs. 
Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing 
does not meet the minimum 
requirements of at least one 
of the adequacy, affordability, 
or suitability indicators and 
would have to spend 30% or 
more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local 
housing that is acceptable 
(meets all three housing 
standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to 
be an underrepresentation of 
actual housing need. Some 
households are more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need 
than others. 44% of renter 
households were in Core 
Housing Need, compared to 
11% of owner households. 

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, housing 
must be reported by residents as not requiring any 
major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, housing 
costs must be less than 30% of total before-tax 
household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, housing must 
have enough bedrooms for the size and composition 
of the household, according to National Occupancy 
Standard requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$60,172

$71,640

$39,822

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

29



xx

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
Due to the higher average sales price of single-detached homes, median-earning households in 
Roberts Creek face the largest gaps across the Sunshine Coast in affording housing. In 2016,  
single-detached homes made up 91% of the housing in Roberts Creek. 

All households making the median income face gaps of $1,500 or more affording the average 
single-detached home in 2019. Homeownership is likely out of reach for all household types, 
including median-earning couples without children, who would need to spend 62% of their monthly 
income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income households like 
lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend more than 100% of their monthly income 
to be able to afford a single-detached home, facing gaps of more than $3,000.

Roberts Creek has the highest proportion of lone-parent families of all communities, with 9% of 
households being this type in 2016. While this community may be desirable to this household type, 
they are likely priced out of homeownership. Roberts Creek also has a high proportion of couples 
with children (21%), who may be looking to enter the ownership market but likely face significant 
affordability challenges.

 � AVERAGE SALES PRICES BY STRUCTURE TYPE, ROBERTS CREEK, 2009 TO 2019

2005 2011 2013 2015 2017 20192007 2009

$453,225

$813,937

Roberts Creek

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need

30



xxi Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN ROBERTS CREEK

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter  
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($1,021,148)

Couples without 
children $92,916 $2,323 -$2,491

Couples with 
children $132,351 $3,309 -$1,505

Lone-parent 
families $54,947 $1,374 -$3,440

Non-census 
families $37,120 $928 -$3,886

Other census 
families $118,229 $2,956 -$1,858

Rentership
Although more affordable compared to 
rental housing in the other electoral areas, 
there are considerable gaps for median-
earning single income households 
in affording the average rental in 
Roberts Creek. 

Lone-parent families would need to spend 
68% of their income on monthly shelter 
costs, while non-census families would 
need to spend 100%, resulting in gaps of 
more than $1,000 per month. Roberts Creek had the highest proportion (9%) of lone-parent families 
in 2016 who likely face challenges finding affordable and suitable rental options. Couples without 
children also face significant gaps in Roberts Creek; median income earners would need to spend 
40% of their monthly income to afford the average rental. 

While median-earning couples with children would likely be able to afford a rental Roberts Creek, 
it is important to remember that half of households of this type will make less than the median 
household income. Roberts Creek had a higher proportion of couples with children than most other 
Coast communities in 2016.

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

$1,721

$1,055

2016 2020

31



xxii

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN ROBERTS CREEK

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,721 rent)

Couples without 
children $51,649 $1,291 -$488

Couples with 
children $73,569 $1,839 $60

Lone-parent 
families $30,543 $764 -$1,015

Non-census 
families $20,634 $516 -$1,263

Other census 
families $65,719 $1,643 -$136

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

32



xxiii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Key Areas of Local Need 
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has been 
and continues to be the most significant issue, 
with 17% of owner, or 180 households, and 44% 
of renter, or 140 households living in unaffordable 
housing in 2016. Increases in the cost of home 
ownership continue to outpace growth in median 
incomes. Households earning the median income 
are likely unable to afford a single-detached home 
at recent average sales prices, while this form of 
home comprises the majority of housing in the 
community. 

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there is 
high demand for rental housing, which is not being 
met by the current supply of rental options across 
the Coast. In 2016, 85% of homes in Roberts Creek 
were occupied by their usual resident, meaning 
these homes are occupied by their owner or a 
long-term rental tenant. Renter households have 
much lower median incomes than owners and are 
more likely to be in Core Housing Need, with 44%, 
or 140 in Core Housing Need in 2016. Cost of rent 
has risen substantially in recent years, reaching 
approximately $1,721 in 2020. Couples with 
children making the median income and looking 
to rent in Roberts Creek may be able afford the 
average rental, while all other household types 
are likely unable to afford this. This is especially a 
challenge for single income households, like lone-
parents and individuals living alone. 

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across all 
groups, including individuals with physical and 
mental health challenges. There are limited housing 
options for these individuals, who often face 
additional barriers when looking for appropriate 
housing and may be looking to the limited primary 
rental market for secure housing. There are no 
primary rental market units in Roberts Creek. 

Housing for Seniors 
At 50.7 years old, Roberts Creek had one of the 
lower median ages of all electoral areas and 
municipalities on the Coast in 2016.  

At the same time, this is much higher than the 
median for BC, which was 43.0 years old in 2016. 
The population has been aging over the past 
three census counts and projections suggest this 
trend is likely to continue. While adults over 65 
comprised 23% of Roberts Creek’s population in 
2016, projections suggest they could comprise 25% 
by 2025. As the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for affordable smaller units 
in accessible housing forms and supports to meet 
the needs of seniors living alone, or older couples 
whose children have left home who are looking for 
affordable options. These households are likely to 
face large affordability gaps in both the rental and 
ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). While homeownership is likely 
out of reach for couples with children, they may be 
able to afford the average cost of rent in Roberts 
Creek. Lone-parent households earning the median 
income face large affordability gaps when looking 
at both ownership and rental housing.  

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness and 
Housing Insecurity 

 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated 
that homelessness is on the rise. In Roberts 
Creek, homelessness is more likely to be 
in hidden forms, such as people living in 
substandard housing, boats, camping, 
couching, etc.). Anecdotal evidence and past 
studies suggest that transient youth are more 
common in Roberts Creek compared to other 
communities.    

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for 
transitional housing across the Coast, to meet 
the needs of women and their children fleeing 
abuse and unsafe situations, stating that 
existing second stage housing and transitional 
housing units are full. 

33



xxiv

Data Summary | Elphinstone

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing 
needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the 
Coast, including but not limited to population growth, number of households and household 
characteristics, income, and employment.

The population of Elphinstone 
grew by 3% between 2006 and 
2016, compared to 8% growth 
across the Coast as a whole. 
Projections suggest this rate 
of growth will level off in the 
coming years. 

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 3,688.

Elphinstone is experiencing 
the aging trend seen in most 
communities across Canada, as 
the proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that is 
expected to continue. However, 
Elphinstone also has the 
highest proportion of youth 
aged 0 to 19. Still between 
2006 and 2016, Elphinstone 
experienced a 5% decrease in 
the population aged 0 to 19 
and an 8% increase in those 
aged 65 to 84. 

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

3,311
3,664 3,712

Elphinstone Official Census Count

Estimate2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

3,311
3,664 3,712

Elphinstone Official Census Count

Estimate

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

16%

5% 4%

54%

19%

2%

BC

Elphinestone

34



xxv Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Households
In 2016, there were 1,550 households 
in Elphinstone. Between 2006 and 2016, 
the number of households increased by 
135 households. In 2016, Elphinstone 
along with Roberts Creek, had the largest 
average household size at 2.3 persons. 
Related to the larger household size and 
higher proportion of youth, Elphinstone 
had the largest proportions of households 
with more than two people, at 33% and the 
largest proportion of couples with children 
at 23%. 

Housing Stock
In 2016, 65% of housing units in 
Elphinstone had two or three bedrooms. 
Only 9% of units were one-bedroom or 
studio units, while 27% of households were 
one-person households. This suggests 
some residents may have more space 
than they need (based on the National 
Occupancy Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, 
ELPHINSTONE, 2016

34%

23%7%

30%

7
 %

couples without
children

couples
with children

Lone-parent
families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCElphinstone

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

27%
29%

40%
35%

14%
14%

14%
13% 8%

5+

9% 24% 41% 25%

5+

5%

35



xxvi

Income
The median household income 
in Elphinstone in 2016 was 
$70,501. Typically, median 
income of renter households 
is substantially lower than 
that of owner households. In 
Elphinstone, median income 
for renters was 36% the median 
income of owners, the greatest 
income gap between owner 
and renter households on 
the Coast. 

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – 
affordability, suitability, and 
adequacy – are important 
when identifying areas of 
housing need in a community. 
In Elphinstone, affordability is 
the greatest challenge. In 2016, 
50% of renter households and 
14% of owner households had 
unaffordable shelter costs. 
Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing 
does not meet the minimum 
requirements of at least one 
of the adequacy, affordability, 
or suitability indicators and 
would have to spend 30% or 
more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local 
housing that is acceptable 
(meets all three housing 
standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to 
be an underrepresentation of 
actual housing need. Some 
households are more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need 
than others. 47% of renter 
households were in Core 
Housing Need, compared to 
5% of owner households.  

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, housing 
must be reported by residents as not requiring any 
major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, housing 
costs must be less than 30% of total before-tax 
household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, housing must 
have enough bedrooms for the size and composition 
of the household, according to National Occupancy 
Standard requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$70,501

$74,915

$27,239

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

36



xxvii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
Although relatively more affordable compared to the other electoral areas, median-earning 
households still face gaps in affording single-detached homes in Elphinstone. In 2016, single-
detached homes made up 92% of the housing in that community. Couples with children and other 
census families are close to the threshold in affording the average single-detached home at 2019 
prices. Couples with children earning the median income would likely need to spend 32% of their 
monthly income on shelter costs, while other census families would need to spend 33%. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would need 
to spend 48% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning 
single-income households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 68% and 
105% of their monthly income, respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of 
more than $2,000. In 2016, 30% of households in Elphinstone were non-census families and 7% were 
lone-parent households who are likely priced out of ownership. 

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN ELPHINSTONE

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter  
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($778,622)

Couples without 
children $94,950 $2,374 -$1,391

Couples with 
children $141,401 $3,535 -$229

Lone-parent 
families $66,701 $1,668 -$2,097

Non-census 
families $43,188 $1,080 -$2,685

Other census 
families $137,882 $3,447 -$317

37



xxviii

Rentership
There are considerable gaps for all household 
types in affording the average rental in 
Elphinstone. Single income households, 
like lone-parent families and non-census 
families face the greatest affordability gaps. 
Lone-parent households earning the median 
income would likely need to spend 80% 
of their income on monthly shelter costs, 
resulting in a gap of $1,078. Non-census 
families would likely need to spend 124% 
of their monthly income on shelter costs, 
resulting in a gap of nearly $1,300. Couples without children also face significant gaps in Elphinstone; 
median income earners would need to spend 56% of their monthly income to afford the average 
rental, a gap of $820. In 2016, 7% of households in the community were lone parents, 30% were non-
census families, and 34% were couples without children. This suggests that approximately 71% of the 
households may be unable to find affordable rental housing in the community. 

Median-earning couples with children and other census families are closer to the affordability 
threshold but would still need to spend 38% and 39% of their monthly income on shelter costs, 
respectively. At 23%, Elphinstone had the largest proportion of couples with children compared to 
other Coast communities in 2016. 

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN ELPHINSTONE

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter 

Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,628 rent)

Couples without children $34,638 $866 -$820

Couples with children $51,583 $1,290 -$396

Lone-parent families $24,333 $608 -$1,078

Non-census families $15,755 $394 -$1,292

Other census families $50,299 $1,257 -$429

$1,628

$957

2016 2020

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

38



xxix Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Key Areas of Local Need 
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has been 
and continues to be the most significant issue, 
with 14% of owner, or 175 households, and 50% 
of renter, or 125 households living in unaffordable 
housing in 2016. Increases in the cost of home 
ownership continue to outpace growth in median 
incomes. Households earning the median income 
are likely unable to afford a single-detached home 
at recent average sales prices, while this form of 
home comprises the majority of housing in the 
community. 

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there is 
high demand for rental housing, which is not being 
met by the current supply of rental options across 
the Coast. In 2016, 94% of homes in Elphinstone 
were occupied by their usual resident, meaning 
these homes are occupied by their owner or a 
long-term rental tenant. Renter households have 
much lower median incomes than owners and are 
more likely to be in Core Housing Need, with 47%, 
or 115 in Core Housing Need in 2016. Cost of rent 
has risen substantially in recent years, reaching 
approximately $1,928 in 2020; renter households 
making the median income are likely unable to 
afford average rent. This is especially a challenge 
for single income households, like lone-parents 
and individuals living alone. 

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across all 
groups, including individuals with physical and 
mental health challenges. There are limited housing 
options for these individuals, who often face 
additional barriers when looking for appropriate 
housing and may be looking to the limited primary 
rental market for secure housing. There are no 
primary rental market units in Elphinstone. 

 

Housing for Seniors 
At 50.6 years old, Elphinstone had the lowest 
median age of all electoral areas and municipalities 
on the Coast in 2016. At the same time, this 
is much higher than the median for BC, which 
was 43.0 years old in 2016. The population has 
been aging over the past three census counts 
and projections suggest this trend is likely to 
continue. While adults over 65 comprised 21% 
of Elphinstone’s population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise more than 22% by 
2025. As the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for affordable smaller units 
in accessible housing forms and supports to meet 
the needs of seniors living alone, or older couples 
whose children have left home who are looking for 
affordable options. These households are likely to 
face large affordability gaps in both the rental and 
ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). Median-earning households with 
children are likely unable to afford ownership or 
rental housing in Elphinstone.

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness and 
Housing Insecurity 

 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that 
homelessness is on the rise. In Elphinstone, 
homelessness is more likely to be hidden 
forms, such as people living in substandard 
housing, boats, camping, couching, etc.). 

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for 
transitional housing across the Coast, to meet 
the needs of women and their children fleeing 
abuse and unsafe situations, stating that 
existing second stage housing and transitional 
housing units are full. 

39



xxx

Data Summary | West Howe Sound
Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing 
needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the 
Coast, including but not limited to population growth, number of households and household 
characteristics, income, and employment.

The population of West 
Howe Sound decreased by 
9% between 2006 and 2016, 
the only community on the 
Coast to see a net decrease in 
the population over this time 
period. Projections suggest 
that the population will remain 
relatively stable in the coming 
years.  

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 2,049.

West Howe Sound is 
experiencing the aging trend 
seen in most communities 
across Canada, as the 
proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that 
is expected to continue. 
Between 2006 and 2016, West 
Howe Sound experienced 
a 5% decrease in the 
population aged 0 to 19 and 
an 9% increase in those aged 
65 to 84. 

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

1,971 2,043 2,055

West Howe 
Sound

Official Census Count

Estimate

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

1,971 2,043 2,055

West Howe 
Sound

Official Census Count

Estimate

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

11%
4% 4%

54%

25%

2%

BC

West Howe Sound

40



xxxi Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Households
In 2016, there were 945 households 
in West Howe Sound. Between 2006 
and 2016, the number of households 
decreased by 30 households. West Howe 
Sound had a large proportion of couples 
without children at 39%, and non-census-
family households, at 35%. 

Housing Stock
In 2016, 66% of housing units in 
West Howe Sound had three or more 
bedrooms, while 33% of households 
were three or more persons. Only 9% of 
units were one-bedroom or studio units, 
while 27% of households were one-
person households. This suggests some 
residents may have more space than they 
need (based on the National Occupancy 
Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, WEST 
HOWE SOUND, 2016

39%

15%
6%

35%

6
 %

couples without
children

couples
with children

Lone-parent families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCWest Howe Sound

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

27%
29%

40%
35%

14%
14%

14%
13% 8%

5+

9% 24% 41% 25%

5+

5%

41



xxxii

Income
The median household income 
in West Howe Sound in 2016 
was $65,729. Typically, median 
income of renter households 
is substantially lower than that 
of owner households. In West 
Howe Sound, median income 
for renters was 48% the median 
income of owners. 

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – 
affordability, suitability, and 
adequacy – are important when 
identifying areas of housing 
need in a community. In West 
Howe Sound, affordability is 
the greatest challenge. In 2016, 
40% of renter households and 
18% of owner households had 
unaffordable shelter costs. 
Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing 
does not meet the minimum 
requirements of at least one 
of the adequacy, affordability, 
or suitability indicators and 
would have to spend 30% or 
more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local 
housing that is acceptable 
(meets all three housing 
standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to 
be an underrepresentation of 
actual housing need. Some 
households are more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need 
than others. 32% of renter 
households were in Core 
Housing Need, compared to 
7% of owner households. 

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, housing 
must be reported by residents as not requiring any 
major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, housing 
costs must be less than 30% of total before-tax 
household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, housing must 
have enough bedrooms for the size and composition 
of the household, according to National Occupancy 
Standard requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$65,729

$71,319

$33,984

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

42



xxxiii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in West 
Howe Sound. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 91% of the housing in that community. 

Couples with children face the lowest gaps in affording the average single-detached home at 2019 
prices. This household type would have to spend 36% of their monthly income on shelter costs. 
Couples with children are not a common household type in West Howe Sound; as of 2016, this was 
15% of the all households. Homeownership is likely out of reach for other household types, which 
comprise the remaining 85% of households in the community. 

Median-earning couples without children would need to spend 54% of their monthly income to 
afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income households like lone-
parent and non-census families would need to spend 86% and 109% of their monthly income, 
respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of $3,000 or more.

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN WEST HOWE SOUND

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter  
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($808,801)

Couples without 
children $99,473 $2,487 -$2,005

Couples with children $149,050 $3,726 -$766

Lone-parent families $62,766 $1,569 -$2,923

Non-census families $49,260 $1,231 -$3,261

Other census families $121,083 $3,027 -$1,465

43



xxxiv

Rentership
There are considerable gaps for all 
household types in affording the average 
rental in West Howe Sound. Single 
income households, like lone-parent 
families and non-census families face 
the greatest affordability gaps. Lone-
parent households earning the median 
income would likely need to spend 82% 
of their income on monthly shelter costs, 
resulting in a gap of more than $1,300. 
Non-census families would likely need to 
spend 104% of their monthly income on shelter costs, resulting in a gap of nearly $1,500. In 2016, 6% 
of households were lone parents and 35% were non-census families. 

Couples without children also face significant gaps in West Howe Sound; median income earners 
would need to spend 51% of their monthly income to afford the average rental, a gap of $882. In 
2016, 39% of households were this type. 

Median-earning couples with children and other census families are closer to the affordability 
threshold but would still need to spend 34% and 42% of their monthly income on shelter costs, 
respectively.

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN WEST HOWE SOUND

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter 

Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,628 rent)

Couples without children $46,044 $1,151 -$882

Couples with children $68,993 $1,725 -$308

Lone-parent families $29,053 $726 -$1,307

Non-census families $22,801 $570 -$1,463

Other census families $56,047 $1,401 -$632

$1,975

$1,052

2016 2020

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

44



xxxv Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Key Areas of Local Need 
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has been 
and continues to be the most significant issue, 
with 18% of owner, or 135 households, and 40% 
of renter, or 60 households living in unaffordable 
housing in 2016. Increases in the cost of home 
ownership continue to outpace growth in median 
incomes. Households earning the median income 
are likely unable to afford a single-detached home 
at recent average sales prices, while this form of 
home comprises the majority of housing in the 
community. 

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there is 
high demand for rental housing, which is not being 
met by the current supply of rental options across 
the Coast. In 2016, 49% of homes in West Howe 
Sound were not occupied by their usual resident; 
these homes are either vacant or rented out on a 
temporary or short-term basis. Renter households 
have much lower median incomes than owners and 
are more likely to be in Core Housing Need, with 
32%, or 50 in Core Housing Need in 2016. Cost of 
rent has risen substantially in recent years, reaching 
approximately $1,975 in 2020; renter households 
making the median income are likely unable to 
afford average rent. This is especially a challenge 
for single income households, like lone-parents 
and individuals living alone. 

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across 
all groups, including individuals with physical 
and mental health challenges. There are limited 
housing options for these individuals, who 
often face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to the 
limited primary rental market for secure housing. 
There are no primary rental market units in West 
Howe Sound.  

 

Housing for Seniors 
The median age in West Howe Sound was 54.5 in 
2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 
years old. The population has been aging over the 
past three census counts and projections suggest 
this trend is likely to continue. While adults over 65 
comprised 27% of West Howe Sound’s population 
in 2016, projections suggest they could comprise 
29% by 2025. As the population continues to age, 
there will be increased need for affordable smaller 
units in accessible housing forms and supports to 
meet the needs of seniors living alone, or older 
couples whose children have left home who are 
looking for affordable options. These households 
are likely to face large affordability gaps in both 
the rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). Median-earning households with 
children are likely unable to afford ownership or 
rental housing in West Howe Sound. 

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness and 
Housing Insecurity 

 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated 
that homelessness is on the rise. In West 
Howe Sound, homelessness is more likely 
to be in hidden forms, such as people living 
in substandard housing, boats, camping, 
couching, etc.).  

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for 
transitional housing across the Coast, to meet 
the needs of women and their children fleeing 
abuse and unsafe situations, stating that 
existing second stage housing and transitional 
housing units are full. 

45



xxxvi

Data Summary | Town of Gibsons

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing needs. This 
section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the Coast, including 
but not limited to population growth, number of households and household characteristics, income, 
and employment.  

Gibsons is growing faster than 
the Coast as a whole. Between 
2006 and 2016, the population 
of Gibsons grew by 10%, 
compared to 8% population 
growth across the Coast as 
a whole. Projections suggest 
this rate of growth will be 
sustained in the coming years 

Because the latest Census 
was released in 2016, we can 
only estimate the current 
population. Estimates based 
on BC Stats projections 
suggest the 2020 population is 
approximately 4,845.  

Gibsons is experiencing the 
aging trend seen in most 
communities across Canada, as 
the proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that 
is expected to continue. Over 
this time period Gibsons 
experienced a 5% decrease in 
the population aged 0 to 19 
and a 3% increase in those 
aged 65 to 84. However, 
anecdotal evidence suggests 
that Gibsons has experienced 
an increase in the population 
of children, youth, and young 
adults in recent years.

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

11%
4% 4%

49%

26%

5%

BC Gibsons

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

Official Census Count

Estimate

3,906 4,605 5,099

Gibsons

46



xxxvii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Households
In 2016, there were 2,220 households 
in Gibsons. Between 2006 and 2016, 
the number of households increased by 
350 households. In 2016, Gibsons had 
the highest proportion of one-person 
households of communities across the 
Coast, with the highest proportions of 
non-census family households.  

Housing Stock
In 2016, 68% of housing units in Gibsons 
had two or three bedrooms. Only 14% of 
units were one-bedroom or studio units, 
while 39% of households were one-
person households. This suggests some 
residents may have more space than they 
need (based on the National Occupancy 
Standard). 

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, 
GIBSONS, 2016

30%

15%
8%

44%

4
 %

couples without
children

couples with
children

Lone-
parent
families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCGibsons

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

39%
29%

39%
35%

11%
14%

8%
13% 8%

5+

14% 36% 32% 18%

5+

3%

47



xxxviii

Income
In 2016, the median household 
income in Gibsons was slightly 
lower than the Coast as a 
whole, at $58,470. Typically, 
median income of renter 
households is substantially 
lower than that of owner 
households. In Gibsons, median 
income for renters was 55% the 
median income of owners. 

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, 
housing must be reported by residents as 
not requiring any major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, 
housing costs must be less than 30% of total 
before-tax household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, 
housing must have enough bedrooms for 
the size and composition of the household, 
according to National Occupancy Standard 
requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

$58,470Overall

Owner

Renter

$68,822

$38,208

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE  
HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

Housing standards – affordability, 
suitability, and adequacy – are 
important when identifying areas 
of housing need in a community. 
In Gibsons, affordability is the 
greatest challenge. In 2016, 48% 
of renter households and 16% of 
owner households had unaffordable 
shelter costs.

Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing does not 
meet the minimum requirements 
of at least one of the adequacy, 
affordability, or suitability indicators 
and would have to spend 30% 
or more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median rent 
of alternative local housing that 
is acceptable (meets all three 
housing standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to be 
an underrepresentation of actual 
housing need.

Some households are more likely to 
be in Core Housing Need than others. 
31% of renter households were in 
Core Housing Need, compared to 4% 
of owner households. 

48



xxxix Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

2005 2011 2013 2015 2017 20192007 20092006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018

$365,858

$732,504

Gibsons and Area

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
There are gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes, the most common 
type of home in the Town. In 2016, single-detached homes comprised 55% of homes in the Town. 
Median-earning other census families and couples with children are close to the affordability 
threshold for these units; they would need to spend 32% of their income, resulting in small 
affordability gaps. Lone-parent families would need to spend 44% of their monthly income to afford 
the average apartment in the Town and would also need a minimum of two bedrooms to suitably 
house their family.  

Homeownership is likely out of reach for non-census families; median-earning households of this 
type would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to afford any type 
of housing at the 2019 average sales price. Non-census families are more common in Gibsons 
compared to other communities; in 2016, 44% of households in the Town were this type. 

 � AVERAGE SALES PRICES BY STRUCTURE TYPE, GIBSONS, 2009 TO 2019

49



xl

Rentership
There are considerable gaps for most 
households in affording single-detached 
or townhouse units. Single-income 
households, like lone-parent families 
and non-census families who are earning 
the median household income for their 
household type would be unable to afford 
any units at the average rental rates. Non-
census families are the most common 
type of household in Gibsons; 44% were 
this type in 2016. 

Couples with and without children and other census families earning the median income for their 
household type would likely be able to afford to rent a secondary suite or apartment unit in Gibsons; 
couples with children and other census families are close to the threshold and would need to spend 
30% of their monthly income to afford a larger structure type, like a single-detached home or 
townhouse. These households require a minimum of two bedrooms to house their families and there 
may be limited stock of secondary suites and apartments of suitable size.  

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

$1,500

$1,051

2016 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN GIBSONS

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly 
Shelter 
Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Single-
detached 

home 
($930,220)

Townhouse 
($672,075)

Apartment 
($443,442)

Couples without 
children $102,576 $2,564 -$825 $160 $201

Couples with 
children $126,338 $3,158 -$231 $754 $795

Lone-parent 
families $63,930 $1,598 -$1,791 -$806 -$765

Non-census 
families $46,658 $1,166 -$2,223 -$1,238 -$1,197

Other census 
families $126,845 $3,171 -$219 $767 $808

50



xli Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN GIBSONS

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 
Shelter 
Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Entire single-
detached 
home or 

townhouse

Secondary 
suite or 

apartment

Overall  
average

Couples without 
children $56,947 $1,424 -$416 $42 -$134

Couples with 
children $70,139 $1,753 -$87 $371 $195

Lone-parent 
families $35,492 $887 -$953 -$495 -$671

Non-census 
families $25,903 $648 -$1,192 -$734 -$910

Other census 
families $70,421 $1,761 -$79 $379 $203

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
Sunshine Coast Regional District Building Permit Statistics

51



xlii
Key Areas of Local Need  
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has been 
and continues to be the most significant issue, 
with 16% of owner, or 250 households, and 48% 
of renter, or 290 households living in unaffordable 
housing in 2016. Increases in the cost of home 
ownership continue to outpace growth in median 
incomes. Households earning the median income 
are likely unable to afford a single-detached 
home at recent average sales prices. While single-
detached homes are still the most common type of 
housing in Gibsons, the Town has the most diverse 
housing stock of all municipalities and electoral 
areas, with some townhouses and apartments that 
may be affordable for households with more than 
one income.  

Rental Housing 
Gibsons had the highest proportion of renter 
households of all electoral areas and municipalities 
in 2016, with 28% renting. Community engagement 
suggests that there is high demand for rental 
housing, which is not being met by the current 
supply of rental options across the Coast. In 2016, 
96% of homes in Gibsons were occupied by their 
usual resident, meaning these homes are occupied 
by their owner or a long-term rental tenant. Renter 
households have much lower median incomes 
than owners and are more likely to be in Core 
Housing Need, with 31%, or 190 in Core Housing 
Need in 2016. Cost of rent has risen substantially 
in recent years, reaching approximately $1,500 in 
2020. While some households with more than one 
income may be able to afford rent for a secondary 
suite or apartment, single income households, like 
lone-parents and individuals living alone are likely 
unable to afford rental housing in the Town.  

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across 
all groups, including individuals with physical 
and mental health challenges. There are limited 
housing options for these individuals, who 
often face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to the 
limited primary rental market for secure housing.  

Housing for Seniors 
The median age in Gibsons was 54.8 in 2016. For 
comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. 
The population has been aging over the past three 
census counts and projections suggest this trend is 
likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 

31% of Gibsons’ population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise 43% by 2025, the 
largest proportional change of all electoral areas 
and municipalities. As the population continues 
to age, there will be increased need for affordable 
smaller units in accessible housing forms and 
supports to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or older couples whose children have left home 
who are looking for affordable options. These 
households are likely to face large affordability 
gaps in both the rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three 
or more bedrooms). With more diverse housing 
stock in the Town, there are some townhouses 
and apartments that median-earning couples with 
children can likely afford to purchase, while single-
detached homes remain slightly unaffordable. 
Median-earning couples with children are close to 
the affordability threshold for rental housing and 
may face challenges finding a unit with enough 
bedrooms to accommodate their child(ren). Lone-
parent households earning the median income 
face large affordability gaps when looking at both 
ownership and rental housing and likely face 
even larger challenges when looking for a unit 
with enough bedrooms to accommodate their 
child(ren).  

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness and 
Housing Insecurity 
Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that 
homelessness is on the rise. The most recent 
homeless count was completed in 2018 and 
counted 57 individuals experiencing homelessness 
in Gibsons and Sechelt. Although point-in-
time counts provide valuable data and can 
suggest trends, they are widely understood to 
underrepresent actual numbers. Gibsons has a 
seasonal shelter, with 8-10 beds, which is usually 
full. Stakeholders suggested there is a need for 
these beds to be available all year. 

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional 
housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of 
women and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe 
situations, stating that existing second stage 
housing and transitional housing units are full. 

52



xliii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Data Summary | District of Sechelt

Demographics
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence its housing needs. This 
section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile across the Coast, including 
but not limited to population growth, number of households and household characteristics, income, 
and employment.

Sechelt is the fastest growing 
community on the Coast. Between 
2006 and 2016, the population of 
Sechelt grew by 21%, compared 
to 8% population growth across 
the Coast as a whole. Projections 
suggest that the rate of growth 
between 2016 and 2025 will be 
approximately 7%. 

Because the latest Census was 
released in 2016, we can only 
estimate the current population. 
Estimates based on BC Stats 
projections suggest the 2020 
population is approximately 10,594. 

Sechelt is experiencing the 
aging trend seen in most 
communities across Canada, as 
the proportion of seniors in the 
population increased between 
2006 and 2016, a trend that 
is expected to continue. 
Over this time period Sechelt 
experienced a 5% decrease in 
the population aged 0 to 19 
and a 5% increase in those 
aged 65 to 84. However, 
anecdotal evidence suggests 
that Sechelt has experienced 
an increase in the population 
of children, youth, and young 
adults in recent years. 

 � PROPORTION OF POPULATION BY AGE GROUPS, 2016

 � HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION, 
2006 TO 2025

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

Official Census Count

Estimate

7,775

10,216
10,934

Sechelt2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

Official Census Count

Estimate

7,775

10,216
10,934

Sechelt

15 to 190 to 14 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85+

15%

6% 6%

55%

16%

2%

11%
4% 3%

48%

29%

5%

BC Sechelt

53



xliv

Households
In 2016, there were 4,855 households 
in Sechelt. Between 2006 and 2016, the 
number of households increased by 990 
households, the largest proportional 
increase on the Coast. In 2016, Sechelt 
had a high proportion of one-person and 
two-person households, representing 
77% of all households in the community. 
Couples without children and non-census 
family households were the most common 
household type, at 74% of all households. 

Housing Stock
In 2016, 61% of housing units in Sechelt 
had three bedrooms or more. Only 11% 
of units were one-bedroom or studio 
units, while 34% of households were one-
person households. This suggests some 
residents may have more space than they 
need (based on the National Occupancy 
Standard).

 � PROPORTIONS OF DWELLINGS BY # OF BEDROOMS COMPARED TO PROPORTIONS OF 
HOUSEHOLDS BY SIZE, 2016

 � PROPORTIONS OF HOUSEHOLDS BY TYPE, 
SECHELT, 2016

36%

15%6%

38%

5
 %

couples without
children

couples with
childrenLone-

parent
families

Non-census-family
housholds

Other census-family
housholds

BCSechelt

16% 28% 28% 28%
1 2 3 4

34%
29%

43%
35%

11%
14%

8%
13% 8%

5+

11% 28% 38% 23%

5+

4%

54



xlv Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Income
In 2016, the median household 
income in Sechelt was slightly 
lower than most other 
communities on the Coast, 
at $58,606. Typically, median 
income of renter households is 
substantially lower than that of 
owner households. In Sechelt, 
median income for renters 
was 51% the median income 
of owners.

Housing Standards and Core Housing Need
Housing standards – 
affordability, suitability, and 
adequacy – are important 
when identifying areas of 
housing need in a community. 
In Sechelt, affordability is the 
greatest challenge. In 2016, 
50% of renter households and 
16% of owner households had 
unaffordable shelter costs. 
Core Housing Need identifies 
households whose housing 
does not meet the minimum 
requirements of at least one 
of the adequacy, affordability, 
or suitability indicators and 
would have to spend 30% or 
more of their total before-tax 
income to pay the median 
rent of alternative local 
housing that is acceptable 
(meets all three housing 
standards). Core Housing 
Need is widely understood to 
be an underrepresentation of 
actual housing need. Some 
households are more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need 
than others. 48% of renter 
households were in Core 
Housing Need, compared to 
9% of owner households.

 � Adequacy: To be considered adequate, housing 
must be reported by residents as not requiring any 
major repairs.

 � Affordability: To be considered affordable, housing 
costs must be less than 30% of total before-tax 
household income.

 � Suitability: To be considered suitable, housing must 
have enough bedrooms for the size and composition 
of the household, according to National Occupancy 
Standard requirements.

 � MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOMES BY TENURE, 2016

Overall

Owner

Renter

$58,609

$67,573

$34,566

households

In 2016,  
there were:

households

IN CORE HOUSING NEED

+Renter Owner

55



xlvi

2005 2011 2013 2015 2017 20192007 2009

$313,868

$654,982

Sechelt District

Affordability of Ownership and Rentership
Homeownership
There are gaps for most household types in affording single-detached homes, the most common 
type of home in the District. Median-earning couples with children and other census families are 
close to the threshold and may be able to afford this housing type. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for lone-parent and non-census families; median-earning 
households of this type would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to 
afford any type of housing at the 2019 average sales price. In 2016, In 2016, lone-parent families 
were 6% of households in the District and non-census families were 38% 

 � AVERAGE SALES PRICES BY STRUCTURE TYPE, SECHELT, 2009 TO 2019

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR OWNERS IN SECHELT

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable  
Monthly 
Shelter 
Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Single-
detached 

home 
($696,449) 

Townhouse 
($523,144)

Apartment 
($513,553)

Couples without 
children $95,135 $2,378 -$884 -$447 -$185

Couples with 
children $133,507 $3,338 $76 $513 $774

Lone-parent 
families $60,310 $1,508 -$1,754 -$1,317 -$1,056

Non-census 
families $44,575 $1,114 -$2,148 -$1,711 -$1,449

Other census 
families $131,822 $3,296 $34 $470 $732

56



xlvii Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Rentership
A scan of rental postings conducted 
between March and May of 2020 found 
that the average posted monthly rental 
cost for Sechelt was $1,461. 

There are considerable gaps for single-
income households, like lone-parent 
families and non-census families (6% 
and 38% of households in the District, 
respectively) when it comes to affording 
rental housing. These households who are earning the median household income for their household 
type would be unable to afford any units at the average rental rates. Couples with children and other 
census families earning the median income for their household type would likely be able to afford to 
rent in Sechelt. Couples without children may face moderate affordability gaps.

 � SECONDARY RENTAL MARKET AVERAGE RENTAL 
COSTS ON MARCH 19 AND MAY 11, 2020

 � AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS FOR RENTERS IN SECHELT

Median  
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 
Shelter 
Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Entire single-
detached 
home or 

townhouse

Secondary 
suite or 

apartment

Overall  
average

Couples without 
children $48,665 $1,217 -$466 -$155 -$302

Couples with 
children $68,293 $1,707 $24 $335 $188

Lone-parent 
families $30,851 $771 -$912 -$601 -$748

Non-census 
families $22,802 $570 -$1,113 -$802 -$949

Other census 
families $67,432 $1,686 $3 $314 $167

$1,461

$1,059

2016 2020

Sources:
Statistics Canada: 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National Household Survey  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation: Rental Market Survey  
Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board   
District of Sechelt Building Permit Statistics

57



xlviii
Key Areas of Local Need  
Affordable Housing 
Housing indicators show that affordability has been 
and continues to be the most significant issue, 
with 16% of owner, or 580 households, and 50% 
of renter, or 525 households living in unaffordable 
housing in 2016. Although housing prices in 
Sechelt are the most affordable of all electoral 
areas and municipalities, increases in the cost of 
home ownership continue to outpace growth in 
median incomes. Household types with the highest 
median incomes would likely be able to afford a 
single-detached home, townhouse, or apartment 
at recent average sales prices. Homeownership is 
likely out of reach for single-income households, 
like lone-parents and individuals living alone.  

Rental Housing 
Community engagement suggests that there is 
high demand for rental housing, which is not being 
met by the current supply of rental options across 
the Coast. In 2016, 90% of homes in Sechelt were 
occupied by their usual resident, meaning these 
homes are occupied by their owner or a long-
term rental tenant. Renter households have much 
lower median incomes than owners and are more 
likely to be in Core Housing Need, with 48%, or 
500 in Core Housing Need in 2016. Cost of rent 
has risen substantially in recent years, reaching 
approximately $1,461 in 2020. While household 
types with the highest median incomes may be 
able to afford rent, couples without children and 
single income households are likely unable to 
afford rental housing in the District.   

Special Needs Housing 
Community engagement results suggest there 
are long waitlists for housing supports across 
all groups, including individuals with physical 
and mental health challenges. There are limited 
housing options for these individuals, who 
often face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to the 
limited primary rental market for secure housing.    

Housing for Seniors 
The median age in Sechelt was 56.6 in 2016. For 
comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. 
The population has been aging over the past three 
census counts and projections suggest this trend is 
likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 
34% of Sechelt’s population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise more than 42% by 
2025. As the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for affordable smaller units 

in accessible housing forms and supports to meet 
the needs of seniors living alone, or older couples 
whose children have left home who are looking for 
affordable options. These households are likely to 
face large affordability gaps in both the rental and 
ownership markets. 

Housing for Families 
Across the Coast, although most housing is in 
the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for 
affordable options for families (i.e., with three or 
more bedrooms). Median-earning couples with 
children can likely afford to purchase a single-
detached home, townhouse, or apartment in 
Sechelt. Sechelt has more diverse housing stock 
compared to the electoral areas, which offers more 
affordable options than single-detached homes for 
households looking to enter the ownership market 
or find a unit to rent. At the same time, median-
earning couples with children who are renter 
households are close to the affordability threshold 
for rental housing and may face challenges finding 
a unit with enough bedrooms to accommodate 
their child(ren). Lone-parent households earning 
the median income face large affordability gaps 
when looking at both ownership and rental 
housing and likely face even larger challenges 
when looking for a unit with enough bedrooms to 
accommodate their child(ren). 

Supports for Individuals 
Experiencing Homelessness  
and Housing Insecurity 
Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that 
homelessness is on the rise. The most recent 
homeless count was completed in 2018 and 
counted 57 individuals experiencing homelessness 
in Sechelt and Gibsons. Although point-in-
time counts provide valuable data and can 
suggest trends, they are widely understood to 
underrepresent actual numbers. Sechelt has 
the only year-round emergency shelter on the 
Sunshine Coast, with 20 beds. Stakeholders 
indicated that emergency housing and support 
in Sechelt is full with waitlists, especially since the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional 
housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of 
women and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe 
situations, stating that existing second stage 
housing and transitional housing units are full. 

58



xlix Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

59



1

The Sunshine Coast (“the Coast”) is a ribbon community, running along 
Highway 101 and connected to Metro Vancouver and the qathet Regional 
District by ferry. Sunshine Coast (“the Coast”) communities are located within 
the territories of the shíshálh and Skwxwú7mesh Nations. While communities 
across the Coast differ in their housing needs and character, ranging from 
smaller rural areas in the electoral areas to denser urban nodes in Sechelt and 
Gibsons, there are significant connections between communities to access 
services, travel for work, and meet other everyday needs. 

Over the last fifteen years and particularly since 2014, the Sunshine Coast has 
experienced increases in the cost of housing, as the escalation of housing 
and land costs in Metro Vancouver increasingly impacts the region. Coupled 
with high cost of building, the market is no longer supplying many median-
earning households with opportunities to own a home. Aggravating this, the 
rental market is under increasing pressure, with regards to both vacancy rates 
and cost of rent. There has been little to no new investment in purpose-built 
rental and local government measures to expand long-term rental housing 
supply (i.e., through secondary suites and auxiliary dwellings) have faced 
competition from short-term vacation rentals. Finally, homelessness appears 
to be on the increase, with the Gibsons and Sechelt shelters at capacity and 
waitlists for supportive housing that stretch longer than the current spaces 
provided. 

In response, the Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, and Sunshine Coast 
Regional District (SCRD) partnered to undertake a regional housing needs 
assessment and prepare this Housing Needs Report. This report builds on 
previous work and supports ongoing work by local governments and other 
stakeholders to be part of the solution across the Coast. A region-wide 
approach improves understanding of connections between communities 
and provides for efficiencies in data collection, to better assess current and 
anticipate future housing needs. A region-wide approach also positions 
this report to be used as foundational information for future iterations of a 
possible regional growth strategy and official community plans (OCPs). 

The Sunshine Coast has 
experienced increases in 
the cost of housing, as 
the escalation of housing 
and land costs in Metro 
Vancouver increasingly 
impacts the region. 

Introduction1.0

60



2 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

1.1 Background and Context 
1.1.1 Local Housing Initiatives 
This report is part of a series of ongoing initiatives 
to address local housing needs. The issue of housing 
and affordability has been studied for nearly 15 years 
on the Sunshine Coast. 

Housing Needs Assessments
The first housing needs assessment was conducted 
in 2006 and updated in 2009 and 2014. This 2014 
update was completed as part of the work of the 
Sunshine Coast Housing Committee, a multi-sectoral 
committee funded by local governments, which led 
to the incorporation of the Sunshine Coast Affordable 
Housing Society. 

Official Community Plan Policies 
There is strong OCP language around affordable 
housing and densification strategies across the 
SCRD electoral areas, Sechelt, and Gibsons. It is 
widely acknowledged that diverse housing options 
are necessary to address the specific needs of 
different groups of residents. Roberts Creek, 
Elphinstone, West Howe Sound, Gibsons, and 
Sechelt also note particular tools, such as density 
bonuses and inclusionary zoning, whereas Pender 
Harbour / Egmont and Halfmoon Bay focus more on 
neighbourhood centres and secondary dwellings on 
rural properties in their OCP policies.

Workforce Housing
In 2019, the Workforce Affordable Housing Volunteer 
Committee conducted a housing survey, asking 
employers about housing-related barriers faced 
by their current and future workforce. A total of 
60 employers responded to the survey, with the 
greatest number of responses from employers in the 
retail, tourism, service, construction, and hospitality 
sectors. Fifty-five percent of employers reported that 
employees left their employment due to issues with 
housing. Seventy-six percent of employers also noted 
the most common reason that qualified workers 
located outside of the Sunshine Coast did not fill 
open positions was due to the lack of affordable 
housing options available. Employers identified that 
the top three obstacles facing employees in their 
search for affordable housing are the amount of rent, 
location of unit, and access to transportation. 

1.1.2 Provincial Requirements
In 2018, the Province amended legislation, requiring 
all local governments in BC to review local housing 
needs and consider those specific, local needs when 
creating policy and making decisions about future 
development. Local governments are required to 
collect local data to understand housing supply, 
demand, and the provision of housing across the 
housing spectrum. Local governments have until 2022 
to complete an initial housing needs report and are 
required to update these on a five-year cycle. 

Among other data, Housing Needs Reports must 
identify key areas of need related to affordable, 
rental, special needs, seniors, family housing, shelters, 
and housing for people at risk of homelessness. 
They must also identify the number of units required 
to meet current and anticipated housing needs. 
The information contained in these reports help 
communities to identify gaps and address additional 
factors that may be impacting housing supply. 

61



3

1.1.3 Understanding the  
 Housing Spectrum
The Housing Wheelhouse, developed by the City of 
Kelowna in 2017, is a new way to think about different 
housing options (Figure 1). Typical housing models 
show these options as falling along a linear spectrum, 
where households progress from homelessness 
towards homeownership in a “housing continuum”. 
Under the traditional housing continuum, an individual 
might move from subsidized rental housing, to market 
rental housing, to homeownership, where their journey 
ends. The Wheelhouse model shows that this may not 
be the end of the journey – this same individual may 
move into long-term supportive housing if their health 
deteriorates, or into an emergency shelter or short-
term supportive housing if their financial resources 
or living situation changes. This individual may never 
choose to move into ownership housing in their 
lifetime if it does not align with their goals or means. 

The Wheelhouse recognizes that, in reality, 
people’s housing needs change throughout their 
lives, this change may not always be linear, and 
homeownership is not the ultimate goal for everyone. 
While the Wheelhouse shifts the focus away from 
homeownership as the ultimate goal and does not 
emphasize one level of housing over another. It 
includes the following six housing options: 

 � Emergency shelters: temporary shelter, food and 
other support services, generally operated by 
non-profit housing providers.

 � Short-term supportive housing: stable housing 
along with support services offered by non-profit 
providers as a transitional step between shelters 
and long-term housing (with typical stays of two 
to three years).

 � Ownership housing: includes fee simple 
homeownership, strata ownership, multi-unit and 
single-detached homes, and shared equity (such 
as mobile homes or housing co-operatives).

 � Long-term supportive housing: long-term 
housing offered by non-profit providers, along 
with support services ranging from supportive 
care to assisted living and residential care.

1. CMHC, available at: https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/housing-observer-online/2019-
housing-observer/wheelhouse-new-way-looking-housing-needs

 � Rental housing: includes purpose-built 
long-term rental apartments, private rental 
townhomes, secondary suites, carriage homes 
and single-family rental homes.

 � Subsidized rental housing: subsidized rental 
homes operated by non-profit housing 
providers, BC Housing and housing co-
operatives through monthly government 
subsidies or one-time capital grants.1  

Figure 1: Housing Wheelhouse

SAFETY NET  
 

HOUSIN

G W
IT

H
 S

U
P

P
O

R
TS

 
 

 

M
A

R
K

ET H
O

USING 
  

Emergency 
shelter

Rental 
housing

Short-term 
supportive 

housing

Subsidized 
rental  

housing

Long-term 
supportive 

housing
Ownership 

housing

This report identifies options and needs with 
the potential to support housing throughout 
the Wheelhouse, recognizing that a complete 
housing stock needs to include a variety of 
types and tenures, in order to meet the diverse 
needs of residents from different socio-
economic backgrounds at every stage of their 
lives.1.2 Data and Limitations.

62

https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/housing-observer-online/2019-housing-observer/wheelhouse-new-way-looking-housing-needs
https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/housing-observer-online/2019-housing-observer/wheelhouse-new-way-looking-housing-needs


4 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

1.2 Data and Limitations
1.2.1 Data
The Housing Needs Reports regulations require local governments to collect 
approximately 50 different data indicators about population, households, 
housing stock, income and economy, and anticipated housing needs.2 Most 
of this data is made available by the Government of BC through their data 
catalogue. This report also refers to supplementary data sources where 
additional information was required. The information summarized and used 
within this report was collected from a number of sources:

 � Statistics Canada 2006, 2011, and 2016 Censuses and 2011 National 
Household Survey (NHS), via:

 − Data available online through Census profiles and data tables

 − Custom Housing Needs Report data provided by the Ministry of 
Municipal Affairs and Housing (MAH)

 � Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)

 � BC Housing

 � BC Assessment

 � Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board

 � BC Stats

 � AirDNA

 � Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, and Sunshine Coast Regional District

 � Community engagement, including community survey, focus groups, 
and key informant interviews

 � AirDNA

This report provides an overview of housing needs and identifies key 
takeaways and areas of local need based on quantitative and qualitative 
data from these sources. Throughout the report, the best and most recently 
available data was used. Due to this range of sources, this results in different 
dates across data indicators. Dates are labelled accordingly in graphs, charts, 
and text. While not all 50 data indicators are summarized in the body of the 
report, all required data can be found in Appendix B. 

2. For a complete summary of required data, please see https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/
gov/housing-and-tenancy/tools-for-government/uploads/summaryhnrrequirements_
apr17_2019.pdf. 

This document fulfills 
Housing Needs 
requirements for the 
Town of Gibsons, 
District of Sechelt, and 
Sunshine Coast Regional 
District, providing 
information on housing 
needs throughout the 
Wheelhouse. 

63

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/housing-and-tenancy/tools-for-government/uploads/summaryhnrrequirements_apr17_2019.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/housing-and-tenancy/tools-for-government/uploads/summaryhnrrequirements_apr17_2019.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/housing-and-tenancy/tools-for-government/uploads/summaryhnrrequirements_apr17_2019.pdf


5

1.2.2 Limitations
There are limitations to the data in this report. 
Significant limitations that may affect interpretation 
of the data presented in this report are 
described here. 

1. Age of Data 
The most recent national census was completed 
in 2016. This is the most recent official count 
of population and other data, which means 
it is the most recent baseline from which all 
subsequent years are projected. In other words, 
data for 2017 to 2020 is projected from the 
2016 census count. While the 2016 census 
provides detailed demographic information, it is 
four years old and likely does not fully capture 
current housing needs felt across the Sunshine 
Coast. Fortunately, other data sources used in 
this report are more recent, and qualitative data 
gathered through community and stakeholder 
engagement provides insight into current and 
emerging trends. The next national census 
is scheduled for 2021 and data will begin to 
become available starting in 2022. 

2. The 2011 National Household Survey
The census is made up of two parts: the short 
census which all Canadian households must 
complete and a long-form census that is also 
mandatory but based on a sample size of 20% 
of the Canadian population. In 2011, Statistics 
Canada administered the short census and, in 
lieu of the long-form census, introduced the 
National Household Survey to collect many 
pieces of data historically collected through the 
long-form census. Unlike the historical long-
form census, the National Household Survey was 
voluntary and therefore data quality for 2011 is 
poorer than data collected in other census years. 
The long-form census was reintroduced in 2016. 

3. Custom data sets
In addition to the publicly-available Census 
Profiles, a custom data set was prepared by 
Statistics Canada and MAH for the purpose 
of Housing Needs Reports. This data provides 
some information not available in the Census 
Profiles. However, it is based on a 25% sample 
and differs slightly from that which results in 
the Census Profiles, because it only reports 
on private households. Private households 
exclude those living in institutions or any form 
of collective dwelling. Both the Census Profiles 
and custom data sets are used throughout this 
report, as noted in source statements. 

4. Projections
The projections contained in this report illustrate 
possible scenarios and should be used with 
caution. As local conditions change these 
could substantively impact the nature of the 
projections. Wherever possible the projections 
should be augmented by an informed 
understanding of the context within the region. 

5. COVID-19
Finally, the impact of COVID-19 on the economy 
and housing system is rapidly evolving. At this 
stage, data is extremely limited and there is 
significant speculation on what may occur. The 
COVID-19 Implications section towards the 
end of this report outlines some desk research 
on potential implications across the Housing 
Wheelhouse, as well as any related findings from 
the engagement.

64



6 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

1.3 Study Process
This project was completed 
through four phases, as 
outlined below. 

Project Launch
 � Review of background documents

 � Project initiation meetings

Housing Data Collection and Analysis
 � Collection of all data required by Housing Needs 

Reports Regulations

 � Draft report summarizing data

Community Consultation
 � Online community survey 

 � Four virtual focus groups with stakeholder groups

 � Stakeholder interviews

Final Housing Needs Report
 � Compilation of all findings

 � Final report and needs summary

 � Completion of Housing Needs Report and 
Summary Form (required by Province)

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Phase 4

Completed in  
January 2020

February – May 2020

April – July 2020

October 2020

1.4 Report Structure
Different census geographies are used throughout this report to provide a 
comprehensive picture of housing needs across the Sunshine Coast. This 
report provides the required Housing Needs Reports data for all participating 
local governments. These include: 

 � Town of Gibsons

 � District of Sechelt

 � Pender Harbour / Egmont (Electoral Area A)

 � Halfmoon Bay (Electoral Area B)

 � Roberts Creek (Electoral Area D)

 � Elphinstone (Electoral Area E)

 � West Howe Sound (Electoral Area F)

65



7

Electoral Area A
Pender Harbour / 

Egmont

Electoral Area B
Halfmoon Bay

Electoral Area
 D

Roberts
 Creek

Electoral Area F
West Howe Sound

Electoral Area E
Elphinstone

Gambier
Island

Bowen
Island West

Vancouver

Texada
Island

Nelson
Island

STRAIT OF GEORGIA

MALASPINA STRAIT

HOWE
SOUND

SEC
H

ELT  IN
LET

SALMON INLET

0 10 205 Kilometers

Sechelt

Gibsons

SIGD

September, 2020
SUNSHINE COAST
REGIONAL DISTRICT

Sechelt

Sechelt

Keats Is.

:
SUNSHINE COAST

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

I6

I6

JERVIS INLET

Figure 2: Map of SCRD Electoral Areas, Municipalities, and shíshálh Nation lands (SIGD)

66



8 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Data labelled as Gibsons or Sechelt refers only to the population within each municipality’s boundary and does 
not account for the population living within shíshálh or Skwxwú7mesh Nation lands. Data labelled as SCRD A, 
B, D, E, or F or with the equivalent community name refers only to the population within each electoral area’s 
boundary and also does not account for the population living within either Nation’s lands. For readability, 
electoral areas are referred to by their community name in the text of this report. Census data labelled 
SCRD refers to all populations within the exterior boundary of the regional district, including First Nations, 
municipalities, and electoral areas.

Each section of the report is described below.

This section provides an overview of the demographic and economic profile 
of the Sunshine Coast, broken down by each electoral area and municipality. 
This section is primarily based on census (2006, 2011, and 2016) and National 
Household Survey (2011) data. This section highlights key takeaways from the 
collection of required Housing Needs Reports data, providing context for later 
sections of the report, including the identification of key areas of local need. 
This section also helps situate the Sunshine Coast housing system within a 
broader understanding of local demographic and economic trends. 

This section summarizes available quantitative data on current housing stock on 
the Sunshine Coast for the different forms of housing and supports identified in 
the Housing Wheelhouse. It includes information about the number, type, size, 
and age of housing; construction of new housing; trends in the ownership and 
rental markets; supply of non-market housing and supports; housing indicators 
and Core Housing Need; and homelessness. This section includes analysis of 
the relationship between local incomes and housing costs. The purpose of 
this section is to provide Sunshine Coast local governments, local housing 
stakeholders, and the public with a full picture of the current state of the 
Sunshine Coast’s housing system, based on available information. Combined 
with findings from community and stakeholder engagement, the information in 
this section is used to understand housing needs. 

 Section 2.0 Demographic and Economic Profile 

 Section 3.0 Housing Profile 

67



9

A summary of projections of population, households, and housing units for the 
Sunshine Coast for the next five years (as required by the Local Government 
Act). The projections are based on 2016 census population data and BC Statistics 
population projections. The purpose of this data is to estimate the number of 
housing units needed, by size, for the next five years. 

A summary of findings from the community survey, focus groups, and interviews. 
The purpose of this section is to provide qualitative data to supplement the 
quantitative data collection and analysis, and to provide insight into housing 
needs and trends not captured by existing statistics. The findings of this section 
are used together with the findings of Section 3 and 4 to determine housing 
needs for Sunshine Coast communities.   

This section discusses potential implications of COVID-19 across the Housing 
Wheelhouse based on desktop research and engagement feedback. It is 
important to note that the impacts on the economy and housing system are still 
changing and evolving and data remains limited at this stage. 

This section summarizes the findings of this study, including current and 
anticipated housing need and statements of key areas of local need. The purpose 
of this section is to provide Sunshine Coast local governments, local housing 
stakeholders, and the public with a clear understanding of housing needs in the 
community.  

 Section 6.0 COVID-19 Impacts 

 Section 7.0 Summary of Needs 

 Section 5.0 Consultation and Engagement 

 Section 4.0 Anticipated Community Growth 

68



10 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Demographic and Economic Profile2.0
The demographic and economic conditions of a community directly influence 
its housing needs. This section provides an overview of the demographic and 
economic profile across the Coast, including but not limited to population 
growth, number of households and household characteristics, income, and 
employment. 

2.1 Demographic Trends
2.1.1 Population
Between 2006 and 2016, the population of the SCRD grew by 8%, from 27,759 
to 29,970 (Figure 3). The majority of this growth came from Sechelt and 
Gibsons; over this period, Sechelt grew by 1,762 persons, or 21%, and Gibsons 
grew by 423 persons, or 10%.   

Figure 3: Population, Gibsons, Sechelt, and SCRD, 2006-2016

Between 2006 and 2016, 
the population of the 
SCRD grew by 8%, from 
27,759 to 29,970

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006

4,182 4,437 4,605

8,454 9,291 10,216

27,759 28,619 29,970

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

2006 2011 2016

Gibsons Sechelt SCRD

69



11

Building permit data can also be used to estimate population, as it provides an idea of how many new homes 
are being constructed, which provides an idea of how many new households are being formed. Note that while 
“home”, “housing”, “dwelling”, or “housing unit” refers to the structure itself, “household” refers to the person or 
people who live in a home and can thus be used to estimate population.3

Since 2016, building permit data from the District of Sechelt and Gibsons show an increase in population to 2018, 
then a decrease in 2019. Data for the electoral areas show a similar upward trend to 2018, followed by a decrease 
in 2019.  

The electoral areas experienced varying population changes between 2006 and 2016 (Figure 4). While Halfmoon 
Bay (Electoral Area B), Roberts Creek (Electoral Area D), and Elphinstone (Electoral Area E) experienced growth, 
the population in Pender Harbour / Egmont (Electoral Area A) fluctuated but remained consistent, and West 
Howe Sound’s (Electoral Area F’s) population decreased by 192 individuals, or 9%.  

Figure 4: Population, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2006-2016

3. See Glossary

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006

2,624 2,678

2,6242,558 2,675

2,726

3,307 3,244
3,421

3,552 3,482
3,664

2,235

2,015 2,043

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2006 2011 2016

Pender Harbour / Egmont Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe Sound

70



12 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

2.1.2 Age
Age distribution throughout the electoral areas and municipalities is relatively consistent (Figure 5). Roberts 
Creek (SCRD D) and Elphinstone (SCRD E) each have larger proportions of individuals age 19 and younger than 
the rest of the electoral areas.  

Figure 5: Population by Age Group in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016 

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

6%
12% 14% 16%

11% 11% 11%
3%

5%
6% 5%

4% 4% 4%
2%

3%
4% 4%

4% 4% 3%
6%

7%
7% 7%

6% 9% 8%
20%

24%
25% 27%

26% 22%
21%

25%

23%
21% 20%

22%
18%

19%

34%
25%

22% 19%
25%

26% 29%

3% 2% 1% 2% 2% 5% 5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

85 and older

65 to 84

55 to 64

35 to 54

25 to 34

20 to 24

15 to 19

0 to 14

71



13

Across these communities, the largest change in age composition was seen in the proportion of the population 
comprised of adults aged 65 to 84 (Figure 6). Between 2006 and 2016, the proportion of the population 
represented by individuals in this age group increased by close to 10% in all electoral areas. In Gibsons and 
Sechelt, there was a smaller increase in this age group, however, it was still the age group with the largest 
increase. The proportion of the population comprised of younger people decreased in all communities over this 
period, with the largest decrease seen in the proportion of children (aged 0 to 14). 

Figure 6: Change in Proportion of Population by Age Group in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2006 to 2016 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization, 2006, 2016

-5%

-2%

-4%

-2%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

-3%

-2%

-3%

-1%

-2%

-3%

-1%

0%

0%

1%

0%

0%

-1%

-5%

-3%

-5%

-4%

-4%

2%

0%

11%

8%

12%

8%

9%

3%

5%

1%

1%

0%

1%

1%

0%

1%

-15% -10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 15%

Pender Harbour / Egmont

Halfmoon Bay

Roberts Creek

Elphinstone

West Howe Sound

Gibsons

Sechelt

0 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85 and older

72



14 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

BC experienced a similar shift in age composition between 2006 and 2016, however the proportional increase in 
seniors and decrease in younger age groups was much more pronounced for the Sunshine Coast. Compared to 
the province as a whole, the SCRD has a higher proportion of seniors (29% versus 18%) (Figure 7). 
 
Figure 7: Population by Age Group, SCRD and BC Overall, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

In 2016, median ages across all Sunshine Coast communities were higher than BC’s median age of 43. All 
electoral areas had a median age higher than 50 years, indicating that at least half the population was over 
50 years old (Figure 8). At nearly 61 years, Pender Harbour / Egmont had the highest median age of all 
communities. 

From 2006 to 2016, the median ages across these communities rose significantly. This shows that there are aging 
populations across the Sunshine Coast, which are aging at a faster rate compared to the province as a whole. 

12% 15%
4%

6%3%
6%

51%

55%

26%
16%

3% 2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

SCRD BC

0 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 64 65 to 84 85 and older

73



15

 
Figure 8: Median Age, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

Generally, renter households are more likely to be younger than owner households. Figure 9 shows that this 
was reflected in Sunshine Coast communities in 2016. Renters were approximately 5 to 18 years older compared 
to the provincial average; owners were approximately 4 to 17 years older. While both are related to the higher 
median age and aging trends on the Coast, a lack of rentals suitable for young families (i.e., 3-bedroom units) 
could also be a factor. 

Figure 9: Median Age by Tenure, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

54.1
48.2

44.2 44.4
48.1 50.2 50.7

40.8

56.7
50.9

47.4 48.1
51.3 51.4 53.6

41.9

60.5
55.0

50.7 50.6
54.5 54.8 56.6

43.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

2006 2011 2016

Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

63.2
57.4

53.3 50.6
56.2 57.3 58.8

46.5
51.9

38.6 38.7 40.9 43.7 43.7 43.1

33.8

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

Owner Renter

74



16 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

2.1.3 Mobility
Figure 10 shows the origin of people who moved to the Sunshine Coast between 2015 and 2016. Intraprovincial 
migrants are those who moved from elsewhere in BC and interprovincial are those who moved from another 
province. Across all electoral areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, the largest proportion of movers to each community 
were intraprovincial (i.e., from elsewhere in BC). Sechelt received the highest number of movers from within BC 
over this period (685 people). The proportions of movers from another province or from outside Canada were 
small in comparison.  

Figure 10: 1-Year Ago Mobility Status in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2015-2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2.1.4 Households
Most Sunshine Coast municipalities and electoral areas experienced household growth from 2006 to 2016. 
Growth was most concentrated in Sechelt and Gibsons: Sechelt saw an increase of 990 households, or 26%, and 
Gibsons saw an increase of 350 households, or 19%. West Howe Sound saw a decrease of 30 households (3%), 
while all other SCRD electoral areas experienced relatively steady growth. 

180
92%

170
0%

165
6%

190
87%

190
16%

165
0%

370
82%

370
16%

305
3%

240
81%

240
19%

195
0%

260
85%

250
12% 220

4%

260
85%

250
13%

220
4%

850
81%

805
14%

685
5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Intraprovincial migrants 
(elsewhere in BC)

Interprovincial migrants 
(another province)

External migrants 
(outside of Canada)

Pender Harbour/Egmont Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe Sound Gibsons Sechelt

75



17

Figure 11: Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2006-2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006 – Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

In 2016, households were relatively small across the Coast, averaging around two-person households or less 
(Table 1). Except for Sechelt, all other Sunshine Coast communities saw a decrease in housing size between 2006 
and 2016, which is generally reflective of an aging population. 

Roberts Creek and Elphinstone had the largest average household size at 2.3 persons, which was closer to the 
provincial average. The relatively larger household size reflects the higher proportion of youth in these two 
electoral areas in 2016. 

Table 1: Average Household Size Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2006-2016

 
Pender 

Harbour / 
Egmont

Halfmoon 
Bay

Roberts 
Creek Elphinstone

West 
Howe 
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

2006 2.1 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.3 2.1 2.1 2.5

2011 2.0 2.3 2.4 2.4 2.2 2.1 2.1 2.5

2016 1.8 2.2 2.3 2.3 2.1 2.0 2.1 2.4

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2006, 2011 and 2016

One- or two-person households were most common across the Coast, representing a minimum of 67%, or 
two-thirds of each community in 2016 (Figure 12). Related to the larger household size and higher proportion 
of youth, Roberts Creek and Elphinstone had larger proportions of households with more than two people 
compared to other communities. 

1,240

1,125

1,355

1,415

975

1,870

3,865

1,320

1,170

1,365

1,430

885

2,010

4,295

1,385

1,250

1,505

1,550

945

2,220

4,855

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000

Pender Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon 
Bay

Roberts 
Creek

Elphinstone

West Howe 
Sound

Gibsons

Sechelt

2016 2011 2006

76



18 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 12: Households by Size in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

520, 
38% 350, 

28%
400, 
26%

415, 
27%

290, 
31%

880, 
40% 1,665, 

34%

675, 
49%

595, 
48% 635, 

42%
625, 
40%

425, 
45%

850, 
38% 2,080, 

43%

105, 8%

140, 11%
235, 16% 210, 14%

105, 11% 245, 11% 550, 11%

60, 4%
110, 9% 160, 11% 215, 14%

90, 10% 190, 9% 380, 8%

25, 2% 55, 4% 75, 5% 85, 5% 35, 4% 65, 3% 180, 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

1 person 2 person 3 person 4 person 5 or more persons

605, 44% 515, 41% 515, 34% 520, 34% 365, 39%
660, 30% 1,755, 36%

130, 9% 240, 19%
310, 21% 355, 23% 140, 15%

330, 15%
715, 15%

50, 4%
60, 5% 140, 9% 105, 7% 55, 6%

170, 8%
295, 6%

560, 41% 375, 30% 445, 29% 465, 30% 330, 35% 970, 44% 1,840, 38%

35, 3% 50, 4% 100, 7% 105, 7% 60, 6% 95, 4% 255, 5%

0%

10%
20%

30%
40%

50%
60%

70%
80%
90%

100%

Pender Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Couples without children Couples with children Lone parent families

Non-census-family households Other census family households

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

Most households across the Coast are comprised of couples without children or non-census families (Figure 
13). Non-census families are primarily individuals living alone. This is consistent with an aging population and 
smaller household sizes, as many households are comprised of older couples whose children have left home or 
seniors living alone, both of whom may have retired to the Coast. Roberts Creek and Elphinstone had the highest 
proportion of families with children, with 30% of households being comprised of couples with children and lone-
parent families.  

Figure 13: Households by Family Type in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

77



19

2.1.5 Age of Household Maintainer
The “household maintainer” is the first person listed on the Census who pays the mortgage, rent, taxes, and / 
or utility bills for the dwelling. Age of household maintainer provides insight into who is heading households 
in communities across the Coast. Figure 14 shows the proportion of households led by seniors (i.e., 65+), 
compared to the proportion of households led young adults and people of working age (i.e., 19 to 64). In 2016, 
all communities had a higher proportion of households led by seniors compared to the provincial average. In 
Pender Harbour / Egmont, half of all households were led by seniors, closely followed by Sechelt and Gibsons, 
with 45% and 42%, respectively. Roberts Creek and Elphinstone have a higher proportion of households led by 
people of working age, which is consistent with their higher proportions of couples with children and larger 
household sizes.  

Figure 14: Senior and Non-Senior Led Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

690,
50%

815, 65% 995, 66% 1,035, 67% 590 , 62% 1,290, 58% 2,680, 55%

74%

690,
50%

430, 34% 510 , 34% 500, 33% 365, 38% 925, 42% 2,175, 45%

26%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

Non-senior led households Senior-led households

78



20 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

2.1.6 Tenure
There were high rates of homeownership in all electoral areas and Sechelt in 2016 (Figure 15). Gibsons had the 
lowest rate of homeownership and highest rate of renter households.  

Figure 15: Household by Tenure in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006

Between 2006 and 2016, the proportion of renter households increased in most Sunshine Coast communities 
(Figure 16). A similar trend was seen for the province as a whole. In all years, the proportion of renter households 
remained lower compared to the province. Gibsons had the highest proportion of renters over this period, 
matching the provincial proportions. 

Figure 16: Proportion of Renter Households by Private Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, 2006-2016

1,150
83%

1,030
82% 1,150

76%
1,275
83%

775
81% 1,590

72%
3,715
77% 68%

230
17%

220
18% 360

24%
255
17%

180
19% 630

28%
1,140
23% 32%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

Owner Renter

15%
13%

18%

13%

24%
27%

20%

30%

14%

8%

23%

8%

27%

30%

17%

30%

17% 18%

24%

17%
19%

28%

23%

32%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

2006 2011 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2006, National Household Survey 2011

79



21

2.1.7 Indigenous Identity
In 2016, the highest proportion of individuals in private households who identified as Indigenous was seen 
in SCRD Areas F (8%) and E (8%), followed by the District of Sechelt (6%) (Figure 17). In each of these three 
communities, there was a higher proportion of households who identified as Indigenous compared to the 
provincial average (6%).  

Figure 17: Indigenous Identity in Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

In most communities across the Coast, there were higher proportions of renter households who identified 
as Indigenous compared to owner households in 2016 (Figure 18). Elphinstone and West Howe Sound 
had the highest proportion of renters who identified as Indigenous at 17%, almost double the provincial 
proportion of 9%. 

Pender Harbour / Egmont is the only community where more owners identified as Indigenous compared  
to renters. 

5.1% 3.0% 3.5% 7.5% 7.8% 4.7% 6.1%

95% 97% 97% 92% 92% 95% 94%

0%

10%

20%
30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
80%

90%

100%

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Indigenous Identity Non-Indigenous Identity

80



22 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2.2 Income and Economy
2.2.1 Household Income
It is important to note that Censuses report on income data from the year prior, which means that the most 
recent income data (i.e., from the 2016 Census) is based on 2015 incomes. In this section, data for 2011 is 
not presented due to quality of data collected in the 2011 NHS. Due to the voluntary nature of the survey, 
in communities with small populations such as the SCRD electoral areas, income data can be skewed simply 
because of who responded. The 2011 NHS has been widely criticized because lower income households were 
perceived as less likely to respond. 

Data presented is for median household incomes, which identify the mid-point of income distribution in 
the community. This measure is generally accepted to be the most reliable indicator of community incomes, 
compared to using an average, which can be skewed by outliers. Median means that half of the sample makes 
more than the median income and half makes less.

Median household incomes have grown in the electoral areas and municipalities, except for Roberts Creek, 
which experienced a decrease from 2006 to 2016 (Figure 19). This is likely related to the increase in the number 
of renter households in this community and the proportion of households they represented. From 2006 to 2016, 
the proportion of renters in Roberts Creek increased more compared to other communities (from 18% to 24%) 
(see Figure 16). As renter households have lower median incomes compared to owners, this may have brought 
down the overall median income. 

Across these communities, Elphinstone had the highest median household income at $70,501 in 2016, which 
was similar to BC’s median of $69,995. Pender Harbour / Egmont had the lowest median household income 
($53,934).

5%

3% 4%

7% 8%

5%
6%6%

2%
3%

6% 6%
4% 5%

3%

8%

4%

17% 17%

6%

11%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Total Owner Renter

Figure 18: Indigenous Identity in Private Households by Tenure, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

81



23

Figure 19: Median Before-Tax Household Income (Constant 2015 Dollars) in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 
Before Tax, 2006-2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2006 and 2016 – Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Across electoral areas and municipalities, the median household incomes were significantly higher for 
owner households compared to renter households in 2016. In some cases, owner households were earning 
more than double what renter households were, such as in Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, and 
Elphinstone. This is one factor that makes it challenging to find suitable, adequate, and affordable rental 
housing on the Sunshine Coast.  

Figure 20: Median Before-Tax Household Income by Tenure, Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and 
Sechelt, 2016

$4
9,

17
3

$6
2,

28
0

$6
5,

47
0

$6
0,

09
1

$6
1,

99
5

$5
5,

25
2

$5
2,

44
7

$5
3,

93
4

$6
5,

93
9

$6
0,

17
2

$7
0,

50
1

$6
5,

72
9

$5
8,

47
0

$5
8,

60
9

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

2006 2016

$6
5,

76
7

$7
3,

14
8

$7
1,

64
0

$7
4,

91
5

$7
1,

31
9

$6
8,

82
2

$6
7,

57
3

$2
6,

99
0

$3
2,

28
8

$3
9,

82
2

$2
7,

23
9

$3
3,

98
4

$3
8,

20
8

$3
4,

56
6

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Owner Renter

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016 – Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

82



24 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Between 2006 and 2016, median household incomes for owners increased in most communities, while median 
household incomes for renters decreased (Figure 21). 

Owner households in Pender Harbour / Egmont saw the largest absolute increase, approximately $13,000, which 
was larger compared to the provincial average (approximately $9,000). Roberts Creek is the only community that 
saw a decrease in the median household income for owners. 

For all communities except Sechelt, the median household incomes of renters decreased. Elphinstone and West 
Howe Sound saw the largest decreases, approximately $11,000 and $13,000, respectively.  

Figure 21: Median Before-Tax Household Income by Tenure, Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, and 
BC, 2006-2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Across all electoral areas and municipalities, couples with children had the highest median before-tax incomes 
(Figure 22). Elphinstone had the highest at $113,152. Single income households, like lone-parent families and 
non-census families reported significantly lower incomes compared to other household types. Non-census 
families had the lowest median incomes overall; the median for Pender Harbour / Egmont was just $29,920. 
This household type may be particularly vulnerable in the housing market as they are likely challenged to find 
housing that is affordable relative to their income. 

$5
2,

38
1

$6
6,

47
4

$7
6,

02
2

$6
9,

43
7

$7
1,

96
9

$6
8,

30
7

$5
9,

33
8

$7
5,

24
3

$6
5,

76
7

$7
3,

14
8

$7
1,

64
0

$7
4,

91
5

$7
1,

31
9

$6
8,

82
2

$6
7,

57
3

$8
4,

33
3

$3
3,

40
3

$3
3,

83
5

$4
3,

05
2

$3
8,

73
4

$4
7,

27
2

$3
8,

83
4

$3
1,

44
7

$3
9,

54
8

$2
6,

99
0

$3
2,

28
8

$3
9,

82
2

$2
7,

23
9

$3
3,

98
4

$3
8,

20
8

$3
4,

56
6

$4
5,

84
8

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

$90,000

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

2006 Owners 2016 Owners 2006 Renters 2016 Renters

83



25

Figure 22: Median Before-Tax Household Income by Household Type, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2006-2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

When broken down by income brackets, more trends are made apparent. In 2016, owner households in the 
Sunshine Coast were well distributed across different income brackets, with relatively similar distributions across 
communities (Figure 23).  
Figure 23: Owner Households by Income Brackets and Tenure in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

$7
1,

93
6

$7
7,

95
2

$7
7,

05
6

$7
5,

98
1

$8
0,

12
8

$7
7,

63
2

$7
2,

28
5

$8
7,

29
6

$1
01

,9
73

$1
09

,7
60

$1
13

,1
52

$1
20

,0
64

$9
5,

61
6

$1
01

,4
40

$4
8,

00
0

$3
8,

65
6

$4
5,

56
8

$5
3,

37
6

$5
0,

56
0

$4
8,

38
4

$4
5,

82
4

$8
4,

22
4

$1
06

,2
40

$9
8,

04
8

$1
10

,3
36

$9
7,

53
6

$9
6,

00
0

$1
00

,1
60

$2
9,

92
0

$3
5,

96
8

$3
0,

78
4

$3
4,

56
0

$3
9,

68
0

$3
5,

31
2

$3
3,

86
9

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

$120,000

$140,000

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Couple without children Couple with children Lone-parent family

Other census family households Non census family households

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

10% 10% 8% 6% 7% 5% 6%

19% 12% 17% 13% 16% 20% 17%

18%
18% 17%

18% 14%
18% 20%

13%
14% 17%

16% 21%
17% 15%

12% 16% 8%
11%

12% 10% 13%

19% 16% 20% 19%
17% 19% 18%

4% 11% 6% 12% 6% 6% 7%
4% 3% 7% 6% 8% 5% 3%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Under $20,000 $20,000-39,999 $40,000-59,999 $60,000-79,999

$80,000-99,999 $100,00-149,999 $150,000-199,999 $200,000 and over

84



26 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Unlike owner households, renter households on the Sunshine Coast in 2016 fell mostly within the lowest income 
brackets ($39,999 or less). At least half of the renter households across all communities reported incomes of 
$39,999 or less. Nearly three-quarters (72%) of renter households in Pender Harbour / Egmont reported this. 
There were no renter households falling within the highest income brackets ($150,000 or more) in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, or West Howe Sound.  

Figure 24: Renter Households by Income Brackets and Tenure in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2.2.2 Employment and Industry
Most workers living in Pender Harbour / Egmont, Gibsons, and Sechelt work within their community (Figure 25). 
Most workers living in Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, and West Howe Sound commute to a different 
community on the Sunshine Coast for work. 

39%
23% 24% 31% 25% 17% 22%

33%

33% 28% 27% 39%
33%

35%

17%

5%
23%

14%
19%

20%
18%

9%

19%

11%

12%
6% 11%

9%
14% 3%

8%
6% 6% 6%

9% 5% 8%
8%

17% 9% 7%8% 2% 2%
4% 2% 1%

0%
10%

20%
30%

40%

50%
60%

70%
80%

90%

100%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Under $20,000 $20,000-39,999 $40,000-59,999 $60,000-79,999

$80,000-99,999 $100,00-149,999 $150,000-199,999 $200,000 and over

85



27

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016 – Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Approximately one-third of Sunshine Coast residents were employed in retail trade (13%), construction (10%), 
and health care and social assistance (10%) in 2016.  

Table 2: Labour force by industry, SCRD, 2016

Industry % of Labour Force

Retail trade 13%

Construction 10%

Health care and social assistance 10%

Professional, scientific and technical services 8%

Accommodation and food services 8%

Educational services 7%

Manufacturing 6%

Administrative and support, waste management and remediation services 6%

Transportation and warehousing 5%

Other and not applicable 26%

 
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, 2016, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Figure 25: Commuting Destination, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016 

59%

10% 16%
5%

22%

53%
70%

20%

81% 68%
79%

60%

34%

22%

20%
8%

14% 15% 17% 12% 8%
1% 2% 1%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Commute to a different province or territory
Commute to a different census subdivision (CSD) and census division (CD) within province or territory of residence

Commute to a different census subdivision (CSD) within census division (CD) of residence
Commute within census subdivision (CSD) of residence

86



28 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Compared to the provincial average, there are higher proportions of the labour force working at home and 
with no fixed workplace address across the Sunshine Coast. At least 30% of the labour force in each community 
reported they worked from home or had no fixed workplace address in 2016, compared to 24% provincially. 
Sechelt had the lowest proportion of people working from home (13%), which is likely reflective of the higher 
concentration of services and businesses in the District.
Figure 26: Place of Work in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, 2006-2016

18% 22% 20%
14% 18% 16% 13% 9%

2%

1%
2%

1%
1%

24%
23%

19%
20%

21%

15% 19%
14%

59%
53%

61% 66%
59%

70% 68%
77%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

BC

Worked at home Worked outside Canada No fixed workplace address Worked at usual place

Pender Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

The labour force participation rate measures the proportion of adults 15 years of age and older actively 
working or seeking work. Across the Sunshine Coast, the labour force participation rate decreased from 2006 
to 2016, a trend commonly associated with aging populations (Figure 27). Pender Harbour / Egmont had 
lowest participation rate and experienced the greatest decrease in participation rate from 57% to 45%. This is 
to be expected, as Pender Harbour / Egmont also had the largest proportion of seniors compared to the other 
communities (Figure 5). 

87



29

Figure 27: Participation Rates, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016 – Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Unemployment rates generally trended upwards between 2006 and 2016, which is the same trajectory as 
experienced in the province overall (Figure 28). Unemployment rates on the Sunshine Coast may have changed 
more drastically as a result of population aging and decreasing participation rates over the same period. 

Because the SCRD as whole and electoral areas in particular have small populations, slight economic fluctuations 
generally have a bigger impact on unemployment rates compared to more populous communities. 

In 2016, Pender Harbour / Egmont had the highest unemployment rate, which increased noticeably between 
2006 and 2011. This aligns with the aging population and decreasing participation rate trends seen in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont. For all other communities, unemployment rates were similar to the rate for BC (Figure 28). 
 

57%
62%

70% 67% 69%

58%
55%

48%

57%

67% 64% 65%

57%
59%

45%

55%

65%
64% 60%

57%
52%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon BayRoberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

2006 2011 2016

88



30 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 28: Unemployment Rates, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2006 and 2011 National Household Survey

4.1%
4.7%

1.9%

4.6%
3.5%

7.5%

3.4%

6.0%

12.2%

6.5%

7.9%

5.0%

7.4%

4.3%

7.8% 7.8%
8.3%

7.2%

5.3%
6.2%

5.2%
5.9%

7.5%
6.7%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt BC

2006 2011 2016

2.3 Summary
 � Between 2006 and 2016, the population of Sunshine Coast grew by 

8%, from 27,759 to 29,970. The majority of this growth came from 
Sechelt and Gibsons; over this period, Sechelt grew by 1,762 persons, 
or 21%, and Gibsons grew by 423 persons, or 10%. The electoral areas 
experienced varying population changes over this period.  

 � Age distribution throughout the electoral areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt is 
relatively consistent (Figure 4). Between 2006 and 2016, the proportion 
of the population comprised of those aged 65 to 84 increased by close 
to 10% in all electoral areas. In Gibsons and Sechelt, there was a smaller 
increase in this age group, however, it was still the age group with the 
largest increase. 

 � Across the Sunshine Coast, the population is older compared to the 
provincial average. In 2016, all communities had a median age higher 
than 50 years, indicating that at least half the population was over 50 
years old. At nearly 61 years, Pender Harbour / Egmont had the highest 
median age of all communities. In 2016, the median age for BC was 43. 

89



31

 � Most people who move to the Sunshine Coast are coming from 
elsewhere in BC. Sechelt received the highest number of movers from 
within BC between 2015 and 2016 (685 people).

 � Most Sunshine Coast municipalities and electoral areas experienced 
household growth from 2006 to 2016, most of which was concentrated 
in Sechelt and Gibsons: Sechelt saw an increase of 990 households, or 
26%, and Gibsons saw an increase of 350 households, or 19%. The faster 
rate of household growth compared to population growth suggests 
households are getting smaller, which is consistent with aging trends. 

 � In 2016, households were relatively small across the Sunshine Coast, 
averaging around two-person households or less. Most communities saw 
a decrease in housing size between 2006 and 2016, which is generally 
reflective of an aging population. Roberts Creek and Elphinstone had the 
largest average household size in 2016 at 2.3 persons, which may reflect 
the higher proportion of youth in these electoral areas.

 � There were high rates of homeownership in all communities in 2016; 
Gibsons had the lowest rate of homeownership (72%) and highest rate 
of renter households (28%). 

 � In 2016, the highest proportion of individuals in private households who 
identified as Indigenous was seen in SCRD Areas F (7.8%) and E (7.5%), 
followed by Sechelt (6.1%). For comparison, the provincial average 
was 5.9%.

 � Across the Coast, the median household incomes were significantly 
higher for owner households compared to renter households in 2016. 
In some cases, owner households were earning more than double 
what renter households were, such as in Pender Harbour / Egmont, 
Halfmoon Bay, and Elphinstone. Median household incomes were also 
significantly lower for non-census and lone-parent families. This is 
typical, as these households generally rely on one income compared to 
couples or other census families, who may have two or more incomes. 
Non-census family incomes were approximately one-third the income 
of couples with children and lone-parent family incomes were slightly 
higher, approaching one-half the income of couples with children. Single 
income earning household may need smaller housing options that suit 
their household needs while remaining affordable.  

 � Across the Coast, there were higher proportions of people who reported 
working from home in 2016 (13% - 22%) compared to the provincial 
average (9%). With requirements for physical distancing and the 
transition to working from home for most office workers as a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, community engagement indicates working 
from home on the Coast has become even more common. 

Across the Coast, the 
median household 
incomes were 
significantly higher 
for owner households 
compared to renter 
households in 2016.

90



32 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Housing Profile3.0
The housing profile provides an overview of historical trends and describes 
the current stock of housing on the Coast. It provides information on 
dwelling type, size, and age, market housing, rental housing, non-market 
housing, new home construction, homelessness, housing indicators, and Core 
Housing Need.

This section incorporates datasets from the following sources: BC Custom 
Census for 2006, 2011, and 2016 (published by the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing); 2011 National Household Survey, Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation (CMHC) Rental Market Survey; BC Assessment data; BC 
Housing, the Co-operative Housing Federation of BC (CHFBC); and the SCRD 
local governments.  

3.1 Dwelling Units
3.1.1 Number of Dwellings and Unoccupied Dwellings
Private dwellings that are occupied by usual residents refer to homes in which 
a person or household is permanently residing. Dwellings not occupied by 
usual residents means that the housing unit is either vacant or rented out on 
a temporary or short-term basis.

Table 3 shows that in 2016, most dwellings in all communities were occupied 
by usual residents. West Howe Sound, Pender Harbour / Egmont, and 
Halfmoon Bay had the largest proportions of dwellings not occupied by usual 
residents, with nearly half of dwellings in West Howe Sound not occupied 
(49%, 41%, and 29%, respectively). Only a small proportion of private 
dwellings in Gibsons (4%), Elphinstone (6%), and Sechelt were not occupied 
by usual residents. For comparison, the 2016 average for BC as a whole 
was 9%. 

This section 
incorporates datasets 
from the following 
sources: BC Custom 
Census for 2006, 2011, 
and 2016 

91



33

Table 3: Dwellings and Unoccupied Dwellings.

 Gibsons Sechelt
Pender 

Harbour / 
Egmont

Halfmoon 
Bay

Roberts 
Creek Elphinstone West Howe 

Sound

Total Private 
Dwellings 2,320 5,378 2,329 1,753 1,776 1,650 1,833

Dwellings occupied 
by usual residents 2,221 4,855 1,381 1,247 1,508 1,549 942

Dwellings not 
occupied by usual 
residents

99 523 948 506 268 101 891

% of dwellings that 
are not occupied by 
usual residents

4% 10% 41% 29% 15% 6% 49%

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

3.1.2 Structural Type
Housing stock is similar across all electoral areas, with a majority of single-detached homes. In 2016, housing 
stock was more diverse in Sechelt and Gibsons, where single-detached homes comprised 75% of stock in Sechelt 
and 55% in Gibsons. In total, there were 13,995 dwellings across all electoral areas and the two municipalities. 
Sechelt had the largest number of dwellings, which reflects its larger population size. 

Aside from single-detached homes, the remainder of the stock was mostly other attached dwellings, including 
semi-detached houses, row houses, single-detached homes with secondary suites, apartments in a building that 
has fewer than five storeys and other single-attached houses. There was a small number of movable dwellings in 
most communities.  

Figure 29: Dwellings by Structure Type, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

1,220 (88%)

1,195 (96%)

1,370 (91%)

1,420 (92%)

860 (91%)

1,215 (55%)

3,625 (75%)

60 (4%)

30 (2%)

80 (5%)

95 (6%)

70 (7%)

990 (45%)

890 (18%)

100 (7%)

20 (2%)

55 (4%)

30 (2%)

10 (1%)

10 (0%)

255 (5%)

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000 3,500 4,000 4,500 5,000

Pender Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay

Roberts Creek

Elphinstone

West Howe Sound

Gibsons

Sechelt

Single-detached house Other attached dwelling Movable dwelling

92



34 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

3.1.3 Number of Bedrooms
Housing on the Coast is a mix of units with two or more bedrooms (Figure 30). In 2016, 50% or more of housing 
in the electoral areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt was built for larger families (i.e., has three or more bedrooms). 
There are few one-bedroom and studio units across all communities; Gibsons had the largest proportion of 
smaller units.  

Figure 30: Dwellings by Number of Bedrooms, Private Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016

Given the small average household sizes in the communities (2.0 to 2.3 persons), some households may be over 
housed (i.e., living in housing with more bedrooms than required to meet their household needs as per National 
Occupancy Standards). Figure 12 shows that most households were one- and two-person households, which 
comprised 67% or more across all communities. 

3.1.4 Period of Construction
There is a mixture of older and newer dwellings across the Sunshine Coast. Most houses were built between 
1961 and 2000. Sechelt and Pender Harbour / Egmont have the newest stock, while West Howe Sound has the 
oldest stock.

10, 1% 10, 1% 10, 1% 10, 0% 10, 0%
165, 12% 120, 10% 135, 9% 135, 9% 115, 12% 315, 14% 530, 11%

500, 36%
330, 26% 440, 29% 370, 24%

255, 27%
790, 36%

1,370
28%

455, 33%
535, 43% 535, 35% 625, 41% 285, 30%

705, 32%
1,835
38%

265, 19% 265, 21% 385, 25% 390, 25% 295, 31%
395, 18% 1,120

23%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

No bedroom 1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4 or more bedrooms

93



35

Figure 31: Dwellings by Period of Construction in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3.1.5 New Home Construction Data  
Data on new home construction is available from two sources:

 � BC Housing, which collects information from Licensed Residential Builders and owner builders through the 
New Home Registration forms and Owner Builder Authorization applications. This information shows when 
new units were constructed.

 � SCRD, Town of Gibsons, and District of Sechelt building permit data, which shows when building permits 
were issued.

These data sets are shown below. Data from BC Housing shows what was recently built and has been registered, 
while data from the SCRD, District of Sechelt, and Town of Gibsons provides some indication of what is currently 
being constructed or will be in the near future. This data is more recent than the previous census and helps to 
provide a sense of trends from the past few years.

BC Housing Registered New Homes 
Sunshine Coast saw a total of 704 new homes added between 2016 and 2018. The most common type of homes 
that were built during this period were single-detached houses, followed by multi-unit houses and purpose-built 
rental.  

125, 9% 70, 6%
195, 13% 145, 9%

170, 18% 295, 13%
305, 6%

430, 31%
335, 27%

460, 30% 475, 31%
280, 29%

625, 28%

1,145, 24%

405, 29% 610, 49%
535, 35% 645, 42% 310, 32% 830, 37%

1,945, 40%

425, 31%
235, 19% 315, 21% 275, 18% 195, 20% 480, 22% 1,465

30%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pender Harbour
/ Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt

1960 or before 1961-1980 1981-2000 2001-2016

94



36 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Table 4: Registered New Homes by Unit Type, SCRD, 2016-2018.

Single-Detached 
House Multi-Unit House Purpose-Built Rental 

Unit Total

2016 213 7 0 220

2017 171 100 3 274

2018 201 9 0 210

Total 585 116 3 704

Source: BC Housing 

SCRD Building Permits Issued
Across the SCRD electoral areas, most building permits were issued for single-family dwellings between 2015 
and 2019 (617, or 92%). The remainder of the permits were issued for secondary suites or apartments. In 2019, 
46 permits were issued for a purpose-built rental project on shíshálh land (SIGD land). While the number of 
single-family dwellings fluctuated over this time, data suggests that it remains the dominant form of housing 
throughout the electoral areas. There were more permits issued for suites / apartments in recent years than have 
been in the past. 

Overall, the number of building permits issued has been increasing since 2017.  

Table 5: SCRD Building Permit Data, 2015-2019*

Single-Family Dwelling Suite or Apartment Total

2015 110 0 110

2016 134 0 134

2017 123 1 124

2018 142 2 144

2019 108 48** 156

Total 617 51** 668

Source: SCRD

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the 
corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in 
anticipation of future zoning bylaw changes.

** 46 of these are for a new purpose-built rental complex on shíshálh land. 

95



37

Table 6 shows the number of building permits issued by electoral area. There were higher numbers of permits 
issued for Pender Harbour / Egmont and Wet Howe Sound than other electoral areas.   

Table 6: SCRD Building Permit Data by Electoral Area, 2015-2019*

Pender Harbour 
/ Egmont

Halfmoon 
Bay

Roberts 
Creek Elphinstone West Howe 

Sound Totals

2015 24 20 25 14 25 110

2016 45 17 16 35 29 134

2017 28 25 23 19 26 124

2018 28 26 20 28 30 144

2019 37 24 17 10 21 156

Total 162 112 101 106 131 668**

Source: SCRD

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding 
single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future zoning 
bylaw changes.

** In addition to these totals, there were 56 building permits issued for shíshálh land, 48 of which were issued in 2019 for a purpose-built 
rental apartment development.  

In Gibsons, 82% of permits issued were for single-family dwellings between 2015 and 2019. There were 10% of 
permits that were issued for multi-family and 8% that were issued for two-family over this period. The number 
of multi-family permits has fluctuated over this time, while the number of two-family peaked in 2016 with the 
development of multiple duplex units in subdivisions in upper Gibsons.  

The number of building permits issued peaked in 2016, then generally declined to 2019.   

Table 7: Gibsons Building Permit Data, 2015-2019

Single-Family Dwelling Two-Family Multi-Family Total 

2015 22 3 5 31

2016 49 12 2 63

2017 39 5 7 51

2018 50 0 3 53

2019 35 0 6 41

Total 195 20 23 239

Source: Town of Gibsons

96



38 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

In Sechelt, the number of building permits issued peaked in 2017. 
Table 8: District of Sechelt Building Permit Data, 2015-2019

Single-Family Dwelling Two-Family Multi-Family Total 

2015 55 2 0 57

2016 77 0 5 81

2017 50 0 85 135

2018 69 0 6 75

2019 38 0 40 78

Total 289 2 136 426

Source: District of Sechelt

3.2 Homeownership Market
Data on the ownership market from BC Assessment and the Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board is available 
up to 2019, so provides a more recent and accurate sense of housing market trends on the Coast compared to 
census data from 2016. This data is used in the following sub-sections. 

3.2.1 Prices in 2019
In this section, sales prices are based on the number of units that were sold in 2019. If there were a small 
number of units sold in 2019, this could impact the precision of the data. In the following graphs, “N/A” indicates 
there was insufficient data for that category to provide an average. 

Dwellings with suites and single-family dwellings had highest average prices most consistently across 
communities. Generally, assessed values and sales prices were similar for single-family dwellings, while there 
were differences for dwellings with suites. In some cases, seasonal dwellings have higher average sales prices or 
assessed values, however, this is likely to be skewed by a few high-priced listings.

The following graphs show average assessed values and sales prices by dwelling type for each electoral area and 
the two municipalities. The highest average sales prices were seen in Roberts Creek, where the average sales 
price across all housing types was $941,508 and the average assessed value was $976,804 (Figure 34). In Pender 
Harbour and West Howe Sound, recorded sales prices were higher compared to assessed values in 2019 (Figure 
32 and Figure 36).

It is important to note that while assessed value is useful for determining property taxes, sales prices are more 
reflective of the current market. In many cases, assessed values are outdated because they do not automatically 
fluctuate in response to market trends and may not capture renovations or other property improvements if they 
have not been reported by owners. 

97



39

Figure 32: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Pender Harbour / Egmont, 2019

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

Figure 33: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Halfmoon Bay, 2019

$745,378 
$710,900 

$423,631 
$314,874 

$724,635 

$832,898 

$1,180,000 

$393,475 

$184,668 

$697,657 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with Suite Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Manufactured Home Seasonal Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

$888,826 

$1,126,150 

$575,333 

$401,683 
$487,403 

$1,007,040 

$801,765 $734,500 

$459,500 
$411,667 

$303,875 

$660,557 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with Suite Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Row Housing Manufactured
Home

Seasonal Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

98



40 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 34: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Roberts Creek, 2016

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

Figure 35: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Elphinstone, 2019

$1,026,010 
$888,380 

$511,200 

$373,037 

$1,097,021 $1,021,148

$988,000

$495,000

$141,867
N/A

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with Suite Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Manufactured Home Seasonal Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

$784,410 $803,175 

$659,344 

$224,350 

$892,487 $778,622
$757,071

N/A

$345,806

$1,372,000

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with Suite Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Manufactured Home Seasonal Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

99



41

Figure 36: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, West Howe Sound, 2019

$760,911 $805,838 $848,000 

$287,698 

$492,586 

$808,801 $818,563

N/A N/A

$540,167

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with Suite Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Manufactured
Home

Seasonal Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

Figure 37: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Gibsons, 2019

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

$747,163 
$857,718 

$562,517 

$415,353 $404,069 
$283,379 

$587,240 

$708,532
$891,097

$477,298 $411,179 $453,455
$305,000

$0
$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling with
Suite

Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Row Housing Apartment Manufactured
Home

Seasonal
Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

100



42 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 38: Average Assessed Values and Sales Prices by Dwelling Type, Sechelt, 2019

Source: BC Assessment, 2019

3.2.2 Historical Sales Prices
Real estate listings and sales history data was only available for Gibsons and Area, Sechelt District, and Pender 
Harbour and Egmont. These geographic areas do not line up with municipal and electoral area boundaries. As 
such, while they provide a useful indication of trends, it is important to remember that they may not fully reflect 
the local realities and nuances of each electoral area. 

Over the past 15 years, housing prices for detached dwellings have increased by 80% or more across the Coast 
(Figure 39). The largest increase was seen for Sechelt District, where prices more than doubled.  

Figure 39: Detached Dwelling Sales Prices, SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons Area, and Sechelt, 2005-2019

$727,563 $754,907 

$384,273 

$534,135 $501,226 

$249,021 

$803,611 
$696,449 $692,141 

$454,000 $523,144 $513,553 

$207,353 
$320,000 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Single Family Dwelling
with Suite

Duplex, Triplex,
Fourplex, etc.

Row
Housing

Apartment Manufactured
Home

Seasonal
Dwelling

Assessed Value Sales Price

Source: Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board

$365,858

$732,504 (+100%)

$313,868

$654,982 (+109%)

$387,325

$738,909 (+91%)

$453,225

$813,937(+80%)

$250,000

$350,000

$450,000

$550,000

$650,000

$750,000

$850,000

$950,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Gibsons and Area Sechelt District Pender Harbour and Egmont Roberts Creek

101



43

Townhouse sales prices increased faster than detached dwellings during the same period.4 Townhouse sales 
prices grew by 148% in Gibsons and 137% in Sechelt (Figure 40). While the following figure shows a sharp 
decline in townhouse prices in Pender Harbour and Egmont, this is based on a small number of listings, which 
can cause large fluctuations. For example, a new development like the Lily Lake Village could have created 
a noticeable impact on the trend. Some data is not available for Pender Harbour and Egmont due to low 
sales volume.

Figure 40: Townhouse Sales Prices, Gibsons Area, Sechelt, and Pender Harbour and Egmont, 2005-2019

4. Townhouses would fall under the “other attached” category described in Section 3.1. This 
mismatch is a result of different naming conventions across different organizations (i.e., 
Statistics Canada versus GVREB). 

Source: Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board

Apartment sales prices in Gibsons saw the biggest increase across all housing types, nearly tripling in price over 
this period (+281%) (Figure 41). In Sechelt, apartment sales prices doubled (+101%). This could be reflective of 
the lack of supply, causing units that are sold to be more in demand. It could also be related to the effects of a 
few high-priced units on overall average sales price in smaller markets. 

Figure 41: Apartment Sale Prices, Gibsons Area and Sechelt, 2005-2019

$202,132

$478,179 (+137%)

$185,645

$460,139 (+148%)

$598,250

$202,500 (-66%)

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

$800,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Gibsons and Area Sechelt District Pender Harbour and Egmont

$168,226

$641,129
(+281%)

$252,241

$506,519
(+101%)

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Gibsons and Area Sechelt District

Source: Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board

102



44 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

3.2.3 Homeownership Affordability Gaps Analysis
To provide insight into whether owner households are spending an unaffordable amount of monthly income on 
shelter costs, an affordability gaps analysis was prepared. The affordability gaps analysis compares local incomes 
to local housing costs, which provides a sense of housing affordability across the Coast. For the purposes of 
analysis, affordability is defined as spending less than 30% of gross household income on shelter costs, based on 
housing standards defined by Statistics Canada. 

The largest portion of ownership shelter costs is generally the monthly mortgage payment, which is driven by 
housing prices. Shelter costs also include other fixed monthly expenses related to housing, like property tax, 
utilities, home insurance, municipal services charges, and strata fees.

Shelter costs used in this analysis are based on the average 2019 sales prices for each housing type as reported 
by BC Assessment and do not account for any differences in the age or size of homes. To calculate total monthly 
shelter costs, several assumptions were made: mortgage payments are based on a down payment of 10% with 
2.34% interest on a 3-year fixed-rate term, and a total of $516 to $779 were added for property tax, utilities, 
home insurance, municipal services charges, and strata fees (where applicable). Property taxes and municipal 
service charges were estimated independently for each Electoral Area, the Town of Gibsons, and the District of 
Sechelt using relevant bylaws, 2020 SCRD Utility Rates, and the Province of BC’s eTax online calculator. 

Shelter costs are compared to estimates of affordable shelter costs for different household types based on total 
before-tax incomes from the 2016 census. Since these reflect 2015 incomes, which likely grew between 2015 
and 2019, incomes were adjusted to 2019 using the average annual percentage increase between 2006 to 2016 
to compare to 2019 average housing prices. Incomes were also adjusted to reflect the higher median income 
of owner households relative to renter households based on the difference between owner median income and 
overall median income for 2016. 

The values highlighted in green, orange, and red are the difference between what is affordable for each 
household type and shelter costs per month. Green cells indicate the household is spending less than 30% of 
monthly household income on shelter costs; orange indicates they are spending 30 – 49%, and red indicates 
they are spending 50% or more.5

5. Statistics Canada considers households spending 30% or more of total before-tax household 
income to be living in unaffordable housing. This may include households in Core Housing 
Need. Households spending 50% or more of total before-tax household income may be in 
Extreme Core Housing Need. These indicators are described in more detail in Sections 3.7 
and 3.8. 

Across all housing types, Figure 39, Figure 40, and Figure 41 show a trend seen in many communities across BC: 
prices stayed relatively stable until 2015, after which prices escalated significantly. Between 2015 and 2019 alone, 
prices rose by an average of approximately 53% for single family homes and 118% for apartments across the 
geographies provided by the GVREB.

103



45

Pender Harbour / Egmont 
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in Pender Harbour / 
Egmont. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 88% of the housing in that community. 

Table 9 shows that households that often have two or more incomes, like couples and other census families, 
generally have higher incomes compared to other housing types and would face the lowest gaps for a single-
detached house at the 2019 average sales price. Couples with children making the median income would need 
to spend approximately 39% of their monthly income on shelter costs; other census families would need to 
spend 40%.  

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would need to spend 
47% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income 
households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 71% and 117% of their monthly 
income, respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of more than $2,000. In 2016, 41% 
of households in Pender Harbour / Egmont were non-census families and 4% were lone-parent households, 
meaning nearly half of the population is likely priced out of ownership (Figure 13).  

Table 9: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Pender Harbour / Egmont 

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($832,898)

Couples without children $100,728 $2,518 -$1,455

Couples with children $122,235 $3,056 -$918

Lone-parent families $67,211 $1,680 -$2,293

Non-census families $41,895 $1,047 -$2,926

Other census families $117,934 $2,948 -$1,025

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

104



46 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Halfmoon Bay 
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in Halfmoon Bay. In 
2016, single-detached homes made up 96% of the housing in that community. 

Table 10 shows that other census families, who may have multiple incomes due to multi-generational or other 
living arrangements, face the lowest gaps in affording the average single-detached home at 2019 prices. This 
household type would have to spend 35% of their monthly income on shelter costs. Couples with children 
making the median income face the second-lowest gap; these households would need to spend approximately 
37% of their monthly income on shelter costs.

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would need to spend 
48% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income 
households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend approximately all of their monthly 
income to be able to afford a single-detached home, facing gaps of close to $3,000. In 2016, 30% of households 
in Halfmoon Bay were non-census families and 5% were lone-parent households who are likely priced out of 
ownership (Figure 13). This community had the third highest proportion of couples with children (19%),  
who still face significant affordability gaps when looking to buy a home. 

Table 10: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Halfmoon Bay

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($801,765)

Couples without children $95,979 $2,399 -$1,462

Couples with children $125,554 $3,139 -$723

Lone-parent families $47,595 $1,190 -$2,672

Non-census families $44,286 $1,107 -$2,755

Other census families $130,808 $3,270 -$592

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

105



47

Roberts Creek
Due to the higher average sales price of single-detached homes, median-earning households in Roberts Creek 
face the largest gaps across the Sunshine Coast in affording housing. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 
91% of the housing in Roberts Creek.

Table 11 shows that all households making the median income face gaps of $1,500 or more affording the 
average single-detached home in 2019. Homeownership is likely out of reach for all household types, including 
median-earning couples without children, who would need to spend 62% of their monthly income to afford the 
average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income households like lone-parent and non-census 
families would need to spend more than 100% of their monthly income to be able to afford a single-detached 
home, facing gaps of more than $3,000. 

Roberts Creek has the highest proportion of lone-parent families of all communities, with 9% of households 
being this type in 2016. While this community may be desirable to this household type, they are likely priced 
out of homeownership. Roberts Creek also has a high proportion of couples with children (21%), who may be 
looking to enter the ownership market but likely face significant affordability challenges.  

Table 11: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Roberts Creek

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($1,021,148)

Couples without children $92,916 $2,323 -$2,491

Couples with children $132,351 $3,309 -$1,505

Lone-parent families $54,947 $1,374 -$3,440

Non-census families $37,120 $928 -$3,886

Other census families $118,229 $2,956 -$1,858

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

106



48 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Elphinstone
Although relatively more affordable compared to the other electoral areas, median-earning households still face 
gaps in affording single-detached homes in Elphinstone. In 2016, single-detached homes made up 92% of the 
housing in that community. 

Table 12 shows that couples with children and other census families are close to the threshold in affording the 
average single-detached home at 2019 prices. Couples with children earning the median income would likely 
need to spend 32% of their monthly income on shelter costs, while other census families would need to spend 
33%. Elphinstone had the highest proportion of couples with children of Coast communities in 2016; 23% of 
households were this type. These households may be looking to enter the ownership market.

Homeownership is likely out of reach for median-earning couples without children, who would need to spend 
48% of their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income 
households like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 68% and 105% of their monthly 
income, respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of more than $2,000.

In 2016, 30% of households in Elphinstone were non-census families and 7% were lone-parent households who 
are likely priced out of ownership (Figure 13). 

Table 12: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Elphinstone

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable 
Monthly Shelter 

Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($778,622)

Couples without children $94,950 $2,374 -$1,391

Couples with children $141,401 $3,535 -$229

Lone-parent families $66,701 $1,668 -$2,097

Non-census families $43,188 $1,080 -$2,685

Other census families $137,882 $3,447 -$317

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

107



49

West Howe Sound
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes in West Howe Sound. In 
2016, single-detached homes made up 91% of the housing in that community. 

Table 13 shows that couples with children face the lowest gaps in affording the average single-detached home 
at 2019 prices. This household type would have to spend 36% of their monthly income on shelter costs. Couples 
with children are not a common household type in West Howe Sound; as of 2016, this was 15% of the all 
households (Figure 13). 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for other household types, which comprise the remaining 85% of 
households in the community (Figure 13). Median-earning couples without children would need to spend 54% of 
their monthly income to afford the average single-detached home. Median-earning single-income households 
like lone-parent and non-census families would need to spend 86% and 109% of their monthly income, 
respectively, to afford a single-detached home and may face gaps of $3,000 or more.

Table 13: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in West Howe Sound

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Single-detached home 
($808,801)

Couples without children $99,473 $2,487 -$2,005

Couples with children $149,050 $3,726 -$766

Lone-parent families $62,766 $1,569 -$2,923

Non-census families $49,260 $1,231 -$3,261

Other census families $121,083 $3,027 -$1,465

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

108



50 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Town of Gibsons
There are gaps for all household types in affording single-detached homes, the most common type of home in 
the Town. In 2016, single-detached homes comprised 55% of homes in the Town. Median-earning other census 
families and couples with children are close to the affordability threshold for these units; they would need to 
spend 32% of their income, resulting in small affordability gaps. Unlike renting, ownership allows households 
to build equity; these households may choose to stretch a little past their affordability threshold to access 
ownership housing.

Townhouses, at the average 2019 sales price, were affordable for couples (with and without children) and other 
census families earning the median household income. Apartments could also be an affordable option for 
these households, noting that couples with children and other census families would need a minimum of two 
bedrooms to meet their households’ needs. Lone-parent families would need to spend 44% of their monthly 
income to afford the average apartment in the Town and would also need a minimum of two bedrooms to 
suitably house their family. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for non-census families; median-earning households of this type would 
need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to afford any type of housing at the 2019 
average sales price. Non-census families are more common in Gibsons compared to other communities; in 2016, 
44% of households in the Town were this type (Figure 13).

Table 14: Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Gibsons

 

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Single-
detached home 

($708,532)

Townhouse

($411,179)

Apartment

($453,455)

Couples without children $102,576 $2,564 -$825 $160 $201

Couples with children $126,338 $3,158 -$231 $754 $795

Lone-parent families $63,930 $1,598 -$1,791 -$806 -$765

Non-census families $46,658 $1,166 -$2,223 -$1,238 -$1,197

Other census families $126,845 $3,171 -$219 $767 $808

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

109



51

District of Sechelt
There are gaps for most household types in affording single-detached homes, the most common type of home 
in the District. Median-earning couples with children and other census families are close to the threshold and 
may be able to afford this housing type.  

Townhouses, at the average 2019 sales price, may be affordable for median-earning couples with children, 
who would need to spend approximately 25% of their monthly income on shelter costs, as well as other 
census families, who would need to spend approximately 26%. Apartments could be an affordable option for 
households who generally earn more than one income (i.e., couples with children and other census families), 
while noting that these households would need a minimum of two bedrooms to meet their households’ needs. 
While couples without children may also have more than one income, these households are closer to the 
affordability threshold and likely need to spend 32% of monthly income on this type of housing. Lone-parent 
families would need to spend 51% of their monthly income to afford the average apartment in the District and 
would also need a minimum of two bedrooms to suitably house their family. 

Homeownership is likely out of reach for lone-parent and non-census families; median-earning households of 
this type would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to afford any type of housing 
at the 2019 average sales price. In 2016, In 2016, lone-parent families were 6% of households in the District and 
non-census families were 38% (Figure 13).

Table 15 Affordability Gap Analysis for Owners in Sechelt

 

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Single-
detached 

home 
($696,449)

Townhouse

($523,144)

Apartment

($513,553)

Couples without 
children $95,135 $2,378 -$884 -$447 -$185

Couples with children $133,507 $3,338 $76 $513 $774

Lone-parent families $60,310 $1,508 -$1,754 -$1,317 -$1,056

Non-census families $44,575 $1,114 -$2,148 -$1,711 -$1,449

Other census families $131,822 $3,296 $34 $470 $732

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census and BC Assessment, 2019. 

110



52 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

3.3 Rental Housing Market
The rental housing market can be divided into primary rental and secondary rental. Primary rental units are 
purpose-built rental units (i.e., are built and used solely as rental). Secondary rental units are dwellings that 
are not built to be rental, but which are rented out to tenants. Most commonly, this includes secondary suites, 
individually rented apartments, and full houses. 

While primary rental units were incentivized and supported through federal government investments in the 
1970s and 1980s, since that time, the construction of primary rental units has slowed significantly. This has 
caused the secondary rental market to become an increasingly important source of housing for renters. In most 
communities, the secondary market now comprises the majority of rental housing stock. 

There are also non-market units, which refer to units that are offered at below market value rates. These units 
are generally supported through senior government funding, or through the initiative of local non-profit 
organizations through fundraising or partnerships with developers. In BC, non-market units are commonly 
developed, managed, or otherwise supported in part by BC Housing, a provincial government agency. 

Like data for the homeownership market, data for the rental housing market is more recent than the 2016 
census. For the primary rental market, data is available up to 2019, with data for the secondary rental market 
collected in early 2020. This data is used in the following sub-sections.

3.3.1 Primary Rental Market
The number of primary rental units is available through CMHC for Sechelt for 2018 and 2019. There is no data 
for other years or for other communities on the Coast. Due to the small number of units, there is no data for 
vacancy rates and cost of rent. Figure 42 shows the composition of primary rental stock in Sechelt; most units 
have one or two bedrooms. 

For comparison, there were 51 to 55 primary rental units in Sechelt between 2018 and 2019, while there were 
1,140 renter households in the District at the last Census count (i.e., 2016). This indicates that most renters are 
relying on the secondary market.   

Figure 42: Primary Rental Market Units by Number of Bedrooms, Sechelt, 2018-2019

Source: Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)

2 2

23 22

29
26

1
1

55
51

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2018 2019

Bachelor 1-bedroom 2-bedroom 3+ bedroom Total

111



53

As part of engagement, stakeholders were invited to share any information or studies relevant to the project. 
One stakeholder volunteered information on an upcoming primary rental project being developed in Sechelt. 
The rents at this development fall within the following ranges:

 � $1,250 to $1,550 for a one-bedroom unit

 � $1,350 to $1,750 for a two-bedroom unit

 � $1,950 to $2,500 for a two-bedroom plus den unit

These rents are within the same ranges of the average secondary market rents presented in the following 
section. 

3.3.2 Secondary Rental Market
A secondary rental market scan was conducted on March 19 and May 11, 2020 to provide a snapshot of rental 
costs in the region. In total, 192 listings from Craigslist, Kijiji, and Coast Reporter Classified were reviewed, 
catalogued, and analyzed. Figure 43 shows that the average cost of rent has risen noticeably since the average 
rent reported in the 2016 Census. Average rent was highest in West Howe Sound, followed by Halfmoon Bay and 
Roberts Creek. Rent was most affordable in Pender Harbour / Egmont, followed by Sechelt and Gibsons.  

It is important to remember that the average rents from 2020 are based on vacant rental units on the market in 
spring 2020. These rental rates may have been increased in-between tenants. Average rents reported in the 2016 
Census include people who have been in their home for longer periods of time and have experienced fewer rent 
increases. Therefore, average rents for 2016 reported in the Census are likely lower than the cost to rent a vacant 
unit on the market at that time. This is because rent can only be raised by a set maximum each year while the 
same tenant is living in the unit. As such, the numbers in Figure 43 are not directly comparable but are useful to 
provide a sense of trend.  

Figure 43: Secondary Rental Market Average Rental Costs by region on March 19 and May 11, 2020*

Source: Adapted from Kijiji, Craigslist and Coast Reporter Classified ads between March 19 and May 11, 2020

$1,461 $1,500
$1,367

$1,788 $1,721
$1,628

$1,975

$1,059 $1,051

$806

$1,093 $1,055
$957

$1,052

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

Sechelt Gibsons Egmont /
Pender Harbour

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Average Rent (2020) Average Rent (Reported in Census 2016)

112



54 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

*Average rents 2020 are based on vacant rental units, while average rent reported in Census 2016 includes some households who 
have been renting for a long period of time and are therefore paying lower rents. 

Figure 44 shows the average cost of rent by structure type. The most common type of listing were single-
detached dwellings (85 listings), followed by secondary suites (63). Single-detached dwellings, on average, cost 
$1,846 per month to rent, while secondary suites cost $1,262. Most of the listings reviewed did not include 
utilities in the cost of rent. The following section contains an affordability analysis based on these rents, with 
utilities and tenant insurance taken into account, to provide a more fulsome picture of shelter costs. 

Figure 44: Secondary Rental Market Average Rental Costs by rental type on March 19 and May 11, 2020

Source: Adapted from Kijiji, Craigslist and Coast Reporter Classified ads between March 19 and May 11, 2020

Most rental units available in the electoral areas were single-detached homes, followed by secondary suites. For 
reference, Table 16 shows a breakdown of listings catalogued by type in the electoral areas.  

Table 16: Secondary Rental Market Listings by Electoral Area on March 19 and May 11, 2020

Community Single-detached 
Dwellings Secondary Suites Other Total Listings

Pender Harbour 
/ Egmont 8 2 1 apartment 

1 mobile home 12

Halfmoon Bay 12 3 1 apartment 16

Roberts Creek 5 3 N/A 8

Elphinstone 7 2 1 apartment 
1 mobile home 11

West Howe 
Sound 4 2 N/A 6

Source: Adapted from Kijiji, Craigslist and Coast Reporter Classified ads between March 19 and May 11, 2020

$637
$950

$1,262
$1,479 $1,542

$1,754 $1,846

$0

$500
$1,000

$1,500
$2,000

Mobile Home Duplex Secondary Suite Apartment Coach House Townhouse Single-detached
Dwelling

Average Rent (2020)

113



55

Gibsons and Sechelt had more diverse rental options compared to the electoral areas, which is related to their 
more diverse housing stock. Table 17 shows a breakdown of the rental units in both municipalities captured 
through the analysis. 

Table 17: Secondary Rental Market Listings by Municipality on March 19 and May 11, 2020

Community
Single-

detached 
Dwellings

Secondary 
Suites Townhouses Apartments Other Total 

Listings

Gibsons 11 10 1 7 N/A 29

Sechelt 16 10 4 8 1 single room 39

Source: Adapted from Kijiji, Craigslist and Coast Reporter Classified ads between March 19 and May 11, 2020

3.3.3 Renter Affordability Gaps Analysis
To provide insight into whether renter households are spending an unaffordable amount of monthly income on 
shelter costs, an affordability gaps analysis was prepared. The affordability gaps analysis compares local incomes 
to local housing costs, which provides a sense of housing affordability across the Coast. For the purposes of 
analysis, affordability is defined as spending less than 30% of gross household income on shelter costs, based on 
housing standards defined by Statistics Canada. 

Shelter costs used in this analysis are based on average rents collected in the secondary market rental scan 
conducted in March 2020 and do not account for any differences in the age or size of homes, or utilities and 
services included in rent. There is an additional $58 per month for utilities and tenant insurance added to 
approximate total shelter costs. 

For the Town of Gibsons and District of Sechelt, there was sufficient data to report on rents for entire homes 
(single-family or townhouse), as compared to smaller units (apartments or secondary suites), as compared to the 
overall average for all rental housing types. For the Electoral Areas, there was insufficient data collected to report 
on rents by structure type, so the gaps analysis provided is for the overall average for all rental housing types in 
each community. 

Similar to the affordability gap analysis for owners, shelter costs are compared to estimates of affordable shelter 
costs for different household types based on total before-tax incomes from the 2016 census, adjusted for 2019 
based on historical growth rates and further adjusted for renter household incomes. Renter households typically 
make far less than owner households - this adjustment helps to avoid underestimating the gap renters face in 
the rental market. Across Sunshine Coast, median household income for renter households is 60% the median 
household income for the community as a whole. 

The values highlighted in green, orange, and red are the difference between what is affordable for each 
household type and shelter costs per month. Green cells indicate the household is spending less than 30% of 
monthly household income on shelter costs; orange indicates they are spending 30 – 49%, and red indicates 
they are spending 50% or more.6

6. Statistics Canada considers households spending 30% or more of total before-tax household 
income to be living in unaffordable housing. This may include households in Core Housing Need. 
Households spending 50% or more of total before-tax household income may be in Extreme Core 
Housing Need. These indicators are described in more detail in Sections 3.7 and 3.8. 

114



56 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Pender Harbour / Egmont 
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording the average rental in Pender Harbour / Egmont 
(Table 18). Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest 
affordability gaps. Lone-parent households earning the median income would likely need to spend 59% of their 
income on monthly shelter costs, resulting in a gap of $735. Non-census families would likely need to spend 
95% of their monthly income on shelter costs, resulting in a gap of nearly $1,000. 

Couples without children face moderate gaps and median-income earners would need to spend approximately 
40% of their monthly income on rental costs. Median-earning couples with children and other census families 
are closer to the affordability threshold and would need to spend 33% and 43% of their monthly income on 
shelter costs, respectively. 

In 2016, 41% of households in Pender Harbour / Egmont were non-census families and 4% were lone-parent 
households, meaning nearly half of the population may be struggling to find affordable housing (Figure 13). 

Table 18. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Pender Harbour / Egmont

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,367 rent)

Couples without children $41,337 $1,033 -$392

Couples with children $50,164 $1,254 -$171

Lone-parent families $27,583 $690 -$735

Non-census families $17,193 $430 -$995

Other census families $48,399 $1,210 -$215

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

115



57

Halfmoon Bay
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording the average rental in Halfmoon Bay (Table 
19). Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability 
gaps. Both of these household types earning the median income would need to spend more than 100% of their 
income on monthly shelter costs, resulting in gaps of more than $1,300 per month.  

Couples without children also face significant gaps in Halfmoon Bay; median income earners would need to 
spend 51% of their monthly income to afford the average rental. Median-earning couples with children and 
other census families are closer to the affordability threshold but would still need to spend 39% and 37% of their 
monthly income on shelter costs, respectively. 

In 2016, 30% of households in Halfmoon Bay were non-census families, 5% were lone-parent households, and 
41% were couples without children (Figure 13). This means that more than three-quarters of the population is 
likely struggling to find affordable rental options.  

Table 19. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Halfmoon Bay

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,788 rent)

Couples without children $42,366 $1,059 -$787

Couples with children $55,421 $1,386 -$460

Lone-parent families $21,009 $525 -$1,321

Non-census families $19,548 $489 -$1,357

Other census families $57,740 $1,443 -$403

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

116



58 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Roberts Creek 
Although more affordable compared to rental housing in the other electoral areas, there are considerable gaps 
for median-earning single income households in affording the average rental in Roberts Creek (Table 20). Lone-
parent families would need to spend 68% of their income on monthly shelter costs, while non-census families 
would need to spend 100%, resulting in gaps of more than $1,000 per month. Roberts Creek had the highest 
proportion (9%) of lone-parent families in 2016 (Figure 13) who likely face challenges finding affordable and 
suitable rental options. 

Couples without children also face significant gaps in Roberts Creek; median income earners would need 
to spend 40% of their monthly income to afford the average rental. Other census families are close to the 
threshold; these households earning the median income would need to spend approximately 31% of their 
monthly income on shelter costs.

While median-earning couples with children would likely be able to afford a rental Roberts Creek, it is important 
to remember that half of households of this type will make less than the median household income. Roberts 
Creek had a higher proportion of couples with children than most other Coast communities in 2016 (Figure 13).
 
Table 20. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Roberts Creek.

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,721 rent)

Couples without children $51,649 $1,291 -$488

Couples with children $73,569 $1,839 $60

Lone-parent families $30,543 $764 -$1,015

Non-census families $20,634 $516 -$1,263

Other census families $65,719 $1,643 -$136

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

117



59

Elphinstone 
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording the average rental in Elphinstone (Table 21). 
Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability 
gaps. Lone-parent households earning the median income would likely need to spend 80% of their income on 
monthly shelter costs, resulting in a gap of $1,078. Non-census families would likely need to spend 124% of 
their monthly income on shelter costs, resulting in a gap of nearly $1,300. Couples without children also face 
significant gaps in Elphinstone; median income earners would need to spend 56% of their monthly income 
to afford the average rental, a gap of $820. Based on Figure 13, in 2016, 7% of households in the community 
were lone parents, 30% were non-census families, and 34% were couples without children. This suggests that 
approximately 71% of the households may be unable to find affordable rental housing in the community. 

Median-earning couples with children and other census families are closer to the affordability threshold 
but would still need to spend 38% and 39% of their monthly income on shelter costs, respectively. At 23%, 
Elphinstone had the largest proportion of couples with children compared to other Coast communities in 2016 
(Figure 13). 

Table 21. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Elphinstone

 

 

Median Household 
Income

Affordable Monthly 
Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter 
Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,628 rent)

Couples without children $34,638 $866 -$820

Couples with children $51,583 $1,290 -$396

Lone-parent families $24,333 $608 -$1,078

Non-census families $15,755 $394 -$1,292

Other census families $50,299 $1,257 -$429

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

118



60 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

West Howe Sound 
There are considerable gaps for all household types in affording the average rental in West Howe Sound (Table 
22). Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability 
gaps. Lone-parent households earning the median income would likely need to spend 82% of their income on 
monthly shelter costs, resulting in a gap of more than $1,300. Non-census families would likely need to spend 
104% of their monthly income on shelter costs, resulting in a gap of nearly $1,500. In 2016, 6% of households 
were lone parents and 35% were non-census families (Figure 13).

Couples without children also face significant gaps in West Howe Sound; median income earners would need 
to spend 51% of their monthly income to afford the average rental, a gap of $882. In 2016, 39% of households 
were this type. 

Median-earning couples with children and other census families are closer to the affordability threshold but 
would still need to spend 34% and 42% of their monthly income on shelter costs, respectively.  

Table 22. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in West Howe Sound

 

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Overall Average 
($1,975 rent)

Couples without children $46,044 $1,151 -$882

Couples with children $68,993 $1,725 -$308

Lone-parent families $29,053 $726 -$1,307

Non-census families $22,801 $570 -$1,463

Other census families $56,047 $1,401 -$632

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

119



61

Town of Gibsons
Table 23 shows that there are considerable gaps for most households in affording single-detached or townhouse 
units. Single-income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families who are earning the median 
household income for their household type would be unable to afford any units at the average rental rates. 
Non-census families are the most common type of household in Gibsons; 44% were this type in 2016 (Figure 13).

Couples with and without children and other census families earning the median income for their household 
type would likely be able to afford to rent a secondary suite or apartment unit in Gibsons; couples with children 
and other census families are close to the threshold and would need to spend 30% of their monthly income to 
afford a larger structure type, like a single-detached home or townhouse. These households require a minimum 
of two bedrooms to house their families and there may be limited stock of secondary suites and apartments of 
suitable size. 

Table 23. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Gibsons

 

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 

Shelter Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Entire single-
detached 
home or 

townhouse 
($1,782 rent)

Secondary 
suite or 

apartment 
($1,324 rent)

Overall 
average 

($1,501 rent)

Couples without children $56,947 $1,424 -$416 $42 -$134

Couples with children $70,139 $1,753 -$87 $371 $195

Lone-parent families $35,492 $887 -$953 -$495 -$671

Non-census families $25,903 $648 -$1,192 -$734 -$910

Other census families $70,421 $1,761 -$79 $379 $203

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

120



62 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

District of Sechelt
Table 24 shows that there are considerable gaps for single-income households, like lone-parent families and 
non-census families (6% and 38% of households in the District, respectively) (Figure 13). These households who 
are earning the median household income for their household type would be unable to afford any units at the 
average rental rates.

Couples with children and other census families earning the median income for their household type would 
likely be able to afford to rent in Sechelt. Couples without children may face moderate affordability gaps.  

Table 24. Affordability Gap Analysis for Renters in Sechelt

 

 

Median 
Household 

Income

Affordable 
Monthly 
Shelter 
Costs

Monthly Shelter Affordability Gap

Entire single-
detached 
home or 

townhouse

($1,625 rent)

Secondary 
suite or 

apartment

($1,314 rent)

Overall 
average

($1,461 rent)

Couples without children $48,665 $1,217 -$466 -$155 -$302

Couples with children $68,293 $1,707 $24 $335 $188

Lone-parent families $30,851 $771 -$912 -$601 -$748

Non-census families $22,802 $570 -$1,113 -$802 -$949

Other census families $67,432 $1,686 $3 $314 $167

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census, Custom Secondary Rental Market Scan, 2020

3.3.4 Short-Term Rentals
A scan of short-term rentals listed on Airbnb was conducted on April 13, 2020 to check for available one-
day reservations from April 14 to April 15, 2020. Airbnb is one of the most common vacation rental online 
marketplaces, and it is anticipated that most short-term rentals in the SCRD will be listed here, with the 
exception of a few postings on Vacation Rentals by Owner (VRBO) and other less commonly accessed sites. Table 
25 provides a general idea of the total inventory of short-term rentals across the SCRD and the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on this market.

There was a total of 854 units (e.g. entire suite) or rooms (e.g. single room) in the Airbnb inventory for each 
of the municipalities and electoral areas in the SCRD, which roughly make up 6% of all dwellings across the 
Sunshine coast. Roberts Creek has the highest number of short-term rental units or rooms, which make up an 
estimated 16% of the total private housing stock in the electoral area. This is followed by West Howe Sound, 
which had 84 units or rooms in the short-term rental inventory, which make up 9% of its private housing stock, 
and by Pender Harbour / Egmont, which had 117 units or rooms, which make up 8% of its private housing 
stock. Halfmoon Bay had 72 units or rooms in the short-term rental inventory, which makes up 6% of its private 
housing stock. Gibsons, Sechelt, and Elphinstone each had a relatively low proportion of short-term rental units, 
which made up approximately 4% of private housing stock in each community. 

121



63

The number of bookable listings available for rental is much lower than the total inventory in each community, 
suggesting that either they were fully booked or the listings were taken temporarily offline due to the COVID-19 
pandemic and restrictions around non-essential travel. This shows the immediate impact of the pandemic on the 
short-term rental market. 

Table 25: Short-Term Rental Data, April 13, 2020

Bookable 
Listings  

on April 13, 
2020 (Units or 

Rooms)

Total Inventory 
(Units or 
Rooms)

Inventory as 
a Proportion 

of Private 
Dwellings

Average Daily 
Rent

Pender Harbour / Egmont 5 117 8%  $144 

Halfmoon Bay 10 72 6%  $202 

Roberts Creek 6 240 16%  $250 

Elphinstone 5 64 4%  $162 

West Howe Sound 4 84 9%  $222 

Gibsons 66 83 4%  $168 

Sechelt 36 194 4%  $219 

Total 132 854 6%  $195 

Source: Adapted from Airbnb, 2020

AirDNA provides data on the number of Airbnb listings over time in certain communities. For the Sunshine 
Coast, data is available for Sechelt, Gibsons, and Grantham’s Landing. Between 2017 and 2020, Sechelt and 
Gibsons saw noticeable increases in the number of Airbnb listings (+82% in Gibsons and +38% in Sechelt), while 
the number of listings in Grantham’s Landing remained stable. There is insufficient data to report on trends 
across the Coast as a whole, but this suggests that the demand for short-term rentals remains strong on the 
Coast and has withstood the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

122



64 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

3.3.5 Non-Market Housing
In 2019, there were 560 households in the electoral areas and municipalities that received some form of housing 
support, as shown in (Table 26). This data is provided by BC Housing and reflect only the units or programs with 
which BC Housing has a financial relationship. Most of the non-market housing supports are in the form of rent 
assistance. Most units serve seniors.  

Table 26: Non-market Housing Supports Subsidized for SCRD by BC Housing, 2019*

Form of Support

Service Group Emergency 
Shelter

Transitional 
and 

Supportive 
Living

Community 
Housing

Rent 
Assistance 
in Private 

Market

Total 
Units by 
Service 
Group 

Total Units by Form of 
Support 73** 123 129 235 560

Seniors 0 82 105 161 348

Families 0 0 24 74 98

Women and Children 0 7 0 0 7

Persons with Disabilities 0 34 0 0 34

Individuals Experiencing 
Homelessness 0 0 0 0 0**

Source: Adapted from BC Housing

*The data includes non-market housing units where BC Housing has a financial relationship. There are other non-market housing units in the 
community. 

**Service group data not provided by BC Housing, however, anecdotal information indicates these units include 40 units of supportive 
housing, as well as women’s emergency shelter units and rent supplements for individuals experiencing homelessness. 

In addition to the units recorded by BC Housing there are a number of projects proposed or underway that 
could provide more non-market housing supports on the Coast. These include: 

 � 20 units of seniors housing in Pender Harbour

 � 40 units of mixed income rental in Gibsons

 � 35 units of women’s third stage housing in Sechelt

 � 40 units of supportive housing in Gibsons for individuals experiencing homelessness

 � 54 units of primary rental housing in Gibsons 

 � 104 new units of affordable independent living units for seniors aged 55+ and people with disabilities in 
Sechelt 

According to the Co-operative Housing Federation of BC, there are no co-op housing units on the 
Sunshine Coast. 

123



65

3.4 Housing Indicators and Core Housing Need
Statistics Canada and CMHC have established national housing standards for affordability, adequacy, and 
suitability. Communities throughout Canada use these standards as indicators to identify issues and make 
improvements related to housing. A household meets the housing standards when the following conditions 
are met:  

1. Adequate housing does not require any major repairs.

2. Affordable housing has shelter costs equal or less than 30% of total before-tax household income.

3. Suitable housing has enough bedrooms for the size and composition of resident households according to 
National Occupancy Standard (NOS) requirements.  

Core housing need is a two-step indicator. A household is in core housing need when it does not meet one 
of the above indicators and could not afford alternative suitable and adequate housing in their community. 
Extreme core housing need is a subset of households in core housing need. This refers to those households in 
core housing need who are spending more than 50% of their total before-tax household income on housing. 

3.4.1 Housing Indicators
Affordability was the most common challenge across all electoral areas and municipalities between 2006 and 
2016. The proportion of households living in unaffordable housing (i.e., not meeting the affordability standard) 
rose between 2006 and 2011, then declined between 2011 and 2016. This data should be interpreted with 
caution as the 2011 National Household Survey was not mandatory, and the data is less reliable than the long-
form Census, which was used in other years.  

Figure 45 shows that 14% to 18% of owners across the Coast were living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 
Approximately 3% to 8% of owner households were living in inadequate housing at that time, and 3% or less 
living in housing without enough bedrooms (i.e., unsuitable). 

Figure 45: Housing Indicators of Owner Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, and SCRD Overall, 2016

15
1.4%

30
3.0%

10
0.9%

40
3.3%

15
2.0%

20
1.3%

50
1.4% 1.8%

50
4.5%

75
7.6%

60
5.7%

85
7.0%

50
6.7%

65
4.2%

120
3.4%

4.9%

175
15.8%

180
18.3%

180
17.1% 175

14.3%

135
18.0%

250
16.2%

580
16.4% 16.4%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon BayRoberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt SCRD

Below the suitability standard (not suitable)

Below the adequacy standard (major repairs needed)

Below the affordability standard (Spending 30% or more of income on shelter costs but less than 100%)

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

124



66 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 46 shows that renters faced higher rates of housing challenges. In 2016, 40% to 50% of renters across the 
Coast faced lived in unaffordable housing and 6% to 11% lived in inadequate housing. Approximately 5% to 12% 
were living in housing that did not have enough bedrooms for the household, suggesting that there may be a 
need for more large, affordable rental units with three or more bedrooms for families.  

Figure 46: Housing Indicators of Renter Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, and SCRD Overall, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016, 2011, 2006– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3.4.2 Core Housing Need and Extreme Core Housing Need
In 2016, there were 2,000 households in core housing need and 905 in extreme core housing need in the 
region. Figure 47 shows the number of owner households in core housing and extreme core housing need for 
each community as a proportion of the total number of households of that tenure. Pender Harbour / Egmont 
and Roberts Creek had the highest proportion of both core and extreme core housing need. Pender Harbour 
/ Egmont had 13.1% of households (145 households) in core housing need, with 5.4% (60 households) in 
extreme core housing need, while Roberts Creek had 11% (115 households) in core housing need, with 4.3% 
(45 households) in extreme core housing need.7 In absolute terms, the highest number of households in core 
and extreme core housing need lived in Sechelt (425 households), but due to Sechelt’s larger population, this 
comprises a lower proportion.  

10
5.3%

15
7.5%

20
6.3%

30
12.0%

15
10.0%

50
8.2% 50

4.8% 6.5%

20
10.5%

15
7.5%

35
11.1%

15
6.0%

0

40
6.6% 65

6.2%
6.9%

80
42.1%

100
50.0% 140

44.4%

125
50.0% 60

40.0%

290
47.5%

525
50.2% 47.8%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt SCRD

Below the suitability standard (not suitable)

Below the adequacy standard (major repairs needed)
Below the affordability standard (Spending 30% or more of income on shelter costs but less than 100%)

7. In Figures 47 and 48, the households in Extreme Core Housing Need are a sub-set of the 
households in Core Housing Need. For example, in Pender Harbour / Egmont, 145 owner 
households were in Core Housing Need. Of these 145, 60 were in Extreme Core Housing Need. 

125



67

Figure 47: Proportion of Core Housing Need Owner Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, Sechelt, and SCRD 
Overall, 2016

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016 – Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Figure 48 shows that much higher proportions of renter households are in core and extreme core housing need 
compared to owner households. Close to half of renter households in Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, 
Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, and Sechelt were in core housing need in 2016. While Pender Harbour / Egmont, 
Roberts Creek, and Sechelt had relatively high proportions of both owner and renter households in core housing 
need, Elphinstone had a relatively high proportion of renters in core housing need but not owners. There was a 
small number of renter households in total in Elphinstone in 2016 (255), of which nearly half (115) were in core 
housing need. This likely indicates a lack of appropriate rental options in that community. Of those households 
in core housing need, 75 were in extreme core housing need, representing 30.6% of all renter households. The 
highest absolute number of renter households in core housing need lived in Sechelt (500, 225 of which were in 
extreme core housing need).   

Figure 48: Proportion of Core Housing Need Renter Households in SCRD Electoral Areas, Gibsons, and Sechelt, 2016

145
13.1%

60
6.1%

115
11.0% 55

4.5%

50
6.7%

75
4.9%

315
8.9%

820
8.0%60

5.4% 30
3.0%

45
4.3% 15

1.2%
20

2.7%
35

2.3%
110
3.1%

325
3.2%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon Bay Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt SCRD

In core housing need In extreme core housing need

Source: Statistics Canada, Census 2016– Custom Information for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

100
51.3%

80
40.0%

140
44.4%

115
46.9%

50
32.3%

190
31.4%

500
47.8% 0

42.8%

45
23.1%

55
27.5%

50
15.9%

75
30.6%

25
16.1%

95
15.7%

225
21.5%

0
21.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Pender
Harbour /
Egmont

Halfmoon
Bay

Roberts
Creek

Elphinstone West Howe
Sound

Gibsons Sechelt SCRD

In core housing need In extreme core housing need

126



68 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

3.5 Homelessness
The most recent homelessness point-in-time count for the Sunshine Coast was conducted in 2018 by BC 
Housing. The communities included in the study were Gibsons and Sechelt. According to the survey, there 
were 57 individuals counted as experiencing homelessness in Gibsons and Sechelt. It is important to note 
that although point-in-time counts provide valuable data and can suggest trends, they are widely understood 
to underrepresent actual numbers of individuals experiencing homelessness, as they typically only capture 
individuals who available for interviews on the street or accessing supports during the day of the count. Point-
in-time counts do not fully capture hidden homelessness, which results in even larger undercounts in more rural 
areas, where hidden homelessness tends to be more common than visible homelessness. Finally, point-in-time 
counts do not fully measure housing vulnerability, as certain vulnerable groups such as youth, women, and 
Indigenous households, are generally undercounted.  

Community engagement indicates that residents believe there is a need for more supports and transitional living 
options for individuals experiencing homelessness. Stakeholders indicated that while it is challenging to assess 
homelessness due to shifting seasonal patterns and hidden forms of homelessness like couchsurfing and living 
in unsafe conditions, homelessness on the Coast has been increasing and becoming more visible in recent years.

As of 2020, there are 20 shelter beds in Sechelt. Stakeholders indicated this shelter is usually at capacity. There 
are another 8-10 shelter beds in Gibsons, which are available on a seasonal basis. Stakeholders indicated this 
shelter is also usually at capacity and suggested there is a need to maintain it on a year-round basis. 

3.6 Summary
It is important to note that the analysis summarized in this section of the report drew on data from the census 
as well as more recent data on the housing stock and markets on the Coast. While census data is only available 
from 2016, data from other sources is more recent. These are combined to provide a more fulsome picture of 
housing needs. 

Housing Stock
 � In 2016, there were high proportions of dwellings not occupied by their usual residents in West Howe 

Sound (49%), Pender Harbour / Egmont (41%), and Halfmoon Bay (29%). These housing units were either 
vacant or rented out on a temporary or short-term basis. 

 � The single-detached home is the dominant dwelling type on the Sunshine Coast, comprising the majority of 
homes in all electoral areas and the District of Sechelt. Gibsons has more diverse housing stock, with 55% 
single-detached and 45% other attached dwellings including semi-detached houses, row houses, single-
detached homes with secondary suites, apartments in a building that has fewer than five storeys and other 
single-attached houses. 

 � Based on 2016 data, there is a mix of housing unit sizes with two or more bedrooms on the Coast. There 
are few small units (i.e., one-bedrooms or studios), which could meet the needs of individuals living alone, 
or couples without children. In 2016, one-bedrooms and studios comprised 9% to 14% of housing stock 
on the Coast, while 66% to 87% of households were one or two people. These households may be living 
in larger units than they need as per NOS requirements. As the population continues to age, projections 
suggest there may be more households comprised of individuals living alone or couples without children. 
There may be a lack of options for older adults looking to downsize out of large single-detached homes.

127



69

Homeownership Market
 � In 2019, the average sales price for a single-detached home, the most common type of housing on the 

Coast, ranged between $696,449 in Sechelt and $1,021,148 in Roberts Creek. 

 � Prices have risen substantially in both the homeownership market over the past few years, especially since 
2014. Over the past 15 years, housing prices for detached dwellings have increased by 80% or more across 
the Coast. 

 � The single-detached home is unaffordable for median incomes of all household types in Sunshine Coast 
communities, despite this being the most common type of home. 

 � Homeownership is most unaffordable in the electoral areas, where high average sales prices and the 
dominance of the single-detached home cause considerable gaps between affordable monthly shelter costs 
and shelter payments for all household types. Townhomes and apartments in Gibsons and Sechelt are more 
affordable options. 

 � In all electoral areas, homeownership is likely out of reach for single income households like lone-parent 
families and non-census family households, who would need to spend more than 50% of their monthly 
income to be able to afford a single-detached home. Couples without children earning the median income 
likely also face significant affordability gaps, ranging from approximately $1,400 to $2,500 per month. The 
highest earning household types, couples with children and other census families, still face affordability 
gaps at the median incomes. 

 � Townhouses, at 2019 sales prices, were affordable for all households who typically have two or more 
incomes (i.e., couples with and without children and other census families) in Gibsons. In Sechelt, 
townhouses were less affordable, with median-earning couples with children and other census families 
close to the affordability threshold and couples without children facing larger affordability gaps.   

 � Apartments, at 2019 sales prices, were an affordable option for households who typically have two or 
more incomes, noting that couples with children and other census families would need a minimum of two 
bedrooms to meet their households’ needs. 

 � Homeownership is likely out of reach for single-income households like non-census families and lone 
parents. Lone-parent families would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to afford most 
housing types, except for apartments in Gibsons or Sechelt and townhouses in Gibsons, which would 
require 30% to 49% of their income. Across the region, non-census families have significantly lower 
incomes and would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to afford ownership of 
any housing type in any of the communities. 

Rental Market
 � The only primary rental market data for the Sunshine Coast is available for Sechelt for 2018 and 2019. In 

2018, there were 55 primary rental market units, mostly one and two bedrooms.

 � Most renters on the Coast are relying on the secondary market. The secondary rental market is less secure 
than the primary rental market. Average rents have risen noticeably since 2016 – generally, secondary rental 
market rents are largely driven by housing prices, which have risen substantially. 

 � Rental housing is unaffordable for all median-earning households in nearly all the electoral areas. Roberts 
Creek is relatively more affordable when looking at cost of rent and local income; some couples with 
children may be able to afford the average rental. Rental housing is generally more affordable in Gibsons 
and Sechelt, likely related to the availability of more diverse housing types (i.e., apartments, townhouses).

128



70 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

 � Couples without children face moderate affordability gaps for rental housing across the Coast. This group 
includes older couples whose children have left home. These couples may be living on a single income or, 
if retired, on fixed income from pension and investments. These households are close to the affordability 
threshold; however, they are also more likely to own a home and benefit from rising market prices when 
downsizing, offering more financial resources to put towards housing.

 � Single-income renter households, like lone-parent families and non-census families, likely face the 
greatest affordability challenges. Across the region, non-census families have significantly lower incomes 
and would need to spend 50% or more of their monthly income to be able to afford any rental housing 
in most Sunshine Coast communities. The limited stock of studio and one-bedroom housing units likely 
affects these households’ ability to find affordable rental housing. Lone-parent families have slightly higher 
incomes (and therefore face smaller gaps) and would need a minimum of two bedrooms to suitably house 
their children. There are more units of this size across the Coast, however, rents may be higher. 

 � Couples with children and other census families earning the median income for their household type 
would likely be able to afford to rent in Gibsons and Sechelt. These households require a minimum of two 
bedrooms to house their families.

Non-Market Housing
 � There were 560 units receiving non-market supports across the Sunshine Coast. Most of these units (348) 

were for seniors. There are many non-market housing projects currently underway, which will serve as an 
important source of affordable and supported housing for some vulnerable groups.  

Housing Indicators and Core Housing Need
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue across the Coast, with 14% to 

18% of owners and 40% to 50% of renters living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Affordability was also the 
most common challenge in 2006 and 2011. 

 � Renter households are far more likely to be in Core Housing Need, with approximately 1,175 renter 
households meeting this definition in 2016, compared to 860 owner households. These households are 
currently living in unacceptable conditions (i.e., overcrowded housing, housing in need of repairs) and 
cannot afford an acceptable alternative housing unit in their community based on median rents. 

Homelessness
 � There were 57 individuals counted as experiencing homelessness in Sechelt and Gibsons in 2018. Residents 

believe there is a need for more supports and transitional living options for individuals experiencing 
homelessness. Stakeholders indicated that while it is challenging to assess homelessness due to shifting 
seasonal patterns and hidden forms of homelessness like couchsurfing and living in unsafe conditions, 
homelessness on the Coast has been increasing and becoming more visible in recent years.

129



71

Community Growth4.0
This section presents demographic projections for the next five years as 
required for Housing Needs Reports. Projections for population, age, number 
of households, and anticipated housing units are presented for each electoral 
area, as well as the Town of Gibsons and District of Sechelt. 

While these projections offer a future scenario, it is important to remember 
that this is one glimpse at a potential future. In reality, community growth 
depends on many unpredictable factors, such as the economy, job 
opportunities, housing market, regional changes, location preferences, and 
planning and development decisions. Projections are limited by the fact that 
they are based on assumptions and historical growth patterns. Implicitly, they 
assume that conditions will generally remain the same or will keep changing 
in the same way things have changed in the past. 

While demand (i.e., interest in moving to, or staying on the Sunshine Coast) 
certainly will impact the formation of households and the development 
of housing in Sunshine Coast communities, the reverse can also be 
true. In an attractive and growing region like the Sunshine Coast, the 
provision of housing may also impact the formation of households and 
population growth.

Projections are based on the most recent full population count, which was 
completed for the 2016 Census. While the years 2017, 2018, and 2019 have 
already passed, population and demographic data for these years are still 
considered estimates, based on the 2016 full population count and adjusted 
by BC Statistics. The tables and graphs in this section present estimated 
changes seen between the latest Census count and today, as well as 
projections for future changes anticipated for the next five years. 

 In an attractive and 
growing region like the 
Sunshine Coast, the 
provision of housing 
may also impact the 
formation of households 
and population growth

130



72 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

4.1 Population, Age, and Household Projections
Methodology
Projections for the electoral areas are based on historical growth trends from previous Censuses unique to 
each area. Projections for Gibsons and Sechelt are based on BC Stats population projections developed for the 
Sunshine Coast, based on historical fertility, mortality, and migration and adjusted where possible for expected 
changes in the region. This distinction helps account for different rates of growth in the municipalities as 
compared to the electoral areas and avoids assuming that each electoral area will hold the same share of the 
regional population into the future. 

Household projections were developed using headship rates by age of primary household maintainer, household 
family type, and household tenure. These headship rates describe the proportion of individuals within a given 
age group who “head” a household of a given type (defined by a combination of maintainer age, household 
family type, and tenure). In general, for simplicity, and due to the relatively consistent headship rates observed 
over time, the headship rates are assumed to remain constant (by age group) over time. 

4.1.1 Electoral Areas
Over the next five years, the electoral areas on the Coast are expected to experience moderate and steady 
population growth, occurring at a slower pace compared to previous years (Figure 49).  

Figure 49: Historical and Projected Population, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2001-2025

 Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections 

2,374

2,624 2,647
2,670

2,353

2,726 2,756 2,786
3,090 3,421 3,443

3,4663,311

3,664 3,688 3,712

1,971 2,043 2,049 2,055

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

Pender Harbour / Egmont Halfmoon Bay Roberts Creek Elphinstone West Howe Sound

131



73

Table 27 shows the change projected between 2016 and 2025. Most areas are expected to see proportional 
increases of one or two percent. Growth projected for West Howe Sound is lower due to population fluctuations 
over the last four Census periods, which affect the overall historical growth trend and lower resulting projections. 

Table 27: Projected Population, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025

2016 2020 2025

Change 
from 

2016 to 
2020

Change 
from 

2020 to 
2025

Proportional 
change from 
2016 to 2025

Pender Harbour / 
Egmont 2,624 2,647 2,670 23 23 1.7%

Halfmoon Bay 2,726 2,756 2,786 30 30 2.2%

Roberts Creek 3,421 3,443 3,466 22 23 1.3%

Elphinstone 3,664 3,688 3,712 24 24 1.3%

West Howe Sound 2,043 2,049 2,055 6 6 0.6%

All SCRD Electoral Areas 14,478 14,583 14,689 105 106 1.5%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Consistent with national trends, the population of the SCRD electoral areas is projected to continue aging 
overall.

Between 2016 and 2025, it is projected that the electoral areas will see the greatest absolute increase in the 
number of people falling within older age groups. Figure 50 shows that a more moderate increase is projected 
for the number of people of common working age (i.e., 25 to 64 years old) in all communities except for West 
Howe Sound, where it is expected to remain similar. In most areas, population increase in those aged 65 to 84 
is projected to be double or more the increase projected for those of working age. Most drastically, in Roberts 
Creek, the increase in seniors is expected to be more than 3.5 times the increase seen in the number of people 
of working age. 

The following percentages are the proportion of the population comprised of seniors in each community in 2016 
and projected for 2025:

 � In Pender Harbour / Egmont, seniors 
represented 37% of the population in 2016. This 
is projected to increase to 38% by 2025. 

 � In Halfmoon Bay, seniors represented 27% of the 
population in 2016. This is projected to increase 
to 28% in 2025. 

 � In Roberts Creek, seniors represented 23% of the 
population in 2016. This is projected to increase 
to 25% by 2025. 

 � In Elphinstone, seniors represented 21% of the 
population in 2016. This is projected to increase 
to 22% in 2025. 

 � In West Howe Sound, seniors represented 27% 
of the population in 2016. This is projected to 
increase to 29% by 2025. 

132



74 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

All communities are projected to experience a net decrease in the number of children and youth up to 19 
years old. 

It is important to remember that these projections are based on past census trends, extended into the future. In 
reality, some electoral areas may experience more growth in children and younger adults. Anecdotal evidence 
suggests that, similar to the municipalities, Roberts Creek and Elphinstone have experienced an increase in the 
population of children, youth, and young adults in recent years, driven by an influx of young families leaving 
the Metro Vancouver area in search of more affordable housing. This trend appears to be most obvious in the 
communities south of Sechelt, located closer to BC Ferries connections to Metro Vancouver. Projections suggest 
this trend could continue and community engagement suggests it could intensify, as working from home has 
become more common as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is likely that some electoral areas, especially 
those that are closer to the municipalities and have higher proportions of permanently occupied dwellings (i.e., 
Elphinstone and Roberts Creek), will receive some of these movers.  

Figure 50: Change in Projected Population Growth by Age, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

-19

-9

2

6

15

46

7

-16

1

8

10

23

32

3

-30

-3

4

5

11

56

2

-23

-7

2

8

17

44

6

-19

-5

3

-1

-1

29

5

-60 -40 -20 0 20 40 60

0 to 14 years

15 to 19 years

20 to 24 years

25 to 44 years

45 to 64 years

65 to 84 years

85 years and over

West Howe Sound Elphinstone Roberts Creek Halfmoon Bay Pender Harbour / Egmont

133



75

Table 28 shows the median age projected for 2020 and 2025. The large increase in seniors is projected to drive 
up the median age in all communities, with the largest increase projected for Roberts Creek.  

Table 28: Historical and Projected Median Age, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025

2016 2020 2025

Pender Harbour / Egmont 60.4 60.7 60.9

Halfmoon Bay 54.9 55.1 55.3

Roberts Creek 50.9 51.4 51.8

Elphinstone 50.5 50.8 51.0

West Howe Sound 54.6 55.0 55.3

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Household projections suggest that each area can expect to experience moderate and steady growth in the 
number of households (Table 29). Projected household growth is relatively higher compared to projected 
population growth, which suggests that new households may be smaller. This can be reflective of an aging 
population, where more individuals are living alone or as couples without children. 

Projected household growth for 2016 to 2020 is much lower than the number of residential building permits 
issued over the same period. Between 2016 and the end of 2019, there were 560 building permits issued, while 
projections suggest 81 households were formed. This could indicate that population growth and household 
formation is happening at a more rapid pace than projected based on historical trends, and / or that the Coast 
remains a popular destination for residents of surrounding regions looking for seasonal homes.  

Table 29: Projected Households, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025

 2016 2020 2025
Change 

from 2016 
to 2020

Change 
from 2020 

to 2025

Proportional 
change from 
2016 to 2025

Pender Harbour / 
Egmont 1,381 1,402 1,423 21 21 3.0%

Halfmoon Bay 1,247 1,264 1,281 17 17 2.7%

Roberts Creek 1,508 1,525 1,542 17 17 2.3%

Elphinstone 1,549 1,566 1,583 17 17 2.2%

West Howe 
Sound 942 951 959 9 8 1.8%

All SCRD 
Electoral Areas 6,627 6,708 6,788 81 80 2.4%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

134



76 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Consistent with Table 29, average household sizes are projected to decrease over the next five years.  

Table 30: Projected Average Household Sizes, SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025 

2016 2020 2025

Pender Harbour / Egmont 1.90 1.89 1.88

Halfmoon Bay 2.19 2.18 2.17

Roberts Creek 2.27 2.26 2.25

Elphinstone 2.37 2.36 2.34

West Howe Sound 2.17 2.15 2.14

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

4.1.2 Gibsons and Sechelt
Over the next five years, Gibsons and Sechelt are expected to continue growing (Figure 51). While the rate 
of population growth in Gibsons declined between 2001 and 2016, the Town is projected to experience an 
increasing rate of growth over the coming years. Sechelt is projected to grow at a more moderate pace than was 
experienced in previous years.  

Figure 51: Historical and Projected Population, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2001-2025

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

3,906
4,605 5,099

7,775

10,216
10,934

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

2001 2006 2011 2016 2020 2025

Gibsons Sechelt

135



77

Table 31 shows the change projected between 2016 and 2025. Both Gibsons and Sechelt are projected to 
experience noticeable increases in their populations, with Gibsons receiving 254 new residents and Sechelt 
receiving 340 new residents over the next five years.  

Table 31: Projected Population, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2016-2025

 2016 2020 2025
Change from 

2016 to 
2020

Change from 
2020 to 

2025

Proportional 
change from 

2016 to 
2025

Gibsons 4,605 4,845 5,099 240 254 10.7%

Sechelt 10,210 10,594 10,934 384 340 7.1%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Consistent with national trends including those projected for the SCRD electoral areas, the populations of 
Gibsons and Sechelt are expected to continue aging in the coming years. 

Between 2016 and 2025, it is projected that Sechelt will experience a large increase in seniors (Figure 52). Over 
the same period, the District is projected to experience a large decrease in the number of people of aged 45 
to 64, as the current population ages into senior age groups. The number of seniors is projected to increase 
by 1,138 over this period, as the number of working age people sees a net decreases by 412. While seniors 
comprised 34% of Sechelt’s population in 2016, they could comprise 42% by 2025. However, Figure 52 also 
shows a moderate increase projected for adults aged 25 to 44 and for children. 

Projections for Gibsons show a similar pattern. A large increase is projected for seniors, including a larger 
increase in the number of people aged 85 years or older as compared to Sechelt and the electoral areas (Figure 
52). Gibsons is projected to see an increase of 775 seniors and a net decrease of 284 in the number of people of 
common working age over this time. While seniors comprised 31% of Gibsons’ population in 2016, they could 
comprise 43% by 2025. However, there is a moderate increase projected in the number of people aged 25 to 44 
and the number of young children.   

Anecdotal evidence suggests that Sechelt and Gibsons have experienced an increase in the population of 
children, youth, and young adults in recent years, driven by an influx of young families leaving the Metro 
Vancouver area in search of more affordable housing. This trend appears to be most obvious in the communities 
south of Sechelt, located closer to BC Ferries connections to Metro Vancouver (i.e., Sechelt, Roberts Creek, 
Elphinstone, and Gibsons).  Projections suggest this trend could continue and community engagement suggests 
it could intensify, as working from home has become more common as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

136



78 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Figure 52: Change in Projected Population Growth by Age, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2016-2025

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Table 32 shows the median age projected for 2020 and 2025. The large increase in seniors is projected to drive 
up the median age in both communities, with a slightly larger increase in Gibsons. By 2025, both Gibsons and 
Sechelt could have median ages of approximately 60 years old. 

Table 32: Historical and Projected Median Age, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2016-2025

2016 2020 2025

Gibsons 54.7 56.9 59.6

Sechelt 56.4 58.2 60.0

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Household projections suggest that Gibsons can expect to experience a larger increase in the number of new 
households formed between 2020 and 2025 than is projected to have occurred between 2016 and 2020 (Table 
33). Over the next five years, Gibsons may see 197 new households formed. Between 2016 and 2020, there were 
198 residential building permits issued, suggesting that Gibsons is keeping pace with household formation. 
There was not a large excess of building permits issued over this time, indicating that Gibsons may be a less 
popular destination compared to other communities on the Coast for people looking to build seasonal vacation 
homes.  

For Sechelt, household projections suggest that the District may see 223 new households formed over the 
next five years, a slightly lower number than is projected to have occurred between 2016 and 2020. Between 
2016 and 2020, there were 348 residential building permits issued, a higher number than the number of new 
households projected to have formed. This could be reflective of the District’s popularity as a destination for 
people looking to build seasonal vacation homes.

9

-28

-1

67

-351

691

84

36

-38

0

174

-586

1,020

118

-1,200 -1,000 -800 -600 -400 -200 0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200

0 to 14 years

15 to 19 years

20 to 24 years

25 to 44 years

45 to 64 years

65 to 84 years

85 years and over

Sechelt Gibsons

137



79

In both communities, projected household growth is relatively higher compared to projected population growth, 
which suggests that new households may be smaller. This can be reflective of an aging population, where more 
individuals are living alone or as couples without children.  

Table 33: Projected Households, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2016-2025

 2016 2020 2025
Change 

from 2016 
to 2020

Change 
from 2020 

to 2025

Proportional 
change from 
2016 to 2025

Gibsons 2,205 2,383 2,580 178 197 17.0%

Sechelt 4,870 5,134 5,357 264 223 10.0%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Non-census family households and couples without children are projected to see the largest increase in numbers 
among household types in both Gibsons and Sechelt (Table 34). This is likely related to the aging population 
trend, which is typically accompanied by an increase in households comprised of individuals living alone and 
couples without children, as adult children age and move out. 

In Gibsons, non-census family households are projected to comprise 63% of household growth between 2016 
and 2020 and 73% between 2020 and 2025, which indicates that it may be a popular location for individuals 
looking for housing on the Coast.    

Table 34: Projected Change in Population by Household Type, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2020-2025

 
Gibsons Sechelt

2016 to 2020 2020 to 2025 2016 to 2020 2020 to 2025

Couple without Children 59 49 123 99

Couple with Children 3 2 4 5

Lone-Parent -1 2 8 10

Other-Census Family 4 0 6 -3

Non-Census Family 113 144 123 112

Total 178 197 264 223

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Average household sizes are projected to decrease over the next five years, which is consistent with an aging 
population and growth in one or two person households (Table 35).  

138



80 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Table 35: Projected Average Household Sizes, Gibsons and Sechelt, 2016-2025

2016 2020 2025

Gibsons 2.09 2.03 1.97

Sechelt 2.09 2.06 2.04

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

4.2 Required Housing Unit Projections
Methodology
To estimate how many units may be needed over the next five years to accommodate population growth in the 
electoral areas, assumptions were made about how many bedrooms different households would need, based on 
the age of their primary maintainer and NOS requirements (Table 36).1 For example, it is assumed that 25% of 
households led by someone aged 25 to 64 would require 1-bedroom units, 50% would require 2-bedroom units, 
and 25% would require units with three or more bedrooms. 

Table 36: Assumed Unit Distribution for Electoral Areas

Age of Primary Maintainer Studio or 1 Bedroom 2 Bedrooms 3+ Bedrooms

15 to 24 years 75% 25% 0%

25 to 64 years 25% 50% 25%

65 to 84 years 70% 20% 10%

85 years and older 100% 0% 0%

To estimate the number of units needed in Gibsons and Sechelt, assumptions were made about how many 
bedrooms different households would need, based on household type and NOS requirements (Table 37).9  

1. These distributions assume a “best case scenario” where households can afford to and 
choose to live in units with enough bedrooms to match their households’ needs according 
to NOS. Household needs are inferred based on the age or primary maintainer for the 
electoral areas and based on household type for the municipalities. Recognizing the rural 
lifestyle and space that some people look for on the Coast, some households may want to 
live in a larger unit that exceeds these minimum standards. Other households may not be 
able to afford the cost of a unit with the minimum number of bedrooms required to meet 
their households’ needs. 

2. Please see previous footnote.

139



81

Table 37: Assumed Distribution of Unit Types for Gibsons and Sechelt

 Household Type Studio or 1 
Bedroom 2 Bedrooms 3+ Bedrooms

Couple without Children 50% 50% 0%

Families with Children and Other Families 0% 33% 67%

Non-Family 60% 30% 10%

 
The appropriate distribution is applied to the projected growth in households for the next five years to estimate 
the number of new units of each size that may be required over the next five years in each community.

4.2.1 Electoral Areas 
As described above, the number of housing units of each size required in the electoral areas were projected 
based on the assumed unit needs of households led by primary maintainers of different ages (Table 36). 

Table 38 shows the number of new units projected to meet the needs of new households between 2016 and 
2020, as well as into the future (i.e., 2020 to 2025).  

Table 38: Anticipated Units for SCRD Electoral Areas, 2016-2025

2016-2020 2020-2025

Number of Bedrooms Number of Bedrooms

0 1 2 3+ Total 0 1 2 3+ Total

Pender Harbour / 
Egmont 8 2 7 4 21 2 8 7 4 21

Halfmoon Bay 6 2 6 3 17 2 6 6 3 17

Roberts Creek 6 2 6 3 17 2 6 6 3 17

Elphinstone 6 2 6 3 17 2 6 6 3 17

West Howe Sound 3 1 3 2 9 1 3 3 1 8

Totals 29 9 28 15 81 9 29 28 14 80

% 36% 11% 35% 19% 100% 11% 36% 35% 18% 100%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

140



82 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

In Pender Harbour / Egmont, a mix of unit sizes are projected to meet the needs of new households formed 
between 2016 and 2020 and new households that are projected to form between 2020 and 2025. Over the next 
five years, 71% of new housing units needed are projected to be one and two-bedroom units. 

Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, and Elphinstone have the same projected unit needs because they have the same 
number of projected new households and the same assumed distribution based on primary maintainer age 
has been applied. While Halfmoon Bay has a smaller population, they are projected to experience a slightly 
faster rate of growth compared to Roberts Creek and Elphinstone. In these communities, a mix of unit sizes 
are projected to meet the needs of new households formed between 2016 and 2020 and new households that 
are projected to form between 2020 and 2025. Over the next five years, 70% of new housing units needed are 
projected to be one and two-bedroom units. 

In West Howe Sound, a mix of unit sizes are projected to meet the needs of new households formed between 
2016 and 2020 and new households that are projected to form between 2020 and 2025. Over the next five years, 
72% of new housing units needed are projected to be one and two-bedroom units. 

Comparisons to data for building permits issued between 2016 and the end of 2019 shows that the number of 
homes being constructed in the electoral areas far exceeds the number of new housing units that were projected 
to be needed. There were 558 permits issued over this time, compared to 81 new units needed. These could be 
dwellings that are not occupied on a permanent basis (i.e., secondary homes) and/or could also indicate that 
more people are moving to the Coast than have in the past. Recent influxes of residents moving from elsewhere 
to the Coast may not be fully accounted for in historical trends on which the projections are based.  

4.2.2 Gibsons and Sechelt 
As described above, the number of housing units of each size required in Gibsons and Sechelt were projected 
based on the assumed unit needs of different household types (Table 37). 

In Gibsons, 91% of new units needed over the next five years are projected to be smaller units like studios, one-, 
and two-bedrooms (Table 39). Most unit requirements are likely to be driven by the number of new non-census 
family households, which are projected to comprise most new households formed in Gibsons in the next five 
years. Between 2016 and 2020, a similar unit mix was projected to meet the needs of new households in the 
Town. Comparisons to building permit data indicates that there may also be latent demand for smaller units. 
83% of building permits issued between 2016 and the end of 2019 were for single-family homes, while 91% of 
units required for new households over this time were projected to be studios, one-, and two-bedrooms. 

141



83

Table 39: Anticipated Units for Gibsons, 2016-2025

Household 
Type

2016-2020 2020-2025

Number of Bedrooms Number of Bedrooms

0 1 2 3+ Total 0 1 2 3+ Total

Couples 
without 
Children

30 15 15 0 59 25 12 12 0 49

Families with 
Children and 
Other Families

0 0 2 4 6 0 0 1 3 4

Non-Census 
Families 34 34 34 11 113 43 43 43 14 144

Total 63 49 51 15 178 68 55 57 17 197

% by bedrooms 36% 27% 28% 9% 100% 34% 28% 29% 9% 100%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

Similar needs are projected for Sechelt, with 91% of new units needed over the next five years projected to be 
smaller units like studios, one-, and two-bedrooms (Table 40). Most unit requirements are likely to be driven 
by the number of new households comprised of non-census families and couples without children. These 
households which may have similar unit size requirements.  

Table 40: Anticipated Units for Sechelt, 2016-2025

Household 
Type

2016-2020 2020-2025

Number of Bedrooms Number of Bedrooms

0 1 3 3+ Total 0 1 2 3+ Total

Couples 
without 
Children

62 31 31 0 123 50 25 25 0 99

Families with 
Children and 
Other Families

0 0 6 12 18 0 0 4 8 12

Non-Census 
Families 37 37 37 12 123 34 34 34 11 112

Total 98 68 74 24 264 83 58 62 19 223

% by bedrooms 37% 26% 28% 9% 100% 37% 26% 28% 9% 100%

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and BC Stats Custom Projections

142



84 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

4.3 Summary
 � If past trends continue, SCRD electoral areas are projected to experience 

continued moderate population growth. Most growth is projected in the 
people falling within senior age groups, while the growth in the number of 
working age people is expected to be much less. 

 � Over the next five years, all electoral areas can expect to see an aging 
population, with more people living alone or as couples without children. 
The growth in households projected is lower compared to the growth 
projected for population, suggesting that household sizes may get smaller. 

 � In 2025, Pender Harbour / Egmont is projected to have a population of 
approximately 2,670. It is projected to experience slightly faster population 
growth compared to other electoral areas, with most growth occurring in 
those aged 65 and older. Pender Harbour / Egmont has the highest median 
age of all electoral areas and it is projected to remain the highest, although 
it may increase less quickly than other areas. Pender Harbour / Egmont 
is also projected to experience the highest proportional increase in the 
number of households, suggesting the trend of decreasing household sizes 
comprised of seniors living alone or as couples may be more pronounced in 
the community than in others. 

 � Halfmoon Bay experienced more steady population growth compared 
to other SCRD electoral areas between 2001 and 2016, a trend that is 
projected to continue to 2025 when the population is projected to be 
approximately 2,786. This area is projected to see the highest rate of 
population growth of all SCRD electoral areas. Unlike other areas, Halfmoon 
Bay is projected to see a similar increase in the number of working age 
people as compared to seniors. However, it is important to note that the 
working age group encompasses a larger range of ages compared to other 
age groups. Halfmoon Bay is still projected to see an overall increase in 
median age as well as a decrease in average household size, as there may 
be more households comprised of couples without children or individuals 
living alone. 

 � In Roberts Creek, the population is projected to reach approximately 3,466 
by 2025, a moderate rate of growth. Roberts Creek is projected to see the 
largest absolute increase in the number of seniors and largest absolute 
decrease in the number of children of all electoral areas, causing the median 
age to increase more rapidly, reaching 51.8 in 2025. Although the rate of 
increase is projected to be high, the median age would remain one of the 
lowest among SCRD electoral areas. As most population growth is projected 
for seniors, average household sizes are projected to decrease as there may 
be more households comprised of couples without children or individuals 
living alone.

 � Elphinstone is projected to remain the largest population of all SCRD 
electoral areas in 2025, with a projected population of 3,712. Population 
growth is projected to occur at a moderate rate, with most growth seen in 
the number of seniors, as well as more growth in the number of working 
age people compared to other areas. Elphinstone had the lowest median 
age of all SCRD electoral areas in 2016. This is projected to increase but 
remain the lowest at 51.0 in 2025.  

Over the next five 
years, all electoral 
areas can expect 
to see an aging 
population, with 
more people living 
alone or as couples 
without children. 

143



85

Similar to other Sunshine Coast communities, average household 
sizes are projected to decrease as the population ages and there are 
more households comprised of couples without children or individuals 
living alone. 

 � In 2025, West Howe Sound is projected to have a population of 2,055, a 
slight increase from 2016. Past populations have fluctuated in West Howe 
Sound, which has driven down the rate of growth projected for the area. 
Similar to other Sunshine Coast communities, most population growth is 
projected to occur in those aged 65 and older, with a slight decrease in the 
number of working age residents. This is a similar trend as seen in Gibsons 
and Sechelt. Similar to other Sunshine Coast communities, the median age 
is projected to increase, while average household sizes are projected to 
decrease as more households are comprised of couples without children or 
individuals living alone.

 � Population growth in Gibsons occurred at a declining rate between 2001 
and 2016. The Town is projected to grow at a faster rate in coming years, 
reaching a population of approximately 5,099 in 2025. Most growth is 
projected in the people falling within senior age groups, while the number 
of working age people may decrease. Gibsons is projected to experience the 
largest increase in the number of people aged 85 and older of the Sunshine 
Coast communities. 

 � Household formation in Gibsons is projected to occur at a faster rate 
compared to population growth, as the population ages and more new 
households are comprised of individuals living alone or couples without 
children. This is projected to drive the average household size down. The 
most common new household type is projected to be non-census families, 
which are primarily comprised of individuals living alone. 

 � In Sechelt, population growth is projected to occur at a slower pace than 
was experienced between 2001 and 2016, resulting in a population of 
approximately 10,934 by 2025. Most of this growth is projected in the 
people falling within senior age groups, while the number of working age 
people may decrease.

 � Similar to all other Sunshine Coast communities, household formation 
in Sechelt is projected to occur at a faster rate compared to population 
growth, which is typically indicative of an aging population. Sechelt is 
projected to see most of its new households comprised of couples without 
children and non-census families, which are primarily individuals living 
alone. This results in a decreasing projected average household size. 

 � Projections suggest that the electoral areas will need a mix of unit sizes 
to meet the needs of new households formed between 2016 and 2020 
and that are likely to form between 2020 and 2025. Over the next five 
years, projections suggest the highest need will be for one- and two-
bedroom units.

 � Projections suggest that 91% of new units needed in Gibsons and Sechelt 
will be smaller units, ranging from studios to two-bedrooms.

Similar to all other 
Sunshine Coast 
communities, 
household formation 
in Sechelt is projected 
to occur at a faster 
rate compared to 
population growth, 
which is typically 
indicative of an aging 
population. 

144



86 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Community Engagement Findings5.0
Community engagement was conducted between April and July 2020, to 
gather qualitative data on housing needs, challenges, and opportunities from 
the perspectives of Sunshine Coast residents and stakeholders. Residents 
were engaged through a community survey, which was administered 
online and in paper copy distributed by the Sunshine Coast Community 
Services Society. Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with 
special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through focus groups 
and stakeholder interviews. Findings from community engagement helped 
confirm and build upon quantitative findings, to generate a more fulsome 
and accurate picture of housing needs across the Coast. 

Residents and stakeholders were asked about housing challenges and needs. 
They were also asked about barriers and opportunities for addressing these. 
While a complete summary of engagement is provided in Appendix C, key 
themes identified across the engagement program are described in the 
following sub-sections. 

5.1 Challenges and Needs
Need for options across the entire housing wheelhouse

 � Stakeholders are struggling to provide low-income and affordable 
housing options on the Coast

 � Lack of affordable rental units

 � Homelessness is increasing across the Coast; stakeholders suggested 
that low-income households on the Coast are vulnerable to 
homelessness due to a lack of supports and affordable housing options

 − Lack of shelter and supports for individuals experiencing housing 
and homelessness, especially in Pender Harbour and Gibsons

 − Stakeholders discussed the need for a permanent shelter in Gibsons

Residents were 
engaged through 
a community 
survey, which was 
administered online 
and in paper copy 
distributed by the 
Sunshine Coast 
Community Services 
Society. 

145



87

 � Lack of housing options and supports for people 
struggling with addictions and other mental 
health challenges

 � Individuals with physical activity limitations and 
mental health challenges are not having their 
needs met; there is a lack of accessible and 
supported housing options

 � Existing second stage and transitional housing 
options are full, several stakeholders reported 
that shelters and supports have lengthy waitlists

 � Lack of foster homes 

 � Stakeholders suggested that the lack of housing 
options is putting pressure on the hospital to 
provide services and shelter, when other levels 
of care and housing are actually needed

 � Stakeholders also discussed the need for 
housing that is subsidized but not supportive

Need for housing supports for seniors
 � Residents and stakeholders alike recognized 

that the population is aging and that as this 
continues, the types of services needed on the 
Coast will also change

 � Lack of complex care for seniors, assisted living 
facilities

 � Medical services can be difficult to access 
for seniors living further away from the 
municipalities

 � Lack of hospice options

 � Lack of housing that is affordable, accessible, 
and appropriate for seniors 

Challenging for youth and young families to 
stay on the Coast

 � While there is evidence of an influx of younger 
adults and families (i.e., aged 25 to 44) to the 
Coast from Metro Vancouver because it is 
more affordable in comparison, stakeholders 
indicated there is a lack of affordable rental and 
homeownership options for local families

 � Many young adults cannot afford to enter the 
ownership market and feel there are few entry-
level options for them on the Coast

 � Limited childcare and work opportunities are 
related challenges

Lack of workforce housing 
 � Stakeholders reported there is a lack of housing 

for all workers across the Coast and this is 
impacting employers’ abilities to hire qualified 
staff and provide services

 � Stakeholders suggested this is a challenge for 
many different workers, ranging from minimum 
wage to mid-career professionals 

Non-Resident Owners
 � Residents feel there are a lot of off-Coast owners 

and that many homes sit empty

Housing Types

 � Residents and stakeholders recognized there 
is a short supply of smaller units like studios 
and one-bedrooms, while there are many one-
person households

146



88 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

5.2 Barriers
Building affordable housing is a barrier

 � Navigating BC Housing and funding 
opportunities is challenging for volunteer 
organizations

 � Residents and stakeholders feel that some 
local government policies are outdated and 
create barriers to building affordable housing 
(for example, the type of housing allowed on 
different-sized lots)

 � There is a lack of federal funding 

 � Accessing land to build affordable housing is 
challenging

 � Developers are reluctant to take a risk on 
building affordable housing 

Lack of data
 � Stakeholders indicated there is a lack of data 

on households who are most vulnerable and 
at-risk of homelessness, as well as data on 
homelessness across the Coast

 � Stakeholder discussed the challenge of 
collecting data on hidden homelessness

Lack of community support
 � Lack of community support has been a barrier 

to previous projects due to stigma around those 
who need support 

 � Need for education and discussion to work 
through some perceptions of homelessness  

5.3 Opportunities
Increase housing diversity 

 � Stakeholders discussed increasing housing 
diversity as an opportunity to improve 
affordability for households by creating more 
entry-level options

 � Stakeholders suggested they would like to see 
more higher density housing development while 
still respecting the character of the Coast, such 
as the townhomes developed by Habitat for 
Humanity

 � Stakeholders suggested they would be 
interested in seeing innovative solutions and 
alternate forms of housing, like tiny or container 
homes and co-op housing 

Collaboration 
 � Stakeholders discussed the importance of 

collaboration and suggested that all three 
governments continue to work together to 
discuss affordable housing opportunities 

 � Stakeholders suggested there are opportunities 
to support employers building workforce 
housing 

 − For example, for RCMP officers or for the 
new science and research centre 

 � Engage with past and prospective partners like 
the Co-operative Housing Federation, CMHC, 
and BC Housing, and Habitat for Humanity 

Education
 � Community support was identified as a barrier 

– stakeholders suggested that education and 
awareness building around the need for housing 
diversity and about individuals who need 
support could help address this 

147



89

COVID-19 Implications6.0
COVID-19 is a coronavirus that was newly discovered in late 2019. It is an infectious disease that causes 
respiratory illness, with most people experiencing mild to moderate symptoms and recovering without special 
treatment. For some people, such as seniors or those with compromised immune systems, symptoms can 
be more severe and result in hospitalization or death. COVID-19 is primarily spread through droplets from 
coughing, sneezing, and/or exhaling and can be easily transmitted between people in close proximity.10

Due to the need to reduce close proximity and the spread of the virus, governments all over the world closed 
borders, mandated businesses to close, and instructed their populations to stay at home for non-essential 
purposes. This caused international economic repercussions, with economies all over the world in various states 
of recession or depression. 

In Canada, economic impacts have been most felt in industries such as tourism, accommodation, food services, 
recreation, transportation, and retail. Employees of these industries commonly have lower median incomes, 
and many are likely to be renter households, due to the high cost of homeownership and criteria for mortgage 
qualifications. 

There are a few specific demographic groups that may be disproportionately affected: 

 � Students approaching graduation and recent graduates seeking part-time or full-time work may experience 
delays finding work11 

 � People employed in service industries may be coping with reduced hours or patronage associated with 
reduced capacities, closure, and lengthier sanitation procedures12

 � Those nearing retirement may be pushed into retiring earlier than planned, or may need to stay at current 
jobs longer after seeing their savings impacted13 

10. From the World Health Organization, available at https://www.who.int/emergencies/
diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019

11. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/covid-19-young-canadians-parents-
homes-1.5590956

12. https://bc.ctvnews.ca/these-groups-were-the-hardest-hit-by-the-coronavirus-pandemic-b-
c-s-finance-minister-says-1.4988852

13. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/investing/globe-advisor/advisor-news/article-canadians-
being-forced-to-retire-early-face-challenging-ramifications/

148

https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/covid-19-young-canadians-parents-homes-1.5590956
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/covid-19-young-canadians-parents-homes-1.5590956
https://bc.ctvnews.ca/these-groups-were-the-hardest-hit-by-the-coronavirus-pandemic-b-c-s-finance-minister-says-1.4988852
https://bc.ctvnews.ca/these-groups-were-the-hardest-hit-by-the-coronavirus-pandemic-b-c-s-finance-minister-says-1.4988852
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/investing/globe-advisor/advisor-news/article-canadians-being-forced-to-retire-early-face-challenging-ramifications/
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/investing/globe-advisor/advisor-news/article-canadians-being-forced-to-retire-early-face-challenging-ramifications/


90 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Effects of the pandemic on employment, income, and savings are already significant and are expected to 
persist for months to years. In response to widespread unemployment, the federal and provincial governments 
implemented temporary relief measures such as the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB), which 
provided Canadians with $500 per week for up to 28 weeks of temporary income support between March 
and October 2020.14 In addition, a number of programs have been put in place for students, Indigenous 
communities, low to moderate income households, and seniors to support them through this crisis.

6.1 Housing Impacts on the Coast 
Households across Canada are experiencing unexpected housing pressures due to loss of income. In response, in 
BC, various agencies put measures in place to provide financial relief and housing security for households, such 
as deferring payments for mortgages and utilities, banning evictions, freezing rental rates, and offering rental 
supplements for workers with reduced incomes.15   

While many of these measures provide immediate and necessary assistance to households, they may not 
address the long-term effects of high unemployment, lower incomes, reduced savings, and reduced immigration 
on housing demand and stability. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted.  

Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable population. Groups such as 
seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with physical activity limitation 
and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income households, and others may 
experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. Many service providers and 
shelters, which were already stretched on the Coast, saw reduced capacities, reduced staff, and reduced ability 
to provide services during the initial response to COVID-19 as a result of physical distancing requirements. 
While some vulnerable households may have experienced more housing stability with the temporary ban on 
evictions, rental rate freezes, and CERB and rental assistance payments (which were higher than social assistance 
payments), these measures are temporary, with some having ended already and others ending soon. 

Some of the most catastrophic outbreaks of COVID-19 in BC occurred in assisted living facilities for seniors. 
Long-term effects on assisted living arrangements and demand remains to be seen; there could be increased 
demand for housing and related service that allow seniors to age in place. 

Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home. 

Stakeholders also suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast, 
with peak numbers of workers accessing employment insurance and working with to return to the workforce. 

14. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/ei/cerb-application.html

15. For more information, see CMHC, Big Six Banks, BC Hydro, Province of BC, and BC Housing

149

https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/ei/cerb-application.html


91

Summary and Next Steps7.0
Over the last fifteen years and particularly since 2014, the Sunshine Coast has 
experienced increases in the cost of housing, as the escalation of housing and 
land costs in Metro Vancouver increasingly impacts the region. Across the 
Coast, many median-earning households are priced out of homeownership 
and many renter households struggle to find affordable and available long-
term rentals. Homelessness appears to be on the increase, with the Gibsons 
and Sechelt shelters at capacity and waitlists for supportive housing that 
stretch longer than the current spaces provided. 

Community Growth and Demographics 
The Sunshine Coast is growing. The regional population grew by 8% between 
2006 and 2016, with most growth concentrated in Gibsons and Sechelt, 
followed by nearby electoral areas (Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, and Halfmoon 
Bay). At the same time, the population is aging and smaller households are 
becoming more common, as children move out and seniors are living with 
their partner or on their own. In 2016, all communities had a median age 
higher than 50 years, indicating that at least half the population was over 50 
years old, with the median ages projected to continue rising over the near-
term. This is consistent with trends experienced across the country, although 
the median age in all electoral areas and municipalities was already much 
higher compared to the provincial average in 2016 (43.0). 

At the same time, projections show a moderate increase in the number of 
adults aged 25 to 44 and children aged 0 to 14. Anecdotal evidence suggests 
the Coast is experiencing increasing migration of young families from Metro 
Vancouver and other areas of the province due to the relative affordability of 
the Coast compared to Metro Vancouver. 

Across the Coast, there were higher proportions of people who reported 
working from home in 2016 (13% - 22%) compared to the provincial average 
(9%). With requirements for physical distancing and the transition to working 
from home for most office workers as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
community engagement indicates working from home on the Coast has 
become even more common and could affect demand for housing as more 
adults are able to work remotely and look for more affordable places to raise 
their families. 

It is widely 
acknowledged that 
diverse housing options 
are necessary to address 
the specific needs of 
different groups of 
residents.

150



92 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Housing Stock 
The single-detached home is the most common type of housing across 
the Coast and is unaffordable for median earning households in almost all 
communities. There is a limited supply of smaller, affordable units such as 
apartments or townhouses. In 2016, one-bedrooms and studios comprised 
9% to 14% of housing stock on the Coast, while 66% to 87% of households 
were one or two people. These households may be living in larger units than 
they need as per NOS requirements. Studio and one-bedroom units can be 
an important supply of affordable housing for seniors looking to downsize 
and work force housing. Looking ahead, projections indicate that more than 
half the future population could be suitably accommodated in studio or one-
bedroom units.  

Based on past trends, projections suggest approximately 523 new households 
may have formed between 2016 and 2020, while there were 1,135 building 
permits issued over this timeframe. Most building permits were for single-
family dwellings. The large number of building permits compared to 
households could indicate the construction of dwellings that are not occupied 
on a permanent basis (i.e., secondary homes) and/or that more people are 
moving to the Coast than have in the past. Recent influxes of residents 
moving from elsewhere to the Coast may not be fully accounted for in 
historical trends on which the projections are based.  

Affordability   
Like most communities across the province, the growth in household incomes 
has been increasingly outstripped by the increase in housing prices. Data 
from the Greater Vancouver Real Estate Board indicates that the Coast 
has seen a rapid increase in prices since 2014, a trend seen in many BC 
communities. If household incomes continued to grow at the same pace as 
they grew between the 2006 and 2016 censuses, between 2016 and 2019 they 
increased by approximately 11%. Over this same period, the average sales 
price for a detached dwelling increased by approximately 53%. Estimates of 
2019 household incomes compared to 2019 sales prices show that the single-
detached home is unaffordable for median incomes in nearly all Sunshine 
Coast communities, despite this being the most common type of home. 
Single-income households like lone-parent families and individuals living 
alone (non-census families) are likely priced out of all ownership options. 
Household types with the highest median incomes may be able to afford to 
purchase a home in Sechelt or Gibsons, but are likely priced out of single-
detached homes in the electoral areas. 

Affordability of rentals has also worsened in recent years. In most 
communities, rents are affected by housing prices, as owners look to support 
their mortgage payments through renting. Between 2016 and 2019, cost of 
rent nearly doubled in the electoral areas, while it increased by close to 40% 
in the municipalities. In 2016, 40% or more of all renter households were 
living in unaffordable housing across the Coast. 

151



93

In 2016, there were approximately 1,175 renter and 860 owner households in Core 
Housing Need across the Coast. These households are currently living in unacceptable 
conditions (i.e., overcrowded housing, housing in need of repairs) and cannot afford 
an acceptable alternative housing unit in their community based on median rents. As 
affordability has likely worsened since 2016, it is likely the number of households living in 
Core Housing Need has increased, as the cost of rent increased approximately 40% 

As the service hubs of the Coast, Sechelt and Gibsons have the highest proportion of 
houses occupied by their usual residents and more diverse housing options (especially in 
Gibsons), with townhouses and apartments that are more affordable than single detached 
dwellings. As the population across the Coast continues to grow and age, it will be 
important for more diverse and affordable housing options to be developed in adjacent 
electoral areas like Roberts Creek and Elphinstone, to meet the needs of seniors who wish 
to age in place, young families, and workers.   

Housing Supports
In 2018, there were 57 individuals counted as experiencing homelessness in Sechelt 
and Gibsons. Residents believe there is a need for more supports and transitional living 
options for individuals experiencing homelessness. Stakeholders indicated that while it is 
challenging to assess homelessness due to shifting seasonal patterns and hidden forms 
of homelessness like couchsurfing and living in unsafe conditions, homelessness on the 
Coast has been increasing and becoming more visible in recent years. 

Community engagement also indicated that there is need for more supports for seniors 
who wish to age in place or downsize from single-detached dwellings, which they are 
concerned about maintaining. 

152



94 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1 Key Areas of Local Need
7.1.1 Pender Harbour / Egmont (Electoral Area A)

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Pender Harbour / Egmont, 

with 16% of owner, or 175 households, and 42% of renter, or 80 households living in unaffordable housing 
in 2016. 

 � Increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps 
analysis, even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 39% of their 
income to afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in Pender Harbour / Egmont. 
Single-detached homes are the most common type of housing in Pender Harbour / Egmont, comprising 
88% of stock in 2016. 

Rental Housing
 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by 

the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units 
and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 41% of homes in Pender Harbour / Egmont were 
not occupied by their usual resident; these homes are either vacant or rented out on a temporary or short-
term basis.

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 41% of owner incomes in Pender Harbour / Egmont. Renter households are 
much more likely to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 51%, or 100 renter 
households in Core Housing Need in 2016, compared to 13%, or 145 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,367 in 2020 for the average rental in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont. Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for all household 
types between what would be considered affordable shelter costs and actual shelter costs in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont. Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the 
greatest affordability gaps. For comparison, in 2016, 41% of households in Pender Harbour / Egmont were 
non-census families and 4% were lone-parent households, meaning nearly half of the population may be 
struggling to find affordable housing. This is especially challenging considering the large number of single-
detached dwellings in the community.   

Special Needs Housing
 � Stakeholders indicated there is a need for more supportive housing in Pender Harbour. 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 
Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. There are no primary rental 
market (purpose-built) units in Pender Harbour / Egmont. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

153



95

Housing for Seniors
 � At 60.5 years old, Pender Harbour / Egmont had the highest median age of all electoral areas and 

municipalities on the Coast in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. The population 
has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. 
While adults over 65 comprised 37% of Pender Harbour / Egmont’s population in 2016, projections suggest 
they could comprise more than 38% by 2025. 

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. 
Stakeholders indicated there is a need for more seniors and supportive housing within Pender Harbour, in 
locations that are accessible to services and medical care via public transportation. There are currently 20 
units for seniors being developed in Pender Harbour. 

 � While there was a larger proportion of smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) in Pender Harbour / 
Egmont compared to other electoral areas and municipalities, as the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These could help meet the 
needs of seniors living alone, or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left 
home) who are looking for affordable options. These households are likely to face large affordability gaps 
in both rental and ownership markets.

Housing for Families
 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 

suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning couples with children and lone-parent families are likely unable to afford ownership or 
rental housing at the average 2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate in Pender 
Harbour / Egmont. This means that more than half of families in Pender Harbour / Egmont would be unable 
to afford housing. Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend 59% of their monthly income 
to afford rent. 

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past 

studies indicate that homelessness tends to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, 
while hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, 
etc.) is more common in the electoral areas.

 � Stakeholders indicated that hidden homelessness is a particular challenge in Pender Harbour / Egmont, with 
people living in substandard housing, on boats, camping, and couch surfing. Stakeholders also indicated 
there is a need for some form of emergency shelter or support in Pender Harbour to help meet this need. 
Anecdotal evidence and past studies suggest that there are more seniors and at-risk youth experiencing 
homelessness in Pender Harbour compared to other communities on the Coast. 

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

154



96 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1.2 Halfmoon Bay (Electoral Area B)

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Halfmoon Bay, with 

18% of owner, or 180 households, and 50% of renter or 100 households living in unaffordable housing in 
2016. Halfmoon Bay had the highest proportion of owner households living in unaffordable housing of all 
electoral areas and municipalities. 

 � Increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps 
analysis, even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 35% of their 
income to afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in Halfmoon Bay. Halfmoon 
Bay has the least diverse housing stock of all electoral areas and municipalities, with 96% of houses being 
single-detached homes. 

Rental Housing
 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by 

the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units 
and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 29% of homes in Halfmoon Bay were not occupied 
by their usual resident; these homes are either vacant or rented out on a temporary or short-term basis.

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 44% of owner incomes in Halfmoon Bay. Renter households are much more 
likely to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 40%, or 80 renter households in 
Core Housing Need in 2016, compared to 6%, or 60 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,788 in 2020 for the average rental in Halfmoon 
Bay. Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for all household types between 
what would be considered affordable shelter costs and actual shelter costs in Halfmoon Bay. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability gaps, closely 
followed by couples without children. In 2016, 30% of households in Halfmoon Bay were non-census 
families, 5% were lone-parent households, and 41% were couples without children, meaning that more 
than three-quarters the population would likely struggle to find affordable rental housing. This is especially 
challenging considering the large number of single-detached dwellings in the community. 

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. There are no primary rental 
market (purpose-built) units in Halfmoon Bay. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

155



97

Housing for Seniors
 � The median age in Halfmoon Bay was 55.0 in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. 

The population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is 
likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 27% of Halfmoon Bay’s population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise 28% by 2025. 

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place. 

 � There are few smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left home) who are looking for 
affordable options in Halfmoon Bay. Many of these units are small single-detached homes, which may be 
challenging for seniors to maintain as they age. As the population continues to age, there will be increased 
need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These households are likely to face large 
affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families
 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 

suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning couples with children and lone-parent families are likely unable to afford ownership or 
rental housing at the average 2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate in Halfmoon 
Bay. This means that more than half of families in Halfmoon Bay would be unable to afford housing. 
Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend more than 100% of their monthly income to 
afford rent. 

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past 

studies indicate that homelessness tends to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, 
while hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, 
etc.) is more common in the electoral areas. 

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

156



98 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1.3 Roberts Creek (Electoral Area D)

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Roberts Creek, with 17% of 

owner, or 180 households, and 44% of renter, or 140 households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 

 � Roberts Creek had the highest average sales price in 2019 of all electoral areas and municipalities. Increases 
in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps analysis, 
even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 44% of their income to 
afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in Roberts Creek. Single-detached homes 
are the most common type of housing in the community, comprising 91% of stock in 2016. 

Rental Housing

 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by 
the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units 
and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 85% of homes in Roberts Creek were occupied by 
their usual resident, meaning these homes are occupied by their owner or a long-term rental tenant. 

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 56% of owner incomes in Roberts Creek. Renter households are much more 
likely to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 44%, or 140 renter households in 
Core Housing Need in 2016, compared to 11%, or 115 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,721 in 2020 for the average rental in Roberts 
Creek. Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for most household types 
between what would be considered affordable shelter costs and actual shelter costs. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability gaps. For 
comparison, in 2016, 29% of households in Roberts Creek were non-census families and 9% were lone-
parent households, who are likely struggling to find affordable housing. This is especially challenging 
considering the large number of single-detached dwellings in the community.  

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. There are no primary rental 
market (purpose-built) units in Roberts Creek. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

157



99

Housing for Seniors
 � At 50.7 years old, Roberts Creek had one of the lower median ages of all electoral areas and municipalities 

on the Coast in 2016. At the same time, this is much higher than the median for BC, which was 43.0 years 
old in 2016. The population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest 
this trend is likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 23% of Roberts Creek’s population in 2016, 
projections suggest they could comprise 25% by 2025.  

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place.

 � There are few smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left home) who are looking for 
affordable options in Roberts Creek. Many of these units are small single-detached homes, which may be 
challenging for seniors to maintain as they age. As the population continues to age, there will be increased 
need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These households are likely to face large 
affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families
 � Households with children are more common in Roberts Creek and Elphinstone compared to other electoral 

areas and municipalities; in 2016, 21% of households were couples with children and 9% were lone-parent 
families. Roberts Creek has the highest proportion of lone-parent family households of all electoral areas 
and municipalities. 

 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 
suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning couples with children are likely unable to afford ownership housing at the average 2019 
sales price, but are likely able to afford rental housing at the average 2020 secondary market rental rate 
in Roberts Creek. Renters in Roberts Creek reported the highest household incomes of renters in all SCRD 
electoral areas and municipalities. Median-earning lone-parent families are still likely unable to afford rental 
housing and would need to spend 68% of their monthly income on shelter costs. 

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past 

studies indicate that homelessness tends to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, 
while hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, 
etc.) is more common in the electoral areas.

 � Anecdotal evidence and past studies suggest that Roberts Creek sees higher incidences of transient youth 
compared to other communities.  

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

158



100 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1.4 Elphinstone (Electoral Area E)

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Elphinstone, with 14% of 

owner, or 175 households, and 50% of renter, or 125 households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 

 � Increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps 
analysis, even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 32% of their 
income to afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in Elphinstone. Single-detached 
homes are the most common type of housing in the community, comprising 92% of stock in 2016. 

Rental Housing

 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by 
the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units 
and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 94% of homes in Elphinstone were occupied by their 
usual resident, meaning these homes are occupied by their owner or a long-term rental tenant. 

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 36% of owner incomes in Elphinstone. Renter households are much more 
likely to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 47%, or 115 renter households in 
Core Housing Need in 2016, compared to 5%, or 55 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,928 in 2020 for the average rental in 
Elphinstone. Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for most household 
types between what would be considered affordable shelter costs and actual shelter costs. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability gaps. In 2016, 
30% of households in Elphinstone were non-census families and 7% were lone-parent households, who are 
likely struggling to find affordable housing. This is especially challenging considering the large number of 
single-detached dwellings in the community.  

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. There are no primary rental 
market (purpose-built) units in Elphinstone. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

159



101

Housing for Seniors
 � At 50.6 years old, Elphinstone had the lowest median age of all electoral areas and municipalities on the 

Coast in 2016. At the same time, this is much higher than the median for BC, which was 43.0 years old in 
2016. The population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend 
is likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 21% of Elphinstone’s population in 2016, projections 
suggest they could comprise more than 22% by 2025. 

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place.

 � There are few smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left home) who are looking for 
affordable options in West Howe Sound. Many of these units are small single-detached homes, which 
may be challenging for seniors to maintain as they age. As the population continues to age, there will be 
increased need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These households are likely to face 
large affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families
 � Households with children are more common in Elphinstone and Roberts Creek compared to other electoral 

areas and municipalities; in 2016, 23% of households were couples with children and 7% were lone-
parent families. Elphinstone had the highest proportion of couples with children of Coast communities in 
2016. These households may be looking to enter the ownership market and are close to the affordability 
threshold. 

 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 
suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning couples with children are likely unable to afford ownership or rental housing at the average 
2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate. Median-earning lone-parent families are 
also likely unable to afford ownership or rental housing and would need to spend 80% of their monthly 
income on shelter costs. 

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past 

studies indicate that homelessness tends to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, 
while hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, 
etc.) is more common in the electoral areas. In Elphinstone, this may be in the form of mobile home parks, 
both formal (i.e., counted in the Census) and informal. While these can provide an important source of 
affordable housing, they can also be less secure than other forms.

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

160



102 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1.5 West Howe Sound (Electoral Area F)

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in West Howe Sound, with 

18% of owner, or 135 households, and 40% of renter, or 60 households living in unaffordable housing 
in 2016. 

 � Increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps 
analysis, even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 36% of their 
income to afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in West Howe Sound. Single-
detached homes are the most common type of housing in West Howe Sound, comprising 91% of stock 
in 2016. 

Rental Housing
 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met 

by the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental 
units and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 49% of homes in West Howe Sound were not 
occupied by their usual resident, the highest proportion of all electoral areas and municipalities; these 
homes are either vacant or rented out on a temporary or short-term basis.

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 48% of owner incomes in West Howe Sound. Renter households are much 
more likely to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 32%, or 50 renter households 
in Core Housing Need in 2016, compared to 7%, or 50 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,975 in 2020 for the average rental in West 
Howe Sound. Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for all household types 
between what would be considered affordable shelter costs for and actual shelter costs. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability gaps, closely 
followed by couples without children. In 2016, 35% of households in West Howe Sound were non-census 
families, 6% were lone-parent households, and 39% were couples without children, meaning that more 
than three-quarters the population would likely struggle to find affordable rental housing. This is especially 
challenging considering the large number of single-detached dwellings in the community.  

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. There are no primary rental 
market (purpose-built) units in West Howe Sound. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

161



103

Housing for Seniors
 � The median age in West Howe Sound was 54.5 in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years 

old. The population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend 
is likely to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 27% of West Howe Sound’s population in 2016, 
projections suggest they could comprise 29% by 2025. 

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place.

 � There are few smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left home) who are looking for 
affordable options in West Howe Sound. Many of these units are small single-detached homes, which 
may be challenging for seniors to maintain as they age. As the population continues to age, there will be 
increased need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These households are likely to face 
large affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets. 

Housing for Families
 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 

suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning couples with children and lone-parent families are likely unable to afford ownership or 
rental housing at the average 2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate in West 
Howe Sound. This means that more than half of families in West Howe Sound would be unable to afford 
housing. Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend more than 82% of their monthly 
income to afford rent. 

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past 

studies indicate that homelessness tends to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, 
while hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, 
etc.) is more common in the electoral areas. In West Howe Sound, this may be in the form of mobile home 
parks, both formal (i.e., counted in the Census) and informal. While these can provide an important source 
of affordable housing, they can also be less secure than other forms. 

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

162



104 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

7.1.6 Town of Gibsons

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Gibsons, with 16% of 

owner, or 250 households, and 48% of renter, or 290 households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 

 � Increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes; based on a gaps 
analysis, even the household types with the highest median incomes would need to spend 32% of their 
income to afford a single-detached home at the average 2019 sales price in Gibsons. Homeownership is 
more affordable in Gibsons compared to the electoral areas. 

 � Gibsons has the most diverse housing stock of all electoral areas and municipalities, with townhouses and 
apartments that may be affordable for households with more than one income. In 2016, 55% of the homes 
were single-detached. 

Rental Housing
 � Gibsons had the highest proportion of renter households of all electoral areas and municipalities in 2016, 

with 28% renting. For comparison, the BC average was 32%. Community engagement suggests that there 
is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by the current supply of rental options across 
the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units and the effects of short-term vacation 
rentals. In 2016, 96% of homes in Gibsons were occupied by their usual resident, meaning these homes 
are occupied by their owner or a long-term rental tenant. This reflects the character of Gibsons as a town 
centre, with residents living near services and employment.  

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 56% of owner incomes in Gibsons. Renter households are much more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 31%, or 190 renter households in Core 
Housing Need in 2016, compared to 5%, or 75 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,500 in 2020 for the average rental in Gibsons. 
Compared to 2019 median income estimates, there are large gaps for several household types between 
what would be considered affordable rental shelter costs and actual shelter costs in Gibsons. Single income 
households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability gaps. In 
2016, Gibsons had the highest proportion of typically single-income households of all electoral areas and 
municipalities, with 44% non-census family households and 8% lone parent. This means that more than half 
of the population may be struggling to find affordable rental housing. 

 � Stakeholders identified a need to continue supporting the development of market rental housing in 
Gibsons and Sechelt and indicated these are more affordable options for low-income households compared 
to secondary market units such as secondary suites, which may have higher utility costs. There are 40 units 
of mixed income rental and another 54 units of primary rental currently being developed in Gibsons.  

163



105

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity  
limitations or mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for 
appropriate housing and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

Housing for Seniors
 � The median age in Gibsons was 54.8 in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. The 

population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely 
to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 31% of Gibsons’ population in 2016, projections suggest 
they could comprise more than 43% by 2025, the largest proportional change of all electoral areas and 
municipalities. 

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place.

 � Half of all housing units in Gibsons were smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) in 2016, the largest 
proportion of all electoral areas and municipalities. As the population continues to age, there will be 
increased need for more of these affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These could 
help meet the needs of seniors living alone, or couples without children (mainly older couples whose 
children have left home) who are looking for affordable options. These households are likely to face large 
affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets.

Housing for Families
 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 

suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning lone-parent families are likely unable to afford ownership or rental housing at the 
average 2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate in Gibsons; they would need to 
spend 45% of their monthly income to afford to rent an average secondary suite or apartment but may 
experience challenges finding a unit that has enough bedrooms to accommodate their child(ren). Median-
earning households with children are close to the affordability threshold for single-detached homes 
in Gibsons. Gibsons has more diverse housing stock than other electoral areas and municipalities, with 
more townhomes and apartments that couples with children can likely afford to purchase. At the same 
time, couples with children are close to the affordability threshold for rental housing and may also face 
challenges finding a unit with enough bedrooms to accommodate their child(ren). 

164



106 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. The most recent homeless count 

was completed in 2018 and counted 57 individuals experiencing homelessness in Gibsons and Sechelt. 
Although point-in-time counts provide valuable data and can suggest trends, they are widely understood 
to underrepresent actual numbers. Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate that homelessness tends 
to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, while hidden homelessness (i.e., people 
living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, etc.) is more common in the electoral areas.

 � Stakeholders indicated that hidden homelessness is a challenge in Gibsons and indicated there is a need 
for a permanent emergency shelter in the Town. There are currently 8-10 emergency shelter beds available 
on a seasonal basis, as well as 40 units of housing being developed in Gibsons for individuals experiencing 
homelessness.

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. 

7.1.7 District of Sechelt

Affordable Housing
 � Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Sechelt, with 16% of 

owner, or 580 households, and 50% of renter, or 525 households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 
Sechelt had the highest proportion of renter households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. 

 � Although increases in the cost of home ownership continue to outpace growth in median incomes across 
the Coast, housing prices in Sechelt are the most affordable of all electoral areas and municipalities. The 
gaps analysis shows that the highest earning household types (couples with children and other census 
families) making the median income for their household type would likely be able to afford a single-
detached home at the average sales price in 2019. Homeownership is likely out of reach for all other 
household types. The least affordable housing type, single-detached, comprised 75% of homes in Sechelt 
in 2016.

Rental Housing
 � Community engagement suggests that there is high demand for rental housing, which is not being met by 

the current supply of rental options across the Coast. Residents are concerned about the lack of rental units 
and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, 90% of homes in Sechelt were occupied by their 
usual resident, meaning these homes are occupied by their owner or a long-term rental tenant. This reflects 
the character of Sechelt as a town centre, with residents living near services and employment.  

 � In 2016, renter incomes were 51% of owner incomes in Sechelt. Renter households are much more likely 
to be in Core Housing Need compared to owner households, with 48%, or 500 renter households in Core 
Housing Need in 2016, compared to 9%, or 315 owner households.

 � Cost of rent has risen noticeably in recent years, reaching $1,461 in 2020 for the average rental in Sechelt. 
Single income households, like lone-parent families and non-census families face the greatest affordability 
gaps, closely followed by couples without children. In 2016, 38% of households in Sechelt were non-census 
families, 6% were lone-parent households, and 36% were couples without children, meaning that more than 
three-quarters the population would likely struggle to find affordable rental housing. 

165



107

 � Stakeholders identified a need to continue supporting the development of market rental housing in Sechelt 
and Gibsons and indicated these are more affordable options for low-income households compared to 
secondary market units such as secondary suites, which may have higher utility costs. 

Special Needs Housing
 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 34 units for persons with disabilities tracked by BC 

Housing. Stakeholders indicated that waitlists are long for housing supports across all groups, including 
individuals with physical and mental health challenges. 

 � Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or 
mental health challenges. These individuals face additional barriers when looking for appropriate housing 
and may be looking to limited primary rental market units for secure housing. 

 � Community engagement suggests that the numbers of individuals experiencing mental health challenges 
such as addictions have been increasing across the Coast and that many require housing support.

Housing for Seniors
 � The median age in Sechelt was 56.6 in 2016. For comparison, the median for BC was 43.0 years old. The 

population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely 
to continue. While adults over 65 comprised 34% of Sechelt’s population in 2016, projections suggest they 
could comprise more than 42% by 2025.  

 � Across the Coast, there were 348 units for seniors receiving support from BC Housing as of March 31, 2020, 
including seniors accessing the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program to supplement their rent costs. As 
the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living 
units, as well as supports to age in place.

 � There are few smaller units (i.e., studios to two-bedrooms) to meet the needs of seniors living alone, 
or couples without children (mainly older couples whose children have left home) who are looking 
for affordable options in Sechelt. Many of these units are small single-detached homes, which may be 
challenging for seniors to maintain as they age. As the population continues to age, there will be increased 
need for affordable smaller units in accessible housing forms. These households are likely to face large 
affordability gaps in both rental and ownership markets. 

 � There are currently 104 new units of affordable independent living units being developed for seniors aged 
55+ and people with disabilities in Sechelt. 

Housing for Families
 � Across the Coast, although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community engagement 

suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms). 

 � Across the Coast, as of March 31, 2020, there were 98 family households receiving supports from BC 
Housing.

 � Median-earning lone-parent families are likely unable to afford ownership or rental housing at the average 
2019 sales price and average 2020 secondary market rental rate in Sechelt; they would need to spend 51% 
of their monthly income to afford to rent an average secondary suite or apartment but may experience 
challenges finding a unit that has enough bedrooms to accommodate their child(ren). Median-earning 
households with children are likely able to afford to purchase or rent a home. Sechelt has more diverse 
housing stock compared to the electoral areas, which offers more affordable options than  
single-detached homes for households looking to enter the ownership market or find a unit to rent.  

166



108 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

Supports for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Housing Insecurity 
 � Across the Coast, stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. The most recent homeless count 

was completed in 2018 and counted 57 individuals experiencing homelessness in Sechelt and Gibsons. 
Although point-in-time counts provide valuable data and can suggest trends, they are widely understood 
to underrepresent actual numbers. Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate that homelessness tends 
to be more visible (i.e., street homelessness) in the municipalities, while hidden homelessness (i.e., people 
living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, etc.) is more common in the electoral areas.

 � Sechelt has the only year-round emergency shelter on the Sunshine Coast, with 20 beds. Stakeholders 
indicated that emergency housing and support in Sechelt is full with waitlists, especially since the COVID-19 
pandemic.

 � Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women 
and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and 
transitional housing units are full. There are currently 35 units of women’s third stage housing under 
development in Sechelt. 

167



109

A region-wide approach 
improves understanding 
of connections between 
communities and provides 
for efficiencies in data 
collection and solutions 
identification.

7.2 Next Steps
Communities across BC have been experiencing increasing affordability 
pressures for several years now, as escalating housing prices and cost of 
rent has outpaced increases in household incomes. This Housing Needs 
Report provides a comprehensive overview of current and anticipated 
housing pressures on the Coast. It builds on previous work and supports 
ongoing work by local governments and other stakeholders to be part of the 
solution. A region-wide approach improves understanding of connections 
between communities and provides for efficiencies in data collection and 
solutions identification. It also positions this report to be used as foundational 
information for future iterations of a possible regional growth strategy and 
official community plans (OCPs). In addition to considering the results of 
this report in future plans and policies, there are several ways that the SCRD 
and municipalities on the Coast can encourage the development of needed 
housing types. These include: 

 � Facilitating the development of needed housing types through land use 
and development policies

 � Investing in and incentivizing projects that provide needed 
housing types

 � Regulating, or requiring the development of needed housing types

 � Educating, advocating, and raising awareness about the need for and 
importance of housing for everyone 

 � Forming, supporting, and participating in partnerships that address 
housing challenges

With a few exceptions, local governments do not typically develop or operate 
housing projects and most do not have the resources to be the primary 
funder. These roles would fall to the non-profits, developers and builders, and 
senior levels of government. 

As a companion to this document, the SCRD, Town of Gibsons, and District 
of Sechelt engaged Urban Matters to compile a report outlining options and 
best practices for facilitating, investing / incentivizing, regulating, educating, 
and partnering to encourage the development of housing types based on 
the results of this study. This will help the regional district and municipalities 
in addressing key areas of local need and other housing priorities moving 
forward.

168



110 Sunshine Coast Housing Needs Report

169



Appendix A
Glossary

170



112 Sunshine Coast Region Housing Needs Report

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY

Adequate Housing Standard: “[Housing] not requiring any major repairs.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage037-eng.cfm

Affordable Housing Standard: “[Housing with] shelter costs equal to less than 30% of 
total before-tax household income.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage037-eng.cfm

Census Family: Census families include couples with and without children, and a single 
parents with children living in the same dwelling. Census families are restricted to these 
family units and cannot include other members inside or outside the family (including 
a grandparent, a sibling, etc.). Grandchildren living with grandparents (and without a 
parent) would also count as a census family.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/fam004-eng.cfm

Core Housing Need: “A household is said to be in ‘core housing need’ if its housing falls 
below at least one of the adequacy, affordability or suitability standards and it would 
have to spend 30% or more of its total before-tax income to pay the median rent of 
alternative local housing that is acceptable (meets all three housing standards).” Some 
additional restrictions apply.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage037-eng.cfm

Economic Family: A group living together in the same dwelling who are “related to 
each other by blood, marriage, common-law union, adoption, or a foster relationship.” 
Economic families could include multigenerational families, siblings living together, etc.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/fam011-eng.cfm

Household Income: The sum of incomes for all household members.

Household Maintainer: A person in a household who is responsible for paying the rent, 
mortgage, taxes, utilities, etc. Where multiple people contribute, there can be more than 
one maintainer.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage008-eng.cfm 

Headship Rate: The proportion of individuals of a given age group who are primary 
household maintainers.

171

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/fam004-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/fam011-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage008-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage008-eng.cfm


113

Household Type: “The differentiation of households on the basis of whether they are 
census family households or non-census family households.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage012-eng.cfm

Income: For the purposes of this report, unless otherwise indicated, income refers 
to “total income” which is before-tax and includes specific income sources. These 
specific income sources typically include employment income, income from dividends, 
interest, GICs, and mutual funds, income from pensions, other regular cash income, and 
government sources (EI, OAS, CPP, etc.). These income sources typically do not include 
capital gains, gifts, and inter-household transfers, etc.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop123-eng.cfm

Labour Force: The labour force includes individuals aged 15 and over who are either 
employed, or actively looking for work. This means that the labour force is the sum of 
employed and unemployed individuals. Individuals not in the labour force would include 
those who are retired.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop056-eng.cfm

Non-Family Households: Households which do not include a census family.

Other Family or Other Census Family: When comparing households one way to 
distinguish between households is by “household family types.” These types will include 
couples with children, couples without children, lone-parent families, and non-family 
households; they will also include “other families” which refer to households which 
include at least one family and additional persons. For example, “other family” could 
refer to a family living with one or more persons who are related to one or more of the 
members of the family, or a family living with one or more additional persons who are 
unrelated to the family members.

Participation Rate: The participation rate is the proportion of all individuals aged 15 and 
over who are in the labour force.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop108-eng.cfm

Primary Household Maintainer: The first (or only) maintainer of a household listed on 
the census.
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage020-eng.cfm

Seniors: Individuals aged 65 and over.

172

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage012-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage012-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop123-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop056-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop108-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage020-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage020-eng.cfm


114 Sunshine Coast Region Housing Needs Report

Shelter Cost: “Shelter cost’ refers to the average monthly total of all shelter expenses 
paid by households that own or rent their dwelling. Shelter costs for owner households 
include, where applicable, mortgage payments, property taxes and condominium fees, 
along with the costs of electricity, heat, water, and other municipal services. For renter 
households, shelter costs include, where applicable, the rent and the costs of electricity, 
heat, water and other municipal services.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage033-eng.cfm 

Subsidized Housing: “‘Subsidized housing’ refers to whether a renter household lives 
in a dwelling that is subsidized. Subsidized housing includes rent geared to income, 
social housing, public housing, government-assisted housing, non-profit housing, rent 
supplements and housing allowances.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/dwelling-
logements017-eng.cfm

Suitable Housing Standard: “[Housing that] has enough bedrooms for the size and 
composition of resident households.”
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-
menage037-eng.cfm

Supportive housing: A type of housing that provides on-site supports and services to 
residents who cannot live independently.
https://www.bchousing.org/glossary

Supportive Housing for Seniors: This document defines assisted living and long term or 
residential care options as supportive housing for seniors. 

Transitional Housing: Transitional housing: “A type of housing for residents for between 
30 days and three years. It aims to transition individuals to long-term, permanent 
housing.”
https://www.bchousing.org/glossary

173

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage033-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage033-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/dwelling-logements017-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/dwelling-logements017-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
https://www.bchousing.org/glossary
https://www.bchousing.org/glossary


Appendix B
Required Data

174



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

Geography: Town of Gibsons

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 3,920 4,225 4,405
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 44.9 46.6 49.6
Median 49 50.3 54.4
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 3,920 100% 4,225 100% 4,400 100%
0 to 14 years 555 14% 545 13% 500 11%
15 to 19 years 235 6% 250 6% 175 4%
20 to 24 years 170 4% 140 3% 230 5%
25 to 64 years 2,115 54% 2,275 54% 2,200 50%
65 to 84 years 760 19% 935 22% 1,150 26%
85 years and over 95 2% 70 2% 140 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 1,865 2,015 2,225
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.1 2.1 2.0
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 1,865 100% 2,015 100% 2,225 100%
1‐person 645 35% 725 36% 870 39%
2‐person 750 40% 790 39% 875 39%
3‐person 245 13% 215 11% 235 11%
4‐person 150 8% 175 9% 175 8%
5‐or‐more‐person 75 4% 105 5% 70 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

Please note, this report combines data from various sources, of various tabulations and datasets. Even when from the same source, such as the Statistics Canada Census or BC Assessment, data values may vary from those included in the body of the report and in 
other appendix tables. This is because when working with large sets of data, there are various factors like rounding errors, suppression, categorization, tabulations, and date of data compilation, which affect the exact values. Most data here is from custom datasets 
compiled and published by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing for the purpose of completing Housing Needs Reports, which differ from Statistics Canada datasets used in the report. Data is intended to be used as a guide for the takeaways presented in the 
report and to inform future community planning.

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 13175



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 1,865 100% 2,015 100% 2,225 100%
Owner 1,355 73% 1,410 70% 1,590 71%
Renter 510 27% 600 30% 630 28%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 515 100% 605 100% 630 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 65 11% 105 17%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 3,905 4,150 4,385
Mover 820 750 615
Migrant 515 325 260
Non‐migrant 305 430 355

Non‐mover 3,085 3,395 3,765
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ 305 180
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ 7.8% 4.3%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2018

Individuals experiencing homelessness 57*
*Number includes individuals experiencing homelessness in the Town of Gibsons of District of Sechelt

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 4,845 4,904 4,955 5,008 5,052 5,099
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 59 110 163 207 254
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 1.2% 2.3% 3.4% 4.3% 5.2%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2 of 13176



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 51.9 52.3 52.7 53.1 53.5 53.9
Anticipated median age 56.9 57.5 58 58.5 59.1 59.6
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 4,845 100% 4,904 100% 4,955 100% 5,008 100% 5,052 100% 5,099 100%
0 to 14 years 508 10% 510 10% 517 10% 523 10% 518 10% 514 10%
15 to 19 years 159 3% 155 3% 148 3% 135 3% 143 3% 152 3%
20 to 24 years 193 4% 194 4% 191 4% 203 4% 202 4% 199 4%
25 to 64 years 2,198 45% 2,157 44% 2,114 43% 2,081 42% 2,048 41% 2,024 40%
65 to 84 years 1,532 32% 1,623 33% 1,706 34% 1,769 35% 1,826 36% 1,891 37%
85 years and over 255 5% 265 5% 279 6% 297 6% 315 6% 319 6%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 2,383 2,427 2,466 2,500 2,537 2,580
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.03 2.02 2.01 2.00 1.99 1.98
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $68,488 $71,883 $73,999
Median $55,252 $58,952 $58,470
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

3 of 13177



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,865 100% 2,010 100% 2,220 100%
$0‐$4,999 25 1% 75 4% 35 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 40 2% 30 1% 20 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 75 4% 45 2% 30 1%
$15,000‐$19,999 90 5% 60 3% 120 5%
$20,000‐$24,999 105 6% 160 8% 140 6%
$25,000‐$29,999 105 6% 90 4% 120 5%
$30,000‐$34,999 110 6% 65 3% 145 7%
$35,000‐$39,999 95 5% 90 4% 120 5%
$40,000‐$44,999 70 4% 120 6% 130 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 135 7% 115 6% 95 4%
$50,000‐$59,999 160 9% 220 11% 180 8%
$60,000‐$69,999 110 6% 110 5% 165 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 150 8% 190 9% 175 8%
$80,000‐$89,999 110 6% 60 3% 100 5%
$90,000‐$99,999 70 4% 90 4% 100 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 230 12% 175 9% 215 10%
$125,000‐$149,999 90 5% 130 6% 135 6%
$150,000‐$199,999 80 4% 135 7% 105 5%
$200,000 and over 35 2% 45 2% 85 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 510 100% 605 100% 635 100%
$0‐$4,999 0 0% 45 7% 0 0%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 3% 0 0% 15 2%
$10,000‐$14,999 50 10% 35 6% 20 3%
$15,000‐$19,999 65 13% 20 3% 75 12%
$20,000‐$24,999 45 9% 105 17% 45 7%
$25,000‐$29,999 35 7% 30 5% 50 8%
$30,000‐$34,999 25 5% 0 0% 60 9%
$35,000‐$39,999 25 5% 0 0% 55 9%
$40,000‐$44,999 30 6% 45 7% 40 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 60 12% 60 10% 40 6%
$50,000‐$59,999 50 10% 30 5% 50 8%
$60,000‐$69,999 20 4% 10 2% 35 6%
$70,000‐$79,999 25 5% 75 12% 35 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 25 5% 0 0% 25 4%
$90,000‐$99,999 0 0% 0 0% 15 2%
$100,000‐$124,999 30 6% 45 7% 45 7%
$125,000‐$149,999 15 3% 0 0% 15 2%
$150,000‐$199,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 2%
$200,000 and over 0 0% 0 0% 10 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 13178



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,355 100% 1,410 100% 1,590 100%
$0‐$4,999 25 2% 30 2% 30 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 25 2% 25 2% 0 0%
$10,000‐$14,999 20 1% 10 1% 10 1%
$15,000‐$19,999 25 2% 40 3% 45 3%
$20,000‐$24,999 60 4% 55 4% 95 6%
$25,000‐$29,999 75 6% 60 4% 75 5%
$30,000‐$34,999 85 6% 40 3% 85 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 70 5% 70 5% 65 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 40 3% 70 5% 90 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 75 6% 60 4% 55 3%
$50,000‐$59,999 110 8% 190 13% 135 8%
$60,000‐$69,999 95 7% 100 7% 135 8%
$70,000‐$79,999 125 9% 115 8% 140 9%
$80,000‐$89,999 85 6% 60 4% 70 4%
$90,000‐$99,999 65 5% 80 6% 85 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 200 15% 130 9% 175 11%
$125,000‐$149,999 75 6% 115 8% 120 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 75 6% 120 9% 95 6%
$200,000 and over 30 2% 40 3% 75 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $68,488 $71,883 $73,999
Owner $77,165 $80,902 $83,879
Renter $45,518 $50,739 $49,108

Median $55,252 $58,952 $58,470
Owner $68,307 $64,079 $68,822
Renter $38,834 $41,458 $38,208

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,950 2,080 2,215
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 13179



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,945 100% 2,080 100% 2,220 100%
All Categories 1,915 98% 2,040 98% 2,185 98%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 55 3% 35 2% 65 3%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 0 0% 0 0% 10 0%
22 Utilities 10 1% 0 0% 10 0%
23 Construction 225 12% 140 7% 130 6%
31‐33 Manufacturing 195 10% 205 10% 200 9%
41 Wholesale trade 20 1% 40 2% 40 2%
44‐45 Retail trade 220 11% 225 11% 320 14%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 115 6% 215 10% 175 8%
51 Information and cultural industries 45 2% 60 3% 65 3%
52 Finance and insurance 80 4% 50 2% 40 2%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 30 2% 30 1% 15 1%

54 Professional, scientific and technical services 190 10% 110 5% 200 9%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management 
and remediation services 40 2% 65 3% 115 5%
61 Educational services 125 6% 100 5% 165 7%
62 Health care and social assistance 125 6% 340 16% 270 12%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 55 3% 55 3% 30 1%
72 Accommodation and food services 130 7% 140 7% 195 9%

81 Other services (except public administration) 140 7% 85 4% 80 4%
91 Public administration 90 5% 120 6% 65 3%

Not Applicable 35 2% 45 2% 30 1%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 2,225
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 2,220 100%
Single‐detached house 1,225 55%

Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 985 44%
Semi‐detached house 150 7%
Row house 285 13%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 110 5%
Apartment in a building that has fewer than five 
storeys 445 20%
Other single‐attached house 0 0%

Movable dwelling 10 0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2016

2006 2011 2016

6 of 13180



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 2,220
No‐bedroom 10
1‐bedroom 315
2‐bedroom 790
3‐bedroom 705
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 395

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 2,220 100%
1960 or earlier 290 13%
1961‐1980 620 28%
1981‐1990 350 16%
1991‐2000 480 22%
2001‐2010 360 16%
2011‐2016 115 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $556,237 $520,194 $476,480 $476,053 $437,794 $470,567 $463,858 $436,775 $431,257 $442,692 $426,001 $563,130 $660,972 $763,283 $737,059
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

2016

N/A

7 of 13181



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $343,356 $392,985 $437,121 $439,783 $405,581 $431,233 $422,765 $401,683 $400,282 $416,900 $422,268 $567,496 $666,589 $745,416 $716,103
Dwelling with Suite $372,314 $416,598 $453,765 $453,906 $440,913 $470,834 $468,934 $446,624 $444,411 $464,211 $466,767 $639,620 $743,508 $834,016 $809,086
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $170,148 $263,137 $286,562 $286,562 $283,375 $296,732 $289,646 $275,404 $272,167 $279,569 $284,178 $349,407 $369,265 $446,760 $438,154
Row Housing $173,672 $227,431 $251,795 $255,911 $241,661 $260,112 $249,852 $256,259 $243,761 $249,217 $257,069 $291,708 $337,312 $415,353 $415,426
Apartment $192,665 $231,318 $252,145 $249,181 $229,367 $255,291 $232,239 $238,564 $231,775 $198,964 $204,604 $254,178 $332,651 $404,069 $391,424
Manufactured Home $128,539 $146,672 $157,171 $148,700 $134,881 $159,569 $172,733 $155,964 $149,300 $154,693 $164,986 $195,857 $206,264 $283,379 $255,820
Seasonal Dwelling $270,529 $315,943 $360,446 $363,423 $322,900 $349,779 $350,657 $311,669 $307,117 $313,925 $325,400 $430,509 $509,670 $587,240 $542,310
Other* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $733,000 $803,000 $1,024,100 $968,133
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $522,155 $636,510 $682,020 $682,020 $608,290 $635,120 $644,500 $623,600 $589,000 $605,667 $637,000 $781,200 $855,667 $962,667 $977,111
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $287,860 $318,646 $289,278 $287,617 $255,212 $278,040 $275,924 $267,165 $262,723 $266,117 $268,532 $330,441 $395,178 $467,806 $441,148
2‐bedroom $265,043 $303,601 $327,107 $327,897 $301,453 $324,964 $314,318 $304,637 $298,813 $304,091 $306,713 $388,220 $456,105 $536,272 $519,489
3‐or‐more bedroom $844,340 $734,782 $632,554 $631,167 $582,411 $624,749 $620,460 $576,171 $570,544 $588,654 $552,312 $748,663 $876,612 $1,002,464 $968,574

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $289,278 $287,617 $255,212 $278,040 $275,924 $267,165 $262,723 $266,117 $268,532 $330,441 $395,178 $467,806 $441,148
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $327,107 $327,897 $301,453 $324,964 $314,318 $304,637 $298,813 $304,091 $306,713 $388,220 $456,105 $536,272 $519,489
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $632,554 $631,167 $582,411 $624,749 $620,460 $576,171 $570,544 $588,654 $552,312 $748,663 $876,612 $1,002,464 $968,574

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $269,043 $302,902 $339,482 $355,119 $310,748 $340,228 $374,946 $373,429 $372,721 $383,884 $375,536 $436,328 $519,706 $602,263 $573,232
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 13182



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $320,596 $355,757 $387,940 $420,452 $404,619 $419,868 $449,726 $423,618 $443,941 $447,914 $464,679 $528,202 $654,540 $708,532 $673,209
Dwelling with Suite $363,500 $775,000 $420,000 N/A $211,256 $378,875 $423,875 $470,142 $514,065 $472,498 $525,945 $590,762 $679,264 $891,097 $815,100
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $185,850 $238,082 $390,561 $306,000 $252,333 $274,320 $318,000 $214,500 $217,736 $240,341 $294,762 $333,215 $478,000 $477,298 $500,333
Row Housing $168,246 $235,896 $237,548 $292,292 $254,191 $268,637 $256,875 $271,347 $236,559 $272,413 $266,929 $292,057 $360,570 $411,179 $433,142
Apartment $173,825 $228,067 $239,139 $263,806 $196,144 $230,632 $267,659 $247,400 $226,033 $202,150 $226,617 $265,629 $339,256 $453,455 $350,422
Manufactured Home $167,000 $144,367 $225,000 $21,000 N/A $217,250 $3,000 N/A $151,233 N/A N/A $326,500 N/A $305,000 N/A

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

 Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $355,600 $388,563 $293,568 $260,225 $181,456 $197,400 $258,273 $235,728 $224,508 $240,836 $282,367 $253,475 $285,933 $373,876 $386,415
2‐bedroom $208,278 $280,173 $296,187 $301,957 $276,111 $323,847 $320,916 $327,381 $278,255 $308,912 $314,455 $344,877 $400,848 $492,612 $475,823
3‐or‐more bedroom $287,682 $306,443 $375,729 $408,987 $368,267 $379,912 $439,515 $433,287 $451,388 $458,844 $433,790 $541,574 $663,736 $744,824 $675,586

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 13183



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A N/A
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 83 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Multi‐Family

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

10 of 13184



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 31 63 51 53 41
Source: Town of Gibsons, Building Permits

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 31 63 51 53 41
Single‐Family 22 49 39 50 35
Two‐Family 3 12 5 0 0
Multi‐Family 5 2 7 3 6

Source: Town of Gibsons, Building Permits

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness 8‐10*
Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing 
homelessness 73**
Source: BC Housing / Town of Gibsons
*Available on a seasonal basis
**All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

11 of 13185



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,800 100% 100% 1,900 100% 100% 2,155 100% 100%
Owner 1,310 73% 100% 1,370 72% 100% 1,545 72% 100%
Renter 490 27% 100% 535 28% 100% 610 28% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 460 26% 26% 535 28% 28% 535 25% 25%
Owner 245 14% 19% 310 16% 23% 250 12% 16%
Renter 220 12% 45% 220 12% 41% 290 13% 48%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,800 100% 100% 1,900 100% 100% 2,155 100% 100%
Owner 1,310 73% 100% 1,370 72% 100% 1,545 72% 100%
Renter 490 27% 100% 535 28% 100% 610 28% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 135 8% 8% 165 9% 9% 105 5% 5%
Owner 95 5% 7% 100 5% 7% 65 3% 4%
Renter 40 2% 8% 60 3% 11% 40 2% 7%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,800 100% 100% 1,900 100% 100% 2,155 100% 100%
Owner 1,310 73% 100% 1,370 72% 100% 1,545 72% 100%
Renter 490 27% 100% 535 28% 100% 610 28% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 70 4% 4% 90 5% 5% 65 3% 3%
Owner 10 1% 1% 45 2% 3% 20 1% 1%
Renter 65 4% 13% 50 3% 9% 50 2% 8%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 13186



Data Appendix: Town of Gibsons

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 5.9%
Participation rate 56.9%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 1,450 100%
Commute within CSD 775 53%
Commute to different CSD within CD 495 34%
Commute to different CD within BC 175 12%
Commute to different province 10 1%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,805 100% 100% 1,900 100% 100% 2,155 100% 100%
Owner 1,310 73% 100% 1,365 72% 100% 1,545 72% 100%
Renter 490 27% 100% 530 28% 100% 605 28% 100%

Total in core housing need 230 13% 13% 305 16% 16% 265 12% 12%
Owner 55 3% 4% 110 6% 8% 75 3% 5%
Renter 180 10% 37% 195 10% 37% 190 9% 31%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,805 100% 100% 1,900 100% 100% 2,155 100% 100%
Owner 1,310 73% 100% 1,365 72% 100% 1,545 72% 100%
Renter 490 27% 100% 530 28% 100% 605 28% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 125 7% 7% 115 6% 6% 130 6% 6%
Owner 40 2% 3% 30 2% 2% 35 2% 2%
Renter 90 5% 18% 85 4% 16% 95 4% 16%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

13 of 13187



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

Geography: District of Sechelt

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 8,255 9,110 10,005
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 46.5 48.8 50.6
Median 50.1 53.4 56.1
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 8,260 100% 9,105 100% 10,005 100%
0 to 14 years 1,070 13% 1,110 12% 1,155 12%
15 to 19 years 510 6% 470 5% 435 4%
20 to 24 years 290 4% 335 4% 300 3%
25 to 64 years 4,365 53% 4,635 51% 4,795 48%
65 to 84 years 1,760 21% 2,285 25% 2,880 29%
85 years and over 260 3% 270 3% 430 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 3,865 4,295 4,855
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.1 2.1 2.1
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 3,865 100% 4,295 100% 4,855 100%
1‐person 1,255 32% 1,375 32% 1,665 34%
2‐person 1,605 42% 1,835 43% 2,080 43%
3‐person 465 12% 495 12% 550 11%
4‐person 340 9% 435 10% 385 8%
5‐or‐more‐person 195 5% 160 4% 180 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 3,865 100% 4,295 100% 4,855 100%
Owner 3,090 80% 3,555 83% 3,715 77%
Renter 770 20% 740 17% 1,140 23%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12188



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 775 100% 745 100% 1,140 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 120 16% 175 15%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 8,205 9,035 9,900
Mover 1,245 1,140 1,715
Migrant 635 520 850
Non‐migrant 610 615 865

Non‐mover 6,965 7,900 8,190
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ 855 895
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ 10.4% 9.8%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2018

Individuals experiencing homelessness 57*
*Number includes individuals experiencing homelessness in the Town of Gibsons of District of Sechelts

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 10,594 10,664 10,741 10,804 10,874 10,934
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 70 147 210 280 340
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.7% 1.4% 2.0% 2.6% 3.2%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 52.3 52.5 52.7 53.0 53.2 53.4
Anticipated median age 58.2 58.6 59.0 59.4 59.8 60.0
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12189



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 10,594 100% 10,664 100% 10,741 100% 10,804 100% 10,874 100% 10,934 100%
0 to 14 years 1,167 11% 1,169 11% 1,191 11% 1,200 11% 1,197 11% 1,191 11%
15 to 19 years 372 4% 368 3% 356 3% 335 3% 350 3% 367 3%
20 to 24 years 280 3% 282 3% 279 3% 296 3% 295 3% 290 3%
25 to 64 years 4,771 45% 4,700 44% 4,631 43% 4,575 42% 4,526 42% 4,488 41%
65 to 84 years 3,497 33% 3,626 34% 3,750 35% 3,842 36% 3,922 36% 4,010 37%
85 years and over 507 5% 519 5% 534 5% 556 5% 584 5% 588 5%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 5,134 5,185 5,229 5,276 5,309 5,357
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.06 2.06 2.05 2.05 2.05 2.04
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $66,827 $80,874 $73,642
Median $52,447 $61,949 $58,609
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 3,865 100% 4,295 100% 4,855 100%
$0‐$4,999 90 2% 115 3% 90 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 75 2% 15 0% 60 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 85 2% 105 2% 120 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 235 6% 170 4% 235 5%
$20,000‐$24,999 300 8% 215 5% 335 7%
$25,000‐$29,999 195 5% 190 4% 235 5%
$30,000‐$34,999 255 7% 185 4% 240 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 175 5% 260 6% 210 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 265 7% 260 6% 205 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 165 4% 200 5% 285 6%
$50,000‐$59,999 375 10% 350 8% 465 10%
$60,000‐$69,999 300 8% 390 9% 325 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 270 7% 275 6% 350 7%
$80,000‐$89,999 190 5% 195 5% 285 6%
$90,000‐$99,999 180 5% 345 8% 245 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 295 8% 365 8% 430 9%
$125,000‐$149,999 140 4% 245 6% 325 7%
$150,000‐$199,999 175 5% 245 6% 265 5%
$200,000 and over 95 2% 165 4% 140 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

3 of 12190



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 775 100% 740 100% 1,140 100%
$0‐$4,999 55 7% 25 3% 40 4%
$5,000‐$9,999 40 5% 0 0% 25 2%
$10,000‐$14,999 45 6% 70 9% 75 7%
$15,000‐$19,999 70 9% 80 11% 115 10%
$20,000‐$24,999 70 9% 80 11% 155 14%
$25,000‐$29,999 70 9% 10 1% 100 9%
$30,000‐$34,999 85 11% 0 0% 65 6%
$35,000‐$39,999 40 5% 65 9% 80 7%
$40,000‐$44,999 55 7% 10 1% 45 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 30 4% 55 7% 50 4%
$50,000‐$59,999 100 13% 70 9% 110 10%
$60,000‐$69,999 20 3% 50 7% 35 3%
$70,000‐$79,999 30 4% 60 8% 65 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 10 1% 0 0% 35 3%
$90,000‐$99,999 10 1% 35 5% 35 3%
$100,000‐$124,999 15 2% 75 10% 45 4%
$125,000‐$149,999 20 3% 0 0% 30 3%
$150,000‐$199,999 10 1% 0 0% 20 2%
$200,000 and over 15 2% 0 0% 10 1%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 3,090 100% 3,555 100% 3,715 100%
$0‐$4,999 35 1% 90 3% 50 1%
$5,000‐$9,999 45 1% 15 0% 30 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 45 1% 40 1% 40 1%
$15,000‐$19,999 165 5% 90 3% 120 3%
$20,000‐$24,999 230 7% 130 4% 185 5%
$25,000‐$29,999 130 4% 180 5% 135 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 165 5% 175 5% 175 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 140 5% 200 6% 135 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 210 7% 250 7% 160 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 140 5% 145 4% 240 6%
$50,000‐$59,999 280 9% 280 8% 355 10%
$60,000‐$69,999 275 9% 340 10% 285 8%
$70,000‐$79,999 235 8% 210 6% 285 8%
$80,000‐$89,999 180 6% 180 5% 250 7%
$90,000‐$99,999 175 6% 310 9% 215 6%
$100,000‐$124,999 275 9% 290 8% 390 10%
$125,000‐$149,999 120 4% 230 6% 295 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 175 6% 235 7% 245 7%
$200,000 and over 80 3% 160 5% 130 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12191



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $66,827 $80,874 $73,642
Owner $72,635 $86,875 $81,959
Renter $43,618 $52,092 $46,530

Median $52,447 $61,949 $58,609
Owner $59,338 $65,086 $67,573
Renter $31,447 $46,714 $34,566

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 3,945 4,690 4,575
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 3,945 100% 4,690 100% 4,575 100%
All Categories 3,915 99% 4,595 98% 4,480 98%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 160 4% 120 3% 145 3%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 80 2% 65 1% 35 1%
22 Utilities 40 1% 0 0% 25 1%
23 Construction 430 11% 475 10% 425 9%
31‐33 Manufacturing 245 6% 275 6% 220 5%
41 Wholesale trade 45 1% 100 2% 95 2%
44‐45 Retail trade 595 15% 730 16% 625 14%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 115 3% 165 4% 185 4%
51 Information and cultural industries 110 3% 120 3% 105 2%
52 Finance and insurance 130 3% 100 2% 155 3%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 120 3% 110 2% 100 2%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 180 5% 275 6% 350 8%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 10 0% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management and 
remediation services 185 5% 255 5% 265 6%
61 Educational services 250 6% 250 5% 260 6%
62 Health care and social assistance 470 12% 635 14% 525 11%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 110 3% 160 3% 120 3%
72 Accommodation and food services 235 6% 380 8% 340 7%
81 Other services (except public administration) 235 6% 105 2% 255 6%
91 Public administration 170 4% 245 5% 235 5%

Not Applicable 30 1% 95 2% 90 2%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 4,855
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12192



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 4,855 100%
Single‐detached house 3,625 75%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 110 2%
Other attached dwelling 885 18%
Semi‐detached house 55 1%
Row house 265 5%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 160 3%

Apartment in a building that has fewer than five storeys 410 8%
Other single‐attached house 0 0%

Movable dwelling 240 5%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 4,855
No‐bedroom 10
1‐bedroom 530
2‐bedroom 1,370
3‐bedroom 1,835
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 1,120

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 4,855 100%
1960 or earlier 305 6%
1961‐1980 1,145 24%
1981‐1990 810 17%
1991‐2000 1,130 23%
2001‐2010 1,045 22%
2011‐2016 425 9%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $323,170 $373,006 $404,607 $408,334 $409,508 $414,339 $399,661 $391,152 $381,085 $381,013 $405,080 $508,557 $597,636 $663,705 $630,900
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

2016

2016

6 of 12193



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structure Type
Single Family $339,329 $393,432 $428,553 $431,606 $433,303 $439,659 $422,757 $412,791 $401,517 $400,196 $427,171 $541,004 $636,169 $717,526 $664,675
Dwelling with Suite $254,843 $471,874 $516,000 $515,457 $520,105 $509,439 $453,734 $446,990 $433,122 $429,060 $455,584 $580,687 $681,033 $783,039 $698,742
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $293,725 $413,900 $428,550 $181,640 $196,960 $214,360 $324,000 $331,250 $284,778 $308,111 $354,111 $421,000 $483,778 $414,652 $320,838
Row Housing $167,814 $210,135 $235,173 $329,201 $269,514 $268,680 $259,983 $259,538 $253,391 $236,256 $303,986 $351,701 $406,748 $469,776 $512,749
Apartment $202,692 $241,683 $268,765 $259,485 $273,447 $272,851 $250,673 $252,879 $291,516 $323,429 $302,636 $344,640 $435,533 $471,671 $483,414
Manufactured Home $99,783 $118,984 $131,184 $144,233 $133,206 $130,008 $132,461 $122,491 $121,756 $121,916 $127,749 $161,536 $165,300 $216,315 $217,872
Seasonal Dwelling $364,407 $436,695 $494,706 $490,132 $479,291 $464,292 $420,037 $418,857 $423,187 $424,091 $488,771 $591,933 $660,738 $733,411 $709,974
Other* $352,000 $401,000 $438,500 $438,500 $378,450 $416,800 $416,800 $372,475 $418,380 $436,217 $432,857 $631,171 $822,186 $960,360 $1,035,400
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $590,243 $739,741 $699,223 $703,976 $728,426 $745,116 $711,537 $688,745 $666,323 $660,624 $721,824 $938,697 $1,058,015 $1,147,647 $1,084,891
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $1,035,500 $1,139,275 $1,250,350 $1,319,240 $793,350 $829,292 $881,100 $878,988 $849,613 $741,289 $914,425 $1,097,425 $1,420,300 $1,441,588 $1,578,171

Median Assessed Value by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $320,709 $358,650 $379,677 $391,598 $363,034 $360,285 $333,552 $322,720 $315,314 $314,322 $313,030 $373,292 $447,669 $503,073 $486,871
2‐bedroom $277,073 $305,544 $337,191 $338,543 $337,747 $340,767 $324,173 $321,096 $315,505 $317,518 $333,636 $412,091 $485,468 $548,434 $524,734
3‐or‐more bedroom $340,968 $404,748 $439,192 $442,614 $446,378 $452,026 $438,237 $426,517 $415,394 $414,693 $445,299 $563,959 $661,016 $735,139 $687,516

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $379,677 $391,598 $363,034 $360,285 $333,552 $322,720 $315,314 $314,322 $313,030 $373,292 $447,669 $503,073 $486,871
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $337,191 $338,543 $337,747 $340,767 $324,173 $321,096 $315,505 $317,518 $333,636 $412,091 $485,468 $548,434 $524,734
3‐or‐more bedroom $352,000 $401,000 $439,192 $442,614 $446,378 $452,026 $438,237 $426,517 $415,394 $414,693 $445,299 $563,959 $661,016 $735,139 $687,516

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

N/A

N/A

N/A

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

7 of 12194



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $291,717 $339,973 $368,363 $391,182 $382,411 $367,883 $394,438 $389,713 $367,276 $393,925 $392,629 $481,508 $583,192 $593,938 $605,661
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $318,680 $380,570 $397,194 $435,741 $408,447 $407,893 $416,836 $414,900 $382,461 $414,327 $420,635 $515,059 $617,628 $696,229 $688,120
Dwelling with Suite N/A $299,900 $583,000 $490,000 $593,745 $337,125 $367,543 $507,211 $348,688 $426,165 $478,424 $549,455 $673,743 $781,671 $714,680
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. N/A N/A $232,000 $268,410 N/A N/A $261,500 N/A N/A N/A $245,000 N/A $453,000 $474,968 $389,000
Row Housing $180,125 $227,063 $219,750 $428,983 $420,337 $330,656 $260,151 $357,286 $260,232 $243,554 $329,309 $342,204 $421,658 $487,896 $496,801
Apartment $189,481 $227,813 $254,517 $262,937 $260,488 $308,130 $331,462 $256,827 $408,528 $461,033 $334,997 $328,066 $479,956 $489,741 $506,754
Manufactured Home $84,124 $123,515 $112,550 $110,293 $88,271 $117,618 $106,067 $116,014 $103,890 $104,765 $88,805 $160,878 $168,267 $217,776 $228,660

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

 Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $351,930 $356,333 $288,292 $474,417 $290,352 $306,234 $287,950 $297,571 $307,588 $297,126 $272,820 $321,216 $368,679 $385,773 $530,893
2‐bedroom $231,289 $276,775 $313,614 $337,574 $322,602 $277,162 $373,531 $299,313 $337,266 $364,167 $326,451 $369,569 $512,156 $479,479 $463,076
3‐or‐more bedroom $315,024 $364,846 $401,719 $411,745 $417,068 $414,329 $409,770 $434,166 $389,979 $428,380 $442,072 $553,258 $641,044 $683,377 $669,104

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019)

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

8 of 12195



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 55
No‐bedroom 2
1‐bedroom 23
2‐bedroom 29
3‐or more bedroom 1

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market 51 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 194 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2019

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Multi‐Family

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12196



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 57 81 135 75 78
Source: District of Sechelt, Building Permits

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 57 81 135 75 78
Single‐Family 55 77 50 69 38
Two‐Family 2 0 0 0 0
Multi‐Family 0 5 85 6 40

Source: District of Sechelt, Building Permits

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom

1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness 20

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing / District of Sechelt
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

10 of 12197



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 3,675 100% 100% 4,045 100% 100% 4,595 100% 100%
Owner 2,965 81% 100% 3,360 83% 100% 3,545 77% 100%
Renter 710 19% 100% 685 17% 100% 1,045 23% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 860 23% 23% 925 23% 23% 1,100 24% 24%
Owner 575 16% 19% 595 15% 18% 580 13% 16%
Renter 285 8% 40% 330 8% 48% 525 11% 50%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 3,675 100% 100% 4,045 100% 100% 4,595 100% 100%
Owner 2,965 81% 100% 3,360 83% 100% 3,545 77% 100%
Renter 710 19% 100% 685 17% 100% 1,045 23% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 245 7% 7% 155 4% 4% 185 4% 4%
Owner 155 4% 5% 85 2% 3% 120 3% 3%
Renter 95 3% 13% 75 2% 11% 65 1% 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 3,675 100% 100% 4,045 100% 100% 4,595 100% 100%
Owner 2,965 81% 100% 3,360 83% 100% 3,545 77% 100%
Renter 710 19% 100% 685 17% 100% 1,045 23% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 115 3% 3% 70 2% 2% 100 2% 2%
Owner 55 1% 2% 20 0% 1% 50 1% 1%
Renter 60 2% 8% 55 1% 8% 50 1% 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 7.5%
Participation rate 51.7%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12198



Data Appendix: District of Sechelt

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 2,875 100%
Commute within CSD 2,015 70%
Commute to different CSD within CD 620 22%
Commute to different CD within BC 235 8%
Commute to different province 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 3,675 100% 100% 4,050 100% 100% 4,590 100% 100%
Owner 2,965 81% 100% 3,360 83% 100% 3,550 77% 100%
Renter 710 19% 100% 690 17% 100% 1,045 23% 100%

Total in core housing need 440 12% 12% 440 11% 11% 815 18% 18%
Owner 215 6% 7% 200 5% 6% 315 7% 9%
Renter 230 6% 32% 240 6% 35% 500 11% 48%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 3,675 100% 100% 4,050 100% 100% 4,590 100% 100%
Owner 2,965 81% 100% 3,360 83% 100% 3,550 77% 100%
Renter 710 19% 100% 690 17% 100% 1,045 23% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 160 4% 4% 175 4% 4% 345 8% 8%
Owner 80 2% 3% 100 2% 3% 110 2% 3%
Renter 75 2% 11% 70 2% 10% 225 5% 22%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 12199



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

Geography: Electoral Area A

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 2,575 2,780 2,565
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 49.3 53.2 56
Median 54.8 58 61.6
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 2,580 100% 2,780 100% 2,560 100%
0 to 14 years 265 10% 270 10% 170 7%
15 to 19 years 125 5% 120 4% 50 2%
20 to 24 years 75 3% 20 1% 65 3%
25 to 64 years 1,480 57% 1,460 53% 1,245 49%
65 to 84 years 615 24% 855 31% 980 38%
85 years and over 20 1% 70 3% 55 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 1,240 1,415 1,380
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.1 2 1.9
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 1,240 100% 1,415 100% 1,380 100%
1‐person 365 29% 410 29% 505 37%
2‐person 615 50% 790 56% 690 50%
3‐person 125 10% 90 6% 105 8%
4‐person 85 7% 110 8% 45 3%
5‐or‐more‐person 50 4% 0 0% 30 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 1,240 100% 1,415 100% 1,380 100%
Owner 1,055 85% 1,210 86% 1,150 83%
Renter 185 15% 200 14% 230 17%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12200



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 185 100% 200 100% 230 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 0 0% 10 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 2,565 2,750 2,550
Mover 235 305 290
Migrant 145 235 180
Non‐migrant 85 75 110

Non‐mover 2,330 2,445 2,260
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ 205 ‐215
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ 8.0% ‐7.7%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 2,647 2,652 2,656 2,662 2,666 2,670
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 5 9 15 19 23
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.2% 0.3% 0.6% 0.7% 0.9%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 55.6 55.7 55.8 55.9 56.0 56.0
Anticipated median age 60.7 60.7 60.8 60.8 60.9 60.9
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12201



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 2,647 100% 2,652 100% 2,656 100% 2,662 100% 2,666 100% 2,670 100%
0 to 14 years 162 6% 160 6% 157 6% 156 6% 154 6% 152 6%
15 to 19 years 71 3% 70 3% 69 3% 68 3% 67 3% 66 2%
20 to 24 years 66 2% 66 2% 67 3% 67 3% 67 3% 67 3%
25 to 64 years 1,354 51% 1,356 51% 1,357 51% 1,360 51% 1,362 51% 1,364 51%
65 to 84 years 921 35% 926 35% 931 35% 936 35% 940 35% 944 35%
85 years and over 73 3% 74 3% 75 3% 75 3% 76 3% 77 3%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 1,402 1,407 1,411 1,415 1,419 1,423
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 1.89 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $63,056 $65,300 $77,860
Median $49,173 $54,484 $53,934
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,240 100% 1,410 100% 1,385 100%
$0‐$4,999 50 4% 45 3% 25 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 35 3% 0 0% 40 3%
$10,000‐$14,999 60 5% 0 0% 45 3%
$15,000‐$19,999 125 10% 30 2% 90 6%
$20,000‐$24,999 30 2% 25 2% 65 5%
$25,000‐$29,999 100 8% 155 11% 55 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 40 3% 75 5% 90 6%
$35,000‐$39,999 80 6% 60 4% 75 5%
$40,000‐$44,999 55 4% 85 6% 65 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 45 4% 120 9% 70 5%
$50,000‐$59,999 80 6% 180 13% 100 7%
$60,000‐$69,999 85 7% 115 8% 100 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 90 7% 75 5% 65 5%
$80,000‐$89,999 65 5% 115 8% 45 3%
$90,000‐$99,999 35 3% 85 6% 90 6%
$100,000‐$124,999 125 10% 110 8% 155 11%
$125,000‐$149,999 65 5% 60 4% 80 6%
$150,000‐$199,999 35 3% 45 3% 55 4%
$200,000 and over 35 3% 15 1% 50 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

3 of 12202



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 185 100% 200 100% 230 100%
$0‐$4,999 15 8% 0 0% 15 7%
$5,000‐$9,999 0 0% 0 0% 25 11%
$10,000‐$14,999 35 19% 0 0% 30 13%
$15,000‐$19,999 15 8% 0 0% 20 9%
$20,000‐$24,999 0 0% 0 0% 25 11%
$25,000‐$29,999 25 14% 0 0% 10 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 10 5% 0 0% 25 11%
$35,000‐$39,999 0 0% 0 0% 15 7%
$40,000‐$44,999 20 11% 0 0% 10 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 10 5% 0 0% 20 9%
$50,000‐$59,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 4%
$60,000‐$69,999 10 5% 0 0% 10 4%
$70,000‐$79,999 15 8% 0 0% 10 4%
$80,000‐$89,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$90,000‐$99,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$100,000‐$124,999 20 11% 0 0% 10 4%
$125,000‐$149,999 10 5% 0 0% 10 4%
$150,000‐$199,999 10 5% 0 0% 0 0%
$200,000 and over 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,055 100% 1,215 100% 1,150 100%
$0‐$4,999 40 4% 40 3% 15 1%
$5,000‐$9,999 40 4% 0 0% 10 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 25 2% 0 0% 20 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 105 10% 20 2% 70 6%
$20,000‐$24,999 30 3% 20 2% 40 3%
$25,000‐$29,999 80 8% 150 12% 50 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 35 3% 35 3% 65 6%
$35,000‐$39,999 75 7% 55 5% 60 5%
$40,000‐$44,999 35 3% 80 7% 60 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 35 3% 95 8% 55 5%
$50,000‐$59,999 75 7% 145 12% 90 8%
$60,000‐$69,999 80 8% 90 7% 95 8%
$70,000‐$79,999 75 7% 70 6% 60 5%
$80,000‐$89,999 60 6% 90 7% 45 4%
$90,000‐$99,999 30 3% 75 6% 90 8%
$100,000‐$124,999 110 10% 100 8% 145 13%
$125,000‐$149,999 55 5% 60 5% 75 7%
$150,000‐$199,999 30 3% 45 4% 50 4%
$200,000 and over 30 3% 15 1% 50 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12203



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $63,056 $65,300 $77,860
Owner $65,881 $66,894 $86,401
Renter $46,966 $55,624 $35,322

Median $49,173 $54,484 $53,934
Owner $52,381 $56,551 $65,767
Renter $33,403 $52,320 $26,990

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,315 1,195 1,085
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,315 100% 1,195 100% 1,080 100%
All Categories 1,305 99% 1,125 94% 1,055 98%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 100 8% 85 7% 70 6%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 25 2% 0 0% 25 2%
22 Utilities 20 2% 0 0% 0 0%
23 Construction 185 14% 245 21% 200 19%
31‐33 Manufacturing 100 8% 35 3% 60 6%
41 Wholesale trade 25 2% 45 4% 30 3%
44‐45 Retail trade 160 12% 105 9% 100 9%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 35 3% 75 6% 85 8%
51 Information and cultural industries 20 2% 0 0% 30 3%
52 Finance and insurance 30 2% 10 1% 20 2%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 65 5% 20 2% 20 2%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 70 5% 55 5% 65 6%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 10 1% 0 0% 10 1%
56 Administrative and support, waste management and 
remediation services 50 4% 35 3% 65 6%
61 Educational services 80 6% 25 2% 30 3%
62 Health care and social assistance 80 6% 80 7% 70 6%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 65 5% 130 11% 15 1%
72 Accommodation and food services 95 7% 50 4% 95 9%
81 Other services (except public administration) 90 7% 50 4% 35 3%
91 Public administration 15 1% 55 5% 45 4%

Not Applicable 15 1% 0 0% 25 2%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 1,380
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12204



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 1,380 100%
Single‐detached house 1,255 91%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 60 4%
Semi‐detached house 35 3%
Row house 10 1%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 10 1%

Apartment in a building that has fewer than five storeys 0 0%
Other single‐attached house 0 0%

Movable dwelling 65 5%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 1,380
No‐bedroom 0
1‐bedroom 165
2‐bedroom 500
3‐bedroom 455
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 265

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 1,380 100%
1960 or earlier 125 9%
1961‐1980 430 31%
1981‐1990 165 12%
1991‐2000 245 18%
2001‐2010 340 25%
2011‐2016 75 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $397,036 $463,337 $526,793 $528,136 $517,790 $506,131 $487,766 $469,444 $445,757 $459,939 $479,849 $566,941 $655,984 $689,269 $692,181
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.
**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

2016

2016

N/A

6 of 12205



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $383,217 $451,902 $502,666 $508,356 $487,004 $467,266 $449,576 $440,178 $419,326 $435,526 $453,169 $534,686 $620,156 $648,594 $648,587
Dwelling with Suite $162,900 $342,500 $369,725 $362,225 $418,320 $390,340 $481,506 $499,043 $454,515 $478,119 $480,671 $568,492 $659,694 $709,526 $713,104
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. N/A $266,238 $292,647 $304,809 $325,383 $309,264 $297,509 $280,536 $253,550 $256,082 $281,841 $349,455 $393,636 $402,725 $398,529
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $147,829 $186,856 $214,260 $215,807 $187,065 $172,909 $170,740 $160,525 $160,606 $162,054 $168,969 $198,115 $222,411 $262,837 $262,337
Seasonal Dwelling $289,791 $364,488 $474,461 $463,038 $472,800 $466,885 $432,132 $383,887 $369,313 $395,429 $409,530 $484,420 $572,266 $556,301 $547,308
Other* $905,400 $1,060,000 $1,092,500 $1,039,500 $957,200 $866,500 $881,000 $849,500 $735,500 $762,500 $755,000 $774,300 $856,600 $920,400 N/A
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $601,186 $681,460 $790,036 $782,810 $765,875 $771,630 $747,085 $711,936 $668,046 $676,843 $709,843 $839,446 $968,218 $1,028,701 $1,040,984
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $297,423 $409,050 $491,292 $489,900 $392,862 $371,319 $376,363 $368,832 $352,496 $346,085 $356,288 $425,932 $482,410 $539,746 $551,779

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $296,258 $363,966 $426,221 $410,649 $403,664 $405,131 $383,690 $360,504 $339,429 $348,244 $358,981 $428,408 $483,209 $500,020 $509,667
2‐bedroom $318,016 $376,744 $430,075 $432,039 $421,837 $410,544 $394,134 $382,541 $360,836 $364,890 $380,268 $451,682 $515,498 $548,119 $548,868
3‐or‐more bedroom $479,760 $550,505 $624,145 $626,383 $615,358 $600,314 $581,081 $556,684 $529,071 $551,963 $576,630 $677,760 $788,913 $827,854 $829,161

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $426,221 $410,649 $403,664 $405,131 $383,690 $360,504 $339,429 $348,244 $358,981 $428,408 $483,209 $500,020 $509,667
2‐bedroom $905,400 $1,060,000 $430,075 $432,039 $421,837 $410,544 $394,134 $382,541 $360,836 $364,890 $380,268 $451,682 $515,498 $548,119 $548,868
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $624,145 $626,383 $615,358 $600,314 $581,081 $556,684 $529,071 $551,963 $576,630 $677,760 $788,913 $827,854 $829,161

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $376,456 $454,489 $506,502 $517,219 $387,008 $499,674 $420,785 $511,195 $483,452 $496,565 $444,783 $546,570 $566,920 $739,345 $717,698
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7 of 12206



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $402,102 $487,511 $532,784 $500,679 $393,490 $522,295 $456,339 $453,682 $446,765 $467,141 $448,236 $537,720 $598,105 $825,952 $635,012
Dwelling with Suite N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $690,000 $441,500 $618,250 $276,275 $848,750 $427,500 $496,263 $610,750 $1,180,000 $571,349
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. N/A $298,449 $164,000 $382,450 $384,770 $313,821 $290,000 $381,033 $222,000 $219,900 $257,250 $343,000 $389,038 $393,475 $450,000
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $119,613 $111,786 $164,632 $168,399 $96,630 $132,300 $103,700 $128,500 #DIV/0! $102,900 $114,250 $124,690 $148,668 $184,668 $113,095

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $699,300 $483,982 $528,278 $302,143 $348,600 $560,476 $356,071 $227,500 $211,333 $194,500 $491,500 $355,211 $475,500 $370,811 $529,750
2‐bedroom $313,981 $370,106 $358,772 $359,420 $253,759 $433,432 $379,515 $536,661 $447,912 $264,793 $385,903 $468,775 $430,790 $556,149 $458,759
3‐or‐more bedroom $394,815 $500,417 $643,776 $729,107 $476,466 $601,650 $522,520 $531,714 $527,844 $616,585 $498,882 N/A $705,694 $987,765 $887,394

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 12207



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 117 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Suite or Apartment

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12208



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 24 45 28 28 37
Source: SCRD, Building Permit Data by Electoral Area

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 110 134 124 144 156
Single‐Family 110 134 123 142 108
Two‐Family N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Suite or Apartment 0 0 1 2 48**

Source: SCRD, Building Permits

** 46 of these are for a new purpose‐built rental complex on shíshálh (SIGD)  land. 

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 
'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future zoning bylaw changes.

10 of 12209



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,170 100% 100% 1,325 100% 100% 1,305 100% 100%
Owner 1,000 85% 100% 1,135 86% 100% 1,110 85% 100%
Renter 170 15% 100% 195 15% 100% 190 15% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 260 22% 22% 255 19% 19% 255 20% 20%
Owner 195 17% 20% 165 12% 15% 175 13% 16%
Renter 65 6% 38% 90 7% 46% 80 6% 42%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,170 100% 100% 1,325 100% 100% 1,305 100% 100%
Owner 1,000 85% 100% 1,135 86% 100% 1,110 85% 100%
Renter 170 15% 100% 195 15% 100% 190 15% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 105 9% 9% 115 9% 9% 70 5% 5%
Owner 85 7% 9% 90 7% 8% 50 4% 5%
Renter 20 2% 12% 0 0% 0% 20 2% 11%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,170 100% 100% 1,325 100% 100% 1,305 100% 100%
Owner 1,000 85% 100% 1,135 86% 100% 1,110 85% 100%
Renter 170 15% 100% 195 15% 100% 190 15% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 45 4% 4% 40 3% 3% 25 2% 2%
Owner 50 4% 5% 0 0% 0% 15 1% 1%
Renter 0 0% 0% 0 0% 0% 10 1% 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12210



Data Appendix: Electoral Area A

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 8.8%
Participation rate 45.1%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 575 100%
Commute within CSD 340 59%
Commute to different CSD within CD 115 20%
Commute to different CD within BC 115 20%
Commute to different province 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,170 100% 100% 1,330 100% 100% 1,300 100% 100%
Owner 1,000 85% 100% 1,135 85% 100% 1,110 85% 100%
Renter 170 15% 100% 195 15% 100% 195 15% 100%

Total in core housing need 285 24% 24% 285 21% 21% 250 19% 19%
Owner 210 18% 21% 170 13% 15% 145 11% 13%
Renter 80 7% 47% 120 9% 62% 100 8% 51%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,170 100% 100% 1,330 100% 100% 1,300 100% 100%
Owner 1,000 85% 100% 1,135 85% 100% 1,110 85% 100%
Renter 170 15% 100% 195 15% 100% 195 15% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 110 9% 9% 70 5% 5% 110 8% 8%
Owner 80 7% 8% 20 2% 2% 60 5% 5%
Renter 35 3% 21% 50 4% 26% 45 3% 23%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006

12 of 12211



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

Geography: Electoral District B

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 2,545 2,510 2,710
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 45 45.4 49.3
Median 49 49.8 55.7
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 2,550 100% 2,515 100% 2,705 100%
0 to 14 years 335 13% 330 13% 300 11%
15 to 19 years 210 8% 150 6% 115 4%
20 to 24 years 80 3% 165 7% 100 4%
25 to 64 years 1,420 56% 1,420 56% 1,490 55%
65 to 84 years 470 18% 395 16% 635 23%
85 years and over 45 2% 45 2% 55 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 1,125 1,080 1,250
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.3 2.3 2.2
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 1,125 100% 1,080 100% 1,250 100%
1‐person 280 25% 300 28% 370 30%
2‐person 515 46% 405 38% 580 46%
3‐person 140 12% 170 16% 145 12%
4‐person 140 12% 135 13% 90 7%
5‐or‐more‐person 45 4% 70 6% 70 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 1,125 100% 1,080 100% 1,250 100%
Owner 975 87% 990 92% 1,030 82%
Renter 150 13% 90 8% 215 17%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12212



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 150 100% 90 100% 215 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 2,515 2,490 2,695
Mover 385 110 375
Migrant 240 90 195
Non‐migrant 140 20 180

Non‐mover 2,130 2,380 2,320
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ ‐35 200
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ ‐1.4% 8.0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 2,756 2,762 2,769 2,775 2,780 2,786
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 6 13 19 24 30
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.2% 0.5% 0.7% 0.9% 1.1%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 49.3 49.4 49.4 49.5 49.5 49.6
Anticipated median age 55.1 55.1 55.2 55.2 55.2 55.3
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12213



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 2,756 100% 2,762 100% 2,769 100% 2,775 100% 2,780 100% 2,786 100%
0 to 14 years 312 11% 310 11% 309 11% 307 11% 306 11% 304 11%
15 to 19 years 131 5% 131 5% 131 5% 131 5% 131 5% 131 5%
20 to 24 years 84 3% 85 3% 86 3% 87 3% 87 3% 88 3%
25 to 64 years 1,472 53% 1,475 53% 1,479 53% 1,482 53% 1,485 53% 1,488 53%
65 to 84 years 700 25% 704 25% 707 26% 710 26% 713 26% 717 26%
85 years and over 57 2% 57 2% 57 2% 58 2% 58 2% 58 2%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 1,264 1,268 1,271 1,275 1,278 1,281
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.18 2.18 2.18 2.18 2.18 2.17
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $71,000 $78,797 $83,945
Median $62,280 $66,945 $65,939
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,125 100% 1,080 100% 1,250 100%
$0‐$4,999 50 4% 0 0% 25 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 20 2% 20 2% 25 2%
$10,000‐$14,999 25 2% 0 0% 45 4%
$15,000‐$19,999 35 3% 0 0% 60 5%
$20,000‐$24,999 30 3% 25 2% 65 5%
$25,000‐$29,999 60 5% 40 4% 45 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 40 4% 35 3% 35 3%
$35,000‐$39,999 50 4% 30 3% 50 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 55 5% 55 5% 30 2%
$45,000‐$49,999 55 5% 50 5% 75 6%
$50,000‐$59,999 110 10% 120 11% 90 7%
$60,000‐$69,999 105 9% 90 8% 105 8%
$70,000‐$79,999 115 10% 105 10% 80 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 95 8% 60 6% 75 6%
$90,000‐$99,999 55 5% 80 7% 110 9%
$100,000‐$124,999 100 9% 105 10% 115 9%
$125,000‐$149,999 60 5% 50 5% 60 5%
$150,000‐$199,999 40 4% 100 9% 120 10%
$200,000 and over 20 2% 25 2% 35 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

3 of 12214



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 150 100% 90 100% 215 100%
$0‐$4,999 10 7% 0 0% 10 5%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 10% 0 0% 0 0%
$10,000‐$14,999 10 7% 0 0% 25 12%
$15,000‐$19,999 10 7% 0 0% 15 7%
$20,000‐$24,999 10 7% 0 0% 30 14%
$25,000‐$29,999 20 13% 0 0% 15 7%
$30,000‐$34,999 25 17% 0 0% 25 12%
$35,000‐$39,999 10 7% 0 0% 0 0%
$40,000‐$44,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 10 7% 0 0% 0 0%
$50,000‐$59,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$60,000‐$69,999 10 7% 0 0% 25 12%
$70,000‐$79,999 0 0% 15 17% 15 7%
$80,000‐$89,999 20 13% 0 0% 15 7%
$90,000‐$99,999 0 0% 0 0% 15 7%
$100,000‐$124,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 5%
$125,000‐$149,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$150,000‐$199,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$200,000 and over 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 975 100% 985 100% 1,030 100%
$0‐$4,999 40 4% 0 0% 15 1%
$5,000‐$9,999 10 1% 0 0% 30 3%
$10,000‐$14,999 20 2% 0 0% 20 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 30 3% 0 0% 40 4%
$20,000‐$24,999 25 3% 15 2% 40 4%
$25,000‐$29,999 40 4% 0 0% 30 3%
$30,000‐$34,999 15 2% 30 3% 10 1%
$35,000‐$39,999 40 4% 25 3% 45 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 45 5% 55 6% 30 3%
$45,000‐$49,999 50 5% 50 5% 70 7%
$50,000‐$59,999 110 11% 120 12% 90 9%
$60,000‐$69,999 100 10% 90 9% 80 8%
$70,000‐$79,999 115 12% 85 9% 65 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 75 8% 65 7% 65 6%
$90,000‐$99,999 55 6% 80 8% 95 9%
$100,000‐$124,999 100 10% 110 11% 105 10%
$125,000‐$149,999 60 6% 45 5% 60 6%
$150,000‐$199,999 35 4% 100 10% 110 11%
$200,000 and over 20 2% 20 2% 35 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12215



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $71,000 $78,797 $83,945
Owner $76,162 $82,419 $91,673
Renter $37,120 $39,664 $47,520

Median $62,280 $66,945 $65,939
Owner $66,474 $71,150 $73,148
Renter $33,835 $25,179 $32,288

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,375 1,240 1,315
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,375 100% 1,245 100% 1,315 100%
All Categories 1,355 99% 1,240 100% 1,315 100%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 25 2% 30 2% 55 4%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 25 2% 45 4% 25 2%
22 Utilities 25 2% 0 0% 0 0%
23 Construction 180 13% 240 19% 165 13%
31‐33 Manufacturing 70 5% 75 6% 30 2%
41 Wholesale trade 35 3% 25 2% 25 2%
44‐45 Retail trade 165 12% 175 14% 140 9%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 65 5% 40 3% 30 2%
51 Information and cultural industries 40 3% 45 4% 65 5%
52 Finance and insurance 30 2% 30 2% 50 4%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 30 2% 40 3% 45 3%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 160 12% 75 6% 135 10%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management 
and remediation services 110 8% 40 3% 95 7%
61 Educational services 95 7% 125 10% 115 9%
62 Health care and social assistance 105 8% 95 8% 95 7%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 50 4% 35 3% 55 4%
72 Accommodation and food services 70 5% 25 2% 90 7%
81 Other services (except public administration) 55 4% 70 6% 40 3%
91 Public administration 25 2% 35 3% 55 4%

Not Applicable 20 1% 0 0% 0 0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 1,250
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12216



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 1,250 100%
Single‐detached house 1,190 95%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 45 4%
Semi‐detached house 25 2%
Row house 0 0%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 10 1%
Apartment in a building that has fewer than five 
storeys 10 1%
Other single‐attached house 10 1%

Movable dwelling 20 2%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 1,250
No‐bedroom 0
1‐bedroom 120
2‐bedroom 330
3‐bedroom 535
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 265

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 1,250 100%
1960 or earlier 65 5%
1961‐1980 335 27%
1981‐1990 290 23%
1991‐2000 320 26%
2001‐2010 180 14%
2011‐2016 50 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $517,264 $492,324 $532,777 $530,962 $526,978 $564,508 $541,307 $533,222 $504,752 $520,336 $543,168 $653,507 $774,228 $861,921 $804,106
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

2016

2016

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

6 of 12217



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $418,840 $476,708 $521,115 $521,812 $517,879 $557,913 $527,226 $520,648 $492,304 $509,507 $528,766 $635,925 $756,335 $844,273 $784,648
Dwelling with Suite $331,500 $371,500 $414,333 $481,000 $491,875 $501,875 $657,338 $642,338 $607,735 $623,437 $708,522 $841,872 $1,002,529 $1,099,266 $1,018,646
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $334,000 $308,000
Row Housing $163,193 $269,520 $290,927 $290,927 $285,183 $296,017 $301,953 $302,127 $302,127 $290,270 $230,847 $288,577 $327,970 $401,683 $398,770
Apartment
Manufactured Home $215,285 $266,443 $291,384 $285,239 $267,154 $283,247 $285,448 $271,049 $257,159 $268,366 $289,400 $314,489 $382,484 $480,152 $421,945
Seasonal Dwelling $506,225 $572,692 $590,829 $576,143 $552,510 $596,534 $574,320 $563,333 $515,192 $538,104 $553,822 $660,580 $754,165 $821,519 $778,853
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $637,855 $700,675 $756,066 $742,502 $758,772 $796,631 $769,884 $752,692 $732,057 $734,453 $758,510 $931,431 $1,085,770 $1,181,374 $1,115,432
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $2,168,850 $2,388,450 $1,101,900 $1,099,300 $541,150 $534,229 $275,350 $247,233 $214,778 $196,590 $194,510 $290,800 $405,013 $541,378 $537,850

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $391,507 $442,903 $477,140 $474,454 $456,245 $489,263 $457,700 $441,538 $409,554 $422,421 $433,172 $531,535 $629,869 $699,145 $647,766
2‐bedroom $396,307 $445,785 $479,786 $471,833 $461,324 $495,694 $468,844 $457,504 $435,073 $446,876 $466,643 $562,389 $671,283 $762,038 $704,256
3‐or‐more bedroom $639,124 $527,209 $571,353 $573,335 $574,192 $613,414 $591,899 $586,061 $554,104 $571,279 $597,719 $715,998 $845,227 $932,529 $873,359

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $477,140 $474,454 $456,245 $489,263 $457,700 $441,538 $409,554 $422,421 $433,172 $531,535 $629,869 $699,145 $647,766
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $479,786 $471,833 $461,324 $495,694 $468,844 $457,504 $435,073 $446,876 $466,643 $562,389 $671,283 $762,038 $704,256
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $571,353 $573,335 $574,192 $613,414 $591,899 $586,061 $554,104 $571,279 $597,719 $715,998 $845,227 $932,529 $873,359

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $372,074 $446,383 $465,416 $464,351 $479,419 $543,777 $585,326 $494,039 $466,571 $498,947 $505,676 $639,848 $802,980 $729,938 $788,206
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

N/A

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7 of 12218



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $393,976 $483,703 $504,888 $505,871 $471,178 $544,329 $555,028 $538,088 $407,160 $521,276 $467,920 $678,068 $734,279 $783,942 $733,826
Dwelling with Suite N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $375,000 $358,333 N/A $972,000 $633,333 $500,000 $868,143 $1,359,511 $711,714 $816,000
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $344,000 N/A
Row Housing $163,000 $263,250 $291,533 N/A N/A $285,000 $318,000 N/A N/A $230,000 $246,500 $267,670 $344,667 $411,667 $382,500
Apartment
Manufactured Home $183,415 $123,484 $205,583 $202,257 $257,740 $264,643 $283,000 $235,750 $310,000 $278,875 $312,250 $219,237 $493,875 $303,875 $417,500

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $328,750 $433,694 $243,875 $416,333 $294,500 $625,833 $365,000 $818,060 $390,000 $294,500 $450,800 $380,625 $577,250 $705,143 $541,250
2‐bedroom $288,908 $397,141 $449,775 $487,421 $430,045 $463,743 $541,625 $373,935 $367,948 $464,563 $411,605 $446,130 $769,682 $679,978 $678,577
3‐or‐more bedroom $422,863 $484,274 $502,894 $454,735 $510,627 $569,949 $606,435 $519,752 $525,643 $529,960 $563,223 N/A $841,945 $768,386 $847,060

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 12219



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 72 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Suite or Apartment

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12220



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 20 17 25 26 24
Source: SCRD, Building Permit Data by Electoral Area

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 110 134 124 144 156
Single‐Family 110 134 123 142 108
Two‐Family N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Suite or Apartment 0 0 1 2 48**

Source: SCRD, Building Permits

** 46 of these are for a new purpose‐built rental complex on  shíshálh (SIGD)  land. 

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

N/A

N/A

N/A

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future 
zoning bylaw changes.

N/A

N/A

10 of 12221



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,055 100% 100% 1,045 100% 100% 1,185 100% 100%
Owner 935 89% 100% 960 92% 100% 985 83% 100%
Renter 120 11% 100% 85 8% 100% 200 17% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 300 28% 28% 245 23% 23% 285 24% 24%
Owner 220 21% 24% 220 21% 23% 180 15% 18%
Renter 80 8% 67% 20 2% 24% 100 8% 50%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,055 100% 100% 1,045 100% 100% 1,185 100% 100%
Owner 935 89% 100% 960 92% 100% 985 83% 100%
Renter 120 11% 100% 85 8% 100% 200 17% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 80 8% 8% 85 8% 8% 85 7% 7%
Owner 70 7% 7% 50 5% 5% 75 6% 8%
Renter 10 1% 8% 35 3% 41% 15 1% 8%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,055 100% 100% 1,045 100% 100% 1,185 100% 100%
Owner 935 89% 100% 960 92% 100% 985 83% 100%
Renter 120 11% 100% 85 8% 100% 200 17% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 30 3% 3% 60 6% 6% 40 3% 3%
Owner 30 3% 3% 55 5% 6% 30 3% 3%
Renter 0 0% 0% 0 0% 0% 15 1% 8%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12222



Data Appendix: Electoral Area B

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 7.6%
Participation rate 54.6%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 645 100%
Commute within CSD 65 10%
Commute to different CSD within CD 525 81%
Commute to different CD within BC 50 8%
Commute to different province 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,055 100% 100% 1,045 100% 100% 1,185 100% 100%
Owner 935 89% 100% 960 92% 100% 985 83% 100%
Renter 120 11% 100% 85 8% 100% 200 17% 100%

Total in core housing need 210 20% 20% 120 11% 11% 145 12% 12%
Owner 135 13% 14% 70 7% 7% 60 5% 6%
Renter 75 7% 63% 45 4% 53% 80 7% 40%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,055 100% 100% 1,045 100% 100% 1,185 100% 100%
Owner 935 89% 100% 960 92% 100% 985 83% 100%
Renter 120 11% 100% 85 8% 100% 200 17% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 70 7% 7% 20 2% 2% 85 7% 7%
Owner 45 4% 5% 0 0% 0% 30 3% 3%
Renter 25 2% 21% 0 0% 0% 55 5% 28%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 12223



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

Geography: Electoral District D

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 3,280 3,270 3,420
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 40 44 45.6
Median 44 49.4 49.9
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 3,280 100% 3,270 100% 3,415 100%
0 to 14 years 605 18% 530 16% 495 14%
15 to 19 years 245 7% 170 5% 200 6%
20 to 24 years 125 4% 170 5% 105 3%
25 to 64 years 1,915 58% 1,820 56% 1,840 54%
65 to 84 years 350 11% 500 15% 720 21%
85 years and over 40 1% 75 2% 60 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 1,355 1,370 1,505
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.4 2.4 2.3
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 1,355 100% 1,370 100% 1,505 100%
1‐person 375 28% 375 27% 395 26%
2‐person 485 36% 490 36% 640 43%
3‐person 200 15% 215 16% 225 15%
4‐person 195 14% 200 15% 180 12%
5‐or‐more‐person 105 8% 95 7% 65 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 1,355 100% 1,370 100% 1,505 100%
Owner 1,110 82% 1,055 77% 1,150 76%
Renter 245 18% 320 23% 355 24%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12224



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 245 100% 315 100% 360 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 0 0% 15 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 3,240 3,245 3,405
Mover 395 265 570
Migrant 215 215 370
Non‐migrant 180 50 200

Non‐mover 2,845 2,980 2,840
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ ‐10 150
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ ‐0.3% 4.6%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 3,443 3,448 3,453 3,457 3,462 3,466
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 5 10 14 19 23
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.1% 0.3% 0.4% 0.6% 0.7%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 46.6 46.7 46.8 46.8 46.9 47.0
Anticipated median age 51.4 51.5 51.6 51.6 51.7 51.8
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12225



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 3,443 100% 3,448 100% 3,453 100% 3,457 100% 3,462 100% 3,466 100%
0 to 14 years 462 13% 459 13% 455 13% 453 13% 450 13% 447 13%
15 to 19 years 194 6% 194 6% 194 6% 193 6% 193 6% 193 6%
20 to 24 years 122 4% 123 4% 123 4% 123 4% 124 4% 124 4%
25 to 64 years 1,839 53% 1,840 53% 1,842 53% 1,844 53% 1,845 53% 1,847 53%
65 to 84 years 775 23% 781 23% 787 23% 792 23% 798 23% 803 23%
85 years and over 51 1% 51 1% 52 2% 52 2% 52 2% 52 2%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 1,525 1,529 1,532 1,536 1,539 1,542
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.26 2.26 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $82,842 $71,547 $81,388
Median $65,470 $58,403 $60,172
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,355 100% 1,370 100% 1,510 100%
$0‐$4,999 20 1% 50 4% 30 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 1% 35 3% 20 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 50 4% 95 7% 55 4%
$15,000‐$19,999 65 5% 45 3% 75 5%
$20,000‐$24,999 30 2% 20 1% 60 4%
$25,000‐$29,999 75 6% 75 5% 65 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 35 3% 40 3% 85 6%
$35,000‐$39,999 85 6% 70 5% 80 5%
$40,000‐$44,999 110 8% 50 4% 70 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 55 4% 25 2% 70 5%
$50,000‐$59,999 95 7% 215 16% 135 9%
$60,000‐$69,999 70 5% 50 4% 95 6%
$70,000‐$79,999 115 8% 90 7% 140 9%
$80,000‐$89,999 90 7% 95 7% 70 5%
$90,000‐$99,999 60 4% 135 10% 40 3%
$100,000‐$124,999 110 8% 100 7% 155 10%
$125,000‐$149,999 110 8% 55 4% 100 7%
$150,000‐$199,999 120 9% 70 5% 70 5%
$200,000 and over 35 3% 55 4% 85 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

2006 2011 2016

3 of 12226



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 245 100% 315 100% 355 100%
$0‐$4,999 10 4% 50 16% 20 6%
$5,000‐$9,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$10,000‐$14,999 25 10% 0 0% 30 8%
$15,000‐$19,999 0 0% 0 0% 35 10%
$20,000‐$24,999 10 4% 0 0% 20 6%
$25,000‐$29,999 0 0% 40 13% 20 6%
$30,000‐$34,999 10 4% 0 0% 25 7%
$35,000‐$39,999 35 14% 25 8% 35 10%
$40,000‐$44,999 45 18% 30 10% 20 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 15 6% 0 0% 30 8%
$50,000‐$59,999 20 8% 0 0% 30 8%
$60,000‐$69,999 25 10% 0 0% 20 6%
$70,000‐$79,999 20 8% 0 0% 20 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 15 6% 0 0% 0 0%
$90,000‐$99,999 15 6% 0 0% 10 3%
$100,000‐$124,999 0 0% 0 0% 20 6%
$125,000‐$149,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 3%
$150,000‐$199,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$200,000 and over 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,110 100% 1,055 100% 1,150 100%
$0‐$4,999 15 1% 0 0% 15 1%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 1% 0 0% 15 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 25 2% 90 9% 25 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 65 6% 20 2% 40 3%
$20,000‐$24,999 20 2% 20 2% 40 3%
$25,000‐$29,999 70 6% 35 3% 45 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 30 3% 30 3% 60 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 50 5% 45 4% 45 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 65 6% 25 2% 50 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 40 4% 20 2% 45 4%
$50,000‐$59,999 75 7% 195 18% 105 9%
$60,000‐$69,999 50 5% 40 4% 80 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 100 9% 80 8% 115 10%
$80,000‐$89,999 75 7% 55 5% 60 5%
$90,000‐$99,999 50 5% 125 12% 30 3%
$100,000‐$124,999 115 10% 90 9% 135 12%
$125,000‐$149,999 110 10% 55 5% 90 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 120 11% 65 6% 65 6%
$200,000 and over 35 3% 55 5% 85 7%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12227



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $82,842 $71,547 $81,388
Owner $90,495 $80,293 $92,388
Renter $48,131 $42,424 $46,123

Median $65,470 $58,403 $60,172
Owner $76,022 $69,901 $71,640
Renter $43,052 $31,695 $39,822

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,865 1,835 1,895
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,865 100% 1,835 100% 1,900 100%
All Categories 1,845 99% 1,760 96% 1,870 98%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 105 6% 60 3% 80 4%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 10 1% 0 0% 30 2%
22 Utilities 10 1% 20 1% 10 1%
23 Construction 220 12% 190 10% 165 9%
31‐33 Manufacturing 130 7% 95 5% 120 6%
41 Wholesale trade 45 2% 45 2% 45 2%
44‐45 Retail trade 215 12% 330 18% 255 9%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 80 4% 30 2% 70 4%
51 Information and cultural industries 20 1% 25 1% 30 2%
52 Finance and insurance 10 1% 20 1% 45 2%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 100 5% 60 3% 30 2%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 155 8% 130 7% 170 9%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management 
and remediation services 85 5% 50 3% 90 5%
61 Educational services 195 10% 85 5% 150 8%
62 Health care and social assistance 175 9% 250 14% 200 11%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 60 3% 95 5% 70 4%
72 Accommodation and food services 115 6% 80 4% 150 8%
81 Other services (except public administration) 80 4% 90 5% 105 6%
91 Public administration 40 2% 55 3% 55 3%

Not Applicable 20 1% 75 4% 30 2%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 1,510
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12228



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 1,510 100%
Single‐detached house 1,360 90%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 95 6%
Semi‐detached house 25 2%
Row house 0 0%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 60 4%
Apartment in a building that has fewer than five 
storeys 0 0%
Other single‐attached house 0 0%

Movable dwelling 55 4%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 1,510
No‐bedroom 10
1‐bedroom 135
2‐bedroom 440
3‐bedroom 535
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 385

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 1,510 100%
1960 or earlier 195 13%
1961‐1980 465 31%
1981‐1990 250 17%
1991‐2000 285 19%
2001‐2010 255 17%
2011‐2016 55 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $684,301 $568,203 $626,358 $629,469 $614,135 $648,015 $629,280 $588,558 $556,071 $575,485 $585,983 $751,339 $850,753 $975,785 $956,194
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

2016

2016

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

6 of 12229



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $493,382 $582,429 $637,915 $639,603 $627,766 $650,861 $632,200 $585,712 $551,030 $573,687 $590,717 $758,389 $861,686 $987,653 $955,448
Dwelling with Suite $330,500 $388,300 $434,218 $438,491 $411,417 $406,550 $500,254 $483,362 $457,471 $466,398 $506,669 $656,520 $768,925 $868,962 $852,491
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $460,000 $430,500
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $150,892 $187,483 $212,951 $208,207 $161,698 $168,840 $185,974 $174,929 $165,268 $169,796 $179,888 $219,458 $232,715 $283,685 $275,265
Seasonal Dwelling $653,308 $760,680 $821,777 $803,500 $776,190 $806,235 $738,590 $658,825 $616,610 $684,395 $656,400 $849,610 $935,240 $1,134,910 $1,121,090
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $545,330 $640,860 $713,089 $718,616 $688,512 $750,788 $726,227 $687,373 $654,982 $667,179 $664,015 $856,460 $962,925 $1,099,759 $1,101,032
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $250,240 $331,083 $428,300 $396,625 $401,944 $455,328 $467,594 $433,985 $392,259 $389,192 $399,372 $478,512 $557,129 $687,895 $677,595

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $399,853 $481,958 $526,851 $518,886 $498,512 $531,602 $515,036 $478,586 $450,025 $465,623 $473,731 $632,834 $712,468 $833,523 $805,686
2‐bedroom $382,020 $457,578 $502,307 $505,329 $485,401 $511,039 $499,140 $467,134 $440,825 $460,004 $468,732 $607,514 $692,729 $799,544 $778,394
3‐or‐more bedroom $983,008 $624,746 $688,003 $690,600 $675,004 $710,789 $687,449 $640,996 $606,483 $625,255 $636,052 $811,147 $916,283 $1,046,607 $1,020,670

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $526,851 $518,886 $498,512 $531,602 $515,036 $478,586 $450,025 $465,623 $473,731 $632,834 $712,468 $833,523 $805,686
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $502,307 $505,329 $485,401 $511,039 $499,140 $467,134 $440,825 $460,004 $468,732 $607,514 $692,729 $799,544 $778,394
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $688,003 $690,600 $675,004 $710,789 $687,449 $640,996 $606,483 $625,255 $636,052 $811,147 $916,283 $1,046,607 $1,020,670

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $366,375 $574,901 $497,548 $531,949 $564,363 $511,463 $548,077 $549,399 $504,079 $514,650 $577,088 $710,561 $838,585 $941,508 $789,236
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

7 of 12230



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $388,740 $626,806 $541,298 $561,953 $547,536 $531,327 $557,148 $566,741 $531,782 $548,014 $627,797 $695,003 $798,915 $926,419 $815,663
Dwelling with Suite N/A $570,000 $377,000 $441,250 N/A $520,000 $359,000 $592,500 $498,700 N/A $570,750 $706,167 $954,750 $988,000 $656,500
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $115,464 $178,629 $162,287 $140,113 $137,150 $154,530 $62,125 $151,333 $116,000 $252,333 $156,560 $210,000 $169,900 $141,867 $296,631

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $542,900 $674,571 $415,000 $341,000 $599,000 $517,333 $439,000 $717,500 $416,400 $261,500 $393,000 $841,500 $425,167 $605,000 $760,000
2‐bedroom $226,938 $397,656 $497,100 $471,823 $263,600 $487,011 $597,806 $526,266 $378,500 $527,000 $439,983 $625,344 $637,667 $715,132 $610,067
3‐or‐more bedroom $426,054 $637,481 $501,054 $581,106 $693,623 $522,521 $537,500 $554,136 $554,628 $534,081 $631,677 N/A $888,498 $1,003,979 $907,357

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 12231



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 240 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Suite or Apartment

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12232



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 25 16 23 20 17
Source: SCRD, Building Permit Data by Electoral Area

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 110 134 124 144 156
Single‐Family 110 134 123 142 108
Two‐Family N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Suite or Apartment 0 0 1 2 48**

Source: SCRD, Building Permits

** 46 of these are for a new purpose‐built rental complex on  shíshálh (SIGD)  land.

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

N/A

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that
have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future zoning bylaw changes.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

10 of 12233



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,290 100% 100% 1,270 100% 100% 1,375 100% 100%
Owner 1,070 83% 100% 1,025 81% 100% 1,055 77% 100%
Renter 225 17% 100% 245 19% 100% 315 23% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 290 22% 22% 300 24% 24% 320 23% 23%
Owner 235 18% 22% 180 14% 18% 180 13% 17%
Renter 55 4% 24% 120 9% 49% 140 10% 44%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,290 100% 100% 1,270 100% 100% 1,375 100% 100%
Owner 1,070 83% 100% 1,025 81% 100% 1,055 77% 100%
Renter 225 17% 100% 245 19% 100% 315 23% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 100 8% 8% 150 12% 12% 100 7% 7%
Owner 70 5% 7% 120 9% 12% 60 4% 6%
Renter 30 2% 13% 30 2% 12% 35 3% 11%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12234



Data Appendix: Electoral Area D

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,290 100% 100% 1,270 100% 100% 1,375 100% 100%
Owner 1,070 83% 100% 1,025 81% 100% 1,055 77% 100%
Renter 225 17% 100% 245 19% 100% 315 23% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 85 7% 7% 50 4% 4% 35 3% 3%
Owner 35 3% 3% 25 2% 2% 10 1% 1%
Renter 45 3% 20% 25 2% 10% 20 1% 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 5.0%
Participation rate 65.0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 1,095 100%
Commute within CSD 175 16%
Commute to different CSD within CD 745 68%
Commute to different CD within BC 150 14%
Commute to different province 15 1%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,290 100% 100% 1,265 100% 100% 1,370 100% 100%
Owner 1,065 83% 100% 1,025 81% 100% 1,050 77% 100%
Renter 220 17% 100% 240 19% 100% 315 23% 100%

Total in core housing need 230 18% 18% 165 13% 13% 255 19% 19%
Owner 165 13% 15% 80 6% 8% 115 8% 11%
Renter 70 5% 32% 90 7% 38% 140 10% 44%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,290 100% 100% 1,265 100% 100% 1,370 100% 100%
Owner 1,065 83% 100% 1,025 81% 100% 1,050 77% 100%
Renter 220 17% 100% 240 19% 100% 315 23% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 85 7% 7% 100 8% 8% 100 7% 7%
Owner 65 5% 6% 50 4% 5% 45 3% 4%
Renter 15 1% 7% 45 4% 19% 50 4% 16%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 12235



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

Geography: Electoral District E

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 3,505 3,550 3,620
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 40.3 44.2 44.7
Median 44.4 48.8 49.2
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 3,505 100% 3,545 100% 3,620 100%
0 to 14 years 630 18% 570 16% 585 16%
15 to 19 years 290 8% 240 7% 220 6%
20 to 24 years 110 3% 140 4% 160 4%
25 to 64 years 2,030 58% 1,960 55% 1,900 52%
65 to 84 years 440 13% 600 17% 675 19%
85 years and over 10 0% 45 1% 75 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 1,415 1,430 1,535
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.5 2.5 2.4
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 1,415 100% 1,430 100% 1,535 100%
1‐person 330 23% 310 22% 415 27%
2‐person 550 39% 575 40% 600 39%
3‐person 215 15% 225 16% 200 13%
4‐person 220 16% 220 15% 245 16%
5‐or‐more‐person 105 7% 105 7% 75 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 1,415 100% 1,430 100% 1,535 100%
Owner 1,230 87% 1,325 93% 1,275 83%
Renter 185 13% 110 8% 260 17%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12236



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 185 100% 115 100% 260 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 0 0% 35 13%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 3,480 3,550 3,610
Mover 490 360 595
Migrant 345 200 240
Non‐migrant 140 160 355

Non‐mover 2,990 3,185 3,020
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ 45 70
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ 1.3% 2.0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 3,688 3,694 3,698 3,704 3,708 3,712
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 6 10 16 20 24
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.2% 0.3% 0.4% 0.5% 0.7%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 45.8 45.9 46.0 46.0 46.1 46.2
Anticipated median age 50.8 50.8 50.9 50.9 51 51
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12237



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 3,688 100% 3,694 100% 3,698 100% 3,704 100% 3,708 100% 3,712 100%
0 to 14 years 561 15% 559 15% 556 15% 555 15% 552 15% 550 15%
15 to 19 years 191 5% 190 5% 189 5% 188 5% 188 5% 187 5%
20 to 24 years 136 4% 136 4% 136 4% 136 4% 137 4% 137 4%
25 to 64 years 1,997 54% 2,000 54% 2,003 54% 2,006 54% 2,008 54% 2,010 54%
65 to 84 years 730 20% 735 20% 740 20% 744 20% 748 20% 752 20%
85 years and over 73 2% 74 2% 74 2% 75 2% 75 2% 76 2%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 1,566 1,570 1,574 1,577 1,580 1,583
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.36 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.34
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $72,720 $87,048 $85,061
Median $60,091 $70,751 $70,501
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,415 100% 1,435 100% 1,535 100%
$0‐$4,999 35 2% 20 1% 25 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 1% 0 0% 20 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 20 1% 20 1% 35 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 60 4% 25 2% 75 5%
$20,000‐$24,999 60 4% 95 7% 80 5%
$25,000‐$29,999 80 6% 45 3% 40 3%
$30,000‐$34,999 120 8% 75 5% 75 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 65 5% 30 2% 45 3%
$40,000‐$44,999 70 5% 80 6% 85 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 70 5% 50 3% 90 6%
$50,000‐$59,999 125 9% 110 8% 90 6%
$60,000‐$69,999 55 4% 150 10% 105 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 95 7% 115 8% 130 8%
$80,000‐$89,999 85 6% 135 9% 75 5%
$90,000‐$99,999 80 6% 70 5% 80 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 190 13% 160 11% 165 11%
$125,000‐$149,999 95 7% 75 5% 80 5%
$150,000‐$199,999 95 7% 125 9% 165 11%
$200,000 and over 10 1% 40 3% 80 5%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

2006 2011 2016

3 of 12238



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 185 100% 115 100% 255 100%
$0‐$4,999 15 8% 0 0% 10 4%
$5,000‐$9,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$10,000‐$14,999 10 5% 0 0% 10 4%
$15,000‐$19,999 0 0% 0 0% 60 24%
$20,000‐$24,999 10 5% 0 0% 30 12%
$25,000‐$29,999 30 16% 0 0% 20 8%
$30,000‐$34,999 30 16% 0 0% 20 8%
$35,000‐$39,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$40,000‐$44,999 20 11% 0 0% 10 4%
$45,000‐$49,999 15 8% 0 0% 0 0%
$50,000‐$59,999 10 5% 0 0% 25 10%
$60,000‐$69,999 0 0% 0 0% 15 6%
$70,000‐$79,999 10 5% 0 0% 15 6%
$80,000‐$89,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 4%
$90,000‐$99,999 10 5% 0 0% 10 4%
$100,000‐$124,999 20 11% 0 0% 10 4%
$125,000‐$149,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 4%
$150,000‐$199,999 0 0% 0 0% 20 8%
$200,000 and over 0 0% 0 0% 10 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 1,225 100% 1,320 100% 1,275 100%
$0‐$4,999 20 2% 20 2% 25 2%
$5,000‐$9,999 15 1% 0 0% 10 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 10 1% 15 1% 25 2%
$15,000‐$19,999 60 5% 25 2% 15 1%
$20,000‐$24,999 50 4% 90 7% 50 4%
$25,000‐$29,999 50 4% 45 3% 20 2%
$30,000‐$34,999 95 8% 70 5% 60 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 55 4% 30 2% 35 3%
$40,000‐$44,999 50 4% 70 5% 70 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 60 5% 40 3% 85 7%
$50,000‐$59,999 115 9% 105 8% 70 5%
$60,000‐$69,999 50 4% 120 9% 90 7%
$70,000‐$79,999 85 7% 105 8% 115 9%
$80,000‐$89,999 85 7% 135 10% 70 5%
$90,000‐$99,999 65 5% 65 5% 70 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 170 14% 155 12% 165 13%
$125,000‐$149,999 95 8% 70 5% 75 6%
$150,000‐$199,999 90 7% 115 9% 150 12%
$200,000 and over 10 1% 40 3% 75 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12239



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $72,720 $87,048 $85,061
Owner $76,474 $88,259 $92,080
Renter $47,959 $72,668 $50,458

Median $60,091 $70,751 $70,501
Owner $69,437 $72,658 $74,915
Renter $38,734 $63,044 $27,239

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,935 1,910 1,935
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,935 100% 1,910 100% 1,940 100%
All Categories 1,905 98% 1,890 99% 1,930 99%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 110 6% 45 2% 85 4%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 15 1% 15 1% 10 1%
22 Utilities 10 1% 0 0% 0 0%
23 Construction 280 14% 145 8% 210 11%
31‐33 Manufacturing 280 14% 185 10% 185 10%
41 Wholesale trade 40 2% 75 4% 65 3%
44‐45 Retail trade 235 12% 270 14% 245 9%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 95 5% 100 5% 125 6%
51 Information and cultural industries 50 3% 55 3% 40 2%
52 Finance and insurance 80 4% 115 6% 40 2%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 35 2% 30 2% 25 1%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 75 4% 135 7% 150 8%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management 
and remediation services 65 3% 120 6% 85 4%
61 Educational services 85 4% 90 5% 125 6%
62 Health care and social assistance 155 8% 155 8% 145 7%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 40 2% 65 3% 85 4%
72 Accommodation and food services 115 6% 170 9% 185 10%
81 Other services (except public administration) 95 5% 55 3% 75 4%
91 Public administration 55 3% 55 3% 55 3%

Not Applicable 25 1% 20 1% 0 0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 1,535
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12240



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 1,535 100%
Single‐detached house 1,400 91%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 90 6%
Semi‐detached house 20 1%
Row house 0 0%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 50 3%
Apartment in a building that has fewer than five 
storeys 10 1%
Other single‐attached house 10 1%

Movable dwelling 45 3%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 1,530
No‐bedroom 10
1‐bedroom 135
2‐bedroom 370
3‐bedroom 625
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 390

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 1,535 100%
1960 or earlier 145 9%
1961‐1980 470 31%
1981‐1990 315 21%
1991‐2000 330 21%
2001‐2010 220 14%
2011‐2016 50 3%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $514,499 $377,003 $415,322 $419,005 $414,656 $428,396 $411,186 $401,241 $393,124 $391,808 $417,976 $543,164 $623,904 $704,901 $695,830
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

2016

2016

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

6 of 12241



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $353,727 $414,196 $455,821 $459,663 $455,394 $466,216 $441,624 $428,033 $425,113 $420,064 $452,173 $586,749 $672,798 $763,613 $740,274
Dwelling with Suite $292,000 $335,217 $361,483 $404,488 $445,856 $477,515 $462,573 $451,930 $446,556 $430,480 $462,874 $601,557 $712,251 $802,631 $770,092
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $232,750 $317,400 $361,800 $361,800 $383,000 $384,200 $360,400 $356,600 $360,800 $337,400 $376,800 $494,800 $527,200 $494,250 $455,000
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $94,730 $115,946 $126,994 $125,548 $101,907 $105,430 $109,183 $110,212 $108,374 $102,399 $109,017 $129,290 $134,325 $177,454 $228,594
Seasonal Dwelling $421,929 $485,444 $533,575 $528,538 $532,994 $517,569 $501,294 $443,718 $437,312 $446,218 $491,441 $671,675 $816,412 $893,231 $877,038
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $437,396 $530,590 $576,690 $578,402 $563,830 $596,409 $582,342 $581,239 $524,791 $547,095 $551,466 $736,403 $841,621 $917,534 $968,065
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $235,560 $298,500 $334,375 $398,917 $432,195 $462,805 $458,982 $451,971 $424,125 $457,600 $435,555 $579,152 $607,167 $681,585 $744,480

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $330,938 $411,724 $453,073 $453,640 $439,784 $452,995 $433,089 $413,424 $402,218 $400,525 $417,074 $543,661 $622,200 $721,461 $724,700
2‐bedroom $214,025 $257,613 $291,234 $292,669 $291,327 $298,738 $294,317 $294,134 $283,843 $290,308 $310,766 $408,084 $466,543 $515,943 $514,831
3‐or‐more bedroom $800,393 $421,780 $461,894 $465,816 $459,838 $476,111 $453,553 $437,262 $429,858 $426,301 $454,824 $590,261 $677,767 $765,774 $755,905

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $453,073 $453,640 $439,784 $452,995 $433,089 $413,424 $402,218 $400,525 $417,074 $543,661 $622,200 $721,461 $724,700
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $291,234 $292,669 $291,327 $298,738 $294,317 $294,134 $283,843 $290,308 $310,766 $408,084 $466,543 $515,943 $514,831
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $461,894 $465,816 $459,838 $476,111 $453,553 $437,262 $429,858 $426,301 $454,824 $590,261 $677,767 $765,774 $755,905

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $299,889 $321,239 $406,107 $374,655 $391,204 $360,438 $395,246 $341,203 $387,642 $417,668 $440,656 $511,259 $627,934 $675,626 $698,217
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

N/A

N/A

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7 of 12242



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $358,177 $438,570 $480,541 $425,171 $453,257 $459,535 $483,917 $438,618 $455,130 $439,892 $489,225 $546,669 $737,250 $750,409 $821,683
Dwelling with Suite $237,803 N/A N/A $290,000 N/A $559,000 $504,000 $439,611 $465,510 $384,300 $542,542 $660,250 $845,164 $757,071 $702,000
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $66,880 $98,779 $79,953 $104,550 $86,750 $126,074 $95,194 $127,488 $93,809 $50,500 $63,200 $94,732 $170,081 $171,247 $223,690

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $344,083 $441,333 $416,200 $290,000 $434,000 $325,000 $700,000 $362,600 $412,667 $537,167 $570,000 $447,150 $570,000 $690,000 $825,000
2‐bedroom $176,366 $171,283 $242,874 $282,381 $275,056 $245,849 $282,084 $215,898 $232,563 $291,955 $307,790 $392,025 $405,278 $344,808 $520,533
3‐or‐more bedroom $340,840 $399,006 $454,843 $410,430 $453,457 $418,990 $452,616 $402,571 $456,390 $444,624 $509,680 N/A $693,390 $740,469 $758,657

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 12243



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 64 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Suite or Apartment

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12244



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 14 35 19 28 10
Source: SCRD, Building Permit Data by Electoral Area

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 110 134 124 144 156
Single‐Family 110 134 123 142 108
Two‐Family N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Suite or Apartment 0 0 1 2 48**

Source: SCRD, Building Permits

** 46 of these are for a new purpose‐built rental complex on  shíshálh (SIGD)  land. 

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

N/A

N/A

N/A

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future zoning bylaw 
changes.

N/A

N/A

10 of 12245



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,355 100% 100% 1,380 100% 100% 1,470 100% 100%
Owner 1,185 87% 100% 1,275 92% 100% 1,220 83% 100%
Renter 170 13% 100% 105 8% 100% 250 17% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 275 20% 20% 230 17% 17% 305 21% 21%
Owner 210 15% 18% 210 15% 16% 175 12% 14%
Renter 70 5% 41% 20 1% 19% 125 9% 50%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,355 100% 100% 1,380 100% 100% 1,470 100% 100%
Owner 1,185 87% 100% 1,275 92% 100% 1,220 83% 100%
Renter 170 13% 100% 105 8% 100% 250 17% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 90 7% 7% 105 8% 8% 100 7% 7%
Owner 65 5% 5% 110 8% 9% 85 6% 7%
Renter 20 1% 12% 0 0% 0% 15 1% 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 1,355 100% 100% 1,380 100% 100% 1,470 100% 100%
Owner 1,185 87% 100% 1,275 92% 100% 1,220 83% 100%
Renter 170 13% 100% 105 8% 100% 250 17% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 50 4% 4% 50 4% 4% 70 5% 5%
Owner 35 3% 3% 40 3% 3% 40 3% 3%
Renter 15 1% 9% 0 0% 0% 30 2% 12%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12246



Data Appendix: Electoral Area E

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 6.2%
Participation rate 63.7%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 1,195 100%
Commute within CSD 60 5%
Commute to different CSD within CD 950 79%
Commute to different CD within BC 185 15%
Commute to different province 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,360 100% 100% 1,380 100% 100% 1,470 100% 100%
Owner 1,185 87% 100% 1,275 92% 100% 1,220 83% 100%
Renter 170 13% 100% 110 8% 100% 245 17% 100%

Total in core housing need 265 19% 19% 65 5% 5% 175 12% 12%
Owner 185 14% 16% 60 4% 5% 55 4% 5%
Renter 75 6% 44% 0 0% 0% 115 8% 47%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 1,360 100% 100% 1,380 100% 100% 1,470 100% 100%
Owner 1,185 87% 100% 1,275 92% 100% 1,220 83% 100%
Renter 170 13% 100% 110 8% 100% 245 17% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 105 8% 8% 25 2% 2% 90 6% 6%
Owner 80 6% 7% 20 1% 2% 15 1% 1%
Renter 25 2% 15% 0 0% 0% 75 5% 31%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 12247



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

Geography: Electoral District F

3(1)(a)(i) Total Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Population 2,220 1,875 1,990
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(ii),(iii) Average and Median Age in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Average 43.2 46.1 50.2
Median 46.9 50.3 55.3
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(iv) Age Group Distribution in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 2,225 100% 1,875 100% 1,990 100%
0 to 14 years 350 16% 210 11% 215 11%
15 to 19 years 105 5% 105 6% 65 3%
20 to 24 years 95 4% 65 3% 85 4%
25 to 64 years 1,320 59% 1,135 61% 1,075 54%
65 to 84 years 315 14% 300 16% 520 26%
85 years and over 20 1% 40 2% 40 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(v) Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Households 975 890 955
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vi) Average Private Household Size
2006 2011 2016

Average household size 2.3 2.1 2.1
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(vii) Private Households by Size

# % # % # %
Total 975 100% 890 100% 955 100%
1‐person 275 28% 250 28% 295 31%
2‐person 410 42% 420 47% 425 45%
3‐person 120 12% 100 11% 125 13%
4‐person 95 10% 80 9% 75 8%
5‐or‐more‐person 75 8% 35 4% 35 4%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(viii) Private Households by Tenure

# % # % # %
Total 975 100% 890 100% 955 100%
Owner 735 75% 650 73% 775 81%
Renter 235 24% 235 26% 185 19%
Other (Band Housing) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

1 of 12248



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

3(1)(a)(ix) Renter Private Households in Subsidized Housing (Subsidized Rental Housing Data Not Collected Until 2011)

# % # % # %
Renter households 235 100% 235 100% 180 100%
Renter households in subsidized housing N/A N/A 0 0% 10 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(a)(x) Mobility Status of Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Total 2,215 1,855 1,975
Mover 285 320 365
Migrant 180 180 260
Non‐migrant 100 145 100

Non‐mover 1,935 1,530 1,615
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(b) Population Growth in Private Households (period between indicated census and census preceding it) 
2006 2011 2016

Growth (#) ‐ ‐345 115
Percentage Growth (%) ‐ ‐15.5% 6.1%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

3(1)(c) Number of Students Enrolled in Post‐Secondary Institutions Located in the Area
2006 2011 2016

Students 0 0 0
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training

3(1)(d) Number of Individuals Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

3(2)(a) Anticipated Population
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated population 2,049 2,050 2,051 2,052 2,053 2,055
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(b) Anticipated Population Growth (from 2020 to indicated period)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated growth (#) ‐ 1 2 3 4 6
Anticipated percentage growth (%) ‐ 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.3%
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(c),(d) Anticipated Average and Median Age
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average age 49.9 50.0 50.1 50.1 50.2 50.3
Anticipated median age 55 55 55.1 55.2 55.2 55.3
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

2006 2011 2016

2 of 12249



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

3(2)(e) Anticipated Age Group Distribution

# % # % # % # % # % # %
Anticipated total 2,049 100% 2,050 100% 2,051 100% 2,052 100% 2,053 100% 2,055 100%
0 to 14 years 215 10% 213 10% 211 10% 209 10% 207 10% 205 10%
15 to 19 years 82 4% 82 4% 81 4% 81 4% 80 4% 80 4%
20 to 24 years 86 4% 87 4% 87 4% 87 4% 87 4% 88 4%
25 to 64 years 1,096 53% 1,095 53% 1,095 53% 1,095 53% 1,096 53% 1,095 53%
65 to 84 years 518 25% 520 25% 523 25% 526 26% 529 26% 532 26%
85 years and over 52 3% 53 3% 54 3% 54 3% 54 3% 55 3%

Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(f) Anticipated Households
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated households 951 953 954 956 958 959
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

3(2)(g) Anticipated Average Household Size
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Anticipated average household size 2.15 2.15 2.15 2.15 2.14 2.14
Source: Derived from BC Stats Population Estimates/Projections, and Statistics Canada Census Program Data

4(a),(b) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income
2006 2011 2016

Average $75,473 $88,922 $87,109
Median $61,995 $68,767 $65,729
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(c) Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 975 100% 885 100% 955 100%
$0‐$4,999 25 3% 45 5% 25 3%
$5,000‐$9,999 30 3% 0 0% 10 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 35 4% 0 0% 40 4%
$15,000‐$19,999 20 2% 25 3% 10 1%
$20,000‐$24,999 50 5% 55 6% 60 6%
$25,000‐$29,999 40 4% 80 9% 40 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 0 0% 20 2% 60 6%
$35,000‐$39,999 70 7% 40 5% 35 4%
$40,000‐$44,999 40 4% 60 7% 45 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 40 4% 45 5% 35 4%
$50,000‐$59,999 110 11% 30 3% 55 6%
$60,000‐$69,999 65 7% 85 10% 95 10%
$70,000‐$79,999 50 5% 85 10% 75 8%
$80,000‐$89,999 75 8% 40 5% 60 6%
$90,000‐$99,999 75 8% 45 5% 40 4%
$100,000‐$124,999 80 8% 75 8% 85 9%
$125,000‐$149,999 45 5% 60 7% 75 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 75 8% 50 6% 45 5%
$200,000 and over 30 3% 35 4% 60 6%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

20252020 2021 2022 2023 2024

2006 2011 2016

3 of 12250



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

4(d) Before‐Tax Renter Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 235 100% 235 100% 180 100%
$0‐$4,999 10 4% 0 0% 15 8%
$5,000‐$9,999 0 0% 0 0% 10 6%
$10,000‐$14,999 15 6% 0 0% 20 11%
$15,000‐$19,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$20,000‐$24,999 40 17% 0 0% 20 11%
$25,000‐$29,999 10 4% 0 0% 15 8%
$30,000‐$34,999 0 0% 0 0% 25 14%
$35,000‐$39,999 15 6% 0 0% 10 6%
$40,000‐$44,999 0 0% 40 17% 10 6%
$45,000‐$49,999 10 4% 0 0% 15 8%
$50,000‐$59,999 55 23% 0 0% 10 6%
$60,000‐$69,999 10 4% 35 15% 10 6%
$70,000‐$79,999 10 4% 0 0% 0 0%
$80,000‐$89,999 15 6% 0 0% 10 6%
$90,000‐$99,999 10 4% 0 0% 0 0%
$100,000‐$124,999 15 6% 0 0% 15 8%
$125,000‐$149,999 0 0% 0 0% 15 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
$200,000 and over 10 4% 0 0% 0 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

4(e) Before‐Tax Owner Private Household Income by Income Bracket

# % # % # %
Total 735 100% 650 100% 770 100%
$0‐$4,999 20 3% 0 0% 10 1%
$5,000‐$9,999 25 3% 0 0% 10 1%
$10,000‐$14,999 15 2% 0 0% 25 3%
$15,000‐$19,999 10 1% 0 0% 10 1%
$20,000‐$24,999 15 2% 20 3% 35 5%
$25,000‐$29,999 30 4% 70 11% 30 4%
$30,000‐$34,999 10 1% 0 0% 35 5%
$35,000‐$39,999 55 7% 30 5% 25 3%
$40,000‐$44,999 35 5% 25 4% 40 5%
$45,000‐$49,999 30 4% 45 7% 20 3%
$50,000‐$59,999 55 7% 25 4% 50 6%
$60,000‐$69,999 60 8% 45 7% 90 12%
$70,000‐$79,999 45 6% 90 14% 70 9%
$80,000‐$89,999 65 9% 25 4% 55 7%
$90,000‐$99,999 65 9% 45 7% 40 5%
$100,000‐$124,999 65 9% 70 11% 70 9%
$125,000‐$149,999 40 5% 35 5% 60 8%
$150,000‐$199,999 80 11% 40 6% 45 6%
$200,000 and over 20 3% 30 5% 60 8%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

4 of 12251



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

4(f),(g) Average and Median Before‐Tax Private Household Income by Tenure
2006 2011 2016

Average $75,473 $88,922 $87,109
Owner $82,709 $96,258 $96,766
Renter $52,998 $68,584 $46,498

Median $61,995 $68,767 $65,729
Owner $71,969 $70,876 $71,319
Renter $47,272 $44,809 $33,984

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(a) Workers in the Labour Force for Population in Private Households
2006 2011 2016

Workers in labour force 1,280 1,075 1,060
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

5(b) Workers by NAICS Sector for Population in Private Households

# % # % # %
Total 1,280 100% 1,075 100% 1,060 100%
All Categories 1,270 99% 1,040 97% 1,055 100%
11 Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 40 3% 70 7% 45 4%
21 Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
22 Utilities 10 1% 0 0% 10 1%
23 Construction 210 16% 75 7% 95 9%
31‐33 Manufacturing 125 10% 115 11% 85 8%
41 Wholesale trade 15 1% 0 0% 0 0%
44‐45 Retail trade 105 8% 85 8% 125 9%
48‐49 Transportation and warehousing 115 9% 155 14% 75 7%
51 Information and cultural industries 30 2% 10 1% 20 2%
52 Finance and insurance 10 1% 0 0% 20 2%
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 30 2% 0 0% 20 2%
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 95 7% 70 7% 100 9%
55 Management of companies and enterprises 25 2% 0 0% 0 0%
56 Administrative and support, waste management 
and remediation services 70 5% 55 5% 65 6%
61 Educational services 130 10% 85 8% 120 11%
62 Health care and social assistance 100 8% 100 9% 105 10%
71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 35 3% 35 3% 35 3%
72 Accommodation and food services 65 5% 25 2% 65 6%
81 Other services (except public administration) 25 2% 55 5% 35 3%
91 Public administration 40 3% 35 3% 35 3%

Not Applicable 15 1% 0 0% 0 0%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(a) Housing Units for Private Households
2016

Housing units 955
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

5 of 12252



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(1)(b) Housing Units by Structural Type for Private Households

# %
Total 955 100%
Single‐detached house 875 92%
Apartment in a building that has five or more storeys 0 0%
Other attached dwelling 70 7%
Semi‐detached house 0 0%
Row house 10 1%
Apartment or flat in a duplex 60 6%
Apartment in a building that has fewer than five 
storeys 0 0%
Other single‐attached house 0 0%

Movable dwelling 15 2%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(c) Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms for Private Households
2016

Total 955
No‐bedroom 10
1‐bedroom 115
2‐bedroom 255
3‐bedroom 285
4‐or‐more‐bedroom 295

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(d) Housing by Period of Construction for Private Households

# %
Total 960 100%
1960 or earlier 170 18%
1961‐1980 280 29%
1981‐1990 150 16%
1991‐2000 155 16%
2001‐2010 125 13%
2011‐2016 65 7%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(e) Subsidized Housing Units
2016

Subsidized housing units 560*
Source: Data Set Published by BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Data from BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(1)(f)(i) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $399,778 $476,087 $552,050 $543,358 $541,475 $569,299 $553,535 $540,037 $525,850 $536,042 $560,474 $688,507 $760,565 $840,335 $827,485
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

2016

2016

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

6 of 12253



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(1)(f)(ii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family $363,518 $429,773 $496,975 $498,294 $485,038 $499,769 $483,413 $469,239 $447,631 $465,584 $480,445 $600,916 $648,957 $708,277 $693,543
Dwelling with Suite $486,567 $417,809 $474,782 $474,782 $472,873 $479,654 $475,195 $467,081 $449,215 $459,362 $517,120 $657,498 $734,888 $807,524 $780,102
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc. $146,600 $154,800 $159,700 $159,700 $192,700 $177,600 $188,500 $181,200 $164,000 $158,900 $224,500 $276,000 $277,000 N/A N/A
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $77,535 $92,277 $78,607 $78,595 $81,900 $86,117 $95,921 $114,800 $112,472 $108,945 $120,662 $143,911 $144,697 $183,177 $181,354
Seasonal Dwelling $232,275 $259,547 $301,297 $301,081 $300,797 $297,629 $285,414 $274,095 $256,126 $269,668 $271,774 $310,715 $347,779 $368,142 $373,887
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex) $562,890 $632,013 $705,488 $703,488 $709,129 $744,571 $719,169 $700,397 $675,115 $614,846 $647,885 $750,905 $824,132 $908,717 $897,439
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home) $406,300 $517,500 $584,933 $584,933 $529,600 $464,175 $476,175 $432,300 $392,600 $370,213 $389,278 $483,556 $530,644 $694,167 $715,850

Median Assessed Value by Structural Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home
Seasonal Dwelling
Other*
2 Acres or More (Single Family Dwelling, Duplex)
2 Acres or More (Manufactured Home)

Source: BC Assessment
*“Other” includes properties subject to section 19(8) of the Assessment Act.
**Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(f)(iii) Average and Median Assessed Housing Values by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $299,645 $346,533 $383,145 $376,922 $372,563 $381,271 $370,114 $356,872 $332,513 $341,524 $350,707 $408,280 $445,002 $483,180 $484,530
2‐bedroom $280,216 $334,504 $391,908 $392,116 $387,414 $397,093 $384,718 $374,706 $358,514 $373,936 $386,555 $462,525 $505,106 $545,661 $543,459
3‐or‐more bedroom $514,857 $614,855 $714,252 $698,204 $699,145 $745,163 $725,731 $709,457 $699,111 $705,683 $742,919 $927,371 $1,030,643 $1,149,983 $1,125,616

Median Assessed Value by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom N/A N/A $383,145 $376,922 $372,563 $381,271 $370,114 $356,872 $332,513 $341,524 $350,707 $408,280 $445,002 $483,180 $484,530
2‐bedroom N/A N/A $391,908 $392,116 $387,414 $397,093 $384,718 $374,706 $358,514 $373,936 $386,555 $462,525 $505,106 $545,661 $543,459
3‐or‐more bedroom N/A N/A $714,252 $698,204 $699,145 $745,163 $725,731 $709,457 $699,111 $705,683 $742,919 $927,371 $1,030,643 $1,149,983 $1,125,616

Source: BC Assessment
*Median value is taken from the set of properties of the given type with the highest folio count. Where the highest folio count is a tie, the average of the medians associated with the tied highest folio counts is taken

6(1)(g)(i) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average $321,038 $397,036 $393,524 $469,302 $438,996 $596,849 $425,694 $461,618 $411,117 $454,063 $644,831 $573,496 $623,025 $769,837 $636,664
Median
Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

N/A

N/A

***All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7 of 12254



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(1)(g)(ii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Structure Type
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family $336,712 $446,711 $468,645 $505,916 $455,405 $697,580 $383,778 $532,487 $468,163 $461,558 $494,287 $623,733 $611,911 $742,604 $611,781
Dwelling with Suite N/A N/A $279,250 N/A N/A $425,000 $421,000 $451,063 $316,875 $594,167 $558,292 $514,692 $605,800 $818,563 $638,286
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home $135,180 $122,200 $49,190 $51,083 $116,500 $63,750 N/A $80,000 $285,000 $41,000 $68,500 $109,000 $238,333 N/A $143,000

Median Sales Price by Structure Type
Single Family
Dwelling with Suite
Duplex, Triplex, Fourplex, etc.
Row Housing
Apartment
Manufactured Home

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(g)(iii) Average and Median Housing Sale Prices by Number of Bedrooms
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Average Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom $268,664 $386,500 $312,421 $357,450 $383,500 $175,000 $258,967 $274,000 $307,093 $275,833 $442,000 $296,995 $289,625 $521,932 $380,000
2‐bedroom $276,780 $271,999 $377,025 $350,042 $472,333 $599,694 $368,429 $472,600 $372,426 $432,154 $622,565 $549,883 $386,694 $840,923 $620,409
3‐or‐more bedroom $357,855 $486,451 $422,093 $524,463 $430,403 $611,000 $464,870 $472,697 $449,929 $488,208 $672,163 $612,089 $796,054 $791,184 $667,600

Median Sales Price by Number of Bedrooms
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedroom

Source: BC Assessment
*Information for the median values of individuals units has not been provided. Additionally, given the information available, no estimation approach was identified that would provide a reasonable estimate of the median value across entire types.

6(1)(h)(i) Average and Median Monthly Rent
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
Median
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

N/A

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

**All BC Assessment assessed values are based on the valuation date of the prior year (i.e. 2020 assessed values are as of July 1, 2019). Sales prices are collected from the year’s previous July to the current year’s July (e.g. 2020 sales prices are from July 1, 2018 to July 1, 2019).

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

8 of 12255



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(1)(h)(ii) Average and Median Monthly Rent by Number of Bedrooms
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

Median
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more‐bedrooms

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(i),(j) Vacancy Rate by Number of Bedrooms
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or more bedroom

Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey

6(1)(k)(i),(ii),(iii) Rental Housing Units by Market
Units Date

Primary rental market N/A 2019
Secondary rental market N/A N/A
Short‐term rental market 84 2020‐04‐13
Source: CMHC Primary Rental Market Survey, AirDNA

6(1)(l) Units in Housing Cooperatives
2020

Units in housing cooperatives 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(m)(i) Housing Units Demolished
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of units demolished

6(1)(m)(ii) Housing Units Demolished by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Single‐Family
Two‐Family
Suite or Apartment

6(1)(m)(iii) Housing Units Demolished by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 of 12256



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(1)(m)(iv) Housing Units Demolished by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐or‐more bedrooms

6(1)(n)(i) Housing Units Substantially Completed
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Housing units completed 25 29 26 30 21
Source: SCRD, Building Permit Data by Electoral Area

6(1)(n)(ii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Structure Type
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total 110 134 124 144 156
Single‐Family 110 134 123 142 108
Two‐Family N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Suite or Apartment 0 0 1 2 48**

Source: SCRD, Building Permits

** 46 of these are for a new purpose‐built rental complex on  shíshálh (SIGD)  land. 

6(1)(n)(iii) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Tenure
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
Owner
Renter
Other (Band Housing)

6(1)(n)(iv) Housing Units Substantially Completed by Number of Bedrooms
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total
No‐bedroom
1‐bedroom
2‐bedroom
3‐bedroom

6(1)(o) Number of Beds Provided for Students by Post‐Secondary Institutions in the Area
2020

Number of beds 0
Source: Data Set Published by the BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

6(1)(p) Number of Beds Provided by Shelters for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness and Units Provided for Individuals at Risk of Experiencing Homelessness
2020

Beds for individuals experiencing homelessness N/A

Beds for individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness 73*
Source: BC Housing
*All emergency shelter units in the whole SCRD, including shelter beds for individuals experiencing homelessness.

N/A

N/A

N/A

*Note that this data does not counts only those suites constructed with a building permit at an independent time from the corresponding single family dwelling and does not count the dwellings that have 'roughed in' suites at time of construction in anticipation of future zoning bylaw 
changes.

N/A

N/A

10 of 12257



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

6(3)(a) New Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New homes registered 220 274 210
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(b) New Homes Registered by Structure Type*
2016 2017 2018

Total 220 274 210
Single‐detached house 213 171 201
Multi‐family unit 7 100 9
Purpose‐built rental 0 3 0

Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

6(3)(c) New Purpose‐Built Rental Homes Registered*
2016 2017 2018

New purpose‐built rental homes registered 0 3 0
Source: BC Housing
*This data is for SCRD as a whole.

7(a)(i),(ii) Unaffordable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 920 100% 100% 835 100% 100% 900 100% 100%
Owner 695 76% 100% 625 75% 100% 750 83% 100%
Renter 225 24% 100% 205 25% 100% 150 17% 100%
Total households in unaffordable housing 180 20% 20% 145 17% 17% 205 23% 23%
Owner 115 13% 17% 95 11% 15% 135 15% 18%
Renter 60 7% 27% 55 7% 27% 60 7% 40%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(iii),(iv) Inadequate Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 920 100% 100% 835 100% 100% 900 100% 100%
Owner 695 76% 100% 625 75% 100% 750 83% 100%
Renter 225 24% 100% 205 25% 100% 150 17% 100%
Total households in inadequate housing 115 13% 13% 40 5% 5% 55 6% 6%
Owner 75 8% 11% 40 5% 6% 50 6% 7%
Renter 40 4% 18% 0 0% 0% 0 0% 0%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(a)(v),(vi) Unsuitable Housing by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total households 920 100% 100% 835 100% 100% 900 100% 100%
Owner 695 76% 100% 625 75% 100% 750 83% 100%
Renter 225 24% 100% 205 25% 100% 150 17% 100%
Total households in unsuitable housing 35 4% 4% 25 3% 3% 30 3% 3%
Owner 0 0% 0% 0 0% 0% 15 2% 2%
Renter 40 4% 18% 0 0% 0% 15 2% 10%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

2006 2011 2016

11 of 12258



Data Appendix: Electoral Area F

7(b),(c) Unemployment and Participation Rates for Population in Private Households
2016

Unemployment rate 5.2%
Participation rate 59.7%
Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

7(d),(e),(f),(g) Commute to Work for Population in Private Households

# %
Total 595 100%
Commute within CSD 130 22%
Commute to different CSD within CD 355 60%
Commute to different CD within BC 100 17%
Commute to different province 10 2%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(i),(ii) Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 920 100% 100% 835 100% 100% 900 100% 100%
Owner 700 76% 100% 625 75% 100% 750 83% 100%
Renter 220 24% 100% 205 25% 100% 155 17% 100%

Total in core housing need 195 21% 21% 80 10% 10% 100 11% 11%
Owner 100 11% 14% 40 5% 6% 50 6% 7%
Renter 95 10% 43% 45 5% 22% 50 6% 32%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

8(1)(a)(iii),(iv) Extreme Core Housing Need by Tenure for Private Households

# % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure # % of total % of tenure
Total 920 100% 100% 835 100% 100% 900 100% 100%
Owner 700 76% 100% 625 75% 100% 750 83% 100%
Renter 220 24% 100% 205 25% 100% 155 17% 100%

Total in extreme core housing need 45 5% 5% 25 3% 3% 45 5% 5%
Owner 15 2% 2% 0 0% 0% 20 2% 3%
Renter 30 3% 14% 15 2% 7% 25 3% 16%

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

2006 2011 2016

2016

2006 2011 2016

12 of 12259



Appendix C
Full Engagement  
Summary 

260



261



Contents 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

262



Communities 

263



Age 

28%

31%

5%

5%

11%

14%

6%
Town of Gibsons

District of Sechelt

Electoral Area A - Egmont / Pender
Harbour

Electoral Area B – Halfmoon Bay

Electoral Area D - Roberts Creek

Electoral Area E - Elphinstone

Electoral Area F - West Howe Sound

1% 1%

11%

19%

18%

19%

27%

6%
1%1%

0-19

20-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

Prefer not to say

264



Indigenous Population  

Household Type and Size 

Household Income 

4%

93%

3%

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

22%

47%

12%

12%

6%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

1

2

3

4

5+

Number of Respondents

265



Household Type  

Current Home 

9%

19%

16%

15%

11%

14%

5%

3%
8%

Less than $20,000

$20,000 - $39,999

$40,000 - $59,999

$60,000 - $79,999

$80,000 - $99,999

$100,000 - $149,999

$150,000 - $199,999

$200,000 and over

Prefer not to say / I don’t know

3%

2%

3%

4%

8%

19%

21%

39%

0 50 100 150 200 250

Other

I live with my parent(s)

I live with roommates

I live in a multi-generational home (e.g., with children and parents)

I am a single parent living with children

I live with my spouse / partner – with children 

I live on my own

I live with my spouse / partner – without children 

Number of Respondents

266



1%

2%

32%

65%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

No fixed address

Neither rent or own (e.g. live rent free with parents or adult
children)

Rent

Own

Number of Respondents

5%

5%

5%

3%

0%

0%

1%

1%

11%

70%

9%

2%

3%

4%

5%

5%

11%

11%

15%

37%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Other

Single-detached home with coach house

Row house or a townhouse

Duplex

Room in a house / apartment shared with others

Coach house (detached suite)

Apartment unit

Secondary suite

Single-detached home with secondary suite

Single detached home

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=193) Owners (N=286)

267



1%

1%

3%

27%

41%

28%

2%

4%

27%

32%

28%

7%

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Other

Studio unit

1 bedroom

2 bedrooms

3 bedrooms

4 or more bedrooms

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=194) Owners (N=389)

268



Current Housing Costs 

2%

5%

13%

10%

6%

9%

8%

10%

7%

10%

10%

9%

1%

4%

2%

6%

14%

13%

15%

18%

8%

14%

5%

1%

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Prefer not to say / I don’t know

Less than $25

$250 - $499

$500 - $749

$750 - $999

$1,000 - $1,249

$1,250- $1,499

$1,500 - $1,749

$1,750 - $1,999

$2,000 - $2,499

$2,500 - $2,999

$3,000 or more

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=194) Owners (N=387)

2%

3%

95%

2%

17%

81%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Prefer not to say

Yes

No

Number of Respondents

Rent (N=194) Owners (N=390)

269



Affordability 

55%

27%

18%

30%

58%

12%

0%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

Other

Rental Subsidy

Financial assistance from family, relatives or friends

Government grant/loan

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=33) Owners (N=11)

9%

23%

68%

11%

56%

33%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Not Sure

No

Yes

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=194) Owners (N=388)

270



Barriers 

4%

29%

1%

0%

4%

4%

4%

5%

9%

19%

22%

3%

1%

1%

3%

3%

4%

5%

7%

8%

11%

14%

19%

21%

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Other

None of the above

Lack of elevator or other accessibility supports

Discrimination during screening, for example, being denied
a rental due to ethnicity, sexual orientation / other

Too far from transit

Too far from employment opportunities

Not selected by the landlord/did not hear back from
landlord and no reason given

Restricted due to strata / apartment rules (e.g., no pets,
children, etc.)

Couldn’t get financing to purchase a home 

Poor quality of housing of the type I’m looking for 

Cost of a home purchase was too high

Limited supply of the type of home I was looking for

Cost of rent was too high

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=786) Owners (N=596)

271



Current and Anticipated Housing Challenges  

4%

14%

14%

20%

8%

2%

9%

4%

9%

5%

10%

4%

3%

12%

2%

3%

4%

3%

2%

8%

18%

19%

21%

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Other

I have not experienced and do not anticipate any housing
challenges

None of the above

Home is in poor condition or dated and in need of repairs

Home is unsuitable for my mobility and accessibility needs

Home does not provide enough parking

Home is not well served by public transit

Home is too far from public amenities like libraries, parks,
and open spaces

Home is too large for my needs

Home is too small for my needs

I’m unsure about the stability of my rental lease 

I’m unsure about whether I will be able to afford future 
rent or mortgage payments payments

I’m unsure about whether I will be able to purchase a home 

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=529) Owners (N=566)

272



Community Housing Issues 

Housing Priorities 

1%

1%

2%

3%

5%

6%

7%

7%

7%

8%

8%

9%

11%

12%

13%

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Other

Lack of larger homes / units

Mismatch between who needs housing and what type of housing is
available

Lack of housing near employment opportunities

Homes in the community need maintenance or repair

Unstable rental tenure (i.e. rental housing is not long term, concern
about being evicted)

Lack of supportive housing for people with disabilities

Lack of supportive housing for people with mental health issues

Lack of smaller homes / units

Lack of downsizing options for seniors

Seniors without adequate at-home care

Lack of supportive housing for seniors

High cost of buying a home

High cost of renting

Low availability of rentals

Number of Respondents

273



3%

3%

4%

5%

6%

6%

7%

8%

8%

8%

10%

11%

11%

11%

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Other

Apartment buildings with 5 or more storeys

Movable dwellings (e.g. mobile home, houseboat, RV)

Duplexes

Market rental

Single-detached homes

Emergency housing/homeless shelters

Row houses or town houses

Apartment buildings with fewer than 5 storeys

Buildings with dedicated rental units

Detached suites (e.g. garden suite, carriage house, coach house)

Below market rental

Co-operative housing

Assisted living facilities

Number of Respondents

274



Communities 

 

 

 

 

 

Age 

23%

65%

6%

6%

Town of Gibsons

District of Sechelt

Electoral Area B – Halfmoon Bay

Electoral Area D - Roberts Creek

275



Indigenous Population  

Household Type and Size 

6%

12%

12%

17%

18%

29%

6%

Prefer not to say

0-19

20-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

18%

70%

12%

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

276



Household Income 

Household Type  

25%

25%

13%

19%

19%

0 1 2 3 4 5

1

2

3

4

5+

Number of Respondents

41%

35%

18%

6%

Less than $20,000

$20,000 - $39,999

$40,000 - $59,999

$80,000 - $99,999

277



Current Home 

6%

6%

12%

24%

29%

24%

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

I live with roommates

I live in a multi-generational home (e.g., with children and parents)

I am a single parent living with children

I live with my spouse / partner – with children 

I live on my own

I live with my spouse / partner – without children 

Number of Respondents

88%

12%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16

Rent

Own

Number of Respondents

278



Current Housing Costs 

50%

50%

14%

36%

29%

21%

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

Studio unit

1 bedroom

2 bedrooms

3 bedrooms

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=15) Owners (N=2)

43%

14%

14%

14%

14%

10%

10%

10%

30%

20%

10%

10%

0 1 2 3 4

$250 - $499

$500 - $749

$750 - $999

$1,000 - $1,249

$1,250- $1,499

$1,500 - $1,749

$1,750 - $1,999

$2,000 - $2,499

$2,500 - $2,999

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=15) Owners (N=2)

279



Affordability 

100%

0%

73%

27%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Yes

No

Number of Respondents

Rent (N=15) Owners (N=2)

50%

50%

80%

10%

10%

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Other

Rental Subsidy

Financial assistance from family, relatives or friends

Government grant/loan

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=10) Owners (N=2)

280



Barriers 

50%

50%

13%

67%

20%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Not Sure

No

Yes

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=15) Owners (N=2)

50%

50%

4%

3%

8%

7%

5%

14%

12%

16%

15%

15%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Other

Lack of elevator or other accessibility supports

Discrimination during screening, for example, being denied a rental
due to ethnicity, sexual orientation / other

Too far from transit

Too far from employment opportunities

Couldn’t get financing to purchase a home 

Poor quality of housing of the type I’m looking for 

Cost of a home purchase was too high

Limited supply of the type of home I was looking for

Cost of rent was too high

Number of Respondents

Renters (N=73) Owners (N=2)

281



Current and Anticipated Housing Challenges  

100%

3%

13%

3%

2%

6%

3%

8%

3%

15%

15%

10%

16%

3%

2%

18%

11%

2%

2%

11%

18%

20%

14%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Other

Home is in poor condition or dated and in need of repairs

Home is unsuitable for my mobility and accessibility needs

Home does not provide enough parking

Home is not well served by public transit

Home is too far from public amenities like libraries, parks, and
open spaces

Homw is too far from employment opportunities

Home lacks adequate storage

Home is too large for my needs

Home is too small for my needs

I’m unsure about the stability of my rental lease

I’m unsure about whether I will be able to afford future rent or 
mortgage payments

I’m unsure about whether I will be able to purchase a home 

I have not experienced any housing challenges

Number of Respondents

Renter - anticipate experiencing Renter - currently experiencing Owner - anticipate experiencing

282



Community Housing Issues 

Housing Priorities 

2%

6%

7%

8%

10%

8%

12%

12%

12%

6%

6%

7%

5%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

Other

Seniors without adequate at-home care

Lack of downsizing options for seniors

Lack of supportive housing for seniors

Lack of supportive housing for people with disabilities

Lack of supportive housing for people with mental health issues

Low availability of rentals

High cost of renting

High cost of buying a home

Homes in the community need maintenance or repair

Unstable rental tenure (i.e. rental housing is not long term, concern
about being evicted)

Mismatch between who needs housing and what type of housing is
available

Lack of housing near employment opportunities

Number of Respondents

283



• 
• 
• 
• 

2%

6%

6%

7%

8%

8%

8%

9%

9%

10%

12%

14%

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Other

Movable dwellings (e.g. mobile home, houseboat, RV)

Emergency housing/homeless shelters

Single-detached homes

Row houses or town houses

Duplexes

Buildings with dedicated rental units

Apartment buildings with 5 or more storeys

Detached suites (e.g. garden suite, carriage house, coach house)

Apartment buildings with fewer than 5 storeys

Assisted living facilities

Co-operative housing

Number of Respondents

284



• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

285



• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

286



• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

287



• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

288



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 

289



• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

290



• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

291



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

292



• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

293



• 

• 
• 

294



Appendix D
Housing Needs 
Report Summary 
Forms

295



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Town of Gibsons

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

District of Sechelt, Egmont-Pender Harbour, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, West Howe Sound

2.0 (2016)

1.98 (2025)

54.4 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

59.6 (2025)

(2016, private) 58,470 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 38,208 34,624 45,848

(2016, private) 68,822 69,098 84,333

4,405 (2016, all households) 12%

5,099 (2025) (2020-2025)  5

2,225 (2016, private households) 192006

2006

(2020-2025) 8

(2016) 31   (2016) 30 (2016) 18

(2025) 43

2,580 (2025)

71 28

17

296



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

Retail trade; Health care and social assistance; Manufacturing; Accommodation and Food 
services; Professional, scientific and technical services; Transportation and warehousing

737,059 (average)

N/A

2,225 560 (SCRD)

210 (2018, SCRD)

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. The Town of Gibsons also notes particular tools, such as density bonuses and inclusionary zoning. 

(2016, private households) 56.9 (2016, private households) 4.4

573,232 (average)

N/A

(2016) 25

(2016) 5

(2016) 3

0 (2018)

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

297



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

63

49
51
15

1,805 1,900 2,155

68
55

57
17

178 197

230

55
180

13

3
10

16305 265 12
110 758 5
195 19037 31

1,805

125

40
90

7

2
5

1,900

115
30
85

6
2
4

2,155

130

35
95

6
2
4

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (31% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (5%).

298



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

Affordability has been the most significant issue in Gibsons, with 16% of owner households and 48% of renter 
households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Household types with the highest median income would need to 
spend 32% of their income to afford a single-detached home. 

There is a high demand for rental housing that is not being met by Gibsons' current rental stock. Residents are 
concerned about this shortage and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. Stakeholders identified a need to 
continue supporting the primary rental market and diverse housing types to provide secondary rental market options.

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups, including individuals with 
physical and mental health challenges. Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with 
physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who may be looking for primary rental market units.

Adults over 65 comprised 31% of Gibsons' population in 2016. The population has been aging over the past three 
census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. As the population continues to age, there will 
be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living units, as well as supports to age-in-place.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast. 

Community engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more 
bedrooms). Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend 45% of their monthly income to afford to rent 
an average unit but may experience challenges finding one that has enough bedrooms for their child(ren).

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise and hidden homelessness is a challenge. There is a need for a 
permanent emergency shelter in the Town. 8-10 emergency shelter beds are currently available on a seasonal basis, 
with more units currently under development. Stakeholders indicated that the shelters are at capacity.

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. Stakeholders also reported there is a lack of housing for all workers which impacts employers' hiring abilities. 

299



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:    % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

District of Sechelt

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, West Howe Sound

2.1

2.04 (2025)

56.1 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

60.0 (2025)

(2016, private) 58,609 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 34,566 34,624 45,848

(2016, private) 67,573 69,098 84,333

10,005 (2016, all households) 21

10,934 (2025) (2020-2025) 3 

4,855 (2016) 262006

2006

(2020-2025) 4

(2016) 33   (2016) 30 (2016) 18

(2025) 42

5,357 (2025)

77 23

15

300



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

Retail trade; Health care and social assistance; Construction; Management of companies and 
enterprises; Accommodation and food services

630,900 (Average)

N/A

4,855 560 (SCRD) 

210 (2018, SCRD) 

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. The District of Sechelt also notes particular tools, such as density bonuses and inclusionary zoning. 

51.7 7.5

605,661 (Average)

N/A

24

4

2

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

301



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

98

68
74
24

3,675 4,050 4,590

83
58

62
19

264 223

440

215
230

12

6
6

11440 815 18
200 3155 7
240 5006 11

3,675

160

80
75

4

2
2

4,050

175
100
70

4
2
2

4,590

345

110
225

8
2
5

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (48% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (9%)

302



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

Affordability has been the most significant issue in Sechelt, with 16% of owner households and 50% of renter 
households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. While housing prices in Sechelt are the most affordable of all SCRD, 
homeownership is unlikely for lower earning household types (e.g., single income households).

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. Residents are concerned about a lack of 
rental housing and effects of short-term vacation rentals. In 2016, around 80% of households were in groups that face 
the greatest affordability gaps in securing housing (single-income households and couples without children). 

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups, including individuals with 
physical and mental health challenges. Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with 
physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who may be looking for primary rental market units.

While adults over 65 comprised 34% of Sechelt's population in 2016, projections suggest they could comprise more 
than 42% by 2025. As the population continues to age, there will be increased need for supportive housing and 
assisted living units, and supports to age-in-place. New units are currently being developed but more will be needed.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast.  

While Sechelt has a diverse housing stock compared to other SCRD communities, there is a need for affordable 
options for families. Median-earning couples with children are likely to afford average housing costs. But, median- 
earning lone-parent families would need to spend 51% of their monthly income to afford to rent an average unit.

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise and hidden homelessness is a challenge. Sechelt has the only 
year-round emergency shelter in SCRD with 20 beds. Stakeholders indicated that emergency housing and support in 
Sechelt are full with waitlists, especially since the COVID-19 pandemic.

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. Units of women's third stage housing are currently under development in Sechelt.

303



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:    % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local): Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local): % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Electoral Area A: Pender Harbour / Egmont

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, West Howe Sound

1.9

1.88 (2025)

61.6  (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

60.9 (2025)

(2016, private) 53,934 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 26,990 34,624 45,848

(2016, private) 65,767 69,098 84,333

2,565 (2016, all households) -0.4

2,670 (2025) (2020-2025) 0.9 

1,380 (2016) 112006

2006

(2020-2025) 1

(2016) 40     (2016) 30 (2016) 18

(2025) 38

1,423 (2025)

83 17

4

304



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

Construction; Retail trade; Accommodation and food services; Transportation and 
warehousing

692,181  (Average)

N/A

1,380 560 (SCRD)

210 (2018 SCRD) 

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. Diverse housing 
options are widely acknowledged as being necessary to address different groups of residents' specific needs. Pender 
Harbour / Egmont focuses more on neighbourhood centres and secondary dwellings on rural properties in their 
OCP policies.

45.1 8.8

717,698 (Average)

N/A

20

5

2

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

305



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

8

2
7
4

1,170 1,330 1,300

2

8

7
4

21 21

285

210
80

24

18
7

21285 250 19
170 14513 11
120 1009 8

1,170

110

80
35

9

7
3

1,330

70
20
50

5
2
4

1,300

110

60
45

8
5
3

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (51% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (13%)

306



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

Housing indicators show that affordability has been the most significant issue in Pender Harbour / Egmont, with 16% 
of owner, or 175 households, and 42% of renter, or 80 households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Household 
types with the highest median income would need to spend 32% of their income to afford a single-detached home. 

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. Residents are concerned about 
short-term vacation rentals; 41% of homes are not occupied by their usual resident. Stakeholders identified a need to 
continue supporting the primary rental market and diverse housing types to provide secondary rental market options.

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups, including individuals with 
physical and mental health challenges. Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with 
physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who may be looking for primary rental market units.

Pender Harbour / Egmont had the highest median age of all electoral areas and municipalities on the Coast in 2016. 
The population has been aging over the past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to 
continue. There will be a need for affordable, accessible units that are close to public transportation.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast. 

 Community engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more 
bedrooms). More than half of families in Pender Harbour / Egmont would be unable to afford housing. 
Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend 59% of their monthly income to afford rent.

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise and hidden homelessness is a challenge. With people living in 
substandard housing, on boats, camping, and couch surfing, stakeholders indicated there is a need for some form of 
emergency shelter or support in Pender Harbour. 

Anecdotal evidence and past studies suggest that there are more seniors and at-risk youth experiencing 
homelessness in Pender Harbour compared to other SCRD communities. Transitional housing is also needed to meet 
the needs of women and their children fleeing abuse and unsafe conditions as existing units are full.

307



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:    % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Electoral Area B: Halfmoon Bay

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, Pender Harbour / Egmont, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone, West Howe Sound

2.2 (2016)

2.17 (2025)

55.7 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

55.3 (2025)

(2016, private) 65,939 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 32,288 34,624 45,848

(2016, private) 73,148 69,098 84,333

2,710 (2016, all households) 6

2,786 (2025) (2020-2025) 1 

1,250 (2016) 112006

2006

(2020-2025) 1

(2016) 25   (2016) 30 (2016) 18

(2025) 28

1,281 (2025)

82 17

0

308



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

Construction; Professional, scientific and technical services; Retail Trade ; Educational 
services

804,106 (Average)

N/A

1,250 560 (SCRD)

210 (2018, SCRD)  

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. Halfmoon Bay focuses more on neighbourhood centres and secondary dwellings on rural properties in 
their OCP policies. 

54.6 7.6

788,206 (Average)

N/A

24

7

3

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

309



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

6

2
6
3

1,055 1,045 1,185

2
6

6
3

17 17

210

135
75

20

13
7

11120 145 12
70 607 5
45 804 7

1,055

70

45
25

7

4
2

1,045

20
0
0

2
0
0

1,185

85

30
55

7
3
5

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (40% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (6%)

310



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

Affordability has been the most significant issue in Halfmoon Bay, with 18% of owner households and 50% of renter 
households living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Household types with the highest median income would need to 
spend 35% of their income to afford a single-detached home, which make up 96% of Halfmoon Bay's housing stock.

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. In 2016, around 76% of households were 
in groups that face the greatest affordability gaps in securing housing (single-income households and couples without 
children). This is especially challenging with the large proportion of single-detached dwellings.

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups. Stakeholders indicated 
that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who 
may be looking for primary rental market units. There are no purpose-built rental units in Halfmoon Bay.

Adults over 65 comprised 27% of Halfmoon Bay's population in 2016. The population has been aging over the past 
three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. As the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living units, as well as supports to age-in-place.

While data is still limited on its full effects, the COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, 
income, and savings which are expected to persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many 
households may see their long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused 
attention on vulnerable populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing 
insecurity, individuals with physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing 
violence, low income households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services 
and supports.  Stakeholders also suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the 
Coast. 

Community engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more 
bedrooms). Median-earning lone-parent families would need to spend more than 100% of their monthly income to 
afford to rent an average unit.

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise and hidden homelessness is a challenge. Anecdotal evidence 
and past studies indicate that hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, 
camping, etc.) is more common in SCRD's electoral areas, such as Halfmoon Bay.

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. Stakeholders also reported there is a lack of housing for all workers which impacts employers' hiring abilities. 

311



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:    % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Electoral Area D: Roberts Creek

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, Elphinstone, West Howe Sound

2.3 (2016)

2.25 (2025)

49.9 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

51.8 (2025)

(2016, private) 60,172 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 39,822 34,624 45,848

(2016, private) 71,640 69,098 84,333

3,420 (2016, all households) 4

3,466 (2025) (2020-2025) 0.7 

1,505 (2016) 112006

2006

(2020-2025) 1

(2016) 23   (2016) 30 (2016) 18

(2025) 25

1,542 (2025)

76 24

4

312



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

Health care and social assistance; Construction; Professional, scientific and technical 
services; Retail Trade; Accommodation and food services; Educational Services 

956,194 (Average)

N/A

1,510 560 (SCRD)

210 (2018, SCRD)  

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. Roberts Creek also notes particular tools, such as density bonuses and inclusionary zoning.

65.0 5.0

789,236  (Average)

N/A

23

7

3

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

313



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

6

2
6
3

1,290 1,265 1,370

2
6

6
3

17 17

230

165
70

18

13
5

13165 255 19
80 1156 8
90 1407 10

1,290

85

65
15

7

5
1

1,265

100
50
45

8
4
4

1,370

100

45
50

7
3
4

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (44% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (11%)

314



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

17% of owner households and 44% of renter households were living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Roberts Creek 
had the highest average sales price in 2019 out of all SCRD communities. Even households with the highest median 
incomes would need to spend 44% of their income to afford an average priced single-detached home in 2019.

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. Residents are concerned about the 
shortage of rental housing and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. Stakeholders identified a need to continue 
supporting the primary rental market and diverse housing types to provide secondary rental market options.

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups, including individuals with 
physical and mental health challenges. Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with 
physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who may be looking for primary rental market units.

Adults over 65 comprised 23% of Roberts Creek's population in 2016. The population has been aging over the past 
three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. As the population continues to age, there 
will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living units, as well as supports to age-in-place.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast. 

Roberts Creek has the highest proportion of lone-parent family households of all SCRD communities. Households with 
children are also more common. Although most housing is in the form of single-family homes, community 
engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more bedrooms).

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise across SCRD. Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate 
that hidden homelessness (i.e., people living in substandard housing or boats, couch surfing, camping, etc.) is more 
common in SCRD's electoral areas, such as Roberts Creek.

Anecdotal evidence and past studies suggest that Roberts Creek sees higher incidences of transient youth compared 
to other communities. Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations. Existing second stage and transitional housing units are full.

315



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):       %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Electoral Area E: Elphinstone

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, West Howe Sound

2.4 (2016)

2.34 (2025)

 49.2 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

51.0 (2025)

(2016, private)   70,501 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 27,239 34,624 45,848

(2016, private)  74,915 69,098 84,333

3,620 (2016, all households) 3

 3,712 (2025) (2020-2025) 0.7

1,535 (2016) 82006

2006

(2020-2025) 1

(2016)  21    (2016)  30 (2016) 18

(2025)  22

1,583 (2025)

83 17

13

316



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

 Construction; Manufacturing; Accommodation and food services; Retail Trade; Professional, 
scientific and technical services; Health care and social assistance

695,830 (Average)

N/A

1,535 560 

210 (2018, SCRD)

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. Elphinstone also notes particular tools, such as density bonuses and inclusionary zoning. 

63.7 6.2

698,217 (Average)

N/A

21

7

5

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

(SCRD)

317



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

6

2
6
3

1,360 1,380 1,470

2
6

6
3

17 17

265

185
75

19

14
6

565 175 12
60 554 4
0 1150 8

1,360

105

80
25

8

6
2

1,380

25
20
0

2
1
0

1,470

90

15
75

6
1
5

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (47% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (5%)

318



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

Affordability has been the most significant issue in Elphinstone, with 14% of owner households and 50% of renter 
households were living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Households with the highest median incomes would need to 
spend 32% of their income to afford a single-detached home, which make up 92% of Elphinstone's housing stock.

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. Residents are concerned about this 
shortage and the effects of short-term vacation rentals. Stakeholders identified a need to continue supporting the 
primary rental market and diverse housing types to provide secondary rental market options.

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups, including individuals with 
physical and mental health challenges. Stakeholders indicated that there are limited housing options for people with 
physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who may be looking for primary rental market units.

Adults over 65 comprised 21% of Elphinstone's population in 2016. The population has been aging over the past three 
census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. As the population continues to age, there will 
be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living units, as well as supports to age-in-place.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast. 

Community engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more 
bedrooms). Median-earning couples with children are likely unable to afford average housing costs. Median-earning 
lone-parent families would need to spend 80% of their monthly income to afford to rent an average unit.

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate that hidden 
homelessness is more common in SCRD's electoral areas. 

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. Stakeholders also reported there is a lack of housing for all workers which impacts employers' hiring abilities. 

319



1 

Housing Needs Reports – Summary Form

MUNICIPALITY/ELECTORAL AREA/LOCAL TRUST AREA: _____________________________________ 

REGIONAL DISTRICT: _________________________________________________________________ 

DATE OF REPORT COMPLETION: __________________________________________ (MONTH/YYYY)    

PART 1: KEY INDICATORS & INFORMATION 

Instructions: please complete the fields below with the most recent data, as available. 

LO
CA

TI
O

N
 Neighbouring municipalities and electoral areas: 

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 

Population:          Change since :             % 

Projected population in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Number of households:  Change since :        % 

Projected number of households in 5 years: Projected change:     % 

Average household size: 

Projected average household size in 5 years: 

Median age (local):             Median age (RD):            Median age (BC):        

Projected median age in 5 years:         

Seniors 65+ (local):   % Seniors 65+ (RD):        %  Seniors 65+ (BC):              %   

Projected seniors 65+ in 5 years:    % 

Owner households:      %   Renter households:      % 

Renter households in subsidized housing:             % 

IN
CO

M
E 

Median household income Local Regional District BC 

All households $ $ $ 

Renter households $ $ $ 

Owner households $ $ $ 

Electoral Area F: West Howe Sound

Sunshine Coast

September/2020

Neighbouring First Nations: 

shíshálh Nation and Skwxwú7mesh Nation

Town of Gibsons, District of Sechelt, Pender Harbour / Egmont, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek, Elphinstone

2.1 (2016)

2.14 (2025)

 55.3 (2016) 54.9 (2016) 43.0 (2016)

55.3 (2025)

(2016, private) 65,729 60,279 69,995

(2016, private) 33,984 34,624 45,848

(2016, private)  71,319 69,098 84,333

1,990 (2016, all households) -10

2,055 (2025) (2020-2025) 0.2

955 (2016) -22006

2006

(2020-2025) 0.8 

(2016) 28   (2016) 30 (2016) 18

29

959 (2025)

81 19

6

320



2 

EC
O

N
O

M
Y Participation rate: % Unemployment rate: % 

Major local industries: 

HO
U

SI
N

G 

Median assessed housing values: $   Median housing sale price: $ 

Median monthly rent: $    Rental vacancy rate:             % 

Housing units - total:        Housing units – subsidized: 

Annual registered new homes - total: Annual registered new homes - rental: 

Households below affordability standards (spending 30%+ of income on shelter):           % 

Households below adequacy standards (in dwellings requiring major repairs):       % 

Households below suitability standards (in overcrowded dwellings):                    % 

Briefly summarize the following: 

Housing policies in local official community plans and regional growth strategies (if applicable):

Any community consultation undertaken during development of the housing needs report:

Any consultation undertaken with persons, organizations and authorities (e.g. local governments, health authorities,
and the provincial and federal governments and their agencies .

Any consultation undertaken with First Nations:

 Educational services; Health care and social assistance; Construction; Retail trade;  
Professional, scientific and technical services; Manufacturing

827,485 (Average)

N/A

955 560 (SCRD)

210 (2018, SCRD) 

There is strong OCP language around affordable housing and densification strategies across SCRD. It is widely 
acknowledged that diverse housing options are necessary to address the specific needs of different groups of 
residents. West Howe Sound also notes particular tools, such as density bonuses and inclusionary zoning.

59.7 5.2

636,664 (Average)

N/A

23

6

3

0

Residents were engaged through a community survey, which was administered online and in paper copy distributed 
by the Sunshine Coast Community Services Society.

Stakeholders involved in the housing industry or with special knowledge of housing needs were engaged through 
focus groups and stakeholder interviews. 

shíshálh Nation was approached, but did not have capacity to participate in the process.

321



3 

PART 2: KEY FINDINGS 

Table 1: Estimated number of units needed, by type (# of bedrooms) 

Currently Anticipated (5 years) 

0 bedrooms (bachelor) 

1 bedroom 

2 bedrooms 

3+ bedrooms 

Total 

Comments: 

Table 2: Households in Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
  Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

Table 3: Households in Extreme Core Housing Need 

2006 2011 2016 
# % # % # % 

All households in planning area 100 100 100

Of which are in extreme core housing need 

  Of which are owner households 
    Of which are renter households 

Comments: 

3

1
3
2

920 835 900

1
3

3
1

9 8

195

100
95

21

11
10

1080 100 11
40 505 6
45 505 6

920

45

15
30

5

2
3

835

25
0

15

3
0
2

900

45

20
25

5
2
3

The above estimates are based on projected growth in households by household type, combined with an assumed 
distribution of unit sizes needed for each household type. Currently needed units are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households since the 2016 Census, while anticipated unit needs are those units projected to meet 
the needs of new households that form between 2020 and 2025. 

When looking at tenure, rates of core housing need are higher for renter households (32% of which are in core housing need) 
compared to owner households (7%)

322



4 

Briefly summarize current and anticipated needs for each of the following: 

Affordable housing:

Rental housing:

Special needs housing:

Housing for seniors:

Housing for families:

Shelters for people experiencing homelessness and housing for people at risk of homelessness:

Any other population groups with specific housing needs identified in the report:

Were there any other key issues identified through the process of developing your housing needs report? 

18% of owner households and 40% of renter households were living in unaffordable housing in 2016. Households with 
the highest median incomes would need to spend 36% of their income to afford a single-detached home, which 
comprise 91% of West Howe Sound's housing stock.

The current rental stock does not meet the high demand for rental housing. Residents are concerned about 
short-term vacation rentals; 49% of homes are not occupied by their usual resident. More than 75% of the population 
(single income households and couples without children) are likely to struggle to find affordable rental housing. 

Stakeholders indicated that there are long waitlists for housing supports across all groups. Stakeholders indicated 
that there are limited housing options for people with physical activity limitations or mental health challenges, who 
may be looking for primary rental market units. There are no purpose-built rental units in West Howe Sound.

Adults over 65 comprised 27% of West Howe Sound's population in 2016. The population has been aging over the 
past three census counts and projections suggest this trend is likely to continue. As the population continues to age, 
there will be increased need for supportive housing and assisted living units, as well as supports to age-in-place.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on employment, income, and savings which are expected to 
persist for months to years. With reduced incomes and lower savings, many households may see their 
long-term housing goals impacted. Stakeholders suggested that COVID-19 has re-focused attention on vulnerable 
populations. Groups such as seniors, individuals experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, individuals with 
physical activity limitation and / or mental health challenges, women and children fleeing violence, low income 
households, and others may experience additional challenges in accessing needed social services and supports. 
Stakeholders from the real estate and development industries indicated that they have experienced increased 
demand for single-family homes across the Coast, as more employees are able to work from home.  Stakeholders also 
suggested that there may be implications for the need for workforce housing on the Coast. 

Community engagement suggests that there is a need for affordable options for families (i.e., with three or more 
bedrooms). Median-earning couples with children are likely unable to afford average housing costs. Median-earning 
lone-parent families would need to spend 82% of their monthly income to afford to rent an average unit.

Stakeholders indicated that homelessness is on the rise. Anecdotal evidence and past studies indicate that hidden 
homelessness is more common in electoral areas.

Stakeholders recognized a need for transitional housing across the Coast, to meet the needs of women and their 
children fleeing abuse and unsafe situations, stating that existing second stage housing and transitional housing units 
are full. Stakeholders also reported there is a lack of housing for all workers which impacts employers' hiring abilities. 

323



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw 
Creek Road)  be received;  

AND THAT Development Variance Permit DVP00067 to vary Zoning Bylaw No. 337 
Section 518 (3) to permit the required off-street parking for the subject parcel and 
proposed subdivision to be provided within the subject property based on vehicular 
access to an access road secured by a tenure granted by the Province, be issued subject 
to: 

1. Confirmation of provincial tenure for the section of access road connecting to the
subject parcel be granted to the applicant.

2. Comments from shíshálh Nation be received and addressed within the 60-day
referral period.

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a Development Variance Permit application to waive zoning bylaw 
requirement for the provision of off-street parking spaces that have vehicular access to a 
highway. Table 1 below provides a summary of the application.  

Owner / Applicant: Lauren Scott Thomson / Ventureland Management Ltd. 

Civic Address: 8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road 

Legal Description: Lot 2, District Lot 4694, Plan LMP922 

Electoral Area: A – Egmont / Pender Harbour 

Parcel Area: 21.5 acre 

OCP Land Use: Rural Residential A 

Land Use Zone: RU1A (Rural One A) 

Table 1 - Application Summary of Subject Parcel 

The subject parcel is located on the northeast side of Sakinaw Lake. The applicant intends to 
subdivide the parcel into four residential parcels.   

The purpose of this report is to provide information on the application and obtain a resolution from 
the Planning and Community Development Committee on the proposed variance.  

ANNEX C

324



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road)   Page 2 of 6 
 

2020-OCT8 PCDC Report-DVP00067(Thomson) 

Figure 1 – Subject parcel location 

 

DISCUSSION 

Analysis  

Zoning Bylaw No. 337 

Section 518 (5) requires off-street parking spaces be provided on the same parcel as the use 
and to have vehicular access to a highway.  

As shown in Figure 2, a road composed of various tenures on provincial lands and private 
easements is currently being used to access the areas near the subject parcel, including the 
SCRD Pender Harbour transfer station and landfill, Sakinaw Woods and the cluster of lots 
created by the Saunders subdivision. The applicant is currently applying for a new provincial 
tenure for the section of road connecting to the subject lot.  
 
The OCP’s Map 3-Transportation (Figure 2) identifies this road as a major existing (in parts) and 
proposed (in other parts) road, and MOTI has indicated support for the Ministry to make it a 
public road if it is financially feasible to do so when more developments occur around this area 
in the future.  
 
The access road is not currently a dedicated public road and does not meet the zoning bylaw 
definition for “highway”. Zoning Bylaw Section 518(3) states:  
 

“Not including aisle access space, each required off-street parking space shall be a 
minimum area of 16 square metres and shall at all times have vehicular access to a 
highway”.  

 
 

subject 
parcel 

325



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road)   Page 3 of 6 
 

2020-OCT8 PCDC Report-DVP00067(Thomson) 

The definition does not specify whether or not vehicular access to a highway be direct or 
indirect. 
 
Parking spaces can be provided on the subject parcel which will have indirect access from a 
highway via the access road. These spaces do not technically have vehicular access directly to 
a “highway” and cannot meet the strictest interpretation of the zoning bylaw requirement. 
 
The purpose of this variance application is to waive the requirement for parking to provide 
vehicular access to a highway.  
 
If direct vehicular access to a highway could not be provided, parking spaces would have to be 
provided in an off-site location permitted by the Zoning Bylaw. If off-site parking in a location is 
not permitted by the zoning bylaw, a zoning amendment will be required. This approach 
(variance) may result in overall better utilization of land than rezoning, which would create an 
off-site parking area. 
 
 

326



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road)   Page 4 of 6 
 

2020-OCT8 PCDC Report-DVP00067(Thomson) 

 

Figure 2 - OCP Transportation and road tenures 

landfill and 
transfer station 

existing tenure 
identified as proposed 

major road in OCP 

Sunshine Coast Hwy 

tenure in application 

private 
easement 

subject lot 

Garden Bay Rd 

existing tenure 
identified as existing 
major road in OCP 

327



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road)   Page 5 of 6 
 

2020-OCT8 PCDC Report-DVP00067(Thomson) 

Applicant’s Rationale 

The applicant’s rationale for the variance is that the required off-street parking spaces can be 
provided within the parcel, and with the new (anticipated) provincial tenure extending the access 
road to the subject parcel, the subject parcel and its future subdivisions can have vehicular 
access to the road. The applicant started the application for this new provincial tenure a year 
ago, and advises staff that they have received positive information from the Province respecting 
approval. 

The applicant does not expect that the existing access road will be discontinued in the 
foreseeable future, as it is being used by the SCRD and other nearby properties, and there is 
support in the OCP and by MOTI for potential future development of the road. 

Consultation 

The development variance permit application has been referred to the following agencies for 
comment: 

Referral Agency Comments 

MOTI MOTI has no objection to the proposal. 

SCRD Building Division No concerns 

shíshálh Nation Referred on September 15, 2020. No response received 
to date. 

Advisory Planning Commission The APC recommends approval of the DVP. 

Neighbouring Property Owners/Occupiers 

Notifications were distributed on September 25, 2020 to 
owners and occupiers of properties within a 100m radius 
of the subject property. Comments received are provide in 
Attachment A. 

Notifications to surrounding properties were completed in accordance with Section 499 of the 
Local Government Act and the Sunshine Coast Regional District Bylaw No. 522. Comments 
received are provide in Attachment A. 

The applicant is responsible for ensuring all work undertaken complies with the Heritage 
Conservation Act.   

Options / Staff Recommendation 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the permit 

This would authorize the applicant to develop and subdivide the property for uses 
permitted by the zoning bylaw with the provision of off-street parking that has 
vehicular access to an access road instead of directly from a highway. Planning 
staff consider this option reasonable based on the understanding that the existing 
access road is likely to continue in the foreseeable future and the new tenure on 
the segment extending this road to the subject parcel will be obtained.  

328



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road)   Page 6 of 6 
 

2020-OCT8 PCDC Report-DVP00067(Thomson) 

Planning staff recommend this option.  

Option 2: Deny the permit 

The zoning bylaw off-street parking requirements would continue to apply, the 
proposed development cannot be accommodated. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Review of the application for the development variance permit supports the SCRD’s strategy for 
community collaboration.  

CONCLUSION 

The proposed variance would waive the requirement for off-street parking spaces to have 
vehicular access to a highway, yet based on the existence of the access road and conditional 
upon a new tenure extending the access road to the subject property, this variance is 
considered reasonable and would provide the benefit of not having to seek off-site parking 
elsewhere that may cause potential land use conflicts.  

Staff recommend approval of the development variance permit.   

  
Attachment 

Attachment A – Public comments received 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X –  D. Pady Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative    
CAO X –  D. McKinley Other  

329



From:
To: Dave Pady; Leonard Lee; Yuli Siao
Subject: Development Variance Permit DVP00067(8703) South Sakinaw Creek Road
Date: Tuesday, September 29, 2020 9:59:08 AM

External Message

Dear Sirs,

Our family wishes to strongly support the planning staff recommendation for a SCRD variance
from the off-site parking requirements regarding the above consideration.  There will soon be
granted a legal tenured road access to allow for much closer and far more viable access to the
proposed new subdivision of Mr. Thomson.  It is a very sensible solution to the problem of
access for the planned subdivision.

Thank you very much for your consideration of this support.

Sincerely yours, Kathryn and John Chase. 13869 Lee Road, Garden Bay, BC

This message originated outside the SCRD. Please be cautious before opening attachments or following links.

Attachment A

330

mailto:Dave.Pady@scrd.ca
mailto:Leonard.Lee@scrd.ca
mailto:Yuli.Siao@scrd.ca


From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:

Yuli Siao

SCRD File #DVP 00067 - Lauren Scott Thomson - Lot 2 DL4694 (8703 South Sakinaw Ck Road) 
Saturday, September 26, 2020 5:56:01 PM

External Message

Mr. Yuli Saio, Senior Planner – SCRD

 Re. Statutory Notification For Development Variance Permit #DVP 00067 (8703
South Sakinaw Ck Road) – Lot 2 DL4694

 As the family member representing the Johnson family, owners of the property adjacent
and to the North East of Lot 2 DL4694 (the subject property), please accept our strong support for
the variance permit #DVP 00067 applied for by Lauren Scott Thomson.  We have no issue with the
variance requested to permit required off-site parking on the subject property and proposed
subdivision. 

The Johnson family currently owns Lot 1 DL4694 and has owned this property since 1948. 
Originally Ross Johnson, my father, in 1948 purchased what are now Lots 1 and 2 of DL4694 as well
as the water half of DL4695 which, in total, measured approximately 100 acres and extended
approximately 1.5km to the South West along the lake shore from the now Lot 1 DL4694.  My father
sold his DL4695 interests in the early 60’s and sold what is now Lot 2 of DL4694 in the mid to late
60’s.  Wilderness road access into these specific properties was developed in the 70’s with no
outside funding and has existed since this time.  As you are likely aware these “sold” properties have
been subdivided many times since; similar to many other properties around the lake.  It is the
opinion of the Johnson family, who have seen development and changes in the area for now over 70
years, that the continued SCRD requirement for provision of off-site parking (near a designated boat
launch) associated with further subdivision is no longer necessary.  Road access, some designated
and some wilderness (non-status), developed over the period to many properties along, primarily,
the Southern shore of the lake has significantly reduced the access and parking traffic along Lee and
Sakinaw Lake Roads.  There is notably more parking available for visitors and property owners now
along these roadways than there was through the 70’s and 80’s prior to when many of the now
existing alternate access routes were developed to “water access” properties.  We suggest that it is
time to drop the outdated off-site parking requirement that was added to the subdivision process
some years ago; it is no longer necessary.

Sincerely, Garth R. Johnson – Representing the Johnson Family

This email was scanned by Bitdefender

This message originated outside the SCRD. Please be cautious before opening attachments or following links.

331

mailto:Yuli.Siao@scrd.ca


From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Yuli Siao
DVP00067. 8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road. Thomson - Ventureland 
Saturday, September 26, 2020 11:21:38 AM

External Message

Hello Yuli.

My wife and I own the property (Lot A) directly south of the property in question.

We support the application for subdivision and wish our new neighbour success in the
development of his property.

The arrival of Scott Thomson to our community and his investments to date in his
development have benefited all of us by reducing our power and communication costs, and
improving our shared road access and overall safety.

Sincerely,

Chris Locher
4240 Ranger Crescent
North Vancouver
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Most countries now require all solid wood packaging be ISPM15 compliant. Ensure your solid 
wood packaging such as dunnage, blocking, pallets, crating has the appropriate IPPC stamps, 
or simply use plastic instead. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
DISCLAIMER 
All shipments are only accepted subject to the Standard Trading Conditions adopted by the 
Canadian International Freight Forwarders Association Inc. and/or the Canadian Society of 
Customs Brokers. Copy available upon request or on the web
at www.ciffa.com or www.cscb.ca 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

This email was scanned by Bitdefender

This message originated outside the SCRD. Please be cautious before opening attachments or following links.

332

mailto:Yuli.Siao@scrd.ca


From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:

Yuli Siao; Leonard Lee; Dave Pady
Genevieve Dixon
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703) South Sakinaw Creek Road. 
Tuesday, September 29, 2020 10:47:15 AM

External Message

Good morning,

As a follow up to my letter dated July 12, 2020, strongly opposing the variance request 
for Lot 8 to provide off-site parking, this letter is in support of the above referenced 
application scheduled for the Area A Advisory Planning Commission on September 30, 
2020.

This is a practical and logical solution to the applicants request to develop these lands. 
 Please approve it. 

Best regards,

Sharon Mey

This email was scanned by Bitdefender

This message originated outside the SCRD. Please be cautious before opening attachments or following links.

333

mailto:Yuli.Siao@scrd.ca
mailto:Leonard.Lee@scrd.ca
mailto:Dave.Pady@scrd.ca
mailto:Genevieve.Dixon@scrd.ca


From:
To: Yuli Siao; Leonard Lee; Genevieve Dixon
Subject: Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703) South Sakinaw Creek Road.
Date: Sunday, September 27, 2020 5:18:12 PM

External Message

Dear Mr Siao, Area A Director Leonard Lee, and Chair Area A APC:

We understand that the Area A Advisory Planning Commission is meeting on Wednesday 
September 30 to consider DVP00067.  

Please be advised that our family is fully in favour of the Thomsons’ variance to waive 
prerequisite off-site parking for the proposed subdivision of their property.  

The Thomsons have a tenured road about to be granted final approval and they already access 
their property using a well studied road system that the Official Community Plan designates as 
a future major road. 

 In the many letters sent to the SCRD objecting to the rezoning of Lot 8,  our Lee
Road/SakinawRidge neighbourhoods also voiced solid support for this kind of Variance as a 
much more logical alternative.    The Area A APC and the SCRD should know that there is 
strong community support for this sensible solution (rather than attempting to rezone far-away 
residential lots such as Lot 8 for impractical off-site parking). 

Respectfully,

Gerald and Loretta Sieben
13858 Lee Road
Garden Bay BC V0N1S1

This email was scanned by Bitdefender

This message originated outside the SCRD. Please be cautious before opening attachments or following links.

334

mailto:Yuli.Siao@scrd.ca
mailto:Leonard.Lee@scrd.ca
mailto:Genevieve.Dixon@scrd.ca


SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for 
Morgan Property (ALC Application 60840) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve 
for Morgan Property (ALC Application 60840) be received; 

AND THAT ALC Application 60840 be supported subject to the ALC’s verification of the 
agricultural suitability of the land requested for inclusion; 

AND THAT SCRD’s conditional support for ALC Application 60840 be forwarded to the 
Agricultural Land Commission. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a referral from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) regarding an 
application (Attachment A) to include a portion of the subject parcel into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR). The following are an application summary and a map showing the location of 
the inclusion. 

 Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant: David Morgan 

Civic Address: 1685 Jensen Road 

Legal Description: DISTRICT LOT 1398 EXCEPT PORTIONS IN PLANS 11244, 11566, 16437 
21531 AND LMP23770 

Electoral Area: F - West Howe Sound 

Parcel Area: 39.8 ha 

OCP Designation: Agricultural 

Land Use Zone: AG (Agricultural) 

ANNEX D

335



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan 
Property (ALC Application 60840) 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
2020-Oct8-PCDC-report-ALR00010-inclusion-Morgan.doc 

Map 1 (shaded area is ALR) 

 

The applicant previously applied to the ALC (Application 58605) to exchange a portion of the 
subject property within the ALR with another portion which the applicant considered to be 
outside of the ALR. Both portions of lands proposed are 1.16 ha, as illustrated below. 
 
Map 2  Land exchange proposal 

subject parcel 

portion for 
inclusion 

1.16 ha 
considered to 

be outside 
ALR for 
inclusion 

1.16 ha 
within ALR 

for 
exclusion  

336



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan 
Property (ALC Application 60840) 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 
2020-Oct8-PCDC-report-ALR00010-inclusion-Morgan.doc 

The SCRD supported the previous application subject to verification of the land size of the 
exchange and the unsuitability of the exclusion portion for agriculture.  

On May 12, 2020, the ALC issued a decision on this application, granting conditional approval 
for excluding 0.3 ha of land, instead of 1.16 ha as originally proposed by the applicant, as 
illustrated below. 
 
Map 3  ALC conditional approval for land exclusion 

 
One of the conditions for the approval is that the applicant makes a separate application to the 
ALC for including the 0.3 ha of land into the ALR. The inclusion application is the subject of this 
report. 

DISCUSSION 

Staff note that, although the land area has been amended/corrected this matter was previously 
referred to SCRD.  

Staff comments at this time are similar to previous analysis: The triangular non-ALR portion 
within the subject parcel is currently land locked and surrounded by ALR lands on all sides. It is 
unsuitable for non-farm development, and it can also conflict with the surrounding agricultural 
uses. It can only be accessed by a road to be built through the ALR portion of the parcel. Such a 
road will occupy farm land and interfere with farming activities. Inclusion of this portion of land 
into the ALR would consolidate the farm parcel into one contiguous land mass, so that the 
potential conflict by the non-ALR area can be removed and land use efficiency of the farm 
parcel can be improved.  

The soil in the proposed inclusion area has a Class 3 to 4 rating for agricultural capability 
according to BC Soil Information Finder and the applicant’s agrology report. The applicant 
indicates that this area will be cleared for agricultural purposes. The agricultural suitability of the 
land should be verified by the ALC. 

 

 

0.3 ha outside 
ALR for 
inclusion 

0.3 ha within 
ALR for 

exclusion  

337



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan 
Property (ALC Application 60840) 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
2020-Oct8-PCDC-report-ALR00010-inclusion-Morgan.doc 

AAC Comments 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee supports the application for land inclusion into the 
Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 60840). 

CONCLUSION 

The proposed inclusion application would fulfill one of the conditions for exclusion of another 
portion of the subject property from the ALR, and would help to enhance the overall land use 
efficiency of the farm, and reduce conflict with non-farm uses. The proposal is appropriate for 
the location and intended use. Staff recommend supporting this application subject to 
verification of agricultural suitability of the land requested for inclusion. 

 
Attachments 

Attachment A – ALC Application 60840 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X –  D. Pady Finance  
GM X –  I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X –  D. McKinley Other   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

338



 David Morgan , Heather Morgan , Morgan Capital Inc.Applicant:

1.  

1.  

Provincial Agricultural Land Commission -
Applicant Submission
Application ID: 60840
Application Status: Under LG Review
Applicant: David Morgan , Heather Morgan , Morgan Capital Inc. 
Agent: David Morgan 
Local Government: Sunshine Coast Regional District
Local Government Date of Receipt: 05/14/2020
ALC Date of Receipt: This application has not been submitted to ALC yet. 
Proposal Type: Inclusion 
Proposal: To include a .3 Ha triangular portion in the middle of the 40.6 Ha property that was previously 
non-ALR as it has good soil ratings per Mc Bride Agrology Report (Class 3 to 4). 
This was a condition of Application #58605 exclusion where a similar size .3Ha was excluded. The 
excluded portion had a rating of Class 7.

Agent Information

Agent: David Morgan 
Mailing Address: 
1685 Jensen Road
Gibsons, BC
V0N 1V6
Canada

Parcel Information

Parcel(s) Under Application

 Fee Simple Ownership Type:
 009-802-207Parcel Identifier:

 DL 1398 EXC PTNS IN PLS 11244 11566 16437 21531 & LMP23770Legal Description:
 40.6 ha Parcel Area:

 1691 Jensen RoadCivic Address:
 11/12/2002Date of Purchase:

 No Farm Classification:
Owners

Name: David Morgan 
Address: 
1685 Jensen Road 
Gibsons, BC
V0N 1V6
Canada

Attachment A

339



 David Morgan , Heather Morgan , Morgan Capital Inc.Applicant:

1.  

1.  

2.
Address: 
2360 Badger Road
North Vancouver, BC
V7G 2H2
Canada
  Name: Morgan Capital Inc. Address: 
1685 Jensen Road
Gibsons, BC
V0N 1V6
Canada

Current Use of Parcels Under Application

1. Quantify and describe in detail all agriculture that currently takes place on the parcel(s).
Berry Farm & Horses

2. Quantify and describe in detail all agricultural improvements made to the parcel(s).
Residence - Rancher with attached garage.
Agricultural multi-use Building.
Irrigation Pond with numerous drainage ditches.
Pastureland approximately 10 acres cleared for horses.

3. Quantify and describe all non-agricultural uses that currently take place on the parcel(s).
Majority of the property is treed.
All of the property when purchased in 2002 was a woodlot.

Adjacent Land Uses

North

 Recreational Land Use Type:
 YMCA Camp ElphinstoneSpecify Activity:

East

 Residential Land Use Type:
 Subdivision of 34 homesSpecify Activity:

South

 Residential Land Use Type:
 Vacant & Treed lotSpecify Activity:

340



 David Morgan , Heather Morgan , Morgan Capital Inc.Applicant:

West

 Residential Land Use Type:
 Rural residential with one houseSpecify Activity:

Proposal

1. How many hectares are you proposing to include?
0.3 ha

2. What is the purpose of the proposal?
To include a .3 Ha triangular portion in the middle of the 40.6 Ha property that was previously non-ALR
as it has good soil ratings per Mc Bride Agrology Report (Class 3 to 4).
This was a condition of Application #58605 exclusion where a similar size .3Ha was excluded. The
excluded portion had a rating of Class 7.

3. Does the proposal support agriculture in the short or long term? Please explain.
Yes, as previously the non-ALR triangular piece was in the middle of the property and was surrounded by
ALR land on all sides.
This inclusion will now form a large contiguous ALR portions without having to have large access roads
to the non-ALR portions.

4. Describe any improvements that have been made to, or are planned for the parcel proposed for
inclusion.
We will be clearing this area to be used for agricultural purposes.

Applicant Attachments

Agent Agreement - David Morgan
Proposal Sketch - 60840
Certificate of Title - 009-802-207

ALC Attachments

None. 

Decisions

None.

341



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 

AUTHOR: Julie Clark, Planner 1 / Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: MONTHLY PROVINCIAL REFERRAL REVIEW 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Monthly Provincial Referral Review be received; 

AND THAT SCRD responds to the province regarding files 2412355, 2412360, 2412358, 
0700042 according to the recommendations included in this report. 

AND FURTHER THAT SCRD includes this request to the Province with each referral 
response:  

That the applicant be advised that any future proposed development, changes or 
replacements to structures, including any land alteration, may be subject to SCRD 
Planning or Building Bylaw requirements. Please contact SCRD in advance of 
proposed works. 

BACKGROUND 

SCRD receives referrals from the Province of BC through the Ministry of Forests Lands Natural 
Resource Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) for applications to make private use 
of public (provincial) land, including areas over the water.  

FLNRORD hosts a public information and comment portal and is responsible for decision 
making and enforcement related to applications and tenures granted. Through the application 
process, FLNRORD requires the applicant to notify the community of their application through 
local print media.   

Agencies responding to the referrals are provided 4 options for response. Further comments are 
optional. Options: 

1. Interests unaffected
2. No objection to approval of project
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons

Staff have updated the format of Committee reports regarding Provincial referrals in an attempt 
to provide more timely response to the Province and to reflect SCRD’s commenting role in the 
Provincial application process. The purpose of this report is to provide information on the current 
Provincial applications and obtain direction from the Planning and Community Development 
Committee for SCRD response. 

ANNEX E

342



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review  Page 2 of 6 
 

2020 Oct PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042 

DISCUSSION 

Provincial Private Moorage Application: 2412355 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Application details 

Application Intent Seeking authorization for existing dock 

Application documents Found here. 

Electoral Area Area A, Gerrans Bay, Francis Penninsula 

Owner / Applicant Marian Josephine, Cynthia Bujnowiz 

Civic Address 4614 Gerrans Bay Rd, 008-864-462 

Legal Description (upland) Lot C Block 1, District Lot 1362, VAP 12646 

Tenure Size and Type 0.2 ha, Specific Permission, Private Moorage 

DMP area Yes. Zone 3 (new dock applications permitted)  

SCRD Jurisdiction 

OCP Land Use Residential A 

Land Use Zone No zoning over the water. Upland zone: R2 

SCRD Response 1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Other Comments None. 

 

 

343

https://comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applications?clidDtid=2412355&id=5f1f4d034c007e0021b1042e#details


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review  Page 3 of 6 
 

2020 Oct PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042 

Provincial Private Moorage Application:  2412360 

 

Application details 

Application Intent Seeking authorization for an existing dock for water access only parcel 

Application documents Found here. 

Electoral Area Area A, Blind Bay, Nelson Island 

Owner / Applicant Andrea Lyon, Auvo Wahlberg 

Legal Description Block C, District Lot 7287 Land District 1 District 36.  

Tenure Size and Type 0.012ha , Specific Permission, Private Moorage 

DMP area No 

SCRD Jurisdiction 

OCP Land Use None. Outside of OCP area. 

Land Use Zone No zoning over the water. Upland Zoning: RU2 Rural Resource. 

SCRD Response 1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Other Comments None.  

 

Nelson 
Island 

344

https://comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applications?clidDtid=2412360&id=5f19dbbf17a130002358aaed#details


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review  Page 4 of 6 
 

2020 Oct PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042 

Provincial Private Moorage Application:  2412358 

 

Application details 

Application Intent To amend an existing commercial marina lease to include the existing 
breakwater adjacent to the marina. 

Application documents Found here 

Electoral Area Electoral Area: Area A, Malaspina Straight, Madeira Park 

Owner / Applicant Pacific Jewel Holdings Ltd 

Civic Address 12073 Bryan Road 

Legal Description District Lot 7175, Group 1, NWD 

Tenure Size and Type 0.11ha, Commercial General Marina, Lease 

DMP area No. 

SCRD Jurisdiction 

OCP Land Use Tourist Commercial 

Land Use Zone No zoning over the water. Upland zoning: Residential 2 

SCRD Response 1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Other Comments - Parcel is zoned residential. OCP land use commercial. Commercial marina. 
Zoning needs updating at future opportunity 

- For Province: appears that terrestrial area has been extended into the 
water (between 2009-2016) and a dwelling sited partially on the foreshore 

 

345

https://comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applications?clidDtid=2412358&id=5f3b00c5b07474002210352b#details


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review  Page 5 of 6 
 

2020 Oct PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042 

Provincial Private Moorage Application:  0700042 

 

Application details 

Application Intent To amend a 5 year Mine Plan for Licence of Occupation numbers 241512 and 
242537 (originally permitted in 1984). Transition from sand and gravel 
extraction to aggregate quarry. 

Application documents Link unavailable (unlisted on provincial portal) 

Electoral Area Electoral Area: Area A, Treat Creek, Jervis Inlet 

Applicant Leighi Hanson Materials Limited 

Legal Description Unsurveyed Crown Land 

Tenure Size and Type Mines Act Permit 

SCRD Jurisdiction 

OCP Land Use Not in OCP area 

Land Use Zone No Zoning 

SCRD Response 5. Interests unaffected 
6. No objection to approval of project 
7. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
8. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Other Comments - Permissions to proceed: Federal Mines Act  
- Building Permits may be required for construction of any new structures on 

site. 
 

 

346



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - October 8, 2020 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review  Page 6 of 6 
 

2020 Oct PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042 

Consultation 

The Province requires the applicant to notify the community via the local newspaper. 

The Province provides the application documents and information on the webpage: 
Applications, Comments and Reasons for Decision as well as an interactive online platform 
open to the public to review and comment.  

Timeline for Next Steps 

The Province extended the deadline to comment on this application in order to obtain a Board 
Resolution. The Province has been made aware of the SCRD PCD committee date of October 
8th, 2020. The Resolution, once adopted by the SCRD Board, will be forwarded to FLNRORD 
and final decision will be made by the Province.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

• Strategic Plan – N/A Operation matter 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD was provided an opportunity to comment on a 4 Provincial referrals  for uses over 
the water and Mining in Area A, Egmont Pender Harbour. The proposals were analyzed in light 
of applicable SCRD policies, bylaws and regulations. Staff recommend responding to the 
Province as per the recommendations included in the report.    

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X - D. Pady Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X – D. McKinley Other  

 

347

https://comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applicationshttps:/comment.nrs.gov.bc.ca/applications


SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020  

AUTHOR:  Kevin Clarkson, Parks Superintendent 

SUBJECT: HOMESITE CREEK SECRET COVE RECREATION SITE (SECRET COVE FALLS TRAIL, REC 
0383) PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT AND STEWARDSHIP MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING - REQUEST TO AUTHORIZE DELEGATED SIGNATORIES  

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site (Secret Cove Falls 
Trail, REC0383) Partnership Agreement and Stewardship Memorandum of Understanding 
- Request to Authorize Delegated Signatories be received;

AND THAT the delegated authorities enter into: 

1. A three-year partnership agreement with Recreation Sites and Trails BC for the
Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site;

2. A three-year memorandum of understanding with the Halfmoon Bay Citizens
Association for management of the Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation
Site.

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD Board adopted the following resolution on May 28, 2020: 

189/20 Recommendation No. 15 Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site 
(Secret Cove Falls Trail, REC0383) Partnership Agreement and Stewardship MOU 

THAT the report titled Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site (Secret Cove 
Falls Trail, REC0383) Partnership Agreement and Stewardship Memorandum of 
Understanding be received; 

AND THAT SCRD seek a three-year partnership agreement with Recreation Sites 
and Trails BC for the Homesite Creek Secret Cove Recreation Site; 

AND THAT SCRD seek a three-year memorandum of understanding with the 
Halfmoon Bay Citizens Association for management of the Homesite Creek Secret 
Cove Recreation Site; 

AND FURTHER THAT the Halfmoon Bay Citizens Association be authorized as an 
Associate Member of SCRD municipal insurance plan, for the purpose of liability 
coverage. 

ANNEX F

348



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
HOMESITE CREEK SECRET COVE RECREATION SITE (SECRET COVE FALLS TRAIL, REC 0383) 
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT AND STEWARDSHIP MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - REQUEST TO 
AUTHORIZE DELEGATED SIGNATORIES  Page 2 of 2 
 

 
2020-OCT-08 PCD Report - Amended_Homesite Creek Secret Cove Rec Site MOU 

DISCUSSION 

In bringing forward the staff report on this matter, staff neglected to include authorization for 
approval of the agreements referenced. Making authorization explicit is SCRD’s standard 
practice and good legislative and administrative practice as it ensures there is a record of 
permission to exercise authority. The omission was identified as agreements were being 
finalized. 
 
Per SCRD Delegation Bylaw No. 710 the Chair and Corporate Officer would be the delegated 
authorities to execute such agreements.  
 
Organizational and Intergovernmental Implications 

N/A 

Financial Implications 

N/A 

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date  

On Board direction, staff are prepared to have agreements finalized Q4 of 2020. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

N/A – operational matter 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Staff omitted authorization for agreement execution from the prior staff report. Staff recommend 
that the delegated authorities be authorized to enter into the Board-approved agreements with 
Rec Sites and Trails BC and the Halfmoon Bay Citizens Association. 
 
  

Reviewed by: 
Manager  CFO/Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X- D. McKinley Other  

 

349



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020  

AUTHOR:  Raphael Shay, Water Sustainability Coordinator 

SUBJECT: MY SEA TO SKY PILOT COMMUNITY INVITATION – BUILDING CAPACITY FOR 
COMMUNITY ENERGY AND EMISSIONS INVENTORY AND EVIDENCE-BASED CLIMATE 
ACTION PLANNING 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled My Sea to Sky Pilot Community Invitation - Building Capacity for 
Community Energy and Emissions Inventory and Evidence-Based Climate Action 
Planning be received; 

AND THAT a letter of support be provided to My Sea to Sky for the Climate Action Report 
Card Project; 

AND FURTHER THAT the request for letters of support for the Climate Action Report 
Card Project be forwarded to the Town of Gibsons, the District of Sechelt, and shíshálh 
Nation.  

BACKGROUND 

The 2019-2023 Strategic Plan includes updating the community energy and emissions 
inventory. This item was deferred to 2021 during the pandemic revisions to Budget 2020. Staff 
continue to scan for opportunities to advance strategic priorities within approved resource 
envelopes. 

DISCUSSION 

My Sea to Sky, in partnership with Climate Caucus, BCIT, UBC, and UVic, is preparing a project 
proposal to develop a public-friendly Climate Action Report Card tool. The tool will help 
municipalities and regional districts track and report community greenhouse gas emissions 
every year for three years. The project involves both the generation of the Community Energy 
and Emissions Inventory with the support of academic partners such as BCIT’s EcoCity 
Footprint tool as well as the accessible presentation of the inventory to the public.  

The initiative also proposes to go one step further in developing consumption-based inventories. 
This creates a larger boundary for what is included compared to past emissions inventories. By 
expanding the boundary of what emissions are considered, more strategic initiatives to reduce 
emissions may be identified.  

The tool will assist evidence-based decision making and evaluation of the effectiveness of 
initiatives. It will also have a consistent methodology so that local governments in the area and 
beyond have comparable inventories.  

ANNEX G

350



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
My Sea to Sky Pilot Community Invitation - Building Capacity for Community Energy and 
Emissions Inventory and Evidence-Based Climate Action Planning  
  Page 2 of 3 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Staff Report - Climate Action Report Cards 

As part of seeking grant funding, My Sea to Sky is seeking letters of support from municipalities 
and regional districts. Project staff reached out to SCRD with an invitation for an expression of 
interest to participate (Attachment A). At this time, the project is in the scoping phase prior to 
seeking funding.  

Option 1 – Offer a Letter of Support - Recommended 

On the basis that it is well-aligned with SCRD’s Strategic Plan, that a Community Energy and 
Emissions Inventory is already planned for 2021, and that this project could attract and create 
new resources for our region, Staff recommend that a letter of support for the project be 
provided to My Sea to Sky. 

Once a letter of support is sent, Staff would proceed to work with My Sea to Sky and outline the 
resources required to participate and the roles and responsibilities of being a pilot community. 
This would inform My Sea to Sky’s funding requests.  

As a future/next step, once the project is confirmed, a report would be brought to a future 
Committee concerning the implications of participating as a Pilot Community.  

If the Regional District opts to participate, data will by default be generated for the member 
municipalities and shíshálh Nation and/or Sechelt Indian Government District.  

Staff recommend that the initiative be shared with these entities so they may decide if greater 
involvement is desired and in hopes that a collaborative, regional approach can be pursued.  

Option 2 – Do not participate in the initiative 

The Regional District can opt to do the Community Energy and Emissions Inventory by hiring a 
contractor as originally proposed. This approach would provide the SCRD with what it needs to 
start the next tactic of the Strategic Plan, namely setting community targets.  

Financial Implications 

The partnership approach could attract new resources and capacity to the Sunshine Coast. A 
follow-up report will be brought with the implications of participating as a Pilot Community once 
defined with project partners.  

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date  

• October 2020: A letter of support for the project and commitment to participate as a pilot 
community contingent on funding will be sent to the project proponent;  

• October to December 2020: Staff identify budget and capacity support needed to 
participate to inform grant funding applications; 

• November 2020 to April 2021: Proponent will apply for funding through FCM, PICS, 
ECCC, and other funders. 

 

 

351



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
My Sea to Sky Pilot Community Invitation - Building Capacity for Community Energy and 
Emissions Inventory and Evidence-Based Climate Action Planning  
  Page 3 of 3 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Staff Report - Climate Action Report Cards 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The Strategic Plan has Climate Change and Resilience as a focus area. Updating the 
Community Energy and Emissions Plan is one of three strategies. This projects supports the 
first tactic, to complete the inventory. It will also support the following tactics of setting targets 
and developing community partnerships for emission reduction projects.  

CONCLUSION  

The 2019-2023 Strategic Plan includes updating the community energy and emissions 
inventory. This item was deferred to 2021 during the pandemic revisions to Budget 2020.  

My Sea to Sky is preparing a project proposal to develop a public-friendly Climate Action Report 
Card tool. If the project proceeds and the tool is developed it will help municipalities and 
regional districts track and report community greenhouse gas emissions every year for three 
years. 

On the basis that it is well-aligned with SCRD’s Strategic Plan, that a Community Energy and 
Emissions Inventory is already planned for 2021, and that this project could attract and create 
new resources for our region, Staff recommend that a letter of support for the project be 
provided to My Sea to Sky. Staff also recommend the request for letters of support be forwarded 
to the Town of Gibsons, the District of Sechelt, and shíshálh Nation.  

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Correspondence from Tracey Saxby, My Sea to Sky 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager  Finance   
GM X – I. Hall Legislative X – S. Reid 
CAO X – D. McKinley Other  

 

352



1

Subject: FW: Tracking and measuring GHG emissions annually
Attachments: OceanWatch article - The path to zero carbon communities REVISED 2020-06-17 FINAL DRAFT.pdf
From: Tracey Saxby [mailto:tracey@myseatosky.org]  
Sent: Friday, July 31, 2020 10:24 AM 
To: Raph Shay  
Subject: Tracking and measuring GHG emissions annually 
Dear Raph, 

Earlier this year, you helped to clarify what SCRD is doing with regards to climate action for an article I wrote for the 
next OceanWatch report. This article will be published in August (see the draft attached) and I’d like to update you on 
some amazing outcomes from this article. 

I am currently partnering with Climate Caucus, BCIT (Jennie Moore at EcoCity Footprint Tool), UBC (Stephen Shepard – 
CoolKit), and UVic (David Bristow), with support from BC Climate Action Secretariat, to begin developing a public‐
friendly Climate Action Report Card tool that will build capacity for municipalities/regional districts to track and report 
greenhouse gas emissions every year. As you know, this is critical to support evidence‐based decision making, and 
evaluate whether specific climate action policies and public engagement campaigns are effective or not. 

In the next six months, we are putting together multi‐million dollar grant applications (FCM, PICS, ECCC, etc.), and we 
are looking for regional districts that are willing to be pilots for this project. I would love for SCRD to be one of these 
pilots. 

The potential benefits include:  

‐ Funding for CEEI (buildings, transportation, waste) GHG emission inventories for at least three years, working 

with BCIT. 

‐ Funding for CBEI (add in food, goods + services, flights, water, etc.) GHG emission inventories for at least three 

years, working with BCIT. 

‐ Funding to cover staff time to help track down any data that may be required for CBEI. 

‐ Funding for staff time to test and provide feedback as we develop the tool. 

‐ The ability to measure whether policies/public engagement is reducing emissions. 

‐ Support to achieve SCRD’s climate targets. 

Backgrounder: 
Here’s a 20‐minute presentation on the Climate Action Report Card tool and what Climate Caucus is lobbying for. I was 
invited to present our asks at this webinar "Making Sure Canada Never Misses Another Climate Target" that was hosted 
by CANRac. It's worthwhile watching in its entirety to understand the Federal/Provincial frameworks for climate 
accountability that are being proposed if you’re interested in that. If not, I speak to the municipal framework we're 
proposing (through Climate Caucus) starting at 46 minutes or so. The slide deck is available here. 

Please do let me know when you are available for a meeting via zoom. I’d appreciate an opportunity to chat with you 
before I bring this before the directors. 

Best, Tracey 

Tracey Saxby 
Executive Director 
My Sea to Sky 
Cell: +1 (604) 892‐7501 
Email: tracey@myseatosky.org  
Web: http://myseatosky.org  

We respectfully acknowledge that we work in the traditional, unceded territories and ancestral lands of the 
xʷməθkʷəy̓əm (Musqueam), Sḵwx̱wú7mesh (Squamish), and Sel ຈíl ຈwitulh (Tsleil‐Waututh) Nations. 

Attachment A

353



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020  

AUTHOR:  Stephen Misiurak, Manager, Capital Projects 

SUBJECT: INVITATION TO TENDER (ITT) 2037005 Contract Award LANGDALE WELL AND 
PUMP STATION IMPROVEMENTS 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Invitation to Tender (ITT) 2037005 Langdale Well and Pump Station 
Improvements be received; 

AND THAT the construction contract for Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements 
be awarded to Coastal Mountain Excavators, Ltd. in the amount up to $281,545 (plus 
GST); 

AND THAT the budget for the Langdale Pump station project be increased by $43,679 to 
$318,679 and that it be funded from [370] Regional Water Capital Reserves; 

AND THAT the 2020 – 2024 Financial Plan be amended accordingly; 

AND THAT the delegated authorities be authorized to execute the contract; 

AND FURTHER THAT this recommendation be forwarded to the October 8, 2020 Regular 
Board meeting for consideration.   

BACKGROUND 

The Langdale Well and Pump station was constructed in 1971 and is the primary water supply 
source for the Langdale water system. Since its original construction, the well, pump and motor 
have not been removed for servicing and there have been no significant improvements to the 
facility.  

As part of the 2018 budget process an initial budget was approved of $100,000 (res #348/17) 
and in 2020 an additional budget for this project of $175,000 was approved (res #004/20).  

Allocated Budgets Total Budget (not 
including GST) 

Approved budget (2018 + 2020) $275,000 

Expenditures to date $17,134 

Anticipated costs SCRD staff resources $20,000 

Available Budget $237,866 

ANNEX H

354



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Invitation to Tender (ITT) 2037005 Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements  
  Page 2 of 3 
 

 
2020-Oct-8 PCD staff report Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements 

In accordance with the Sunshine Coast Regional District’s (SCRD) Purchasing Policy, an 
Invitation to Tender (ITT) 2037005 was issued June 18, 2020 and closed July 31, 2020. There 
were nine addendums issued. The ITT sought qualified contractors for the construction of the 
Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements. This project will in part replace the aging pump 
and motor assembly with an energy efficient pump and motor assembly. There will also be 
improvements to the pump controls and pipe works to improve the efficiency of the pump station 
and improve access for the Operators. Additional work will be redeveloping the well and 
completing a draw-down test to ensure the well is operating at optimum capacity. 

DISCUSSION 

Analysis  

One compliant tender was received for the construction of the Langdale Well and Pump Station 
Improvements.  
 
Led by Purchasing, the evaluation team consisted of 3 team members. The evaluation 
committee reviewed and scored the tender against the criteria set out in the ITT. Staff 
recommend that a contract be awarded to Coast Mountain Excavators Ltd. in the amount up to 
$281,545. They met the specifications as outlined in the ITT for the above-mentioned project.  
 

Name Total Contract Value  
(in the amount up to, not including GST) 

Coast Mountain Excavators Ltd. 
 

$281,545 

 
Included within this budget is a construction contingency of $20,000 that, at the sole discretion 
of the SCRD, may be used for this project. This contingency is only to be used on an as needed 
basis and must be approved by the SCRD in writing and in advance of performing the work.  
 
Financial Implications 

The current budget for this project is $275,000 and is funded from [370] Regional Water Capital 
Reserves. As indicated above the expenditures to date and the anticipated costs associated 
with the involvement of SCRD staff resources amount to $37,134. Awarding this contract would 
therefore result in a budget shortfall of $43,679. Staff recommend to fund this from [370] 
Regional Water Capital Reserves. 
 
Any surplus contingency allowance at project completion would be returned to the [370] 
Regional Water Capital Reserves fund. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements Project supports the SCRD Board’s 2019-
2023 Strategic Plan to plan for and ensure year-round water availability now and in the future. 

  

355



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Invitation to Tender (ITT) 2037005 Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements  
  Page 3 of 3 
 

 
2020-Oct-8 PCD staff report Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements 

CONCLUSION 

In accordance with the SCRD’s Purchasing Policy, ITT 2037005 was issued for construction of 
the Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements.  

Staff recommend that the contract for the Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements be 
awarded to Coast Mountain Excavators Ltd. in the amount up to $281,545 (plus GST). This 
includes a contingency allowance of $20,000 

Given this contract value and the amount of staff time required to complete this project the total 
budget shortfall is $43,679. Staff recommend to fund this budget shortfall $43,679 from [370] 
Regional Water Capital Reserves. 
  

Reviewed by: 
Manager  CFO/Finance X - T. Perreault 
GM X - R. Rosenboom Legislative  
CAO X – D. McKinley Other  

 

356



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020  

AUTHOR: Robyn Cooper, Manager, Solid Waste Services 
  Arun Kumar, Superintendent, Solid Waste Services 

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) 2035007 CONTRACT AWARD FOR METAL 
CONTAINER HAULING AND RECYCLING SERVICES 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 Contract Award for Metal 
Container Hauling and Recycling Services be received; 

AND THAT a contract for Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services be awarded to 
Salish Environmental Group Inc. in the amount up to $212,550 (plus GST); 

AND THAT Bylaw 405 be amended as part of the Q4 2020 tipping fee review to reflect the 
increase for metal recycling from $70 to $140 per tonne; 

AND THAT the 2020-2024 Financial Plan be amended accordingly; 

AND THAT the delegated authorities be authorized to execute the contract; 

AND FURTHER THAT these recommendations be forwarded to the October 8, 2020 Board 
meeting.  

BACKGROUND 

The Sunshine Coast Regional District (SCRD) currently provides a metal recycling program at 
the Pender Harbour Transfer Station and the Sechelt Landfill. Metal is collected from both sites 
and transported into the Lower Mainland for recycling. Transportation and recycling are 
provided via contracted services.  

In 2019, 941 tonnes of metal was received between the two SCRD sites. This includes materials 
such as fridges or freezers which contain ozone depleting substances (ODS). The SCRD 
provides ODS removal via contracted services, then the material is added to the metal container 
for recycling. 

The SCRD’s current contract for container, hauling and recycling services for the metal, from 
the Pender Harbour Transfer Station and the Sechelt Landfill, is set to expire on October 30, 
2020.  

In accordance with the Sunshine Coast Regional District’s (SCRD) Procurement Policy, 
Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 was issued on August 20, 2020, and closed on 
September 11, 2020. No addendums were issued. The RFP sought qualified companies to 
provide container and transportation services for metal. The RFP sought proposals for a one-
year contract term, with an option to extend up to four additional one-year periods. 

ANNEX I

357



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 Contract Award for Metal Container Hauling and 
Recycling Services  Page 2 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFP 2035007 Contract Award Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services 

DISCUSSION 

RFP Analysis 

Two complaint proposals were received. Led by Purchasing, the evaluation team consisted of 
four team members. The evaluation committee reviewed and scored the proposals against the 
criteria set out in the RFP. Staff recommend that a contract be awarded to Salish Environmental 
Group Inc. in the amount up to $212,550 (plus GST). In addition to meeting the requirements 
specified in the RFP, their proposal also includes a valued-added component.  

The revenue from the sale of the metal to the recycler would be paid directly to the SCRD. The 
rate paid to the SCRD is based on the market value of the metals, at the time of recycling. The 
past 7-month average price paid by the recycler was approximately $106 per tonne. Based on 
the 2019 metal tonnage, this could result in annual revenue of approximately $99,700. 

Name Total Contract Value 
(in the amount up to, not including GST) 

Salish Environmental Group Inc. $212,550 
 
Financial Implications 

The one-year contract value is $212,550.  

The available 2020 budget for this service is approximately $52,000. Based on the contract 
value, there is a budget shortfall of approximately $160,550.  

The metal recycling program is funded from tipping fees. The current tipping fee of $70 per 
tonne was established prior to 2013 and when reviewed in 2017, was still full cost recovery 
based on the contracted transportation costs which incorporated the revenue offset (SCRD did 
not receive metal revenue.) Awarding this contract would increase the costs for transporting 
containers of metal and without the revenue offset, is estimated to be approximately $230 to 
$280 per tonne depending on the site, as transportation costs from the Pender Harbour Transfer 
Station are higher than from the Sechelt Landfill. Including the revenue offset, would decrease 
the cost per tonne by approximately $106. 

It should also be noted that actual annual expenditures are based on tonnage of metal received.  

Options 

To address the budget shortfall identified in the Financial Implications section of this report, the 
following options are provided for the Committee’s consideration: 

Option 1: Award contract and continue metal recycling program 

This option would involve continuing the current practice of accepting metal at the Pender 
Harbour Transfer Station and the Sechelt Landfill and transporting the metal to an off-coast 
facility for recycling. Staff recommend this option. 
 
It should be noted that the operational certificate for the Sechelt Landfill does not permit the 
burial of metal.  

358



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 Contract Award for Metal Container Hauling and 
Recycling Services  Page 3 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFP 2035007 Contract Award Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services 

 
This option requires transportation and recycling services. Three possibilities are presented to 
address the budget shortfall. 
 

a) Increase tipping fee from $70 to $140 per tonne to be full cost recovery (overall, both 
sites combined). The proposed tipping fee is inclusive of the anticipated revenue 
received from the sale of the metal to be paid directly to the SCRD. Staff recommend 
this option given the objective of a full cost recovery for all diverted materials. 

 
b) Increase tipping fee from $70 to $280 per tonne to be full cost recovery without 

including the anticipated revenue from the sale of metal. Metal sales revenue would 
be placed into reserves to be utilized for other operational needs at the Sechelt 
landfill and Pender Harbour Transfer Station. As this tipping fee would be well in 
excess of the garbage tipping fee of $150 per tonne and would hence discourage the 
segregation of metal from waste, this option is not recommended.  

 
 c)  No change to the tipping fee and introduce taxation or funding received for the 

diversion of other materials to offset the remaining budget shortfall of approximately 
$160,550. This option is not recommended. 

Option 2: Do not award the contract, discontinue metal recycling program 

This option would see the metal recycling program discontinued and metal not accepted at 
either SCRD site effective November 1, 2020. This would leave residences and businesses on 
the Sunshine Coast with limited disposal options.  

By-Pass Auto, located in West Howe Sound, is a metal recycler currently accepting materials 
from the public. It is free to drop off most types of metals at their facility, however, they do not 
accept fridges or other materials containing ozone depleting substances. Given the limited on-
coast disposal options, staff do not recommend this option. 

Timeline for next steps 

Depending on which option is selected, staff will proceed accordingly.  
 
A staff report regarding a review of tipping fees of diverted materials is forthcoming to a 
Committee meeting in Q4 2020. This review will include a review of the costs associated with 
the diversion of metal which were outside the scope of this this report. 
 
Should a tipping fee adjustment be approved, an amendment to Bylaw 405 will be brought 
forward approval of the Board with implementation in late 2020. 
 
If a contract is awarded, a 2020-2024 Financial Plan amendment will be required.  
 
Should no contract be awarded, metal would begin to be refused at the SCRD sites as of 
November 1, 2020.  
 
Communications Strategy 

Staff have and will continue to promote diversion of metal to the private facilities, such as the 
one located in West Howe Sound. 

359



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Proposal (RFP) 2035007 Contract Award for Metal Container Hauling and 
Recycling Services  Page 4 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFP 2035007 Contract Award Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The purchasing process followed for this service is aligned with the SCRD Procurement Policy. 

This supports the Solid Waste Management Plan’s target of 65%-69% diversion by providing a 
recycling option for metal. 

CONCLUSION 

In accordance with the SCRD’s Procurement Policy, RFP 2035007 was issued for container, 
hauling and recycling services for metal from the Pender Harbour Transfer Station and Sechelt 
Landfill.  
 
The term of the contract is for one year with an option to extend up to four additional one-year 
periods.  
 
Two complaint proposals were received. 
 
Staff recommend that RFP 2035007 Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services be 
awarded to Salish Environmental Group Inc. in the amount up to $212,550 (plus GST). 
 
A 2020-2024 Financial Plan amendment is required.  
 
Staff recommend confirming the amended tipping fee of $140 per tonne as part of the tipping 
fee review report that will be brought forward at a future Q4 202 Committee meeting for 
implementation late 2020-early 2021. 
 
 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager  CFO/Finance X - T. Perreault 
GM X - R. Rosenboom Legislative  
CAO X - D. McKinley Purchasing  X - V. Cropp 

 

360



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020  

AUTHOR: Robyn Cooper, Manager, Solid Waste Services 
  Arun Kumar, Superintendent, Solid Waste Services 

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR QUOTATION (RFQ) 2035006 CONTRACT AWARD FOR GYPSUM 
CONTAINER AND TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 Contract Award for Gypsum 
Container and Transportation Services be received; 

AND THAT a contract for Gypsum Container and Transportation Services be awarded to 
Salish Environmental Group Inc. in the amount up to $239,859 (plus GST); 

AND THAT Bylaw 405 be amended as part of the Q4 2020 tipping fee review to reflect the 
increase for gypsum; 

AND THAT the 2020-2024 Financial Plan be amended accordingly; 

AND THAT the delegated authorities be authorized to execute the contract; 

AND FURTHER THAT these recommendations be forwarded to the October 8, 2020 Board 
meeting.  

BACKGROUND 

The Sunshine Coast Regional District (SCRD) currently provides a gypsum recycling program at 
the Pender Harbour Transfer Station and the Sechelt Landfill. Gypsum (not containing 
asbestos) is collected from both sites and transported into the Vancouver area for recycling. 
Transportation and recycling are provided via contracted services.  

In 2019, 495 tonnes of gypsum (not containing asbestos) were received at the SCRD sites. 

The SCRD’s current contract for container and transportation services for gypsum from the 
Pender Harbour Transfer Station and the Sechelt Landfill is set to expire on October 31, 2020. 

In accordance with the Sunshine Coast Regional District’s (SCRD) Procurement Policy, 
Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 was issued on August 13, 2020 and closed on 
September 4, 2020. No addendums were issued. The RFQ sought qualified companies to 
provide container and transportation services. The RFQ sought quotations for a contract term of 
three years with an option to extend up to two additional years. 

ANNEX J

361



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 Contract Award for Gypsum Container and 
Transportation Services  Page 2 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFQ 2035006 Contract Award Gypsum Services 

DISCUSSION 

RFQ Analysis 

Three quotations were received. Led by Purchasing, the evaluation team consisted of three 
team members. The evaluation committee reviewed and scored the quotations against the 
criteria set out in the RFQ. Staff recommend that a contract be awarded to Salish Environmental 
Group Inc. in the amount up to $239,859 (plus GST). They met the specifications as outlined in 
the RFQ and are the best value overall for the above-mentioned project. 

Name Total Contract Value 
(in the amount up to, not including GST) 

Salish Environmental Group Inc. $239,859 
 
Financial Implications 

The following table summarizes the contract value by year.  

 

The available 2020 budget for the hauling service is approximately $67,000. Based on the year 
1 contract value, there is a budget shortfall of approximately $11,400.  

There is also additional budget of approximately $56,000 to fund the recycling of gypsum.  

The gypsum recycling program is funded from tipping fees. The current tipping fee of $265 per 
tonne was established in approximately 2013 and when reviewed in 2017, was still full cost 
recovery. Awarding this contract would increase the costs for transporting gypsum and when 
also including recycling costs, the per tonne rate is estimated to be $280 to $290 depending on 
the site, as transportation costs from Pender Harbour Transfer Station are higher than from 
Sechelt Landfill.  

It should be noted that actual annual expenditures are based on tonnage of gypsum received. 

Options 

To address the budget shortfall identified in the Financial Implications section of this report, the 
following options are provided for the Committee’s consideration: 

Option 1: Award contract and continue gypsum recycling program 

This option would involve continuing the current practice of segregating gypsum (not containing 
asbestos) at the Pender Harbour Transfer Station and Sechelt Landfill and transporting the 
gypsum to an off-coast facility for recycling. Staff recommend this option. 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total 
(excluding GST) 

Salish Environmental 
Group Inc. $78,375 $79,943 $81,541 $239,859 

362



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 Contract Award for Gypsum Container and 
Transportation Services  Page 3 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFQ 2035006 Contract Award Gypsum Services 

It should be noted that the operational certificate for the Sechelt Landfill does not permit the 
burial of gypsum (with or without asbestos). 
 
This option requires transportation services. Two possibilities are presented to address the 
budget shortfall. 
 

a) Increase tipping fee from $265 to $290 per tonne to be full cost recovery (overall, both 
sites combined). Staff recommend this option given the objective of a full cost recovery 
for all diverted materials.  
 

b) No change to tipping fee and introduce taxation or funding received for the diversion of 
other materials to offset the remaining budget shortfall of approximately $11,400. This 
option is not recommended. 
 

Option 2: Do not award contract, discontinue gypsum recycling program 

This option would see the gypsum recycling program discontinued and gypsum not accepted at 
either SCRD site effective November 1, 2020. This would leave residences and businesses on 
the Sunshine Coast without a local disposal option and folks would either have to deliver to the 
Vancouver area directly or hire a private contractor to do so. Given the quantity of gypsum 
received and that there are no other on-coast disposal options, staff do not recommend this 
option.  

Timeline for next steps 
 
Depending on which option is selected, staff will proceed accordingly.  
 
A staff report regarding a review of tipping fees of diverted materials is forthcoming to a 
Committee meeting in Q4 2020. This review will include a review of the costs associated with 
gypsum which were outside the scope of this this report. 
 
Should a tipping fee adjustment be approved, an amendment to Bylaw 405 will be brought 
forward approval of the Board with implementation in late 2020. 
 
If a contract is awarded, a 2020-2024 Financial Plan amendment will be required.  
 
Should no contract be awarded, gypsum would begin to be refused at the SCRD site as of 
November 1, 2020.  
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The purchasing process followed for this service is aligned with the SCRD Procurement Policy. 

This supports the Solid Waste Management Plan’s target of 65%-69% diversion by providing a 
recycling option for gypsum. 

 

 

363



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2035006 Contract Award for Gypsum Container and 
Transportation Services  Page 4 of 4 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFQ 2035006 Contract Award Gypsum Services 

CONCLUSION 

In accordance with the SCRD’s Procurement Policy, RFQ 2035006 was issued for gypsum 
container and transportation services from the Sechelt Landfill and the Pender Harbour Transfer 
Station to a gypsum recycling facility in the Vancouver area. The term of the contract is three 
years with an option to extend up to two additional years. 
Three quotations were received. 
 
Staff recommend that RFQ 2035006 Gypsum Container and Transportation Services be 
awarded to Salish Environmental Group Inc. in the amount up to $239,859 (plus GST). 
 
A 2020-2024 Financial Plan amendment is required.  
 
Staff recommend confirming the amended tipping fee of $290 per tonne as part of the rate 
review report that will be brought forward at a future Q4 202 Committee meeting for 
implementation late 2020-early 2021. 
 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager  CFO/Finance X - T. Perreault 
GM X - R. Rosenboom Legislative  
CAO X - D. McKinley Purchasing  X - V. Cropp 

 

364



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 

AUTHOR: Ian Hall, General Manager, Planning and Community Development 

SUBJECT: PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 2020 Q3 REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT the report titled Planning and Community Development Department 2020 Q3 
Report be received. 

BACKGROUND 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on activity in the Planning and Community 
Development Department for the Third Quarter (Q3) of 2020: July 1 to September 30, 2020.  
The report provides information from the following divisions: Planning & Development, Building, 
Ports & Docks, Facility Services & Parks, Recreation & Community Partnerships, and Pender 
Harbour Aquatic & Fitness Centre. 

ANNEX K

365



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 2 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 

Regional Planning [500] 
Key projects in Q3 included:  

• Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) Steering Committee -  was active through Q3 
supporting Urban Matters consultants to finalize the community engagement, draft the 
HNA report and preparing for an elected officials workshop (summary of results) that 
was delivered in September. A stakeholder workshop is planned for early November, 
APC members will be invited. 
 

• The Zoning Bylaw No. 310 Update project – the draft bylaw has been reviewed by 
planning staff. Further technical work is required before bringing the draft forward.  

 
• APC Refresher/Orientation Workshop – is in development, for online delivery in late 

November.   
 

• Process Improvements - Staff review of workflow/process continues with the goals of 
improving customer service, aligning work with core service areas, improving efficiency 
of core operations.  

 
• BCTS follow up – In Q3 staff assisted in the development of resolutions for UBCM 

relating to multi-ministry watershed scale planning for ground water protection and 
stormwater management, and cumulative effects analysis. 
 

• Regional growth baseline research project – project scope/plan shared with planning 
leads from member municipalities and First Nations for review and dialogue. Pending 
confirmation from partners, call for proposals planned for Q4. 

 
Rural Planning [504] 
Key projects in Q3 included:  

• Short Term Rental Accommodations – Staff reported to the Committee on the 
recommended changes to the zoning amendment bylaws in Q2. A public hearing 
concerning these bylaws was held on June 18, 2019. In Q3, staff analyzed the results of 
the public hearing and overall process and presented a recommendation for 
consideration of third reading of the bylaws in November 2019. As per Board direction, 
staff prepared a report on the implications of implementing temporary permit for short 
term rental accommodation. In February 2020, the Board decided to remove provisions 
for short term rental accommodation and temporary use permit from the proposed 
bylaws and a second public hearing was held on June 30, 2020 via Zoom. On 
September 10, 2020, the Planning and Community Development Committee passed a 
motion to give third reading of and adopt the bylaws. 

 

  

366



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 3 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

OPERATIONS 

Development Applications Statistics 

Applications Received 
Area 

A 
Area

B 
Area

D 
Area 

E 
Area 

F 
Q3 

2020 
2020 
YTD 

Development Permit 7 1 3   11 27 
Development Variance Permit 2     2 11 

Subdivision   1   1 9 
Rezoning/OCP     2 2 6 

Board of Variance 1    1  2 
Agricultural Land Reserve    1   1 

Frontage Waiver        
Strata Conversion        

Total 10 1 4 1 3 19 56 
 

There were 19 Development Applications received in Q3 2020 compared to 15 in Q3 2019. 

• The 2019 total for Development Applications was 96. 
• The 2018 total for Development Applications was 88.  
• The 2017 total for Development Applications was 80.  
• The 2016 total for Development Applications was 57.  

 
Development Applications Revenue 

Revenue Stats Area A Area B Area D Area E Area F 
Q3 

2020 
2020 
YTD 

DP $4,420 $500 $1,500   $6,420 $14,320 
DVP $1,500     $1,500 $7,000 

Subdivision   $865   $865 $8,775 
Rezoning/ 

OCP 
    $2,900 $2,900 $10,600 

BoV $500    $1,000 $1,500 $1,500 
ALR    $1,500  $1,500 $1,500 

Strata 
Conversion 

       

Total $6,420 $500 $2,365 $1,500 $3,900 $14,685 $43,695 
 
Development Applications revenue was $14,685 in Q3 2020 compared to $8,830 in Q3 2019.  

• The 2019 total for Development Applications revenue was $60,625. 
• The 2018 total for Development Applications revenue was $69,402.  
• The 2017 total for Development Applications revenue was $63,360.  
• The 2016 total for Development Application revenue was $54,505. 

 
 

 

  

367



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 4 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

Provincial and Local Government Referrals 

Referrals DoS ToG SIGD Isld 
Trst 

SqN Province Other* Q3 
2020 

2020 
YTD 

Referrals      5  5 21 
 
There were 5 Referrals received in Q3 2020 compared to 8 in Q3 2019. 
 

• The 2019 total for Referrals was 26. 
• The 2018 total for Referrals was 24.  
• The 2017 total for Referrals was 36.  
• The 2016 total for Referrals was 34.  

 
Building Permit Reviews Completed by Planning Staff 

BP Review 
Area 

A 
Area 

B 
Area 

D 
Area 

E 
Area 

F 
Q3 

2020 
2020 
YTD 

Building Permit Reviews by 
Planning & Development Div. 

8 
 

9 5 8 3 33 99 

 
There were 33 Building Permit Reviews completed in Q3 2020 compared to 16 in Q3 2019. 
 

• The 2019 total for Building Permit Reviews was 117. 
• The 2018 total for Building Permit Reviews was 254.  
• The 2017 total for Building Permit Reviews was 241.  
• The 2016 total for Building Permit Reviews was 293.  

 
Planning Division Public Inquiries by Email 
 
Public engagement through receipt and continued consultation on planning related inquiries in 
the planning general email inbox is an on-going task that all planning staff assist with.  
 
The statistics provided in the table below (which are a combination of Q1, Q2 and Q3) provide 
an overview of the quantity of planning related inquiries that the public submit to planning staff.  
 
Email Public Inquiries # 
January  82 
February  58 
March  91 
April  100 
May  162 
June 121 
July 138 
August 168 
September 168 
2020 YTD Total 1,088 

 
  

368



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 5 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

BUILDING DIVISION 
The Third Quarter showed a consistent but lower volume of permit issuance. Based on the 
increased number of construction and building related enquiries received by the Building 
Division, the Fourth Quarter is expected to see a noticeable increase. 

Monthly Building Statistics Q3 2020 

 
Quarterly Building Statistics Comparison 2017 - 2020 

 
 
 
 

369



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 6 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

Building Permit Revenue by Electoral Area – Q3 2020 

 
Building Permit Revenue by Electoral Area - Year to Date 2020 

 
  

370



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 7 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

PORTS AND DOCKS DIVISION  
OPERATIONS 
• In Q3, a number of urgent repairs were completed such as gangway surfacing replacement, 

transition plate installation, and signage.  
• Maintenance inspections were conducted in July and staff will be meeting with contractor to 

go over implementation plan for Q4;  
• An urgent response to catastrophic storm damage at the Gambier Harbour float was 

mustered. The longstanding issue of connection between Floats A and B has reached the 
stage where staff are working with Engineers on a review of alternatives. There is 
community frustration with a lack of reliable service in this location in 2019/2020 and there 
are mounting costs of repeated repairs. Meeting with POMO reps to discuss the above held 
in July. 

• Urgent response to vandalism at Keats Landing that broke connection between shed/shelter 
and wharfhead. RCMP and ICBC are involved.  

• Staff continue to monitor Eastbourne Gangway repairs conducted in September.  
 

PORTS MONITORS (POMO) COMMITTEE 

The POMO approach of “eyes on the dock” to identify condition, maintenance or operation 
issues provided useful feedback that enables SCRD to respond to issues more quickly and 
more efficiently. 
 
Currently 6 of the 9 POMO Committee positions are filled. The Port Graves, Halfmoon Bay and 
Eastbourne positions remains open.  

The Community Dock Management Workshop for SCRD and Islands Trust elected officials was 
held on September 14, 2020.  

MAJOR PROJECTS 

• Staff are working on a series of designs for smaller capital repairs at various facilities and for 
West Bay float rehabilitation. 

 
 
 
 
  

371



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 8 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

FACILITY SERVICES DIVISION  
 
Building Maintenance [313] 
Building Maintenance Tickets July 1 – Sept. 30 
Tickets received  28 
Tickets resolved     34 
Open (unresolved) tickets as of June 30   13 

 

Covid – 19 

There has been a significant reduction in work tickets received since facilities have closed or are 
operating with reduced staffing due to Covid-19.  Regular scheduled preventative maintenance 
continues to be performed by building maintenance staff.  
 

Recreation Facilities Services [613] 

GACC 
 

• Annual dehumidifier maintenance and repair completed; 
• Annual refrigeration plant maintenance completed by contractor; 
• Facility water system testing for legionella in preparation to reopen facility by contractor;  
• Annual Zamboni maintenance and battery maintenance completed by contractor; 
• Annual boiler, bleacher heater and demand water heater maintenance completed by 

contractor; 
• Building DDC control system repair and optimization by contractor; 
• Annual facility interior painting completed; 
• Ice installation; 
• Repairs to failed cool floor brine pump during ice installation; 
• Preparations for reopening and restart of facility under Covid-19 guidelines; 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance.  

 
SAC 
 

• Install lower trip point ground fault interruption plugs on pool deck for enhanced staff and 
patron safety; 

• Annual boiler maintenance completed by contractor; 
• Annual pool circulation and play feature pump maintenance completed; 
• Annual UV light maintenance completed; 
• Facility water system testing for legionella in preparation to reopen facility by contractor;  
• Substantial tile floor re-grouting on pool deck and in change rooms completed; 
• Annual facility interior touch up painting completed; 
• Removal of diving board and climbing wall; 
• Leisure pool UV light capital renewal replacement project completed, a couple of minor 

deficiencies, contractor is working on resolving; 
• Preparations for reopening and restart of facility under Covid-19 guidelines; 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance.  

 
 
 

372



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 9 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

SCA 
 

• Annual refrigeration plant maintenance completed by contractor; 
• Two failed ballasts replaced in arena floor lighting; 
• Leak in under slab heating system repaired and system glycol charge replenished; 
• Rubber matting replaced on Zamboni ice entrance and in Zamboni room;  
• Arena cold area painting completed; 
• Facility water system testing for legionella in preparation to reopen facility by contractor;  
• Lobby painting 95% complete; 
• SCA bitumen roof capital renewal replacement project design phase commenced; 
• Preparations underway to reopen facility for dry floor use under Covid-19 guidelines;  
• Ongoing preventative maintenance.  

 
GDAF 
 

• Lap pool filter capital renewal replacement project completed; 
• Annual pool circulation and play feature pump maintenance completed; 
• Annual UV light maintenance completed; 
• Annual facility interior and exterior touch up painting completed; 
• Annual roof inspection completed; 
• Annual pool basin painting including Tots pool, Rain pool and shallow end of Lap pool 

completed by contractor; 
• Cleaning and reorganization of storage shed on patio, shed is now being used to store 

spare mechanical equipment;  
• Ongoing preventative maintenance.  

 
PHAFC 
 

• Lap pool filter capital renewal replacement project completed; 
• Lap pool circulation capital renewal replacement project completed;  
• Annual swirl pool circulation and jet pump maintenance completed; 
• Annual facility interior touch up painting and woodwork resurfacing completed; 
• Facility water system testing for legionella in preparation to reopen facility by contractor;  
• Removal of improperly installed check valves on outflow lines for Lap pool heaters. This 

decreased back pressure and system is now meeting flow rate targets as stipulated on 
new data sheet;  

• Ongoing preventative maintenance. 
 

  

373



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 10 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

PARKS DIVISION  
 
Cemeteries [400] 
Q3 Statistics – July 1 to September 30  

 2020 Q3 2019 Q3 2020 Q3 2019 Q3 
Service Burials Burials Cremations Cremations 
Plots Sold 6 1 0 0 
Niches Sold N/A N/A 5 0 
Interments 4 3 9 9 
Inurnments (Niche) N/A N/A 3 0 

 
• Continued ongoing interments. Pandemic response and safety planning has resulted in a 

few changes in regards to public gathering, procedures, physical distancing, etc.; 
• Brushing removal, landscaping and clearing of hazard vegetation; 
• Continued installation of memorial markers; 
• Additional staff trained for staking out burial plots and performing interments; 
• Consumer Protection BC approved the application for an additional 69 plots to be added to 

Seaview Cemetery. Staff continue to plot out these additional plots as required;  
• Investigation into the placement of upright memorial markers and additional operational 

safety improvements at Seaview Cemetery; and, 
• Developing request for proposal documents for tendering a new SCRD cemetery business 

plan (anticipate tender Q4 2020). 
 
Very strong demand for niches. Staff are analyzing supply and planning for columbarium 
expansion. 
 
Parks [650]  
PROJECTS 
 
Parks, Trails and Beach Accesses 
 
Key projects, maintenance and repair activities: 
 
Area A – Egmont Pender Harbour 
 
• Regular maintenance, inspections and operation of all electoral area parks and amenities; 
• Upkeep of COVID-19 signage in all SCRD parks and beach accesses, including closures 

and re-opening of playgrounds and sports fields; 
• Developed and implemented planning and safety risk assessment framework for operations 

at Katherine Lake Campground. Ongoing support to operations and caretakers; 
• Further investigated reports of unauthorized trail construction at Beaver Island Park. 

Working with neighbors to approach a community-led response and solution; 
• Received shishalh Nation approval for the application to permit SCRD Parks to perform 

annual placement of sand on both Katherine Lake and Dan Bosch Park beaches. 
• Working with Pender Harbour Living Heritage Society on their Trail, Beach and Dock project 

proposal at Hotel Lake Park; 
• Working with community members on the possible authorization of community trails 

adjacent to Mixal Lake and within Katherine Lake Park; and, 
• Hazard tree mitigation at Katherine Lake Park and Campground. 
 

374



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 11 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

 
Area B – Halfmoon Bay 
 
• Regular maintenance, inspections and operation of all electoral area parks and amenities; 
• Upkeep of COVID-19 signage in all SCRD parks and beach accesses, including closures 

and reopening of playgrounds and sports fields; 
• Seasonal maintenance, brushing and trimming of Welcome Woods community 

connector/recreation trails; 
• Incident investigation and follow up regarding trail maintenance at Lohn-Southwood, Connor 

and Hart Rd. connector trails; 
• Investigated unauthorized bench installation in Connor Park and Welcome Woods 

Wilderness Trail system; 
• Inspected drainage diversion effects on the wetland portion of Woodland Heights Park; 
• Assisting Halfmoon Bay Citizen’s Association with the install of community hall project 

funding signage at Coopers Green Park; 
• New regulatory signage was installed at the Coopers Green boat ramp, and, 
• Completed a comprehensive wildlife danger tree assessment for Homesite Creek Falls 

Secret Cove Recreation Site. BC Wildfire service performed approximately 2 weeks of 
hazard removal, mitigation and vegetation management. All work performed under the 
authority of section 52 of the BC Forests and Range Practices Act. 

 
Area D – Roberts Creek 
 
• Regular maintenance, inspections and operation of all electoral area parks and amenities; 
• Upkeep of COVID-19 signage in all SCRD parks and beach accesses, including closures 

and reopening of playgrounds and sports fields; 
• Finalized tenure renewal at Roberts Creek Pier; 
• All Electoral Area D trails and beach accesses received seasonal inspections, maintenance, 

brushing and upkeep. Priority projects in development; and, 
• Completed test well exploration for a sustainable, non-potable water source at Cliff Gilker 

Park. Sufficient water and flow to support a sports field irrigation system was discovered. 
 
Area E – Elphinstone 
 
• Regular maintenance, inspections and operation of all electoral area parks and amenities; 
• Upkeep of COVID-19 signage in all SCRD parks and beach accesses; 
• Working with Infrastructure Services on the test well development at Maryanne West Park; 
• All Electoral Area E trails and beach accesses received seasonal inspections, maintenance, 

brushing and upkeep. 
 
Area F – West Howe Sound 

• Regular maintenance, inspections and operation of all electoral area parks and amenities; 
• Upkeep of COVID-19 signage in all SCRD parks and beach accesses; 
• Continued communications with the Sunshine Coast Disc Golf Association to formalize 

working partnerships and maintenance arrangements for the Shirley Macey Park Disc Golf 
Course; 

• Continued discussions with Coast Mountain Bike Trail Association, XCG Engineering and 
Whistler Bike Parks Inc. in regards to the proposal for the re-development of a the pump 
track and bike skills park adjacent to Sprockids Recreation Site; 

 
 

375



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 12 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

• Continued trail work at Sprockids park in coordination with Recreation Sites and Trails BC, 
BC FLNRORD and the Coast Mountain Bike Trail Association including 
deconstruction/remediation in area of unauthorized trails, additional priority signage 
upgrades and a comprehensive wildlife danger tree assessment and mitigation (currently in 
progress); 

• Coordinated assistance with Infrastructure Services and the Church Road well project; 
• Sections of Grantham’s Community Park and trails continues to be closed due to unsafe 

geotechnical conditions and instability issues. The area has been cordoned off and 
closure/warning signage has been posted. Staff have constructed a new, sustainable grade 
access trail that serves to direct users from hazards. Parks staff continue monitoring the 
Grantham’s Community Park area on a weekly basis and immediately after any significant 
weather events; 

• All Electoral Area F trails and beach accesses received seasonal inspections, maintenance, 
brushing and upkeep; 

• Staff issuing request for proposals for Gambier Island Parks and Trails Maintenance 
contractor. Anticipate tender early Q4; and, 

• Continual monitoring and documenting of situation at McNair Bridge. 
 
All Areas 
 
• All trails and beach accesses drainage corrections, required ditching, trail grade 

improvements, culvert cleaning and vegetation management; 
• All trails assessed regularly for seasonal storm damage, blowdown and safety concerns; 
• Regular playground safety inspections; 
• Routine inspections and maintenance at all SCRD parks; 
• Coordinated additional staffing resources to help division deliver priority projects and assist 

with operations; 
• Partnership with Rotary Club to receive AED and rescue tube donations, construct and 

install all units at approved priority SCRD park locations (anticipate install and project 
completion/rollout early Q4 2020); 

• Due to COVID-19 pandemic response, staff are performing additional cleaning of all 
washrooms, when required and capable; 

• Continued participation and assistance with the SCRD COVID-19 restart working plan; 
• Involvement with the Mason Road SCRD Joint Health and Safety Committee; and, 
• Developing a project brief for the Mason Road Parks Space Improvements project. 
 

Parks Planning 

• Working with Recreation Sites and Trails BC and Halfmoon Bay Citizen’s Association, 
completing a partnership agreement and memorandum of understanding for the stewardship 
and operation of Homesite Creek Falls Secret Cove Recreation Site; 

• Partnership building with the Sunshine Coast Trails Society. Attending meetings and 
assisting with various priorities and action items; 

• Coordinating with BC Invasive Species Council to diagnose and prescribe treatments for the 
effective removal and control of identified priority invasive species within a number of SCRD 
park properties; 

• Assisted Planning Division with applications for subdivision reviews as pertained to parkland 
dedication requirements; 

• Continued project development with the Pender Harbour Living Heritage Society regarding 
the trail, beach and dock project proposal at Hotel Lake Park; 

376



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 13 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

• Reported on public feedback from community consultation for Welcome Woods/Connor Park 
future management plan; 

• Discussions with the Sunshine Coast Disc Golf Association regarding formal 
partnership/stewardship agreements for the Shirley Macey Disc Golf course. 

• Investigation and planning for the feasibility and options of providing a boat launch at McNair 
Creek Park; 

• Further partnership development and work prioritization with the Ministry of Forests, Lands, 
Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) in regards to trail and 
vegetation assistance from the BC Wildfire Service Initial Attack forest fire fighting crew; 

• Planning related to the roll-out of a parks asset management planning process; 
• Suncoaster Trail capital project planning in coordination with partners DoS and SCTS; 
• Ongoing divisional collaboration on 2020 operational and capital budget initiatives; and, 
• Continued participation in Planning and Community Development Parks and Recreation Re-

start planning. 
 
Sports Fields 

Number of bookings per sports field in 2020 Q3 compared to 2019 Q3 bookings:  

Sports Field  2020 Q3 Bookings 2020 Q3 Actuals 2019 Q3 Bookings 
Lions Field 9 9 15 
Cliff Gilker 101 39 181 
Connor Park 67 21 146 
Maryanne West 24 16 25 
Shirley Macey Park 125 61 114 

 
The 2020 count reflects the SCRD pre-booked sports field bookings.  The second 2020 count is 
actual bookings when fields were re-opened to organized sports.  As part of the provincial 
restart plan, phase 2 saw sports fields re-opened mid-June for non-organized events only, and 
permitted organized play began in early July. 

• Assisted to deliver 2020 sports field user allocation meeting; 
• Slicing and fertilizing at, Cliff Gilker Park, Shirley Macey Park and Connor Park sports fields; 
• Irrigation repairs at all sports fields; 
• Aeration training protocols for one of our junior staff;  
• Beginning non-potable water source exploration project at Maryanne West Park; 
• Ongoing vegetation thinning around sports fields to expose more light onto the fields and 

improve drainage issues; 
 
 

Community Halls  

Number of bookings in Community Halls in 2020 Q3 compared to 2019 Q3 bookings: 

Community Hall  2020 Q3 Bookings 2019 Q3 Bookings 
Eric Cardinall 12 36 
Frank West Hall 15 34 
Coopers Green 2 29 
Chaster House 10 72 
Granthams Hall 2 N/A 

 

377



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 14 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

The 2020 count reflects the SCRD community hall closures as of March 17, 2020 as part of 
SCRD safety adjustments in service levels during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• Divisional collaboration with Building Maintenance to effectively coordinate share 
community hall safety and maintenance upgrades and priorities (ongoing); 

• As part of the provincial restart program, staff collaborated with Recreation to re-open 
rental halls.  As part of the re-start new occupancy numbers for each hall were 
determined and some furniture and kitchen items were removed; 

• Shared our restart program with Ranger Station and Sarah Wray Hall leases; 
• Routine inspections and maintenance at all SCRD community halls; 
• Continued collaboration with School District No. 46 and Pender Harbour Living Heritage 

Society on utility billing and energy savings strategies for Sarah Wray Hall; 
• Coordinating community interpretive signage additions with Pender Harbour Living 

Heritage Society. 
 
Dakota Ridge [680] 

Operations 

• Staff are preparing for the opening of the 2020-2021 winter operational season; 
• A COVID-19 Hazard/Risk Assessment and Safety Plan is currently in development 

regarding 2020-2021 SCRD operations at Dakota Ridge;  
• Parks staff are implementing a number of small capital works approved in the 2020 

budget including the installation of a set of steps between parking lot and facility;  
• Piston Bulley, snowmobile, and UTV were transported from Dakota Ridge to the SCRD 

Mason Rd. yard and are receiving annual maintenance, including some capital upgrades 
to groomer tracks; and, 

• Staff are investigation electronic ticketing options for the 2020-2021 season to help 
reduce the risks of COVID-19 transmission. 

 
Community Events 

• Over 50 “Thank You” letters signed by the Chair were sent to volunteers from the past 
two seasons; 

• The Dakota Ridge Nordics (a community volunteer program) had 92 children participate 
in nationally-certified learn to ski program last winter. The program is currently examining 
opportunities and challenges for the 2020-2021 program season;  

• Staff implementing additional insurance program for volunteers through MIA; and, 
• Staff will be reaching out to volunteers to begin dialogue on what the 2020-2021 

volunteer season might look like with COVID-19 safety protocols in place.  
 

Access Road  

• Road engineering/technical support contract to be renewed in Q4 2020; 
• Annual inspection fall work planning scheduled for Q4. 
 

  

378



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 15 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

RECREATION AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS DIVISION  

 
COVID-19 – All Facilities 
 

• Recreation Facilities have been closed since March 17, 2020 due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Reopening of facilities began in September 2020. 

 
• Some staff have remained employed through re-deployment to essential services work 

under the local Emergency Operations Centre. Staff were also re-deployed to 
Community Ambassador roles for a short period of time and to provide public washroom 
and shower facilities in Gibsons, Sechelt and Pender Harbour with funding support from 
BC Housing.  
 

• In total, through EOC deployment, Recreation Services Staff were able to offer 
washroom/shower services to 6,569 individuals from April 10 – September 7. 

 
Pender Harbour Government Wharf – 5,473 
Sechelt Aquatic Centre – 897 
Gibsons and District Aquatic Facility – 199 
 

• Following Board direction given on July 30, 2020 (284/20, #10: THAT staff research a 
temporary “COVID-19 Surcharge” to address booking fees and special operating costs 
and report to a future Committee), Recreation staff have worked with our scheduling 
software vendor (ACTIVENet) and internal stakeholders to deliver a solution that 
minimizes additional booking-related costs. Staff continue to track new/special costs 
related to COVID-19 and will provide an update through the 2021 annual budget 
process.  

 
Gibsons and District Aquatic Facility (GDAF) 
 
Gibsons and District Aquatic Facility was deployed as one of the SCRD EOC washroom/shower 
centres.  As aquatic staff were recalled and trained for reopening SAC & PHAFC, this EOC 
centre was effectively closed on September 4, 2020. 
 
GDAF is closed following Board-directed restart plan. 
 
 
Gibsons and Area Community Centre (GACC) 
 
GACC weight room reopened on September 4 as planned. Fitness and other programming will 
begin in October. 
 
GACC Arena operations began as planned on September 8th.  The youth groups occupied the 
ice through week one.  Sunshine Coast Minor Hockey provided two hockey camps and the 
Sunshine Coast Skating club began their regular rentals.  All user groups attended a pre-
scheduled COVID-19 orientation tour lead by SCRD staff to review safety protocols, Facility 
procedures and traffic flow.   
 

379



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 16 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

The adult users groups are being phased in through September and early October.  The 
phasing in of the adults is common and historical through the years and provides minor hockey 
with the opportunity to hold try outs and develop teams.  
 
SCRD Arena programming will begin the week of September 28th with six public skate/parent & 
tot sessions per week. 
 
Arena worker casual staff are in the process of being trained and scheduled for the start of 
SCRD Arena programming. 
 
At present, prime time ice demands from user groups currently exceed the supply of ice 
available at GACC. 
 

Admissions and Program Registrations 

GACC reopened for admissions on September 9 and the 2019 comparison below includes both 
the same time period for admissions (only, no rentals included) as well as the entire quarter 
(including rentals) 
 

GACC Q3 2020 (Sep 4 - 30) Sep 4 - 30 2019 Q3 2019 
Admission Visits 372 3,885 19,878 

 
This represents a decrease of 19506 visits for the Q3 2020 period and a decrease of 3513 visits 
for the Sep 4 – 30 period.  
 
Included in this total are 18 L.I.F.E admissions for those on low income for July to September 
2020.  

Sunshine Coast Arena (SCA) 

The Sunshine Coast Arena reopened on Tuesday, September 29th.  Staff have coordinated 
registered Pickleball sessions on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays with plans to introduce 
fitness classes and other programming as soon as possible.   

Staff have been contacted by multiple user groups interested in renting the dry floor including 
Sunshine Coast Lacrosse, Sunshine Coast Roller Girls, Sunshine Coast Minor Hockey and 
other community groups.  Allocation discussions are taking place this week with dry floor rentals 
commencing the week of October 5.  

Admissions and Program Registrations 

SCA reopened for admissions on September 29 and the 2019 comparison below includes both 
the same time period for admissions (only, no rentals included) as well as the entire quarter 
(including rentals) 
 

SCA Q3 2020 (Sep 29 - 30) Sep 29 - 30 2019 Q3 2019 
Admission Visits 4 0 2,100 

 
This represents a decrease of 2096 visits for the Q3 2020 period and an increase of 4 visits for 
the Sep 29 – 30 period.  
 

380



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 17 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

Included in this total are zero L.I.F.E admissions for those on low income for July to September 
2020.  

Sechelt Aquatic Centre (SAC)  

Admissions and Program Registrations 

SAC reopened for admissions on September 9 and the 2019 comparison below includes both 
the same time period for admissions (only, no rentals included) as well as the entire quarter 
(including rentals) 
 

SAC Q3 2020 (Sep 9 - 30) Sep 9 - 30 2019 Q3 2019 
Admission Visits 1476 9,173 39,891 

 
This represents a decrease of 38415 visits for the Q3 2020 period and a decrease of 7697 visits 
for the Sep 9 – 30 period.  
 
Included in this total are 26 L.I.F.E admissions for those on low income for July to September 
2020.  
 
EOC operations closed at SAC August 28 as staff prepared the facility to be ready for opening.  
During the first week of September – 38 staff from all 3 aquatic facilities received updates to 
certifications and training in and out of the water with an emphasis on COVID 19 safety 
protocols and procedures.  
 
The pool side of SAC reopened on September 8 for Chinook Swim training sessions only as a 
“soft opening” to look at how process and flow through the Facility would work.  The weight 
room and front desk reopened on September 9 and the entire Facility, including lap pool, 
reopened on September 10.  Leisure Pool and Everyone Welcome Swims were reintroduced on 
September 27. 
 
Fitness programming will begin in October. 
 

  

381



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – October 8, 2020 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2020 Q3 Report  Page 18 of 18 
 

 
2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL 

Pender Harbor Aquatic and Fitness Centre (PHAFC) 

Admissions and Program Registrations 
 
PHAFC reopened for admissions on September 14 and the 2019 comparison below includes 
both the same time period for admissions (only, no rentals included) as well as the entire 
quarter (including rentals) 
 

PHAFC Q3 2020 (Sep 14 - 30) Sep 14 - 30 2019 Q3 2019 
Admission Visits 111 763 2,151 

 
This represents a decrease of 2040 visits for the Q3 2020 period and a decrease of 652 visits 
for the Sep 14 – 30 period.  
 
Included in this total are 1 L.I.F.E admission for those on low income for July to September 
2020.  

Staff started back at PHAFC the last week of August to prepare the facility for reopening.  The 
PHAFC staff were included in the training at SAC the first week of September and also had a 
site-specific training session at PHAFC on September 10.  The entire facility, pool and weight 
room reopened on September 14. 
 
The Pender Harbour Aquatic Society Agreement with the SCRD is up for renewal. Staff are 
working with the Society to renew this Agreement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Reviewed by:  
Manager X - A. Whittleton 

X - K. Clarkson  
X - G. Donn 
X – D. Pady 
X – K. Robinson 

Finance  

GM  X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO  X – D. McKinley Other  

382



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  

AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

September 22, 2020 

MINUTES FROM THE AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ONLINE VIA 
ZOOM MEETING DUE TO COVID-19 RESTRICTION 

PRESENT: Chair Faye Kiewitz 
Members Raquel Kolof  

Barbara Seed 
Gerald Rainville 
Gretchen Bozak 
Jon Bell 
Paul Nash 

ALSO PRESENT: Planner 1/Senior Planner Julie Clark  
Recording Secretary Genevieve Dixon 
Public 0 

REGRETS Members Erin Dutton 
David Morgan 

Electoral Area F Director Mark Hiltz 
(Non-Voting Board Liaison) 

Electoral Area E Director Donna McMahon 
(Non-Voting Board Liaison) 

CALL TO ORDER  3:31 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as received  

ELECTION OF THE CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR 

Faye Kiewitz was elected Chair of the Agricultural Advisory Committee by acclamation. 

Vice-Chair election is differed until the October 27, 2020 meeting. 

MINUTES 

Recommendation No. 1 AAC Meeting Minutes of July 28, 2020 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that the meeting minutes of July 28, 2020 be 
received and adopted as presented. 

ANNEX L

383



Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – September 22, 2020 Page 2 
 
REPORTS 

Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC 
Application 60840) 

Key points of discussion:  

• Senior Planner/Planner 1 gave a brief introduction on the report. 
• Part two of the ALC application 60840. 
• No objections. 
• No changes to the ALR land. 
• More residential options. 
• ALC has approved the swap as earlier proposed. 

Recommendation No. 2 Application for Land Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for 
Morgan Property (ALC Application 60840) 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee supports the application for land inclusion into the Agricultural 
Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 60840). 

NEXT MEETING Tuesday, October 27, 2020  
ADJOURNMENT 4:06 p.m. 

384



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA A - EGMONT/PENDER HARBOUR 
 ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

September 30, 2020 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AREA ‘A’ ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
HELD ONLINE VIA ZOOM 

PRESENT: Chair Peter Robson 

Members Dennis Burnham 
Jane McOuat 
Yovhan Burega 
Gordon Littlejohn 
Alan Skelley 
Catherine McEachern  
Tom Silvey   
Janet Dickin 
Sean McAllistar       

ALSO PRESENT: Electoral Area A Director Leonard Lee 
(Non-Voting Board Liaison) 

Recording Secretary Kelly Kammerle 
Public 3 

REGRETS: Members Alex Thomson 
Gordon Politeski 

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MINUTES 

Area A Minutes 

The Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of July 29, 2020 were approved as circulated. 

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of July 28, 2020

ANNEX M

385



Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – September 30, 2020
  Page 2 

 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
The APC would like to know when our questions and concerns will be answered from our July 2020 
meeting. 
 
REPORTS 
 
Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek Road) 
 
Recommendation No. 1  Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 South Sakinaw Creek 

Road) 
 
The Area A APC recommends the approval of Development Variance Permit DVP00067 (8703 
South Sakinaw Creek Road) with the following comments: 
 

• SCRD requirements are met. 
  
TELUS Telecommunication Tower – Egmont – Request for Local Government Concurrence 
 
Recommendation No. 2  TELUS Telecommunication Tower – Egmont – Request for Local 

Government Concurrence 
  
The Area A APC recommends approval of TELUS Telecommunication Tower – Egmont – Request 
for Local Government Concurrence. with the following comments and recommendations: 
 

• The APC would like to see Telus towers camouflaged / disguised better. 
• Would like Sakinaw Lake and Ruby Lake in the coverage area.  

 
 
Monthly Provincial Referral Review 
 
Recommendation No. 3  Monthly Provincial Referral Review 
 
The Area A APC supports the Monthly Provincial Referral Review as follows: 
 
Provincial Private Moorage Application 2412355 - No objection to approval of project 
 
Provincial Private Moorage Application 2412360 - No objection to approval of project  
 
Provincial Private Moorage Application 2412358 - No objection to approval of project 
 
Provincial Private Moorage Application 0700042 - No objection to approval of project subject to the 
conditions/concerns: 
 

• Is there an environmental impact study on record? 
• Is this new use (quarrying instead of gravel extraction) part of the original mine permit? If not, 

does this new use require a new environmental impact study? 
• There are concerns regarding blasting having a negative impact on whales in the area  
• The APC would like more information about the mine. The link to the application documents 

is unavailable so it is impossible for the APC to properly evaluate the amended Mine Plan.  

386



Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – September 30, 2020
  Page 3 

• Is there a Bond in place to deal with closing costs of the mine? If so, it should be adjusted for 
inflation since 1984. 

 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
The Area A APC appreciates the new policy of providing the APC with monthly Provincial Referrals 
for review and comment.  
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
The Director’s report was received. 
 
NEXT MEETING   October 28, 2020 

ADJOURNMENT 9:00 p.m. 

 
 

387



 

September 10, 2020. 

Dear SCRD Directors, 

We would like to address the comments/questions that were brought up by Directors at 
the end of our delegation to hopefully clear up some contradictions. At our previous 
delegation, July 9th we provided a great deal of information on the impacts on our youth’s 
mental health and their training needs as well as shared the work our organizations had 
done to ensure return to play could be done safely. What we came away with from that 
delegation was the Board’s concern surrounding financials.  

Taking this into consideration, we focused on the revenue that the SCRD would be losing by 
not installing ice in the Sechelt Arena and from Director’s comments, it appears now that 
the decision made on July 30 was not financial either and the goalposts have moved and the 
issue now is equity.  

I’d like to take a moment to speak about equity. It feels as though there is a lack of forward 
momentum and this seems to be due to past Motions and the decision making behind them 
being forgotten.  At the November 2018 delegation, the motion was made to allow for ice to 
remain in a facility on the Sunshine Coast for 10 months of the year.  At this delegation, we 
spoke of the importance of 10 months training a year for athlete development and the cost 
of travel, missing school, work etc as well as youth having no other training ground when 
there is no ice. During this delegation we discussed how there are other training grounds 
for dry floor. My question is if this motion was made and we also have allocation policy that 
determines the process for ice installation (which for Sechelt is the end of September) then 
why would these not be followed?  

It doesn’t appear to be equitable or transparent when past decisions, best practices, and 
current policies can’t be depended on.   

During the summer of 2020, facilities actually were available for dry floor and dry floor 
users were utilizing them- the pickleball facility, the seniors center and the tennis courts 
were all available for use. Unfortunately, our youth did not have a training ground and 
spent months travelling to Coquitlam, Abbotsford, and Victoria. It would have been 
equitable to put ice in at the beginning of August as we requested. However, that didn’t 

PO Box 1879 
Sechelt, BC 
V0N 3A0 
www.scminorhockey.com 

PO Box 1316 
Sechelt, BC 

V0N 3A0 
www.sunshinecoastskatingclub.com 

ANNEX N

388

http://www.scminorhockey.com/
http://www.sunshinecoastskatingclub.com/


happen due to financial reasons and so we continued to spend an obscene amount of time 
and money travelling off coast in August as well.  

It is not equitable to put adult users before youth and it goes against the allocation policy. It 
is also not equitable to displace youth who live in Halfmoon Bay, Pender Harbour and 
outlying areas who now have the barrier of travelling on average an hour each way to play 
a later ice time and then fit in homework and be up for school the next day. These are the 
demographics we should be focusing on. We want these children to be involved in their 
community and feel supported by their community because our decisions for them today 
will impact the community we live in tomorrow.  

Please take a moment to review all of the information we have provided over the years and 
with this in mind and the policies and motions passed we again respectfully request that 
youth recreation and the needs of our youth are respected. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
Sunshine Coast Skating Club Board of Directors 
and 
Sunshine Coast Minor Hockey Association Board of Directors. 
 
 

389



ANNEX O

390



Ttne cc’w &9V€(,O

September 17, 2020 ‘ RECEIVED

To the SCRD Board, Yuli Siao, Senior Planner SCRD

Re: Telus Telecommunications Facility Proposal request for Local Goveri men
Concurrence
Address: 10591 Mercer Road, Half Moon Bay, BC, SCRD

Dear Board et all,

Please accept our eight page Community Petition “as stated” immediately below, and a second
page with Science Data/Information which was distributed with the petition.

The Petition as signed states:

“We the undersigned, are not opposed to better cell service on the Sunshine Coast. We are
however, opposed to a Cell Tower in this location. This industrial compound is extremely
obtrusive and should not be located in a residential area. There are also a growing number of
scientific reports of adverse health effects from electromagnetic/radio frequency (EMF/RFR)
radiation and we are concerned about such negative health effects for nearby residents.”

Approximately 97% of households in the immediate area have signed against this proposal site
(2 of those were unable to be contacted). Including near by Wood Bay Heights and Mercer Rd.
mid-way south, approximately 95% of households are opposed. Obviously the majority of
residents in this area do not want this Tower here, regardless of Telus’ claims and solicitation.

Additional Information provided with the Petition:
There is growing concern and doubt in the scientific community world wide regarding the safety
of long-term exposure to radio frequency fields.
The World Health Organization (WHO) has said that further and extensive research is needed to
determine the long-term effects of exposure to cell phone tower radiation, as it does noty
conclusively exist.
There are also many scientists world wide who believe there sufficient adverse EMF health
evidence from numerous scientific reports and studies already (see p.2). These scientists agree
that the facts of the biological effects of EMFs on humans are the least known, but that this is
being ignored by governments; that safety limits are much too high; and that exposure must be
reduced by establishing and strengthening more protective guidelines.
It is also likely that any scientific uncertainty and consequences regarding the safety of cell phone
towers will inevitably become an ethical, public relations and financial responsibility issue for
governing bodies when a tower is placed within close proximity to a vulnerable and/ or opposing
population.

________

Therefore, in light of our commonconcerns of Tower visibility, possibi adverse health effects,
and affected property values, we 72 signees respectfully ask the SCRD Board and Telus that a
new site for the proposed cell phone tower be found in a non-residential area, and more
specifically, that land concurrence for this site proposal not be granted by the SCRD.

Thank you from all who have signed this included petition.

1/2

ANNEX P

391



Science DATA/Information provided with the petition:

CANADA
Health Canada’s Safety Code 6 regulations establishes the safety limits for human exposure to
radiofrequency (RF) fields. The known biological effects of EMFs (Electromagnetic Field)
radiation on humans include stimulation (tingling), and thermal (heating). The Code also
acknowledges that “rmful non-thermal/biological effects at levels below the limits in Safety
Code 6 have not been scientifically established.
At the request of Health Canada, the Royal Society of Canada assembled an expert panel to
conduct a review of Code 6 to determine whether the code was consistent with scientific
literature in setting limits that would protect the public from adverse health risks. The panel
concluded that additional time and research would be required ufor a more thorough assessment
of the possibility of a causal connection between cancer and the RF energy” (Demers, P. et al.,
2014). In 2015, the House of Commons Report of the Standing Committee on Health of
Canadians indicated the need for further research and precautionary measures.

INTERNATIONAL:
In 2011, The World Health Organisation’s International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)
classified RFR from cellphone handsets and towers as possibly carcinogenic to humans.

In 2015, an International EMF Scientist Appeal was presented to the United Nations and now in
2020 has been signed by 253 EMF scientists based on over 2000 published EMF papers from 44
nations. EMFscientist.org
Their common concerns stated that “Numerous recent scientific publications have shown that
EMF affects living organisms at levels well below most international and national guidelines.
Effects include increased cancer risk, cellular stress, increase in harmful free radicals, genetic
damages, structural and functional changes of the reproductive system, learning and memory
deficits, neurological disorders, and negative impacts on general well-being in humans. Damage
goes well beyond the human race, as there is growing evidence of harmful effects to both plant
and animal life.” In 2019, The Appeal was resubmitted to the United Nations requesting a
reassessment of potential biological impacts of next generation 4G and 5G telecommunication
technologies by independent, non-industry associated EMF scientists.

In 2017, an appeal was made to the European Union (EU) currently endorsed by more than 390
scientists and medical doctors for a moratorium on 5G deployment until scientists independent
from industry can assure that 5G and the total radiation levels caused by RF-EMF (5G together
with 2G, 3G, 4G, and WiFi) will not be harmful to humans or the environment.

In 2018 the conclusion of a ten year, $30 million study by the U.S Nationil Toxicology Program
(NTPJ showed a statistically significant increase in the incidence of brain and heart cancer in
animals exposed to EMF below the ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation
Protection) guidelines followed by most countries. These results support results in himm
epideimological studies on RF radiation and brain tumour risk.

2/

392



GAMBlER ISLAND
COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION

Sept. 25, 2020

Director Mark Hiltz
SCRD
1975 Field Road, Sechelt, BC VON 3A1

Mark,

201 ?2 Ax1yi Bay Rc-gd

(3an)tyer ta’,d, L3CVCN IVO
www.gaiitiedsbnd.orgiGIC&htm

3 U 2020

S.C.R.D J

lam including a hard copy of the letter I sent to Minister Claire Trevena on behalf
of the Gambier Island Community Association (GICA) and the committee
appointed to ensure the New Brighton Dock continues to allow community access
to that dock and barge ramp.

To date we have had little support from yourself or the SCRD to ensure that when
the Squamish Nation decides to sell this dock, that it remains open to public
usage. We understand that their decision to find another owner is eminent.

As a community association there are limited resources for us to use to make that
happen.

We need our regional district, the SCRD, to cooperate with the provincial
government to make this happen. Our community will support the actions that
need to be taken.

Last night, the Gambier Harbour floats were severely damaged. It is vital that we
keep the New Brighton dock open and available for community usage, as it is the
only sheltered dock that can be used. This issue is becoming a matter of extreme
urgency and can not be ignored!

I look forward to hearing how you and the SCRD can move this forward as soon as
possible

Danny Tryon

Sincerely,

President Gambier Island Community Association

ANNEX Q

393



GAMBlER ISLAND 201 72 Aridy Bay Ruad

COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION (ia’uber a’d. BC Vi’ 1W
w.gant4w1sandflGIC&hbiI

September 25, 2020

The Honourable Claire Trevena

Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure

P0 Box 9850 Stn Prov Govt

Victoria, BC V8W 9T5

Re: New Brighton dock — Gambier Island, Howe Sound

Dear Minister Trevena:

OUR DIRE PROBLEM

The community located on the southwest peninsula of Gambier Island, in Howe Sound is facing the very

real prospect of losing its primary port facility at New Brighton. Gambier Island has no schools, shops, or
medical services so has relied on the dock to provide essential public access between Gambier Island

and the mainland for over a century. It provides passenger ferry access, local moorage, and is the only

year-round remote port access point for basic services, including for emergencies. This letter is a plea to

you for assistance to ensure the New Brighton dock is retained for public use.

OUR REQUEST

The community is requesting the Provincial Government’s commitment to preserve the New Brighton

dock as a public facility. In short, we ask that the Provincial Government purchase the dock from the
Squamish Nation, forthwith, and negotiate funding and management arrangements with the Sunshine

Coast Regional District for ongoing maintenance. In this way, the New Brighton dock will be retained as

the critical transportation hub, the lifeline for a growing community.

BACKGROUND

originally constructed in 1917, the New Brighton dock is the only all-season sheltered port on Gambier

Island and is the community’s primary access point for work, school, supply delivery and emergency

medical and BC Hydro services. Route 13, BC Ferries contracted passenger service, makes approximately

ten trips to New Brighton daily, amounting to upwards of 35,000 people trips annually. The dock is a

deep-water port with a pier structure and floats providing moorage for approximately 22 small boats. It

is situated within provincial Water Lot 5087 (New Westminster District) and is approached directly by a
public road maintained by the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure.

In 2001 and in 2012, Transport Canada contacted the Gambier Island Community Association (GICA) and

the Sunshine Coast Regional District (SCRD) and expressed its intention to divest itself of the New

Brighton dock. In consultation with GICA, the SCRD communicated its willingness to Transport Canada to

enter into negotiations for transfer of the facility to it. However, Transport Canada then deemed it an
essential remote port and communication regarding divestiture ceased. Then, without further

394



GAMBlER ISLAND 201 •72 Aidf I3ay Ra’J
COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION Sa!IL.ta sa’d. EJO VN 1\J

www.gantbtlsland.ocg/G4CA.htm

consultation with SCRD or GICA, Transport Canada transferred ownership of the New Brighton dock to
the Squamish Nation in 2013 in accordance with the Rights and Title process.

We understand the Squamish Nation recognized the historical and continuing use of the dock by the
Gambier Island community when it acquired its interest, and it has maintained public access during its
tenure. However, the Squamish Nation has completed the terms of its Operating Agreement with the
federal government and is now considering its options, with the likely outcome being the sale of the
facility. Squamish Nation staff have advised GICA there are a few potential private sector buyers
interested in the dock but would also consider public ownership as an option to present to the Squamish
Nation Council.

The New Brighton dock generates no revenue and is not supported by local taxation. Our community
does not have sufficient financial or administrative wherewithal to acquire and operate the port. We are
very concerned that the sale of the dock to a private entity could result in the end of passenger ferry
service, local macrage, and the critical remote access point for basic services, including emergencies. An
additional potentially devastating consequence of such a transfer is the possible loss of access to the
community’s only barge-loading facility, which sits within the same water lot, the development of which
was approved by the (then) Ministry of Transportation and Highways in 1998. While that critical piece of
infrastructure is completely independent of the New Brighton dock, insofar as the divestiture process
was concerned, a transfer of Water Lot 5087 to a private sector buyer of the dock may restrict
community use of and access to the barge ramp. We understand the Province of B.C. is currently the
holder of Water Lot 5087, it not having been transferred to the Squamish Nation at the time of the
dock’s divestiture.

Gambier Island’s southwest peninsula community has been put in the untenable position of potentially
losing its primary public port access. We have been advocating to our federal, provincial and regional
elected representatives to support a joint solution that is fair to the Squamish Nation as well as the local
community, but we have not had any success to date.

We request that the Provincial Government purchase the dock from the Squamish Nation before all
chance of it remaining a public access facility is lost. We know you are very busy, but we hope to hear
from you soon.

Yours trqy,’
04W.

Danny Tryon
President Gambier Island Community Association (dwtryon@gmail.com)
Cc: MLA Nicholas Simons; FLNRORD Minister Doug Donaldson; SCRD Director Mark Hiltz

395


	2020-OCT-8 PCD Agenda Cover
	ANNEX A - 2020-OCT-8 PCD Delegation - Sunshine Coast Communtiy Solar Association - GACC Proposal
	ANNEX B - 2020 Oct 8 PCD Housing Needs Assessment Report and Attachment
	ANNEX C - 2020-OCT-8 PCDC Report-DVP00067 (Thomson) FINAL
	ANNEX D - 2020-Oct-8 PCDC Report ALR00010 inclusion Morgan FINAL
	ANNEX E - 2020-Oct-8 PCD Monthly Provincial Referrals 2412355 2412360 2412358 0700042
	ANNEX F - 2020-OCT-08 PCD Report - Amended_Homesite Creek Secret Cove Rec Site MOU
	ANNEX G - 2020-OCT-8 PCD Staff Report - Climate Action Report Cards FINAL
	ANNEX H - 2020-Oct-8 PCD staff report Langdale Well and Pump Station Improvements
	ANNEX I - 2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFP 2035007 Contract Award Metal Container Hauling and Recycling Services
	ANNEX J - 2020-OCT-8 PCDC Staff Report RFQ 2035006 Contract Award Gypsum Services fINAL
	ANNEX K - 2020-OCT-8 PCD Department - 2020 Q3 Report - FINAL
	ANNEX L - 2020-SEPT-22 AAC Meeting Minutes FINAL
	ANNEX M - 2020-SEPT-30 Area A APC Minutes FINAL
	ANNEX N - 2020-SEP-10 - Letter from Skate and Hockey Associations - Follow Up to Delegation-Sept. 10
	ANNEX O - 2020-SEP-16 Town of Gibsons Letter - Reconsider Gibsons Pool Closure - OCT 8 PCD COMM
	ANNEX P - 2020-SEP-17 Community Petition - Telus Facility Proposal - 10591 Mercer Road Halfmoon Bay
	ANNEX Q - 2020-SEP-25 Gambier Island Community Association letter re New Brighton Dock - OCT 8 PCD



